

This file is part of the following work:

Wu, Xugan (2013) Lipid nutrition of early life history of two commercially important tropical crustaceans, the blue swimmer crab (Portunus pelagicus) and the ornate rock lobster (Panulirus ornatus), with emphasis on highly unsaturated fatty acids. PhD Thesis, James Cook University.

> Access to this file is available from: https://doi.org/10.25903/d2mp%2Dtk50

> > Copyright © 2013 Xugan Wu

The author has certified to JCU that they have made a reasonable effort to gain permission and acknowledge the owners of any third party copyright material included in this document. If you believe that this is not the case, please email <u>researchonline@jcu.edu.au</u>

ResearchOnline@JCU

This file is part of the following reference:

Wu, Xugan (2013) Lipid nutrition of early life history of two commercially important tropical crustaceans, the blue swimmer crab (Portunus pelagicus) and the ornate rock lobster (Panulirus ornatus), with emphasis on highly unsaturated fatty acids. PhD thesis, James Cook University.

Access to this file is available from:

http://researchonline.jcu.edu.au/41081/

The author has certified to JCU that they have made a reasonable effort to gain permission and acknowledge the owner of any third party copyright material included in this document. If you believe that this is not the case, please contact <u>ResearchOnline@jcu.edu.au</u> and quote <u>http://researchonline.jcu.edu.au/41081/</u>



Lipid nutrition of early life history of two commercially important tropical crustaceans, the blue swimmer crab (*Portunus pelagicus*) and the ornate rock lobster (*Panulirus ornatus*), with emphasis on highly unsaturated fatty acids

> Thesis submitted by Xugan Wu (MSc) in December 2013

for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the School of Marine and Tropical Biology James Cook University

Declaration on Ethics

The research presented and reported in this thesis was conducted within the guidelines for research ethics outlined in the National Statement on Ethics Conduct in Research Involving Human (1999), the Joint NHMRC/AVCC Statement and Guidelines on Research Practice (1997), the James Cook University Policy on Experimentation Ethics Standard Practices and Guidelines (2001), and the James Cook University Statement and Guidelines on Research Practice (2001).

The proposed research methodology received clearance from the James Cook University Experimentation Ethics Review Committee.

Approval numbers: A1573; Principal investigator: Xugan Wu; Finish date: September 1, 2011 Financial support for this study has been provided by AIMS@JCU Tropical Aquaculture Program, AIMS@JCU PhD scholarship, two Graduate Research School grants and annual IRA's funds during my PhD candidature. All of my supervisors, Dr Chaoshu Zeng, Prof. Paul Southgate, Dr Michael Hall and Dr Greg Smith, have provided excellent guidance throughout my experiments and helped in correction and editing each Chapter of this thesis as well as the other publications. Technical staff of tropical aquaculture group at Australian Institute of Marine Science (AIMS), Matt Kenway, Matt Salmon, Justin Hochen, Katie Holroyd and Grant Milton provided their assistance in the rearing of broodstock and providing phyllosoma larvae for my lobster experiments. Jerome Genodepa, Noordiyana Mat Noordin and Nicholas Romano helped me in the crab broodstock catch and maintenance. All biochemical analysis was conducted at School of Marine and Tropical Biology of James Cook University and Australian Institute of Marine Science using their facilities. Dr Cherie Motti provided training and help for use of analytical equipments at AIMS.

Acknowledgements

During the past five years of my PhD-journey, as part of an important and indispensable experience for my future research career, has become a major part of my colorful life with the mixture of expectation, happiness, worry, depression, exhausting and suffering. I know I could not complete this PhD project without the continuous support and help from a long list of people. I would like to express my sincere gratitude to the following people who helped me during my PhD study.

First of all, I would like to thank my supervisors, Dr. Chaoshu Zeng, Prof. Paul Southgate, Dr Michael Hall and Dr Greg Smith. Dr Chaoshu Zeng, Dr Michael Hall and I meet at Larvi'05 conference in Belgium and they offered me a possible PhD scholarship opportunity by AIMS@JCU Tropical Aquaculture Program. They provided excellent guidance and encouragement in the AIMS@JCU scholarship application, research proposal, experimental design and draft writing. Prof. Paul Southgate taught me the strategy and skill of scientific writing and critical thinking, and provided many insights in lipid nutrition. He is a passionate expert in aquaculture and its practical application, who has affected me in the practical thinking during my PhD study and future career. Dr Greg Smith provided the continuous support throughout the lobster experiments as my co-supervisor. I would like to thank him for his patience, thoroughness and accessibility, with ready advice and assistance when required.

I would like to thank the Marine Aquarium Facility Unit (MARFU) team at James Cook University, including John Morrison, Simon Wever and Gregory Duffin for their assistance in the setting up of my crab culture systems, to thank the technical staff of tropical aquaculture group at Australian Institute of Marine Science (AIMS), including Matt Kenway Matt Salmon, Justin Hochen, Katie Holroyd and Grant Milton for their assistance in the rearing of broodstock, phyllosoma staging and providing phyllosoma larvae for my lobster experiments. Sincere thanks were also given to Dr Cherie Motti for her training and help for use of analytical equipments at AIMS.

I am very grateful to the people I have been working closely during my PhD study. Jerome Genodepa provided much help and assistance in broodstock catching, larval culture, transportation between JCU and AIMS as well as the daily care during the PhD journey since we shared a same office and all focused on larval culture of lobster and crab for our PhD thesis. Sincere gratitude is given to Ms Noordiyana Mat Noordin, who has taught me in larval rearing and the preparation of experimental diets during the beginning of PhD. I also want to acknowledge Dr Nicholas Romano for his constructive advice, proof reading and editing the English writing on some manuscripts.

Last but certainly not least, I am much appreciated my family and friends for their enormous support, assistance and encouragement as required. My heartfelt thanks should give to my wife and mother; they do all of the housework and looking after my son (OO) during my Australian study. Because my wife returned to work as a full-time job after my son's birth, my mother had to leave her hometown to my house for taking care of OO. They were suffering and had to overcome heaps of difficulties by themselves when I was away to pursue my PhD and seek my dream in Australia. Sincere thanks to my father, two my elder sisters, my parent in-laws and many close friends for their supports from different aspects. Without their help, I could not complete my PhD study, THANK YOU!

Abstract

The blue swimming crab, *Portunus pelagicus* and ornate rock lobster, *Panulirus ornatus* are two commercially important crustacean species of high market value with wild populations distributed throughout the tropical and sub-tropical Indo-Pacific region. As the wild populations of *P. pelagicus* and *P. ornatus* have been over-exploited, there is an increasing interest in the development of their aquaculture to meet the rising market demand. However, one of the major challenges for closed-life cycle production of *P. pelagicus* and *P. ornatus* is the development of a commercially viable hatchery technology. Comprehensive and quantitative understanding of larval nutrition is very important for the development of a reliable hatchery technology of *P. pelagicus* and *P. ornatus*. However, basic knowledge of the nutritional requirements and physiology is very limited for the early life stage of both species.

It is well known that lipids play a crucial role on the survival, growth and development of crustacean larvae. To further knowledge in this area a series of experiments were initially conducted to understand the ontogenetic changes of key lipid composition, including lipid classes and fatty acids, during the embryonic and larval development. This was extended to measure changes of lipid composition during the starvation of newly hatched larvae of *P. pelagicus* and *P. ornatus*. From this foundation, four experiments were designed to assess dietary optimum 20:4n6 (ARA) levels and the 22:6n3/20:5n3 (DHA/EPA) ratios for *P. pelagicus* and *P. ornatus* larvae based on enriched *Artemia*, which is one of the commonly used hatchery feeds for marine crustacean larvae. Experiments included enriched *Artemia* containing different levels of dietary fatty acids which were fed to newly hatched larvae of *P. pelagicus* and *P. ornatus*. In these experiments the survival, development, growth and fatty acid composition of larvae were closely monitored to identify the dietary optimum HUFA composition.

Chapter 2 and 3 were conducted to investigate the changes of lipid class and fatty acid composition during the embryonic development of *P. pelagicus* and *P. ornatus*. For both species, there are significant increases of egg volume and moisture content while the total lipid content decreased dramatically. However, different trends were found between the lipid class profiles of *P. pelagicus* and *P. ornatus*, including the percentage of phospholipids (PL), free fatty acids (FFA) and cholesterol (CHO) (%total lipid). The principal fatty acids were 16:0, 16:1n7, 18:1n9, 18:1n7, 20:4n6 (ARA), 20:5n3 (EPA) and 22:6n3 (DHA) in the eggs of both species. Despite of embryonic stages, significantly higher DHA levels and DHA/EPA ratios were found in the eggs of *P. ornatus* compared to *P. pelagicus*. However the eggs of *P.*

pelagicus contained higher ARA level than that of *P. ornatus*. During embryonic development, ARA, EPA and DHA were relatively conserved for *P. pelagicus* while 18:1n9, 18:2n6, ARA and EPA were relatively conserved for *P. ornatus*. These differences indicate that the two crustacean species have different lipid dynamics during their embryonic development.

Chapter 4 and 5 were designed to investigate the ontogenetic changes of growth and lipid composition during larval development of both species. Although individual biomass and body size increased significantly, the specific growth rate (SGR%/day) of body weight generally decreased significantly during the larval development of both species. The lipid class profile of early-mid Stages phyllosoma were dominated by PL (>85% total lipids) for *P. ornatus* while the significant lower PL levels were detected in the late stage *P. pelagicus* larvae compared the newly hatched *P. pelagicus* larvae and all early-mid Stages *P. ornatus* larvae. Generally, the fatty acid composition of larvae reflects that of their larvae diet. However, ARA and DHA were preferentially accumulated by later larval stage of *P. pelagicus* while early-mid Stage (II-V) phyllosoma preferentially sequestered and accumulated a higher proportion of ARA, EPA and DHA compared to the levels that present in their diet. These data indicate that larval *P. pelagicus* and *P. ornatus* have an ability to preferentially sequester, store or modify their dietary lipid composition to support normal growth and development.

Chapter 6 and 7 were designed to examine the effects of starvation on survival, biomass and lipid composition and to explain the preferential conservation of important fatty acids for newly hatched larvae of *P. pelagicus* and *P. ornatus*. The results showed that during starvation, significant decreasing trends were detected on individual body dry weight, total lipids (%dry weight) or per larva (µg/larva) for the newly hatched larvae of *P. pelagicus* and *P. ornatus*. During the starvation, more than 50% of PL was utilized for the larvae of both species, indicating the oxidation of membrane structural lipids. The higher reductions were found on EPA and DHA than other fatty acids during the starvation of *P. pelagicus* larvae while both DHA and ARA were highly conserved for newly hatched *P. ornatus* phyllosoma. These results suggested that the HUFA requirement of larval *P. pelagicus* is lower and different to early Stage *P. ornatus* phyllosoma.

Chapter 8 and 9 were designed to investigate the basis for the relative conservation of ARA during the starvation of newly hatched larvae of both species. Investigations included revealing the dietary optimum ARA contents for the survival, development and growth of *P. pelagicus* and *P. ornatus* larvae as supplied through the feeding enriched *Artemia* as larval food. For larval *P. pelagicus*, dietary ARA level significantly affected not only survival, development and

growth of the larvae, but also the occurrence of moulting death syndrome (MDS) as well as the ratio of chela length/carapace length (CHL/CL) of zoea IV. For the early Stage *P. ornatus* larvae, dietary ARA levels did not significantly affect survival, but significant differences were detected on development time and growth among the different treatments. The results suggest that optimal ARA level is approximately 6.27 mg/g DW (2.97% of total fatty acids) in the enriched *Artemia* for *P. pelagicus* larvae, and around 3.69 mg/g DW (1.90% total fatty acids) for early Stage *P. ornatus* phyllosoma.

Although previous studies have shown dietary DHA/EPA ratios are very important for crustaceans, no available information could be found for its importance in the larvae of *P. pelagicus* and *P. ornatus*. Therefore, two experiments were conducted to investigate the dietary optimum DHA/EPA ratios for *P. pelagicus* and *P. ornatus* larvae. There were five treatments with newly hatched larvae fed enriched *Artemia* contained different DHA/EPA ratios. Although no significant difference was found on the survival of early stage larvae for both species, the highest survival was found on the treatment fed enriched *Artemia* contained medium DHA/EPA ratios also significantly affected the development time and growth for both species. The dietary optimum DHA/EPA ratios were estimated at ca. 0.53 and > 1.64 for *P. pelagicus* larvae and early Stage phyllosoma of *P. ornatus*, respectively, which clearly indicated the early Stage phyllosoma of the ornate rock lobster had higher DHA/EPA ratio requirement than *P. pelagicus* larvae. These findings indicated that the optimization of the fatty acid composition of hatchery food will be an effective means to improve seed quality and quantity for both species.

The current project utilized an integrated methodology approach to study fatty acid nutrition of *P. pelagicus* and *P. ornatus* larvae. The embryonic and larval development experiments related to ontogenetic changes of key lipid composition were targeted to obtain fundamental information, followed by growth trails to identify the specific fatty acids requirement or ratios. Fatty acid analysis was used to gain a deep understanding of underlying mechanisms. The findings have significantly enhanced our understanding of fatty acid nutrition for *P. pelagicus* and *P. ornatus* larvae, which will facilitate the further improvement of hatchery technology and formulated diets for the larval culture of both species.

Table of Contents

Copyright and Release of Thesis Examination	
Declaration on Ethics	i
Statement of Contribution of Others	ii
Acknowledgements	iii
Abstract	v
Table of Contents	viii
List of Tables	xiii
List of Figures	xviii
Chapter 1. General Introduction	
1.1 Larval culture of the blue swimmer crab (Portunus pelagicus) and the ornate rock lobster	1
(<i>Panulirus ornatus</i>) and fatty acid nutrition	2
1.2 Functions of fatty acids during the early life stages of crustacean	3
1.2.1 Energy provision 1.2.2 Membrane structure and functions	5
1.2.2 Memorane structure and functions 1.2.3 Ficosanoids production	5
1.3 Larval digestion absorption and transport of lipids particularly for fatty acids	8
1.3.1 Digestion and absorption	9
1.3.2 Storage and transport	11
1.4 Catabolism and biosynthesis of fatty acids during embryonic and larval stage of crustacean	12
1.4.1 Fatty acid catabolism	12
1.4.2 Fatty acid biosynthesis	13
1.5 Fatty acids requirements and their interactions	19
1.5.1 Study history and their limitations of larvae and juvenile crustacean	19
1.5.2 Requirement criteria	20
1.5.3 Saturated and Monounsaturated Fatty Acids	20
1.5.4 C18-Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids	21
1.5.5 Highly Unsaturated Fatty Acids	25
1.5.6 Interactions of different fatty acids	27
1.6 Conclusion	30
1.7 Aims of this study	31
Chapter 2. Changes of lipid class and fatty acid composition during the embryonic development of the blue swimmer crab. <i>Portunus polagious</i>	
2 1 Introduction	32
2.2 Materials and Methods	33
2.2.1 Broodstock culture and egg sampling	33
2.2.2 Egg volume and weight measurement	34
2.2.3 Lipid analysis	34
2.2.4 Statistical analysis	35
2.3 Results	35
2.3.1 Volume, water contents and biomass	35
2.3.2 Total lipids and lipid classes	37
2.3.3 Fatty acids	38
2.4 Discussion	40
2.5 Conclusion	45

Chapter	3.	Changes	of	lipid	class	and	fatty	acid	composition	during	the	embryonic
development of the of the ornate rock lobster, Panulirus ornatus												
2 1 Introd	Inati	on										

3.1 Introduction	46
3.2 Materials and Methods	47
3.2.1 Broodstock culture and egg sampling	47
3.2.2 Egg volume and weight measurement	48
3.2.3 Lipid analysis	48
3.2.4 Statistical analysis	49
3.3 Results	49
3.3.1 Volume, water contents and biomass	49
3.3.2 Total lipids and lipid classes	50
3.3.3 Fatty acids	51
3.4. Discussion	52
3.5 Conclusion	57

Chapter 4. Ontogenetic patterns of growth and lipid composition changes of blue swimmer crab, Portunus pelagicus larvae: insights into larval biology and lipid nutrition

4.1 Introduction	58
4.2 Materials and Methods	59
4.2.1 Broodstock source and maintance	59
4.2.2 Culture of larvae and natural food	60
4.2.3 Larval sampling and measurement	61
4.2.4 Biochemical analysis	62
4.2.5 Data analysis and statistics	62
4.3 Results	63
4.3.1 Larval survival and development	63
4.3.2 Larval growth	64
4.3.3 Chemical composition of live food	67
4.3.4 Total lipids, lipid classes and fatty acid profile of crab larvae	69
4.4 Discussion	72
4.5 Conclusion	77

4.5 Conclusion

Chapter 5. Ontogenetic patterns of growth and lipid composition deposition during early to mid-Stage development in Panulirus ornatus phyllosoma

5.1 Introduction	78
5.2 Materials and Methods	80
5.2.1 Broodstock source and maintenance	80
5.2.2 Larvae culture and live food source	80
5.2.3 Larval sampling and measurement	81
5.2.4 Biochemical analysis	82
5.2.5 Statistical analysis	83
5.3 Results	83
5.3.1 Weight growth	83
5.3.2 Total body length growth	84
5.3.3 Chemical composition of live food	85
5.3.4 Total lipids, lipid classes and fatty acid profile of crab larvae	88
5.3.5 Fatty acids of larvae	89
5.4 Discussion	90
5.5 Conclusion	96

Chapter 6. Effects of starvation on survival, biomass and lipid composition of newly hatched larvae of the blue swimmer crab, Portunus pelagicus

6.1 Introduction	98
6.2 Materials and Methods	99

6.2.1 Broodstock source and maintenance	99
6.2.2 Larvae source and starvation resistance of newly hatched larvae	99
6.2.3 Sampling for lipid analysis and data collection	100
6.2.4 Biochemical analysis	101
6.2.5 Statistical analysis	101
6.3 Results	101
6.3.1 Starvation resistance and changes of larval body weight	101
6.3.2 Changes of larval total lipids and lipid classes	102
6.3.3 Changes of larval fatty acids	103
6.4 Discussion	106
6.5 Conclusion	109
Chapter 7. Effects of starvation on survival, biomass and lipid composition of newly	
hatched phyllosoma of the ornate rock lobster, Panulirus ornatus	
7.1 Introduction	110
7.2 Materials and Methods	111
7.2.1 Broodstock source and maintenance	111
7.2.2 Larvae source and starvation resistance of newly hatched larvae	111
7.2.3 Sampling for lipid analysis and data collection	112
7.2.4 Biochemical analysis	113
7.2.5 Statistical analysis	113
7.3 Results	113
7.3.1 Starvation resistance and changes of larval body weight	113
7.3.2 Changes of larval total lipids and lipid classes	115
7.3.3 Changes of larval fatty acids	116
7.4 Discussion	117
7.5 Conclusion	122
Chapter 8. The effects of dietary arachidonic acid levels on larval survival, growth and	
occurrence of ing death syndrome in the blue swimmer crab, <i>Portunus pelagicus</i>	
8.1 Introduction	123
8.2 Materials and Methods	124
8.2.1 Broodstock source and maintenance	124
8.2.2 Artemia enrichment	124
8.2.3 Experimental design and setup	125
8.2.4 Data collection	126
8.2.5 Total lipid and fatty acid analysis	127
8.2.6 Statistical analysis	127
8.3 Results	128
8.3.1 Total lipids and fatty acid profile of enriched Artemia	128
8.3.2 Larval survival, development and growth	130
8.3.3 Carapace length and dry weight of newly settled megalopae	133
8.3.4 Zoea IV CHL/CL ratio and its relationship to MDS	134
8.3.5 <i>Fatty acid profile of newly moulted megalopae</i>	135
8.4 Discussion	135
8.5 Conclusion	138

Chapter 9. The effects of dietary arachidonic acid levels on survival, growth and fatty acid composition of early Stage phyllosoma of ornate rock lobster, *Panulirus ornatus*

139
140
140
141

9.2.3 Experimental design and setup	141
9.2.4 Data collection	142
9.2.5 Total lipid and fatty acid analysis	143
9.2.6 Statistical analysis	143
9.3 Results	145
9.3.1 Total lipid and fatty acid profile of enriched Artemia	145
9.3.2 Larval survival, development and growth	146
9.3.3 Body length and dry weight of newly moulted Stage III phyllosoma	148
9.3.4 Fatty acid profile of newly moulted Stage III phyllosoma	148
9.4 Discussion	148
9.5 Conclusion	152

Chapter 10. The effects of dietary DHA/EPA ratios on larval survival, growth and fatty acid composition of blue swimmer crab, *Portunus pelagicus*

10.1 Introduction	154
10.2 Materials and Methods	156
10.2.1 Broodstock source and maintenance	156
10.2.2 Artemia enrichment	156
10.2.3 Experimental design and setup	157
10.2.4 Data collection	158
10.2.5 Total lipid and fatty acid analysis	159
10.2.6 Statistical analysis	159
10.3 Results	159
10.3.1 Total lipid and fatty acid profile of enriched Artemia	159
10.3.2 Larval survival, development and growth	160
10.3.3 Carapace length and dry weight of newly moulted megalopa	162
10.3.4 Zoea IV CHL/CL ratio and its relationship to MDS	162
10.3.5 Fatty acid profile of newly moulted megalopa	163
10.4 Discussion	165
10.5 Conclusion	169

Chapter 11. The effects of dietary DHA/EPA ratios on survival, growth and fatty acid composition of early Stage phyllosoma of ornate rock lobster, *Panulirus ornatus*

11.1 Introduction	170
11.2 Materials and Methods	172
11.2.1 Broodstock source and maintenance	172
11.2.2 Artemia enrichment	172
11.2.3 Experimental design and setup	173
11.2.4 Data collection	174
11.2.5 Total lipid and fatty acid analysis	175
11.2.6 Statistical analysis	175
11.3 Results	175
11.3.1 Total lipid and fatty acid profile of enriched Artemia	175
11.3.2 Larval survival, development and growth	177
11.3.3 Body length and dry weight of newly moulted Stage III phyllosoma	179
11.3.4 Fatty acid profile of newly moulted Stage III phyllosoma	179
11.4 Discussion	181
11.5 Conclusion	184
Chapter 12. General discussion and conclusions	

12.1 Significance of the present study	186
12.2 Ontogenetic changes of lipid composition	188
12.3 Effects of starvation on lipid composition	189
12.4 Effects of dietary highly unsaturated fatty acids on larval performance	190

Bibliography

Appendix 1 Publication 1 (modified version of Chapter 4)Wu X.G., Zeng C.S., Paul S. Ontogenetic patterns of growth and lipid composition changes of blue swimmer crab larvae: insights into larval biology and lipid nutrition. Marine and freshwater research, 2014, 65: 228-243.

Appendix 2 Publication 2 (modified version of Chapter 5)

Wu X.G., Smith G., Hall M. Patterns of larval growth, lipid composition and fatty acid deposition during early to mid stages of development in *Panulirus ornatus* phyllosoma. Aquaculture, 2012, 330-333: 63-73.

194

List of Tables

Table 1.1	Summary of biosynthesis and conversion of PUFA in crustacean species	17
Table 1.2	Summary of requirements of dietary LNA and LOA levels for crustacean larvae and juveniles (% dry weight)	23
Table 1.3	Optimal HUFA requirements of crustacean larvae and juveniles (% dry weight)	26
Table 1.4	Summary of dietary optimum EPA, ARA and DHA levels for crustacean larvae and juveniles (% dry weight)	29
Table 2.1	Egg lipid class composition as % of total lipids during the embryonic development of the blue swimmer crab, <i>Portunus pelagicus</i>	38
Table 2.2	Egg lipid class contents (μ g egg ⁻¹) of an individual egg during the embryonic development of the blue swimmer crab, <i>Portunus pelagicus</i>	38
Table 2.3	Egg fatty acid composition (% total fatty acids) during the embryonic development of the blue swimmer crab, <i>Portunus pelagicus</i>	39
Table 2.4	Egg fatty acid contents ($\mu g egg^{-1}$) of individual egg during the embryonic development of the blue swimmer crab, <i>Portunus pelagicus</i>	40
Table 2.5	A comparison of major lipid classes (% total lipids) of newly extruded and pre-hatching eggs of major commercially important crab species	42
Table 2.6	A comparison of principal fatty acid profile of newly extruded and pre-hatching eggs among major commercially important crab species	43
Table 3.1	Lipid class composition (% total lipids) of the eggs during embryonic development in the ornate rock lobster, <i>Panulirus ornatus</i>	51
Table 3.2	Lipid class contents (μ g. egg ⁻¹) of the individual egg during embryonic development in the ornate rock lobster, <i>Panulirus ornatus</i>	52
Table 3.3	Fatty acid composition (% total fatty acids) of eggs during embryonic development in the ornate rock lobster, <i>Panulirus ornatus</i>	53
Table 3.4	Fatty acid contents ($\mu g e g g^{-1}$) of the eggs during embryonic development in the ornate rock lobster, <i>Panulirus ornatus</i>	54
Table 3.5	The comparison of major lipid classes (% total lipids) of newly spawned eggs and pre-hatching eggs among the different lobster species	55
Table 4.1	Protocol developed at James Cook University for mass rearing of <i>Portunus pelagicus</i> larvae in 300 L tanks	61
Table 4.2	Equations of linear regression for various biometric parameters of <i>Portunus</i> pelagicus larvae	65
Table 4.3	Gross composition and lipid class compositions (% dry weight) of microalgae <i>Nannochloropsis</i> sp., rotifers, newly hatched and enriched <i>Artemia</i> used in <i>Portunus pelagicus</i> larval culture	67

Table 4.4	Fatty acid compositions (% total fatty acids) of microalgae Nannochloropsis sp, rotifers, newly hatched and enriched Artemia used in Portunus pelagicus larval culture	68
Table 4.5	Moisture (% wet weight), total lipid and lipid class contents (% dry weight) of newly hatched zoea I larvae, and newly ed zoea VI, megalopae and first stage crabs of <i>Portunus pelagicus</i>	69
Table 4.6	Lipid class compositions (% total lipid) of newly hatched zoea I larvae, newly moulted zoea IV, megalopae and first stage crabs of <i>Portunus pelagicus</i>	70
Table 4.7	Fatty acid compositions (% total fatty acids) of newly hatched zoea I larvae, newly moulted zoea IV, megalopae and first stage crabs of <i>Portunus pelagicus</i>	71
Table 4.8	Major fatty acid contents (mg g ⁻¹ dry weight) of newly hatched zoea I larvae, newly moulted zoea IV, megalopae and first crabs of <i>Portunus pelagicus</i>	72
Table 4.9	Dry weight of zoea I and the first stage crabs (C1), percentage increase in dry weight, overall cumulative development time (OCDT) and SGR in dry weight relative to the larval development of various crab species	74
Table 4.10	Number of zoeal stages, megalopal duration, overall cumulative larval development time (OCLDT) and percentage of megalopal duration to OCDT of various crab species	75
Table 5.1	General rearing protocol developed for ornate rock lobster <i>Panulirus ornatus</i> larvae at Australia Institute of Marine Science	81
Table 5.2	Equations of linear regressions and correlations between different biometric parameters	83
Table 5.3	Gross composition and lipid class composition (% DW) of newly hatched nauplii, enriched juvenile and adult <i>Artemia</i> and chopped blue mussel (<i>Mytilus galloprovincialis</i>) gonad used to feed early larval Stages of <i>Panulirus ornatus</i>	86
Table 5.4	Fatty acid compositions (% total fatty acids) of newly hatched nauplii enriched juvenile and adult <i>Artemia</i> and blue mussel (<i>Mytilus galloprovincialis</i>) gonad used to feed early larval Stages of <i>Panulirus ornatus</i>	87
Table 5.5	Principal fatty acid contents (mg g ⁻¹ DW) of newly hatched nauplii, enriched juvenile and adult <i>Artemia</i> and blue mussel (<i>Mytilus galloprovincialis</i>) gonad used to feed early larval Stages of <i>Panulirus ornatus</i>	88
Table 5.6	Total lipids (% DW) and lipid class contents (mg g^{-1} DW) of early larval Stages of <i>Panulirus ornatus</i>	89
Table 5.7	Lipid class composition (% total lipids) of early larval Stages of Panulirus ornatus	90
Table 5.8	Fatty acid compositions (% total fatty acids) of early larval Stages of <i>Panulirus</i> ornatus	91
Table 5.9	Principal fatty acid contents (mg g ⁻¹ DW larvae) of early larval Stages of <i>Panulirus</i> ornatus	93

- **Table 5.10**The comparison of body DW, growth (% increase) and SGR of different lobster94species
- Table 6.1Lipid class contents (μg. larvae⁻¹) of newly hatched larvae of the blue swimmer crab, 103
Portunus pelagicus during the starvation period
- **Table 6.2**Lipid class composition (% total lipids) of newly hatched larvae of the blue swimmer103crab, *Portunus pelagicus* during the starvation period
- **Table 6.3**Fatty acid composition (% total fatty acids) of newly hatched larvae of the blue104swimmer crab, *Portunus pelagicus* during the starvation period
- **Table 6.4**Principal fatty acid content (μ g. Larvae⁻¹) of newly hatched larvae of the blue 105
swimmer crab, *Portunus pelagicus* during the starvation period
- **Table 6.5**The comparison of principal fatty acid profile (% total fatty acids) among the 107
different brachyuran crab species
- **Table 7.1**Quantitative lipid class contents (μg. larvae⁻¹) of newly hatched larvae of the ornate116rock lobster, *Panulirus ornatus* during the starvation period
- **Table 7.2**Qualitative lipid class composition (% total lipids) of newly hatched larvae of the116ornate rock lobster, *Panulirus ornatus* during the starvation period
- **Table 7.3**Qualitative fatty acid composition (% total fatty acids) of newly hatched larvae of the117ornate rock lobster, *Panulirus ornatus* during the starvation period
- **Table 7.4**Principal fatty acid content (μg. Larvae⁻¹) of newly hatched larvae of the ornate rock118lobster, *Panulirus ornatus* during the starvation period
- **Table 7.5**Qualitative comparison of principal fatty acid profile (% total fatty acids) among the119different spiny lobster species
- **Table 8.1**The formulation (mg/g) of five experimental emulsion oils for Artemia enrichment125
- **Table 8.2**Total lipid contents (% dry weight) and fatty acid composition (% total fatty acids) of129Artemia enriched with five emulsions with graduated ARA concentrations
- **Table 8.3**Principal fatty acid contents (mg $g^{-1}DW$) of Artemia enriched with five emulsions130with graduated ARA concentrations
- **Table 8.4**Cumulative survival (%) to subsequent larval stages of newly hatched *Portunus*130*pelagicus* zoea I larvae fed enriched *Artemia* containing different levels of ARA
- **Table 8.5**Cumulative development time (days) to subsequent larval stages of newly hatched
Portunus pelagicus zoea I larvae fed enriched Artemia containing different ARA
levels131
- **Table 8.6**Carapace length and dry weight of newly metamorphosed megalopae of *Portunus*132*pelagicus* larvae fed enriched *Artemia* containing different ARA levels
- **Table 8.7**Fatty acid composition (% total fatty acids) of newly moulted *Portunus pelagicus*134megalopae fed by enriched *Artemia* containing different ARA levels

- Table 9.1Total lipid contents (% dry weight) and fatty acid composition (% total fatty acids) of144Artemiameta-nauplii enriched with five emulsions with elevated ARA
concentrations144
- **Table 9.2**Principal fatty acid contents (mg g^{-1} DW) of Artemia meta-nauplii enriched with 145
five emulsions with graduated ARA concentrations
- **Table 9.3**Development time (days) from hatching to Stage II and Stage III of ornate rock146lobster, Panulirus ornatus phyllosoma fed enriched Artemia containing differentARA levels
- Table 9.4Mean body length and dry weight of newly metamorphosed Stage III Panulirus148ornatus phyllosoma fed enriched Artemia containing different ARA levels
- **Table 9.5**Fatty acid composition (% total fatty acids) of newly metamorphosed Stage III149Panulirus ornatus phyllosoma fed enriched Artemia containing different ARA levels
- **Table 9.6**The relative retention ratios between phyllosoma body PUFA percentages and their
dietary PUFA percentages of newly metamorphosed *Panulirus ornatus* phyllosoma
fed enriched *Artemia* containing different ARA levels150
- Table 10.1Fatty acid composition (% total fatty acid) of the enrichment oils containing different157DHA/EPA ratios
- **Table 10.2**The formulation (mg/g) of five experimental emulsions oils used for Artemia 158
enrichment
- **Table 10.3**Total lipid contents (% dry weight) and fatty acid compositions (% total fatty acids)160of newly hatched Artemiaenriched with emulsions containing different DHA/EPAratios
- **Table 10.4**Cumulative survival (%) to each subsequent larval stage of newly hatched *Portunus*161*pelagicus* larvae fed enriched *Artemia* containing different DHA/EPA ratios
- Table 10.5Cumulative development time (days) to each subsequent larval stage of newly162hatched Portunus pelagicus larvae fed enriched Artemia containing differentDHA/EPA ratios
- Table 10.6Mean carapace length and body dry weight of newly metamorphosed Portunus162pelagicus megalopae fed enriched Artemia containing different DHA/EPA ratios.
- Table 10.7
 Fatty acid composition (% total fatty acids) of newly moulted megalopae fed by 164 enriched Artemia containing different DHA/EPA ratios
- **Table 10.8**The relative retention ratios (% of a specific fatty acid incorporated in megalopae/ %165of the same fatty acid incorporated in their enriched Artemia diet) of major PUFAs in
newly metamorphosed Portunus pelagicus megalopae165
- Table 11.1Total lipid content (% dry weight) and fatty acid composition (% total fatty acids) of
newly hatched Artemia nauplii enriched with emulsion containing different
DHA/EPA ratios
- **Table 11.2**Development time (days) from Stage I to II and Stage I to III in *Panulirus ornatus*178phyllosoma fed enriched Artemia containing different DHA/EPA ratios

- **Table 11.3**Total body length and body dry weight of newly metamorphosed Stage III Panulirus178ornatus larvae fed enriched Artemia containing different DHA/EPA ratios during the
period from Stage I to Stage III178
- **Table 11.4**Fatty acid composition (% total fatty acids) of newly metamorphosed Stage III180Panulirus ornatus phyllosoma fed enriched Artemia containing different DHA/EPA
ratiosratio
- **Table 11.5**The relative retention ratios between Stage III Panulirus ornatus phyllosoma body181PUFA percentages and their dietary PUFA percentages of newly metamorphosed
Panulirus ornatus phyllosoma fed enriched Artemia containing different DHA/EPA
ratios181
- **Table12.1** Schematic overview of the results and implications of this study

186

List of Figures

LISC OF 1 1		
Figure 1.1	Links between dietary PUFA, tissue HUFA and eicosanoid production. The figure indicates that the ratio of 20:4n-6/20:5n-3 determines the ratio of high activity/low activity eicosanoids (from Tocher, 2003).	8
Figure 1.2	General pathways of biosynthesis of C20 and C22 HUFA from n-3, n-6 and n-9 C18 precursors. $\Delta 5$, $\Delta 6$, $\Delta 6^*$, $\Delta 9$, $\Delta 12$, $\Delta 15$, Fatty acyl desaturases; Elong, Fatty acyl elongases; Short, chain shortening. The $\Delta 6^*$ enzyme acting on C24 fatty acids may or may not be the same enzyme ($\Delta 6$) that acts on C18 fatty acids (from Tocher, 2003).	16
Figure 2.1	Changes of volume and water content during the embryonic development of the blue swimmer crab, <i>Portunus pelagicus</i> . Egg developmental stages: I. Cleavage; II. Gastrula; III. Pigmentation; IV. Early heart beating; V. Pre-hatching.	36
Figure 2.2	Developmental changes in individual egg wet weight (WW) and dry weight (DW) of blue swimmer crab, <i>Portunus pelagicus</i> during the embryonic development.	36
Figure 2.3	The changes of individual egg water content ($\mu g egg^{-1}$) during the embryonic development of the blue swimmer crab, <i>Portunus pelagicus</i> .	37
Figure 2.4	The changes of total lipids as % of egg dry weight and in individual egg $(\mu g \text{ egg}^{-1})$ during embryonic development of the blue swimmer crab, <i>Portunus pelagicus</i> .	37
Figure 3.1	Developmental changes in egg volume ($\times 10^{-2}$ mm ³) and water content (%) of <i>Panulirus ornatus</i> during embryonic development.	49
Figure 3.2	Developmental changes in individual egg wet weight (A) and dry weight (B) of <i>Panulirus ornatus</i> during embryonic development.	50
Figure 3.3	Change in individual egg water content (μ g egg ⁻¹) of <i>Panulirus ornatus</i> during embryonic development.	50
Figure 3.4	Changes in total lipids content (% dry weight) and individual egg total lipids (μ g egg ⁻¹) of <i>Panulirus ornatus</i> during embryonic development.	51
Figure 4.1	Mortality of each larval stage (%) and cumulative survival (% newly hatched larvae moulted successfully to the each subsequent stage).	64
Figure 4.2	Mean development time (days) of each stage of Portunus pelagicus larvae.	64
Figure 4.3	Ontogenetic changes in larval wet weight (A) and dry weight (B) through successive stages in <i>Portunus pelagicus</i> .	65
Figure 4.4	Increment (%) in wet weight and dry weight of <i>Portunus pelagicus</i> larvae through successive stages.	65
Figure 4.5	The specific growth rate (SGR, % day ⁻¹) for each larval stage and overall larval development duration of <i>Portunus pelagicus</i> .	66
Figure 4.6	Ontogenetic changes in carapace length of <i>Portunus pelagicus</i> at each larval stage.	67

Figure 5.1	Developmental changes of larval wet weight (WW) and dry weight (DW) of <i>Panulirus ornatus</i> phyllosoma during the early larval development (Stage I - Stage VI).	84
Figure 5.2	The percentage increase in body wet weight (WW) and dry weight (DW) between consecutive stages (% increase) of <i>Panulirus ornatus</i> phyllosoma during the early larval development (Stage I - Stage VI).	84
Figure 5.3	The specific growth rate (SGR, % day ⁻¹) of both body wet weight (WW) and dry weight (DW) for each larval Stage and total early larval development period (Stage I - Stage VI) of <i>Panulirus ornatus</i> phyllosoma.	85
Figure 5.4	Changes of total body length (TBL) of <i>Panulirus ornatus</i> phyllosoma during the early larval development (Stage I - Stage VI).	85
Figure 6.1	Time-course of cumulative mortalities recorded of newly hatched larvae of <i>Portunus pelagicus</i> during the starvation period. T	101
Figure 6.2	The changes of individual wet weight and dry weight of newly hatched larvae of <i>Portunus pelagicus</i> during the starvation period.	102
Figure 6.3	Changes of individual dry weight of newly hatched larvae o of the blue swimmer crab, <i>Portunus pelagicus</i> during the starvation period.	102
Figure 6.4	The changes of larval total lipids content (% larval dry weight) and individual total lipids (μ g larvae ⁻¹) of newly hatched larvae of <i>Portunus pelagicus</i> during the starvation period.	106
Figure 7.1	Time-course of cumulative mortalities of newly hatched larvae of the ornate rock lobster, <i>Panulirus ornatus</i> during the starvation period.	113
Figure 7.2	The changes of individual wet weight and dry weight of newly hatched larvae of <i>Panulirus ornatus</i> during the starvation period.	114
Figure 7.3	The regression of starvation period and individual dry weight of newly hatched larvae of the ornate rock lobster, <i>Panulirus ornatus</i> .	114
Figure 7.4	The changes of larval total lipids content (% larval dry weight) and individual total lipids (μ g larvae ⁻¹) of newly hatched larvae of <i>Panulirus ornatus</i> during the starvation period.	115
Figure 8.1	The relationship between ARA contents of enriched <i>Artemia</i> and the emulsion oils.	128
Figure 8.2	Regression between dietary ARA level and zoeal development time to megalopa (A); specific growth rates (SGR) on larval dry weight (B); mean carapace length (C) and dry weight of newly metamorphosed megalopae (D) of <i>Portunus pelagicus</i> larvae fed enriched <i>Artemia</i> containing different ARA levels.	131
Figure 8.3	The specific growth rates (SGR, % day ⁻¹) of <i>Portunus pelagicus</i> larvae fed enriched <i>Artemia</i> containing different ARA levels. SGRs are calculated based on dry weight of newly settled megalopae.	132

Figure 8.4	The zoea IV chela length to carapace length (CHL/CL) ratio (diamonds) and percentage of mouling death syndrome (MDS) (bars) during metamorphosis of <i>Portunus pelagicus</i> larvae fed enriched <i>Artemia</i> containing different levels of ARA.	133
Figure 8.5	Regression between dietary ARA level and the ratio of zoea IV CHL/CL of <i>Portunus pelagicus</i> larvae fed enriched <i>Artemia</i> containing different ARA levels.	133
Figure 9.1	Cumulative survival (%) of ornate rock lobster, <i>Panulirus ornatus</i> phyllosoma from Stage I to II and Stage I to III fed enriched <i>Artemia</i> containing different ARA levels.	146
Figure 9.2	The specific growth rates (SGR, % day ⁻¹) of ornate rock lobster, <i>Panulirus ornatus</i> phyllosoma from Stage I to III fed enriched <i>Artemia</i> containing different ARA levels. SGRs are calculated based on dry weight of newly moulted stage III phyllosoma.	147
Figure 9.3	Broken line regression analysis of specific growth rates (SGR, % day ⁻¹) and dietary ARA contents (mg g ⁻¹ DW) for ornate rock lobster, <i>Panulirus ornatus</i> phyllosoma from Stage I to III fed enriched <i>Artemia</i> containing different ARA levels.	147
Figure 10.1	The specific growth rates (SGR, % day ⁻¹) of <i>Portunus pelagicus</i> newly hatched larvae fed enriched Artemia with different DHA/EPA ratios. SGRs are calculated based on dry weight of newly ed megalopae.	161
Figure 10.2	The chela length to carapace length (CHL/CL) ratio of zoea IV and percentage of ing death syndrome (MDS) during metamorphosis of <i>Portunus pelagicus</i> newly hatched larvae fed enriched <i>Artemia</i> with different DHA/EPA ratios.	163
Figure 10.3	Regression between the ratio of zoea IV CHL/CL and the percentage of moulting death syndrome (MDS) during metamorphosis (A); dietary DHA/EPA ratios and the ratio of zoea IV CHL/CL (B) of <i>Portunus pelagicus</i> larvae fed enriched <i>Artemia</i> containing different DHA/EPA ratios	163
Figure 10.4	Linear regression of A) dietary DHA/EPA ratio and larval DHA/EPA ratio; and B) dietary DHA percentage (% total fatty acids) and DHA percentage of newly ed <i>Portunus pelagicus</i> megalopae.	165
Figure 11.1	Cumulative survival (%) of <i>Panulirus ornatus</i> phyllosoma from Stage I to II and Stage I to III fed enriched <i>Artemia</i> containing different DHA/EPA ratios.	177
Figure 11.2	The specific growth rates (SGR, % day ⁻¹) of <i>Panulirus ornatus</i> phyllosoma from Stage I to III fed enriched <i>Artemia</i> containing different DHA/EPA ratios. SGRs are calculated based on dry weight of newly ed Stage III phyllosoma.	178
Figure 11.3	Regression analysis between dietary DHA/EPA ratio and specific growth rate (SGR) of <i>Panulirus ornatus</i> phyllosoma from Stage I to III.	178

Figure 11.4Regression analysis between dietary DHA percentage (% total fatty acids)178and larval DHA percentage (% total fatty acids) of newly ed Stage IIIPanulirus ornatus phyllosoma.

General introduction

1.1 Larval culture of the blue swimmer crab, *Portunus pelagicus* and the ornate rock lobster, *Panulirus ornatus* and fatty acid nutrition

The blue swimmer crab (*Portunus pelagicus*) and the ornate rock lobster (*Panulirus ornatus*) are two commercially important species in the tropical regions of the Indo-Pacific (Smith et al., 2009a; Wu et al., 2010d). Because of their large size, high meat yield and delicate flavour, there is an increasing demand for both *Portunus pelagicus and Panulirus ornatus* supply worldwide, which has led to a growing interest in *P. pelagicus* and *P. ornatus* aquaculture (Murugan et al., 2005; Romano and Zeng, 2008). However, mass production of artificial seed is a key prerequisite for the future development of aquaculture for both species.

Larval development of P. pelagicus includes four zoeal instars and one megalopal stage before settling as the first stage crab (Josileen and Menon, 2004b; Andres et al., 2010). Laboratory reared larvae under optimal conditions requires approximately 12-14 days to reach the first crab stage (C1) and the larvae readily accepted food only after 2-4 hour of post-hatching (Romano and Zeng, 2008), which are beneficial characteristics for mass hatchery production (Castine et al., 2008). While larval culture of P. pelagicus generally has better survival than that of other commercially important portunid crabs, such as the mud crab Scylla spp. and the blue crab, Callinectes sapidus (Zmora et al., 2005; Nghia et al., 2007), high incidences of moulting death syndrome (MDS) during the period when zoea IV metamorphoses to megalopa is still commonly observed (Soundarapandian et al., 2007; Castine et al., 2008), which significantly impacts the final yield of seed production. Previous research has shown that unbalanced dietary highly unsaturated fatty acids (HUFA) could lead to low larval survival as well as a high incidence of MDS in larval culture of the mud crab, S. serrata (Suprayudi et al., 2004c; Dan and Hamasaki, 2011) and the swimming crab, Portunus trituberculatus (Takeuchi et al., 1999a; Takeuchi et al., 1999b; Arai et al., 2004). For P. pelagicus, larval nutrition, particular fatty acid nutrition, has also been suggested as a major contributor to incidents of unsuccessful larval rearing (Maheswarudu et al., 2008).

The larval cycle of *P. ornatus*, is complex, consisting of eleven distinct morphological pelagic planktonic phyllosoma stages, a transitional planktonic post-larval puerulus stage, then the first instar benthic juvenile (also known as the benthic post-puerulus) (Smith et al., 2009a; Limbourn and Nichols, 2009). Of the nine species of Palinurid lobsters in Australia, *P. ornatus*

is the fastest growing species and importantly has the shortest larval phase among rock lobsters (Phillips et al., 1992). Nevertheless the larval phase is long, in relation to commercially farmed crustaceans such as penaeid prawns as it takes 4 to 6 months to complete larval development (Johnston et al., 2009). As a result, the hatchery production of lobsters is more difficult compared to other crustaceans because of their prolonged larval phase (Takeuchi and Murakami, 2007). Despite several years of research, the commercial hatchery production of *P. ornatus* has not progressed significantly due to poor survival of the larvae to juvenile which together with the extended larval phase (Johnston et al., 2008; Smith et al., 2009a). The current bottleneck in the aquaculture production of all Palinurid marine lobster species is the lack of ability to rear large quantities larvae, from egg through the multiple planktonic phyllosoma stages to puerulus and the benthic juvenile stages. Successful larval production has been achieved for P. ornatus in Australia between 2006 and 2010, but only at small scales (Smith et al., 2009a; O'Sullivan, 2010). Survival from egg to phyllosoma, puerulus and juvenile stages is currently less than 5% (Hall, pers comm), which in part is due to the limited information on larval feeding and nutritional requirements for this species (Johnston, 2006; Johnston et al., 2008). Larval nutrition, and in particular for the contents and composition of highly unsaturated fatty acids, is deemed a critical area to the successful hatchery production of this species (Wu et al., 2012a). Previous studies have shown that optimized fatty acids nutrition in the diet, particularly PUFA, can improve survival, shorten the development time and enhance growth in some other lobster larvae, such as the western rock lobster *Panulirus cygnus* (Liddy et al., 2005), the American lobster Homarus americanus (Fiore and Tlusty, 2005) and the southern rock lobster Jasus edwardsii (Nelson et al., 2004). This important information in these studies provides an intriguing insight for the larval culture of *P. ornatus* as the improved diet might shorten the larval development time and improve the survival of Palinurid larvae under the culture conditions.

Although there are a large number of publications on the topics of fatty acids nutrition for crustacean species (Liddy et al., 2004a, b; Liddy et al., 2005; Sui et al., 2007; Sui et al., 2011), there are limited informations on the essential fatty acids. The dietary optimal level of essential fatty acids has not been identified for the larval stage of any crustacean species. However, there is are a limited number of reports on the juveniles of some shrimp species, including *Penaeus japonicus* (Kanazawa et al., 1977; Kanazawa et al., 1978; Kanazawa et al., 1979b; Kanazawa et al., 1985b), *Penaeus monodon* (Merican and Shim, 1996b; 1997b; Glencross and Smith, 1999b; Glencross et al., 2001; Glencross et al., 2002), *Macrobrachium rosenbergii* (Reigh and Stickney, 1989b; D'Abramo and Sheen, 1993; D'Abramo, 1998), *Litopenaeus vannamei* (Gonz ález-F dix et al., 2002a; Gonz ález-F dix et al., 2002b;

Gonz ález-F dix et al., 2003). As formulated diets are unlikely to completely replace live foods for most crustacean larvae, it is difficult to investigate fatty acid requirement for crustacean larvae using formulated diets (Jones, 1998). Live foods, commonly rotifers and *Artemia*, have several beneficial characteristics, such as attractiveness to larvae, less water contamination and availability in a range of sizes. Due to these attributes they are widely used in the seed production of commercially important crustaceans (Takeuchi et al., 1999b; Han et al., 2001; Suprayudi et al., 2004a). Currently, *Artemia* has been used as major food source for the larval culture of *P. pelagicus* and early Stage *P. ornatus* phyllosoma (Romano and Zeng, 2008; O'Sullivan, 2010). However, *Artemia* generally lacks highly unsaturated fatty acids, which will affect growth and survival for many crustacean larvae (Sui et al., 2007; Holme et al., 2009c). Many previous studies have shown enrichment is an effective method to improve the HUFA composition and contents of the *Artemia*, which would led to the improvement of the survival and growth for crustacean larvae (Levine and Sulkin, 1984; Suprayudi et al., 2004c; Liddy et al., 2005; Nghia et al., 2007). However, there are no reports of investigations of the fatty acids nutrition on the early life stages of *P. pelagicus* and *P. ornatus*.

A suitable model crustacean species can speed and facilitate the intensive investigation to understand the nutrition requirements and their basic physiological functions. Although the blue swimmer crab is a good candidate model species for the investigation of larval nutrition of marine crabs (Castine et al., 2008), including fast growth, ease of maintainance in indoor tanks, requirement for only small rearing tanks, disease resistance and frequent spawning in one year, the lipid nutrition of early life stage of *P. pelagicus* is still largely unknown. However, the culture technology of all life stage *P. pelagicus* have been established at James Cook University (Romano and Zeng, 2008; Andr és et al., 2010), and therefore offers the opportunity to further study the larval nutrition for this species. In an attempt to improve seed production and larval quality of commercially tropical crustaceans, *P. pelagicus* is considered as a model species to investigate the fatty acids nutrition, especially for 20:4n6 (ARA), 20:5n3 (EPA), 22:6n3 (DHA), during the early life stages. Findings of these baseline studies will be applied and optimized for the larval culture of blue swimmer crab (*P. pelagicus*) and rock lobster (*P. ornatus*) to improve hatchery production and reduce the cost of operation.

1.2 Functions of fatty acids during the early life stages of crustacean

1.2.1 Energy provision

The utilization of lipids and fatty acids for energy during embryogenesis and early larval development in many species of crustacean has some unique and interesting features that require special mention. To appreciate these features, some description of egg lipid composition

and the species differences is required. In terms of lipid content and lipid class composition, crustacean eggs can fall into basically two categories. Eggs with relatively high polar lipid contents (60 to 90% of total lipid on average, mainly phosphatidylcholine (PC) and phosphatidylethanolamine (PE)), and eggs that have higher neutral lipids (> 50% of total lipid, mainly triacylglycerol (TG)), often in the form of oil globules or droplets, in addition to the phospholipid-rich yolk lipid (Yao et al., 2006; Wu et al., 2007b). In general, eggs from typical marine crustaceans, e.g. Litopenaeus vannamei (Wouters et al., 2001), swimming crab, Portunus trituberculatus (Chen et al., 2007), tend to be lower neutral lipid contents, but higher phospholipid and n-3 HUFA levels compared to the eggs from freshwater species, such as Chinese mitten crab Eriocheir sinensis (Wu et al., 2007b), Macrobrachium rosenbergii (Cavalli et al., 1999). In contrast, the eggs of most freshwater fish contain higher levels of n-6 poly-unsaturated fatty acids (PUFA), particularly 18:2n-6 and 20:4n-6, than marine crustacean eggs (Yao et al., 2006; Wu et al., 2007b). Although formulated diet for captive crustacean generally have high 18:2n6 and 18:1n9, it seems that the eggs of captive broodstock appear to be under selection pressure to maintain levels of n-3 HUFA within a species-specific range (Wouters et al., 2001).

The utilization of lipids and fatty acids during embryonic and early larval development varies considerably between crustacean species. Lipids were utilized as an energy source mainly after the initiation of the heart-beating stage of the embryo for most of crustacean species (Yao et al., 2006; Chen et al., 2007). The specific classes utilized again depends largely on the type of eggs, with neutral lipid–rich eggs primarily utilizing neutral lipids, such as in Chinese mitten crab E. sinensis and giant shrimp M. rosenbergii (Cheng et al., 1998; Yao et al., 2006), whereas phosphoglyceride-rich eggs such as those from swimming crab, P. trituberculatus and Pacific white shrimp L. vannamei primarily utilized phospholipids, mainly PC (Wouters et al., 2001; Chen et al., 2007). Therefore, phosphoglyceride-rich eggs tend to utilize phosphoglycerides, particularly PC, whereas neutral lipid-rich eggs utilize primarily triacylglycerols and also steryl and wax esters where present (Wehrtmann and Kattner, 1998; Torres et al., 2008). Irrespective of what lipid class, catabolism of lipids results in the release of free fatty acids which can either be utilized for energy or re-acylated back into lipid pools for the other uses during embryogenesis and early larval development, which can be for the formation of rapidly developing larval tissues (Wehrtmann and Graeve, 1998; Walker et al., 2006). In n-3 HUFA-rich marine eggs, it is perhaps obvious that PUFA and HUFA could be catabolized for energy, particularly in phosphoglyceride-rich eggs. Catabolism of HUFA for energy, such as EPA and DHA, has been reported in the Norway lobster, Nephrops norvegicus (Rosa et al., 2003), the European lobster, Homarus gammarus (Rosa et al., 2005), shrimp, Palaemon

serratus (Narciso and Morais, 2001), and deep sea pandalids Chlorotocus crassicornis and Polybius henslowii (Rosa et al., 2007). In the neutral lipid-rich eggs, such as freshwater giant shrimp Macrobrachium rosenbergii (Clarke et al., 1990), and portunid crab Macropipus tuberculatus (Rosa et al., 2007), n-3 HUFA and 20:4n-6 tended to be conserved during embryonic development, whereas saturated and monounsaturated fatty acids were primarily utilized during catabolism of triacylglycerols in those species (Yao et al., 2006). It is worth noting that for some species, egg mono-unsaturated fatty acids (MUFA) (primarily 16:1n7, 18:1n9, and 18:1n7) were utilised at a higher rate than saturated fatty acids (SFA) during embryogenesis (Rosa et al., 2005; Rosa et al., 2007) although the exact reason is not clear. Based on studies on mainly marine decapod crustacean, Auel et al. (2002) suggested that the utilization of HUFA, including 22:6n-3, occurred mainly in the earlier stages of development when yolk was still present, whereas later, in non-feeding larvae, 22:6n-3 and 20:4n-6 were selectively retained in PLs, at the expense of other fatty acids, including 20:5n-3, which were mainly catabolized (Auel et al., 2002). Thus, HUFA, as well as having clearly established roles in membrane structure and function for embryonic and early larval development, can also serve as an important energy source during embryonic development, especially marine species (Rosa et al., 2007).

In general, the newly hatched larva, containing a lower total lipid and FA level, has less independence of lecithotrophic nutrition and largely dependent of external energy sources. However, those with higher total lipid and FA content, are more independence from the external environment while rich-endotrophy of those larvae appears to support the growth and survival of early stages (Wehrtmann and Kattner, 1998).

1.2.2 Membrane structure and functions

Phosphoglycerides and their fatty acid compositions have a major and well-established role in maintaining the structure and function of cellular biomembranes (Harrison, 1990; Coutteau et al., 1997). Although metabolism is a very dynamic situation, the membrane phosphoglyceride and fatty acid compositions are relatively more stable than triacylglycerol compositions (Teshima, 1997). Although there are few data that directly demonstrate a clearly defined role for specific fatty acids in membrane functions in crustacean, the importance of 22:6n-3 in neural tissues of all vertebrates and invertebrates, including crustacean and fish, has recently been the subject of increasing interest (Tocher, 2003b; Lavar ás et al., 2006). Thus, in crustacean, dietary deficiency of 22:6n-3 resulted in low hatchability of eggs for many species (Cahu et al., 1994; Xu et al., 1994b; Wen et al., 2002), and decrease larval survival accompanied with high incidence of ing death syndrome (MDS) (Takeuchi et al., 1999b; Suprayudi et al., 2004a). Recent studies have demonstrated a critical role for 22:6n-3 in the functioning of neural tissue (especially brain and eye) and the importance of dietary 22:6n-3 in marine fish (Masuda et al., 1998; Tocher, 2003b). Unfortunately, there is no research in this area for crustaceans.

Although essential for membrane function, PUFA are also very susceptible to attack by oxygen (oxygen radicals) and other organic radicals. The resultant oxidative damage to PUFA in membrane phosphoglycerides can have serious consequences for cell membrane structure and fluidity, with potential pathological effects on cells and tissues. Crustacean cellular membranes with their uniquely high levels of n-3 HUFA that are constituently vital are at particularly risk from oxidative attack and damage (Chapelle, 1977; 1978; Kong et al., 2006). Although the mechanisms, consequences, and nutritional implications of lipid and fatty acid peroxidation and antioxidant protection in fish have been intensively studies for a long period (Sargent et al., 2002), only a couple of recent publications have reported on and elucidated the possible roles that endogenous enzyme mechanisms may have in protecting membrane HUFA from oxidative damage in crustacean species (Kong et al., 2007; Kong et al., 2008).

The protective enzyme system comprises a series of enzyme scavengers of oxyradicals and other radicals, such Superoxide dismutase (SOD), free as peroxisomes and Glutathione-S-transferases (GST) (Kong et al., 2008; Lavar ás et al., 2011). Studies in which these enzyme activities have been measured in fish have often focused on their role in pollutant detoxification (Mart nez-Lara et al., 1996; Lavar as et al., 2006). Feeding high HUFA diets resulted in signs of increased peroxidative stress in juvenile marine fish and the Chinese mitten crab, E. sinensis as evidenced by increased levels of tissue lipid peroxidation products, and some moderate effects on liver antioxidant defense enzyme activities have been reported (Tocher, 2003a; Liu, 2005). In a recent study using diets containing very high levels of n-3 HUFA and preoxidized oil, the activity of the enzyme defense system was clearly increased by feeding oxidized oil and reduced by supplementing the diets with vitamin E in sea bream (Mourente et al., 2002) as well as in the black tiger prawn Penaeus monodon (Laohabanjong et al., 2009).

1.2.3 Eicosanoids production

It is well-known that PUFA can be metabolized to produce highly bioactive molecules, which is central to a major functional role of HUFA by dioxygenase enzyme-catalyzed oxidation. As these highly bioactive molecules derivatives are derived primarily from the C-20 PUFA, such as 20:3n-6, 20:4n-6, and 20:5n-3, they are termed eicosanoids. The two main enzymes involved in this process are cyclooxygenase, that produces cyclic oxygenated

derivatives or prostanoids, including prostaglandins (PG), prostacyclins (PGI) and thromboxanes (TX), and lipoxygenases, that produce linear oxygenated derivatives, including hydroperoxy- and hydroxy fatty acids, leukotrienes (LT), and lipoxins (LX) (Yang et al., 2002). The eicosanoids are hormone-like compounds produced by cells to act in their immediate vicinity with a short half-life. Every tissue in the body produces eicosanoids and have a wide range of physiological actions, for example, in blood clotting, the immune response, the inflammatory response, cardiovascular tone, renal function, neural function, and reproduction (Muskiet et al., 2006). Recently, specific eicosanoids, including LTB4 and 15-deoxy $\Delta^{12,14}$ -PGJ2, have been postulated to be the natural ligands for a group of nuclear hormone receptors termed peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors (PPAR) that have established functions in the regulation of lipid metabolism in mammals (Forman et al., 1995; Kliewer et al., 1997). The pathway from extracellular stimulus to the production of eicosanoids forms a cascade termed the "arachidonic acid cascade" as arachidonic acid (20:4n-6) is the primary precursor fatty acid in mammals. Briefly, activation of cell surface receptors results in the production of free precursor acid either via phospholipase A2 activity or via the sequential action of phospholipase C and diacylglycerol lipase. The activation of phospholipase A2 may occur through elevation of intracellular Ca²⁺ (it is activated *in vitro* by high Ca²⁺ levels) or it may be regulated by a G protein, as phospholipase C appears to be in the phosphoinositide cycle (Burgoyne et al., 1987).

The subsequent pathways for the synthesis of individual eicosanoids from fatty acid precursors are complex with many different steps (Smith, 1989). Due to the obvious differences in the C20 PUFA composition of the phosphoglycerides between mammals and crustacean, there has been considerable interest in the general production of eicosanoids in crustacean. Although there are many valuable information on the pathways for the synthesis of individual eicosanoids in fish (Tocher, 2003b), there is only very limited information on the pathways for the synthesis of individual eicosanoids and their functions for crustaceans (Reddy et al., 2004; Meunpol et al., 2010). In mammals, 20:4n-6 is the chief precursor of the eicosanoids, generating 2-series prostanoids and 4-series leukotrienes. However, 20:5n-3 competes with 20:4n-6 in eicosanoid production, and is itself converted to 3-series prostanoids and 5-series leukotrienes, which are generally less biologically active than the corresponding 2-series prostanoids and 4-series leukotrienes produced from 20:4n-6 (Abayasekara, 1999). Thus, eicosanoid actions are determined by the ratio of 20:4n-6:20:5n-3 in cellular membranes, this in turn being determined by the dietary intake of n-6 and n-3 PUFA (Figure 1.1). In fish and mammals, eicosanoid production is influenced by the cellular ratio of 20:4n-6:20:5n-3, an imbalanced ratio of 20:4n-6:20:5n-3 appears to be as damaging in fish as in mammals (Abayasekara, 1999). Although for the vast majority of fish, their membrane phosphoglycerides contain a large excess

of 20:5n-3 relative to 20:4n-6, the chief source of eicosanoids in fish is 20:4n-6 where it is concentrated in phosphoinositides, and thus it is possible to conclude that the phosphoinositides are the origin of the 20:4n-6 used to produce eicosanoids in fish (Tocher, 2003). Dietary supplementation with 20:5n-3, as fish or fish oil, can be beneficial by damping down excess eicosanoid production from 20:4n-6 for mammals (Yang et al., 2002). It has also been established in fish that 20:5n-3 and dihomo- γ -linolenic acid, 20:3n-6, which can also serve as a substrate for fish cyclooxygenase enzymes, competitively depress the production of eicosanoids from 20:4n-6, as does 20:4n-3 (Bell et al., 1994; Tocher et al., 1997). Other than reproduction, in which the roles of eicosanoids in fish are well known and have been comprehensively reviewed, but there are few studies on the functions of eicosanoids in crustacean (Tahara and Yano, 2003; Reddy et al., 2004; Meunpol et al., 2010).



Figure 1.1 Links between dietary PUFA, tissue HUFA and eicosanoid production. Arachidonic acid, 20:4n-6, and eicosapentaenoic acid, 20:5n-3, obtained from the diet or be produced by desaturation and elongation of dietary 18:2n-6 and 18:3n-3, compete for the same cyclo-oxygenase and lipoxygenase enzymes (C/L) to produce, 2-series prostanoids and 4-series leukotrienes, and 3-series prostanoids and 5-series leukotrienes, respectively. Therefore, the ratio of 20:4n-6:20:5n-3 determines the ratio of high activity: low activity eicosanoids (From Tocher, 2003).

1.3 Larval digestion, absorption, storage and transport of lipids

The digestive process in crustaceans is complicated (Ceccaldi, 1998). The processes involve a mechanical digestion, the secretion of digestive enzyme, chemical digestion, physiological variations of enzyme, hormonal control of enzyme synthesis and bacterial flora. The adult decapod crustacean digestive tract is divided into three main parts: fore, mid, and hindgut. Generally, the foregut is composed of the small esophagus and a large part of the stomach, where the masticating parts are present. The hepatopancreatic mass of the midgut consists primarily of hundreds of tubes. It is the secretory site of digestive enzymes and nutrient absorption (Dall and Moriarty, 1983). The midgut is not lined with chitin while the hindgut is nearly straight and chitin is present. It is enlarged posteriorly into the rectum and terminates at the anus (Ceccaldi, 1997). Here, we attempt to clarify the functions of larvae digestive system, ontogenetic development of the digestive tract, lipid digestion, absorption, storage and transport.

1.3.1 Digestion and absorption

Studies on organogenesis of the digestive tract of crustacean are scarce (Zhu et al., 2000). In the majority of the Crustacea, the foregut (stomadaeum) and hindgut (proctodaeum) are differentiated very early in embryogenesis (Wu et al., 2009). After hatching, the simple digestive tract becomes more complex. The newly hatched nauplii of shrimp have a nonfunctional digestive tract with a mouth but no anus. The anus opens after 2 or 3 moults. Initially straight, the digestive tract progressively acquires movement and enzymatic activities. The fore part widens into a sack that differentiates in two side pockets. The tract is progressively transformed, including the section that gives rise to the gastric mill and hepatopancreas, until it resembles the tract of the adult. Among the nauplius forms, complete differentiation of the internal organs is not complete until nauplius 6. At the zoea and mysis stages, four lobes of digestive tubules appear laterally to the future stomach. The midgut caecum appears also during these particular larval stages (Ceccaldi, 1997). For the swimming crab Portunus trituberculatus larvae, the midgut gland shows further differentiation during the larval metamorphosis (Nakamura, 1990). This general scheme of organogenesis has been described in several crustacean species, including Palaemonetes varians (Le Roux, 1971), Homarus americanus (Factor, 1981), Penaeus. japonicus (Nakamura and Tsuru, 1987) and P. trituberculatus (Nakamura, 1990).

The crustacean mouth is generally associated with specialized buccal prehensile appendages, maxillula, maxilla, mandibula, and maxillipeds (Lemmens and Knott, 1994). In decapod crustaceans, there is the presence of "dents stomacales" (teeth of the stomach), which are the protrusions on the internal surface of the posterior of the cardiac stomach, are coated with a thick layer of chitin. As the function, these protrusions are often calcified and help smash the diet by moving of particular muscles located outside the wall. This is process is controlled by a group of characteristic nerves (Ceccaldi, 1998). In the brachyuran crabs, the anomaurans and macrourans development of the gastric mill occurs during larval metamorphosis (Nakamura, 1990). During the larval development, the number of tubules continues to increase during each step of the growth of the larvae and the juvenile (Zhu et al., 2000). The thin integument and tissues of the larvae allow observation of particle movements into the digestive tract. They

move alternately between the stomach and inside the lumen of each tubule, following the play of constricting waves. If the four first tubules branches are in the form of an X with the stomach in the center, particles pass from one tubule to the opposite one. When the number of tubules is high, it becomes very complex, named midgut gland or hepatopancreas (Factor, 1981).

The hepatopancreas is also a complex system, which produces several types of digestive enzymes. In crustacean, the hepatopancreas generally has four types of cells, including embryonic cell (E cell), blister-like cell (B cell), resorptive cell (R cell) and fibrillar cell (F cell). The later three cells are thought to originate from E cells through its mitosis and amitosis. R cells are responsible for the nutrient reserves of lipid, glycogen, calcium and the others. F cells are regarded as the primary sites for the biosynthesis and secretion of the digestive enzymes, while B cells mainly execute the absorptive and degrading function of nutrients from the hepatopancreas lumen by the process of pinocytosiss (Vogt, 1994). The diverse functions of the midgut gland are reflected in the different types of epithelial cells (Dall and Moriarty, 1983). Digestive enzymes can be produced by F and B cells. It is well known that triacylglycerol lipases and phospholipases are two family lipases for crustaceans, which can hydrolyze triacylglycerol and phospholipid (Ceccaldi, 1997). Then, the fatty acids will be absorbed by R cells or transported to other tissues, such as muscle (Ceccaldi, 1998). During the larval development, the lipase activity generally increase from early stage to late stage (Pan and Wang, 1997).

The digestibility always varies among the species, lipid source and fatty acids. Generally, crustaceans have a high digestibility on neutral lipids and phospholipids (Merican and Shim, 1996b). However, the different digestibilities could be found on different fatty acids. For example, *Penaeus monodon* has a lower digestibility for 16:0 and 18:0 than 20:5n3, 20:4n6 and 22:6n3 (Glencross and Smith, 1999b). A previous study also suggested that digestibility of saturated fatty acids decreased with increasing chain length while the digestibility of mono-unsaturated fatty acids increased with the chain length of those fatty acids (D'Abramo, 1997). Digestibilities of SFA were believed to be more efficient when it is in free fatty acids form rather than bind together with glycerol (Leger, 1985). It is possible that free fatty acids can be directly utilized instead of glycerol compounds which need to be hydrolysis before it can be used by crustaceans. However, this finding is contrast with the results on *P. monodon* which showed that apparent digestibilities of the same species on triacylglycerols and free fatty acids does result in any significant differences, but that the shrimp fed the diets supplemented with triacylglycerols has better growth performance than those fed free fatty acids (Glencross and

Smith, 1997). Furthermore, digestibility of individual fatty acids appears to be influenced by the presence of other fatty acids (Glencross and Smith, 2001).

1.3.2 Storage and transport

The hepatopancreas is not only for the digestion but also a main storage organ for nutrients, especially for lipid (Yao et al., 2008). Most of the lipid is stored in R cells, in the form of lipid droplets. These reserve cells also contain copper granules, zinc, sulfur, and other less-abundant elements for many crustacean species (Vogt, 1994). The concentration of those metals varies with the stage of inter, reaching their maximum level during the period of intermoult to premoult stage (Heath and Barnes, 1970; Teshima et al., 1977). The storage of material and its reuse immediately after exuviation to re-constitute new tissues is a major factor in crustacean physiological equilibrium (Dall, 1981). The quality of the reserves may play an important role in maturation, growth of the ovary, quality of egg and larvae, and the viability of the larvae (Castille and Lawrence, 1989). Before moulting, crustaceans always reserve high level nutrients in the body, especially in the hepatopancreas. As a result, the body water content will decrease form 70-80% at post stage to 60-65% at early pre stage (Freeman et al., 1987). However, after moulting, the hepatopancreas lipid level will decrease dramatically (Teshima et al., 1977; Jeckel et al., 1990). Neutral lipids are main deposited lipid in hepatopancreas while phospholipids are involved in emulsification to transport lipid from the hepatopancreas to the other tissues (Coutteau et al., 1997; Teshima, 1997). After moulting, lipid is transported to the muscle to the hypodermis but prior to the next ing, the hepatopancreas will again accumulate neutral lipid to support the coming moulting (Jeckel et al., 1990).

It is well known that lipid transport depends on lipoproteins in the haemolymph (Ravid et al., 1999). The most important lipoproteins are high-density lipoprotein (HDL) and very high-density lipoprotein (VHDL) for the transport of lipids. Using radio-labelled C14 lipid, O'Connor and Gilbert (1968) found in *Gecarcinus lateralis* that there is an increase in the specific activity of lipid in hemolymph following destalking. Despite increasing specific activity of lipid, the total lipid level in the hemolymph will decrease after eye stalk ablation. The ratio of the specific activity of hepatopancreatic lipid to the specific activity of lipid in hemolymph was found to be a measure of the relative rate of release of the 14C-lipid from the hepatopancreas into the incubation-medium (O'connor and Gilbert, 1968). The fact that this ratio is higher in destalked animals indicates that the hepatopancreas of destalked animals synthesizes lipid at a greater rate than controls. It is possible that the increase in synthesis of lipids in the early stages of pre is not compensated by a more rapid release of lipid into the hemolymph (Chandumpai et al., 1991). In the late premoult stages, there is a decrease in the rate at which lipid is synthesized

and an increase in the rate at which it is released, resulting in a net decline in the content of lipid in the hepatopancreas (Heath and Barnes, 1970).

During ovarian development, lipid transport is more complicated than simple growth. Hall et al. (1995) showed that male HDL/BGBP contains an average of 47.6 % (w/w) lipids, while VHDL (or clotting protein) contains 11.4 % of lipids and 0.2 % of haemocyanin. They proposed that the clotting protein and haemocyanin may play a significant role in lipid transport in crayfish (Hall et al., 1995). The HDL fraction of *P. vannamei* has been reported to carry substantial amounts (52–80 %) of the lipids found in the haemolymph (RuizVerdugo et al., 1997; Yepiz-Plascencia et al., 2000). Previous study have suggest that PLs in the haemolymph are possibly the main source of PLs and TAGs in the ovary (Teshima and Kanazawa, 1983; Shafir et al., 1992), but it is not clear whether TAGs in the haemolymph are the source of TAGs in the ovary for crustacean (Ravid et al., 1999). However, the measurement of a lipid turnover rate is complicated by the occurrence of intra-ovarian lipid synthesis and by the possibility of additional synthesis in the hepatopancreas and oxidation of lipids in all tissues.

1.4 Catabolism and biosynthesis (embryonic stages and larvae)

1.4.1 Fatty acid catabolism

Fatty acid catabolism is the major source of energy by far in many crustacean species (D'Abramo, 1997). The biosynthesis of fatty acids occurs in the cytosol microsome whereas the catabolism of fatty acids occurs in the cellular organelles, including the mitochondria (and peroxisomes) via a completely different set of enzymes (Irazúet al., 1992; Lavar ás et al., 2006). The process is termed β -oxidation and involves the sequential cleavage of two-carbon units, released as acetyl-CoA, through a cyclic series of reactions catalyzed by several distinct enzyme activities rather than a multi-enzyme complex. Briefly, activated fatty acids are transported into the mitochondrion in the form of fatty acylcarnitine esters formed through the action of carnitine acyltransferase, converted back into fatty acyl-CoA derivatives, and then undergo a round of dehydrogenation, hydration, second hydrogenation, and cleavage steps to produce acetyl-CoA and NADH (Kallapur et al., 1983a; Kallapur et al., 1983b). The acetyl-CoA can then be metabolized via the tricarboxylic cycle to produce more NADH. The NADH produced from the oxidation of fatty acids can then provide metabolic energy in the form of ATP through the process of oxidative phosphorylation. Under certain conditions such as fasting, acetyl-CoA can be exported from the liver in the form of ketone bodies, acetoacetate and 3-hydroxybutyrate, which are used by peripheral tissues as fuel through oxidation back to acetyl-CoA (Kondrup and Lazarow, 1985). During the last two decades, the key processes of mitochondrial β -oxidation and ketone body formation have been established in crustacean, based on the results from the
shrimp *Macrobrachium borellii* (Gonz dez-Baro et al., 1990; Gonz dez-Baró and Pollero, 1993; Gonz dez-Baró and Pollero, 1998; Gonz dez-Baró et al., 2000; Lavar ás et al., 2006; Lavar ás et al., 2007). Although hepatopancreas is a centre of lipid metabolism, fatty acid oxidation could be found in several crustacean tissues, including heart, gill, hepatopancreas and muscles (Gonz dez-Baro et al., 1990; Iraz ú et al., 1992). Recent studies have demonstrated peroxisomes are also another site of β -oxidation for crustaceans (Gonz dez-Baró et al., 2000) as well as mammals (Lazo et al., 1988).

β-oxidation of PUFA is variable depend on the structure of different PUFAs, which is be more complicated that of SFA and MUFA (Tocher, 2003). In mammals, 20:5n-3 is readily β-oxidized by mitochondria and can actually, induce the formation of mitochondria in rats (Madsen et al., 1999). However, catabolism of 22:6n-3 requires peroxisomal β-oxidation. This is because, as insertion of the Δ4 ethylenic bond in 22:6n-3 requires a special mechanism (described above), so does its removal. Thus, the initial 2, 3 (α, β) dehydrogenation of 22:6n-3, the first step in the β-oxidation of all fatty acids, requires that it be followed in the case of 22:6n-3 by an NADPH–dependent 2, 4-dienoyl CoA reductase and then by a 3*cis*–2t*rans* isomerase so as to enable the completion of oxidation of its β-carbon (Madsen et al., 1999; Tocher, 2003). These processes, which are well evolved in peroxisomes, have yet to be studied in crustacean.

The key enzymes involved in fatty acid catabolism, such as microsomal palmitoyl-CoA synthetase and mitochondrial palmitoyl-CoA synthetase, are affected by environmental temperature and the interaction of other fatty acids for crustaceans (Irazúet al., 1992; McKenzie et al., 2008). Therefore, it is very important and interesting to investigate the optimal temperature and fatty acid composition of these species to promote growth and reduce energy consumption (Querijero et al., 1997; Lavar ás et al., 2006). In addition, different life stages of crustacean have variable ability of fatty acid oxidation as well as different tissue for the same species (Gonz ález-Bar ó et al., 2000; Heras et al., 2000; Lavar ás et al., 2006). For example, the embryonic pigmentation stage of the shrimp *Macrobrachium borellii* has stronger fatty acid oxidation than the other embryonic stages (Gonz ález-Bar ó et al., 2000).

1.4.2 Fatty acids biosynthesis

The ultimate carbon source for the biosynthesis of new fatty acids is acetyl-CoA formed in mitochondria from the oxidative decarboxylation of pyruvate (carbohydrate source) or the oxidative degradation of some amino acids (protein source) (Kucharski and Dasilva, 1991). The key pathway in fatty acids biosynthesis is catalyzed by the cytosolic fatty acid synthetase (FAS)

multi-enzyme complex that occurs and has been characterized in crustacean (Li, 2005). The main products of FAS are the saturated fatty acids 16:0 (palmitic acid) and 18:0 (stearic acid), which can be biosynthesized *de novo* by all known organisms, including crustaceans (Kucharski and Dasilva, 1991; D'Abramo, 1997). Eight two-carbon acetyl units are required for the biosynthesis of 16:0 with one acetyl-CoA unit serving as a primer and the further seven acetyl units being carboxylated by acetyl-CoA carboxylase to malonyl-CoA before being combined via FAS in a series of sequential condensation steps requiring NADPH (Li, 2005).

Although crustacean can biosynthesize SFA *de novo*, most of them still need a certain level of SFA as an energy source and bioconvertion to MUFA (Gonz dez-Baró and Pollero, 1993; Querijero et al., 1997), especially for marine crustaceans as they naturally consume diets rich in lipid. For example, the swimming crab always restores high lipid content in the hepatopancreas in the summer and autumn, which is related to the rich lipid of their food in this season (Yao et al., 2008). Therefore, marine crabs are not likely to biosynthesize fatty acids *de novo* to any significant extent. It is well known that the hepatopancreas is the principal site of fatty acids biosynthesis for crustaceans (Whitney, 1974). The rate of fatty acids biosynthesis is regulated by a number of dietary/nutritional factors. For example, dietary n-3HUFA themselves reduced FAS activity in hepatopancreas and muscle of the Chinese mitten crab *E. sinensis* (Li, 2005).

Similar to saturated fatty acids, all organisms, including crustacean, are capable of desaturating 16:0 and 18:0 to yield, respectively, 16:1n-7 (palmitoleic acid) and 18:1n-9 (oleic acid). Desaturation of fatty acids in crustaceans, like all animals, takes place in the endoplasmic reticulum of cells of particular tissues via an aerobic process utilizing CoA-linked substrates and requiring NAD(P)H and O_2 , catalyzed by multi-component systems comprising NAD(P)H-cytochrome b5 reductase, cytochrome b5, and terminal desaturase enzymes (Brenner, 1974). This reaction is of particular physiological importance in that the monounsaturated products formed (16:1n-7 and 18:1n-9) have markedly lower melting points (phase transition temperatures) than their saturated precursors (16:0 and 18:0) (Querijero et al., 1997). Hence, $\Delta 9$ fatty acid desaturase provides a means of regulating the viscosity of cell membranes by altering the phase transition temperatures of the fatty acids in their constituent phosphoglycerides (Tocher, 2003). As MUFA have lower melting points than SFA, the crustacean tend to biosynthesis more MUFA at the lower temperature than those at the higher temperature (Farkas and Nevenzel, 1981).

Although in crustacea the hepatopancreas, muscle and gills are able to biosynthesis SFA and elongating them (from 16:0 to 18:0), only the hepatopancreas can desaturate palmitic and oleic acid to their correspondent MUFA (16:1n7 and 18:1n9, respectively) (Farkas and

Nevenzel, 1981; Gonz ález-Baró and Pollero, 1993). Similar to the mammal liver, the crustacean hepatopancreas desaturates oleic acid more efficiently than palmitic acid (Gonz ález-Baró and Pollero, 1993). A previous study has shown amino acids are the preferred carbon source for the biosynthesis of SFA and MUFA *de novo* (Kucharski and Dasilva, 1991). Obviously, biosynthesis of fatty acids at the expense of amino acids is not economic in terms of aquaculture profits. Therefore, supplementation of certain SFA and MUFA seems necessary for crustacean feeds (D'Abramo, 1997).

Similar to the other vertebrates, crustaceans lack $\Delta 12 \pmod{0.6}$ and $\Delta 15 \pmod{0.3}$ desaturases so they cannot form 18:2n-6 and 18:3n-3 from 18:1n-9 (D'Abramo, 1997; Merican and Shim, 1997b). Therefore, 18:2n-6 and 18:3n-3 are essential fatty acids in the diets of crustaceans (D'Abramo, 1997). These dietary essential fatty acids can be de-saturated further and elongated to form the physiologically essential C20 and C22 PUFA, such as 20:4n-6, 20:5n-3, and 22:6n-3 as shown in Figure 1.2 for some animals including freshwater fishes (Tocher, 2003). The degree to which an animal can perform these conversions is dependent on the relative activities of fatty acid elongases and desaturases, such as $\Delta 6$ and $\Delta 5$, in their tissues, and these activities in turn are dependent on the extent to which the species can or cannot readily obtain the end product 20:4n-6, 20:5n-3, and 22:6n-3 fatty acids preformed from their natural diets (Glencross, 2009). The tissues of both freshwater and marine crustacean are generally very rich in 20:5n-3 and 22:6n-3, and so the origins of these fatty acids are of particular interest. Some crustacean have ability to biosynthesis 20:5n-3 and 22:6n-3 from 18:3n-3, such as spider crab Libinia emarginata Leeth (Whitney, 1974), crayfish Procambarus clarkii (Farkas and Nevenzel, 1981) and black tiger prawn P. monodon (Merican and Shim, 1996); and the conversion of 20:4n6 from 18:2n6, Chinese mitten crab, E. sinensis (Wu et al., 2010a) and prawn Penaeus setiferus (Lilly and Bottino, 1981). However, the pathway of those biosynthesis and conversion is not clear for crustacean (Gonz alez-Baró and Pollero, 1998; Wu et al., 2010a).



Figure 1.2 General pathways of biosynthesis of C20 and C22 HUFA from n-3, n-6 and n-9 C18 precursors. $\Delta 5$, $\Delta 6$, $\Delta 6^*$, $\Delta 9$, $\Delta 12$, $\Delta 15$, Fatty acyl desaturases; Elong, Fatty acyl elongases; Short, chain shortening. $\Delta 9$ desaturase is found in all animals and plants whereas $\Delta 12$ and $\Delta 15$ desaturases are generally only found in plants and so 18:2n-6 and 18:3n-3 are "essential" fatty acids (EFA) for many animals including some crustacean species. Carnivores and many marine crustaceans generally cannot or have only limited ability to carry out the conversions above due to specific deficiencies in desaturases and/or elongases and so 20:5n-3 and 22:6n-3 are their EFA. The $\Delta 6^*$ enzyme acting on C24 fatty acids may or may not be the same enzyme ($\Delta 6$) that acts on C18 fatty acids (From Tocher, 2003).

For crustaceans, the reactions of de-saturation and elongation mainly occur in the microsomal and mitochondrial fraction of the hepatopancreas (Gonz Alez-Bar ó and Pollero, 1998). As the details in Figure 1.2 show there are many fatty acyl desaturases, elongases and shortenases in these biosynthesis pathways, including $\Delta 5$, $\Delta 6$, $\Delta 9$, $\Delta 12$, $\Delta 15$ series. As $\Delta 12$ and $\Delta 15$ desaturases are generally only found in plants 18:2n-6 and 18:3n-3 are "essential" fatty

	Life stage	LNA→EPA	LOA→ARA	LNA→DHA	EPA→DHA	DHA→EPA	Reference
Freshwater sp	oecies						
- Macrobrachium borellii	Adult 1.0–1.2 g	No	No	_	_	_	Gonz alez-Bar ó and Pollero (1998)
Macrobrachium rosenbergii	Juvenile 0.06-0.5g	No/very low	No/very low	No/very low	Yes	—	D'Abramo and Sheen (1993)
Macrobrachium rosenbergii	Pre-adult 6-16g	Yes	Yes	Yes	_	—	Reigh and Stickney (1989)
Procambaruss clarkii	Adult 50-70g	Yes	Yes	Yes	—	—	Farkas (1981)
Astacus astacus	Adult or pre-adult	Yes	Yes	Yes	—	—	Zandee (1966)
Eriocheir sinensis	Precocity 15-17g		Yes	_	_	_	Wu et al (2010a)
Marine specie	es						
Penaeus monodon	Juvenile 0.1-0.4g	Very limited	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Merican and Shim (1996, 1997)
Penaeus kerathurus	Adult 12.9 + 2.9g	Low ability	Yes	No	Yes Strong	_	Mourente (1996)
Penaeus setiferus	_	Very limited	_	Very limited	_	_	Lilly and Bottino (1981)
Penaeus japonicus	Larvae Z1-Z3	Yes	Yes	Yes	_	_	Jones et al (1979)
Penaeus japonicus	Juveniles	Moderate ability	Moderate ability	Moderate ability	_	Yes/strong	Kanazawa et al (1979)
Mysid Gnathophausia	_	Yes	Yes	Yes	_	_	Morris and Sagent(1973)
Acanthepyra purpurea	_	Yes	Yes	Yes	_	_	Morris and Sagent(1973)
Nematobrachion sexspinosus	—	Yes	Yes	Yes	—	—	Morris and Sagent(1973)
Scylla serrata	Juvenile 0.06-0.7	Very limited	No	No	_	Yes	Sheen and Wu (2003)
Scylla serrata	Larvae Z1-Megalopa	Very low	Very low	Very low	_	_	Suprayudi et al (2004b)

Table 1.1 Summary of biosynthesis and conversion of PUFA in crustacean species

Notes: "—" means not studied or no available information in the reference. LNA: 18:3n3; LOA: 18:2n6; ARA: 20:4n6; EPA: 20:5n3; DHA: 22:6n3.

acids (EFA) for many crustaceans. The pathways of 18:3n-3 to 22:6n-3 and 18:2n6 to 20:4n6 has been established for several fishes (see Figure 1.2) (Tocher, 2003). Unfortunately, no detailed research of PUFA biosynthesis has been elucidated for any crustacean. However, there is an extensive body of evidence based on direct feeding studies as well as on the conversion of radioisotopes administered *in vivo* that the conversion, including 18:3n-3 to 20:5n-3 and then to 22:6n-3, 18:2n6 to 20:4n6, do occurs in many freshwater crustacean species whereas the ability of this conversion is very poor for most marine decapod species (see Table 1.1). This difference is fundamental and very important to determine the dietary essential fatty acid requirements of crustacean (Mourente, 1996; Merican and Shim, 1997). It reflects the fact that 20:5n-3 and 22:6n-3 are very abundant in the marine environment, therefore, marine decapod crustacean have an ample supply of 20:5n-3 and 22:6n-3 in their natural diets (Lilly and Bottino, 1981; Saunders et al., 2012). In contrast, the natural prey of freshwater crustacean, particularly their invertebrate prey, is not rich in 22:6n-3, being rich instead in 18:2n-6, 18:3n-3 to 22:6n-3 to 22:6n-3 is necessary for freshwater crustacean (Farkas and Nevenzel, 1981; Reigh and Stickney, 1989b;

Wu et al., 2010a). Overall, most of marine decapod crustacean generally have only limited ability to carry out the above conversions due to the specific deficiencies of desaturases and/or elongases, and then 20:5n-3 and 22:6n-3 are their EFAs (Kanazawa et al., 1979a; Merican and Shim, 1996; Suprayudi et al., 2004b).

Gonzalez-Baro and Porello (1998) suggested the inability of some decapods to elongate PUFA to HUFA is because of an inactive enzymatic system of $\Delta 6$ and $\Delta 5$ desaturate activity. However, previous results on crustacean showed that their situation is a complicated complex varying with different life stage and different species, particularly in terms of their expressing some of the enzyme activities necessary to convert C18 PUFA precursors to C22 PUFA products. For example, although preadult *Macrobrachium rosenbergii* (6-16g) have ability to convert C-18 PUFA precursors to C-22 PUFA, juvenile shrimps do not have or only have very limited ability of these pathway (Reigh and Stickney, 1989b; D'Abramo and Sheen, 1993). The $\Delta 5$ fatty acid desaturase maybe the limiting desaturase for the conversion of C-18 PUFA to HUFA of *P. kerathurus* (Mourente, 1996) while the $\Delta 6$ is the first limiting factor for *M. borellii* (Gonz & adez-Bar of and Pollero, 1998). Table 1.1 summarized the biosynthesis and conversion of C-18 PUFA to HUFA for some common crustacean species.

Recent studies have shown that the $\Delta 5$ and $\Delta 6$ fatty acid desaturase gene and C18-C20 and C20-C22 elongase gene(s) are well established in almost all animals (Hastings et al., 2001; Monroig et al., 2013). The apparent inability of marine crustacean to convert 18:3n-3 to 20:5n-3 and 22:6n-3 is not due to the complete absence of the required genes in a particular species but to one or more of the required genes not being sufficiently well expressed (Tocher, 2003). Therefore, the problem may be how to switch on the recalcitrant genes rather than to introduce them by genetic engineering. Very recently, fatty acid elongase and desaturase genes have been cloned from Chinese mitten crab, *E. sinensis* (Guo et al., 2013; Yang et al., 2013), but it is unclear for the function of these genes and their enzymes in the fatty acid pathway.

It is very interesting that crustaceans and fishes, having the conversion ability of C18 to C20, always contained lower n-6 HUFA (ARA) than n-3 HUFA (DHA and EPA), which suggest that the fatty acid elongases and desaturase enzymes have stronger effect on n-3 HUFA substrates than n-6 HUFA substrates/precursors (Agaba et al., 2005; Glencross, 2009; Wu et al., 2010a). Clearly, with the development of new molecular technologies, more intensive investigation in greater depth should be conducted to understand those pathway and molecular mechanism.

1.5 Fatty acids requirements and their interactions

1.5.1 Study history and their limitations of larvae and juvenile crustacean

Although the study of crustacean nutrition started in the 1960s, the studies of fatty acids requirements were not conducted until the late 1980s. With the development of formulated diets, especially microbound diets, most of diets defined lipid composition was initially used to investigate fatty acids requirements for juvenile *Penaeus japonicus* (Kanazawa et al., 1978; Kanazawa et al., 1979b; Kanazawa et al., 1985b). However, leaching loss of dietary nutrients into the water was an obstacle to the development of robust conclusions on nutrient requirements of shrimps, particularly the larvae and early juvenile (Teshima et al., 1993; Jones, 1998; Teshima, 1998). Therefore, after 1980s, microencapsulated diets were used to investigate the nutrition requirement or as a replacement for live food for larval/early juvenile crustacean (Jones et al., 1987; Le Vay et al., 1993).

Although total replacement of live feeds is routinely accomplished in the laboratory for penaeids, it has been less successful in large commercial scale for many crustacean larvae (Jones, 1998; Holme et al., 2009a). With the consideration of practical application for aquaculture hatcheries, most of fatty acids researches were still conducted to compare the fatty acid composition of different live food or different enrichment emulsions as well as their effects on gross performance for larvae or early juvenile (Rees et al., 1994; Nghia et al., 2007; Sui et al., 2007). Although the micro-particle diets is not very successful in completely replacing live foods on commercial scales, the development of microparticles (MBD and MED) as feed for crustaceans has facilitated research into the identification of fatty acid requirements (Jones, 1998; Holme et al., 2009a).

As purified fatty acids (in the type of free fatty acid and triacylglycerol) are very expensive, most of research has been conducted only based on different lipid sources (vegetable oil and animal oil) or different ratios of them (Gonz alez-F dix et al., 2002a; Gonz alez-F dix et al., 2002b; Holme et al., 2007b; Holme et al., 2009c). It is well known that there are strong interactions of dietary different fatty acids; therefore, it is difficult to draw the precise conclusion of fatty acids requirements from those publications (D'Abramo and Sheen, 1993; D'Abramo, 1998; Glencross et al., 2002). Therefore, future experimentation leading to the precise determination of fatty acid requirements should be directed toward the provision of graded levels of pure fatty acids in a triglyceride or methyl ester form, rather than through the provision of oils rich in the fatty acids under investigation (D'Abramo, 1998).

1.5.2 Requirement criteria

The criteria used to measure the requirement for fatty acids has generally been only used gross performance indicators, such as survival, growth and inter period (Reigh and Stickney, 1989b; D'Abramo and Sheen, 1993; Glencross et al., 2002; Wu et al., 2007c). Thus, in most studies, the larval/juvenile diets supplemented with appropriate level of EFA, especially HUFA, has been reported to not only increase growth and survival, but also reduce inter period and "moulting death syndrome" (MDS) (Holme et al., 2007b; Sui et al., 2007). Except for the analysis of the dietary fatty acids, it is really important and necessary to analyse the lipid composition of crustacean tissue when complement feeding trial and prior to the initiation of an experiment (D'Abramo, 1997). Comparing tissue and dietary fatty acid composition, particularly for potential EFAs, should assist the identification of EFAs, biosynthetic pathways of fatty acids and possible indicator of an EFA deficiency (Glencross and Smith, 2001; Sheen and Wu, 2002). Until 1990s, a limited number of studies have also looked at stress resistance, such as osmotic and temperature shock and those results had shown that appropriate diet EFA levels could increase the stress resistance by optimization of membrane fatty acid composition (Rees et al., 1994; Smith et al., 2004; Sui et al., 2007). Very recently, physiological, metabolic, biochemical or molecular parameters have been investigated to the studies of crustacean nutrition (Guo et al., 2013). Although feed conversion efficiency (weight gain/apparent feed intake, FCR) are important to evaluate animal nutritional requirements, it is very difficult to apply this criteria for larval and juvenile crustacean (Jones, 1998). This is because it is difficult to collect uneaten diet and exclude feces from the uneaten feed and therefore, it is not possible to obtain robust FCR data parts of the larvae and juveniles (Teshima, 1998).

1.5.3 Saturated and Monounsaturated Fatty Acids

Although a high proportion of SFA and MUFA could be found on crustacean tissues including muscle, hepatopancreas and gonads, only little attention has been given to the requirements of SFA and MUFA for crustaceans (D'Abramo, 1998; Teshima, 1998). This is partially because crustaceans have the ability to synthesize saturated fatty acids and possess desaturase and elongatase enzymes that can convert SFA to MUFA (D'Abramo, 1997). In fact, the percentage of SFA and MUFA in the total fatty acids and the compositions are important to the growth and feed conversion efficiency (weight gain/apparent feed intake, FCR) for crustacean (Teshima, 1998). In generally, compared to PUFA, SFA and MUFA are considered as preferred energy sources for crustacean (Querijero et al., 1997) while PUFA was preferentially conserved as they play more roles in cell structure. However, the preferred utilization and digestibility of those SFA and MUFA as energy source maybe vary from species

to species (Glencross and Smith, 2001). A previous study has confirmed that dietary 16:0 and 18:0 are energy source responsible for good growth of *M. rosenbergii* (D'Abramo, 1998). The melting point is one of the factors affecting the nutritive value of dietary lipids as energy sources (Teshima, 1998). Studies on *P. monodon* illustrated that SFA digestibilities in various oils decreased with increased chain length ranging from 95% for 14:0 to 66% for 18:0, while the digestibilities of MUFA increased with increasing chain length (Merican and Shim, 1994). However, excessive lipid content (beyond the optimal total lipid content) will depress the digestibilities of fatty acids (Glencross and Smith, 2001).

Recently, the replacement of fish oil with plant oils has been a priority in aquaculture nutrition, but less attention have been given to the understanding of the balance of dietary SFA: MUFA: PUFA ratios (Holme et al., 2007a). However, lowering or replacing the percentage of fish oil affects the balance of dietary fatty acids, particularly the ratio of SFA: MUFA: PUFA (Teshima, 1998). Our recent research on juvenile Chinese mitten crab, E. sinensis has shown that when diet is lacking in 18:1n9, the juvenile E. sinensis will absorb/biosynthesis and accumulate high 16:0 in the hepatopancreas for energy provision, especially during ing (Wu et al., 2011). Moreover, the use of short-chain fatty acids (SCFA, i.e. 2:0, 4:0), medium-chain triacylglycerols (MCT) containing 6:0, 8:0, 10:0, and 12:0 as alternative sources of energy have been studied in fish (Tocher, 2003). Some benefits, such as improved growth, high digestibility and low muscle lipid deposition could be found for some fish species (Fontagn é et al., 2000). However, no similar studies have been carried out in this area for crustaceans. In addition, providing sufficient amounts of SFA and MUFA in the diets is particularly important in reducing oxidation of the diets (Watanabe, 2002). Based on this review, there is little information available on the SFA and MUFA requirement and their functions for crustacean, it is clearly desirable that more attention should be paid on the importance in the nutrition of the SFA and MUFA, in future studies.

1.5.4 C18-Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids

Compared to SFA and MUFA, PUFA in crustaceans has been studied intensively during the past 40 years. PUFA can be divided into groups according to the number of carbons and double bonds, C18-PUFA (with or more than two double bonds, with 18 carbons) and HUFA (with or more than three double bonds, with or more than 20 carbons). C18-PUFA that consist of linolenic acid (18:3n3, LNA) and linoleic (18:2n6, LOA) acid has been recognized as an important nutrient for crustaceans (Sheen and Wu, 2003). Deficiencies of PUFA in the diets will lead to detrimental effects in crustacean growth (Read, 1981; Merican and Shim, 1996b). Generally, freshwater and estuary crustacean may need more C18-PUFAs (LNA and LOA) compared to marine species as their natural food typically contains high level of those fatty acids (Read, 1981; D'Abramo and Sheen, 1993; Wu et al., 2007b).

The dietary essentiality of LNA and LOA for crustaceans is variable among the different species and the importance of providing sufficient amounts of these fatty acids is debated (D'Abramo and Sheen, 1993; Merican and Shim, 1997b; Glencross and Smith, 2001). For most penaeids and marine crabs, many experiments suggested that LNA has greater nutritional value

Species	Stage	Fatty acid form and contents	LNA	LOA	Value	Criteria	Feeding period	Reference
Penaeus aztecus	Juvenile	Purified FA	1%	_	—	G		Shewbart and Mies (1973)
Marsupeaeus japonicus	Juvenile	Purified FA	1%	1%	LNA>LO A	G, S		Kanazawa et al (1979)
Penaeus indicus	Juvenile (0.35-2.23g)	Purified FA, 0- 2%DW	0.5%	0.5%	LOA>LN A	G, S, BFA	4 weeks	Read (1981)
Penaeus chinensis	Juvenile (0.37-1.62g)	Purified FA, 0 and 1%DW	1%	1%	LNA>LO A	G, S, MF, BFA	32 days	Xu et al. (1993)
Penaeus chinensis	Juvenile (0.37-1.62g)	Purified FA LOA: 0-1%DW; LNA: 0-1%DW	0.7-1.0%	0.5%	LNA>LO A	G, S, MF, BFA	60 days	Xu et al. (1994)
Macrobrachium rosenbergii	Juvenile (0.06-0.5g)	Purified FA LOA: 0-0.6%DW; LNA: 0-1.2%DW	0.45-0.6%	0.6%	LNA=LO A	G, S, MF, BFA	150 days	D'Abramo and Sheen (1993)
Litopenaeus vannamei	Juvenile (0.37-3.11g)	Purified fatty acids LOA: 0-1%DW; LNA: 0-1%DW	0.5-1%	0.5-1 %	LNA>LO A	G, S, BFA	6 weeks	Gonz alez-F elix et 2003a
Penaeus monodon	Juvenile (0.07-0.37g)	Purified FA LNA: 0-3%DW, without HUFA	2.5%	_	—	G, S, BFA	4 weeks	Merican and Shim (1997)
Penaeus monodon	Juvenile (1.87-5.85g)	Vegetable oil and Purified FA LOA:0.29-1.47%DW;LNA: 0-1.16%DW	0.88%DW	0.58%	LNA>LO A	G, S, BFA	50 days	Glencross and Smith (1999)
Eurypanopeus depressus	Larvae to megalopa	Rotifer and <i>Artermia</i> enriched with purified FA; 0, 1% of LNA and LOA, respectively.	1%	1%	LNA=LO A	S, DP	22days	Levine and Sulkin (1984)
Scylla serrata	Juvenile (0.06-0.78g)	Purified fatty acids LOA: 0-0.2%DW; LNA: 0-0.2%DW	0.2%	0.2%	LNA>LO A	G, S, BFA, MF	10 weeks	Sheen and Wu (2003)
Scylla serrata	Larvae to megalopa	Rotifer enriched with purified FA LNA: 1.35-2.85%DW; LNA:0.48-1.49%DW respectively	1.49%	2.85%	LNA=LO A	S,DP, CW, BFA	20 days	Suprayudi et al (2004)

Table 1.2 Summary of requirements of dietary LNA and LOA levels for crustacean larvae and juveniles

Notes: %DW: % of diet dry weight; %TFA: % of total fatty acids; S: survival; G: growth; BFA: body/tissue fatty acid analysis; SR: stress resistance; MF: ing frequency; FC: Feed conversion; DP: development period; CW: carapace width.

compare to LOA (Read, 1981; Xu et al., 1993; Xu et al., 1994b; Lim et al., 1997; Gonz ález-F dix et 2003a). In *P. chinensis* comparison of 1% LNA and 1% LOA included in the diets illustrated significant superior growth rate, moulting frequency and survival in shrimps fed diet containing LNA treatment (Xu et al., 1993). However, the experiments with *M. rosenbergii* gave contrast results: LOA have better nutritional values than LNA for this freshwater species (Reigh and Stickney, 1989; D'Abramo and Sheen, 1993). Dietary supplementation of LNA at 1.5-3% in the diet significantly increased survival and growth of juvenile *P. monodon* (Merican and Shim, 1997). For the other species, the nutritional values of LNA and LOA are similar and both of them can enhance growth (Read, 1981; Glencross and Smith, 1999). The LOA and LNA requirements and their importance are summarized in Table 1.2 for the crustaceans which have been studied.

Although there is no concrete experimental explanation for the biochemical aspects of LNA and LOA supremacy, it is noted that in freshwater crustaceans, e.g *M. rosenbergii* and *E. sinensis*, need predominantly n-6 fatty acids compared to marine species which have a preference for n-3 fatty acids (D'Abramo, 1997). Previous studies have also shown that freshwater crustaceans contain relatively higher levels of n-6 fatty acids than marine species (D'Abramo, 1998; Wu et al., 2010a). Marine crustaceans on the other hand, such as *P. chinensis*, show high utilization of LNA compare to LOA (Xu et al., 1993) and it has been shown that marine crustaceans utilized fish oil rich in n-3 fatty acids more efficiently than plant sources that are generally high in n-6 fatty acids (Lim et al., 1997). Overall, it is possible that the difference of PUFA requirement among this species is related to their feeding habits and physiological adaptation to their surroundings.

Comparisons between the HUFA and C18-PUFA studies indicated the importance of dietary HUFA. Sheen and Wu (2002) pointed out that the mud crab *S. serrata* fed diets containing HUFA (DHA, ARA and DHA + ARA) gave better performance, up to 249% weight gain, compared to mud crabs fed diets containing LNA or LOA. Similar results were obtained in a previous study on *P. monodon* (Merican and Shim, 1997). Although HUFA appears to be superior to PUFA, juvenile *P. monodon* fed a diet containing pure free fatty acid of 22:6n-3 gave inferior weight gain compared to shrimps fed diets with cod liver oils that rich in PUFA and HUFA (Merican and Shim, 1996). It suggests that the optimal balance of fatty acids in the diets is more important compared to addressing the fatty acids individually. Interactions between fatty acids may play very important roles rather than the function of each of them (Glencross et al., 2002; Sheen and Wu, 2002).

1.5.5 Highly Unsaturated Fatty Acids

Generally, almost of all decapod crustacean larvae need a certain dietary HUFA, but the HUFA requirement of freshwater crustaceans appears to be approximately one tenth of the level suggested for marine crustaceans (D'Abramo, 1997; D'Abramo, 1998). In addition, cold-water species may need higher dietary HUFA level than warm-water species (D'Abramo, 1997). Common HUFAs include 20:5n3, 20:4n6 and22:6n3, which are considered to have higher nutritional value than those C18-PUFAs (Xu et al., 1993; Xu et al., 1994a; Merican and Shim, 1996b; Suprayudi et al., 2004c). The total HUFA requirements of crustacean larvae and juveniles are summarized in Table 1.3. However, some crustacean species have the ability to convert C18-PUFA to HUFA (see section 1.4.2) and therefore the nutritional value of those two group fatty acids are variable among the different species (D'Abramo and Sheen, 1993; Merican and Shim, 1996; Wu et al., 2011b).

As n-3 HUFA, especially EPA and DHA, play many important physiological roles for crustaceans, such as the components of membrane phospholipids, precursors of biologically active eicosanoids and enhancement of neural development (Wouters et al., 2001; Sui et al., 2007; Sui et al., 2011), most of studies were focused on the n-3 HUFA requirement and their effect on larval or early juvenile crustaceans (Xu et al., 1993; Xu et al., 1994a; Nghia et al., 2007). Most of previous researches have shown that a diet deficient n-3 HUFA usually resulted in slower growth rate and high mortality, and prolonged intermoult periods for the larvae of many marine crustaceans species (Xu et al., 1994a; Suprayudi et al., 2004b). However, excessive amount of dietary n-3 HUFA also severely reduced growth and survival (Sui et al., 2007; Dan and Hamasaki, 2011). Kanazawa et al. (1985) observed that survival of *P. japonicus* increased with increasing dietary n-3 HUFA levels from 0-1% but decreased at 2% (Kanazawa et al., 1985). Depressed growth rate at high levels of n-3 HUFA may be related to metabolic response of shrimps to excessive HUFA levels (Yu and Sinnhuber, 1976). As HUFA is prone to oxidation, then overdose of HUFA or contamination by oxidation products of HUFA is harmful to crustacean (Kanazawa et al., 1985).

Species	Stage	FA form and contents	HUFA (%DW)	Total lipids (%DW)	Criteria	Feeding period	Reference
Macrobrachium rosenbergii	Juvenile 0.06-0.5g	Refined cod liver oil HUFA: 0-0.6%DW	0.15%	6.0%	G, S, MF, BFA	150 days	D'Abramo and Sheen (1993)
Litopenaeus vannamei	Juvenile 0.37-1.42g	Refined fish oil HUFA: 0-0.5% DW	0.25%	7.63%	G, S, BFA	6 weeks	Gonz ález-F elix et al (2002a)
Penaeus monodon	Juvenile 0.05-0.40g	Purified DHA, ARA and EPA; HUFA: 0-1.1% DW	0.73%	7.43%	G, S, BFA	4 weeks	Merican and Shim (1996)
Penaeus monodon	Juvenile 1.87-5.85g	Vegetable/animal oil and Purified FA; HUFA: 0.3-1.95%	1.0%	7.5%	G, S, BFA	6 weeks	Glencross and Smith (2002)
Portunus tribuberculatus	Larvae to megalopa	Rotifer and Artemia enriched refined EPA and DHA oil	3.6-4.9%	25.1 - 26.8%	S, DP, CW, BFA	25 days	Takeuchi et al (1999b)
Scylla serrata	Juvenile 0.06-0.78g	Purified DHA and ARA	0.2%	3.8%	G, S, BFA, MF	10 weeks	Sheen and Wu (2003)
Scylla serrata	Larvae to megalopa	Artemia enriched with refined HUFA oil	1.96-2.91%	21.0 - 22.5%	S, DP, CW, BFA	20 days	Suprayudi et al (2004a)
Eriocheir sinensis	Larvae to megalopa	Rotifer and Artemia enriched refined HUFA	2.0%	15 - 20%	S, DP, CW, BFA, SR	25 days	Sui et al (2007)

 Table 1.3 Optimal HUFA requirements of crustacean larvae and juveniles

Notes: %DW: % of diet dry weight; HUFA: highly unsaturated fatty acids; S: survival; G: growth; BFA: body/tissue fatty acid analysis; SR: stress resistance; MF: ing frequency; FC: Feed conversion; DP: development period; CW: carapace width.

EPA and DHA may have different physiological functions in larvae. For *P. monodon* (Merican and Shim, 1997), *P. trituberculatus* (Takeuchi et al., 1999a, b) and *Eurypanopeus depressus* (Levine and Sulkin, 1984), DHAs are more influential for larval ing and growth while EPAs are related to the improvement of survival. However, for larval *S. serrata*, dietary DHA can also affect survival (Suprayudi et al., 2004). Surprisingly, among the numerous studies on n-3 HUFA, only a limited amount of attention has been given to addressing quantitative requirements of EPA and DHA as individual components (Read, 1981; Merican and Shim, 1996; Gonz ález-F dix et al., 2003). Among these publications, most of them focus on DHA (Merican and Shim, 1997; Mourente and Rodriguez, 1997; Sheen and Wu, 2003).

Although DHA is superior to EPA for many marine crustaceans, it is likely that critical ratios of DHA and EPA are vital for larval survival and growth (Takeuchi et al., 1999b; Sui et al., 2007). In addition, DHA also may be able to retro-convert itself to EPA e.g. *M. rosenbergii* (D'Abramo and Sheen, 1993) and *P. monodon* (Merican and Shim, 1996). It is likely that DHA is processed through the β -oxidation cycle and produces EPA (Kanazawa et al., 1979a). Therefore, dietary DHA/EPA ratio and their individual levels are likely important to crustaceans (Glencross et al., 2002; Sheen and Wu, 2002b; Nghia et al., 2007). A disproportion ratio of DHA/EPA in the diets will affect body physiological process and thus affect the growth of *P. monodon* as well as the experienced adverse effects of weight gain when fatty acids ratios were imbalanced (Glencross et al., 2002). It is likely to be important to supply appropriate levels of EPA and DHA for crustacean according to their physiological need (Sui et al., 2007). For juvenile *P. monodon*, the optimal ratio of DHA/EPA seems to be around 1 (Glencross et al., 2002).

The importance of n-3 HUFA in crustacean diets has been a focus for many years but has also resulted in neglecting the role of arachidonic acid (ARA; 20:4n-6) as an EFA. As a HUFA, ARA has a greater nutritive value compared to LNA (D'Abramo, 1997). Although there are few studies on the nutritional value and requirement of ARA in crustaceans, it is well known that ARA does have many important functions, being involved in moulting hormone dynamics and immunity (Bell and Sargent, 2003; Suprayudi et al., 2004a, b). The moulting process in crustaceans is regulated by eicosanoids from ARA (Gonz ález-F dix et al., 2003b). Eicosanoids are hormones that are generated *in situ* when needed with prostaglandin as a product after ARA biosynthesis (Gurr and Harwood, 1991). In Penaeus esculentus, when injected with prostaglandin E₂, a type of eicosanoids, there is a shorter moult cycle and better growth compared to controls (Koskela et al., 1992). However, ARA is generally considered to have a lower nutritional value compared to DHA and EPA. For juvenile P. chinensis, survival and final weight gain fed a diet containing 1% of ARA, was significantly lower than those from 1% of DHA supplemented treatments (Xu et al., 1994). Deleting ARA from P. monodon diet containing other EFA illustrated no noteworthy response in growth rate (Merican and Shim, 1996). It is likely that these species does not require ARA when other HUFA are available. However, for the larval mud crab Scylla paramamosain, ARA is more important than EPA (Nghia et al., 2007). For juveniles of the mud crab, S. serrata, the diets inclusion of DHA and ARA depressed growth (Sheen and Wu, 2002). This difference may indicate differences in HUFA requirements (Merican and Shim, 1996). Clearly, quantitative values of ARA are necessary for many commercially important crustaceans and the interaction among ARA and other important fatty acids should be taken into consideration in future experiments. Table 1.4 showed the summary of dietary optimum EPA, ARA and DHA levels for some crustacean larvae and juveniles.

1.5.6 The interactions of different fatty acids

Many of the previous results discussed above are contradictory, even within the same species (Merican and Shim, 1996b; Glencross et al., 2001). This may be explained by the interactions of different fatty acids (Gonz & ez-F & et al., 2003; Wu et al., 2010a), such as n-3PUFA/n-6PUFA, DHA/EPA, ARA/EPA, C18-PUFA/HUFA and SFA: MUFA: PUFA. Unfortunately, few efforts have focussed on this area possibly due to the expensive and complicated experimental design (Gonz & ez-F & et al., 2002a; Gonz & ez-F & et al., 2003a, b). Most of our understanding comes indirectly from the researches of fish oil replacement and EFA requirements, but those results have given some indication on fatty acid interactions (Holme et al., 2007a). For example, when juvenile Chinese mitten crab *E. sinensis* are fed HUFA free diets, they accumulate higher LOA in their muscle due to the lack of HUFA (Wu et

al., 2010a). For juvenile mud crab *S. serrata*, dietary DHA will decrease the ARA content in the polar lipid in the hepatopancreas and body muscle (Sheen and Wu, 2002). This may reveal the competition of DHA and ARA in the fatty acid composition of biological membranes. Moreover, the fatty acids interactions and competition may increase as the chain length and level of unsaturation increases (Glencross et al., 2002; Glencross, 2009). Some potential interactions are summarized below.

Firstly, the balance of dietary ratio of SFA: MUFA: PUFA is very important (Teshima, 1998). Recent research on juvenile the Chinese mitten crab has shown that when the diet is lacking in 18:1n9, juveniles will absorb/biosynthesis and accumulate high concentrations of 16:0 in the hepatopancreas, presumably for energy provision, especially during the moulting (Wu et al., 2011a). Furthermore, the replacing of the percentage of fish oil in formulated diets was affected not only by a minimum PUFA and HUFA requirement, but also by a balanced fatty acid composition (Holme et al., 2007a).

Species	Stage	FA form	EPA	ARA	DHA	Value	Criteria	Feeding period	Reference
Peaeus japonicus	Juvenile	Purified FA	1%	_	1%	EPA=DHA	G, S		Kanazawa et al (1979)
Penaeus chinensis	Juvenile (0.37-1.62g)	Purified FA	—	1%	1%	DHA>ARA	G, S, MF, BFA	32 days	Xu et al. (1993)
Macrobrachium rosenbergii	Juvenile (0.06-0.5g)	Purified FA	—	0.075%	0.075%	DHA>ARA	G, S, MF, BFA	150 days	D'Abramo and Sheen (1993)
Penaeus monodon	Juvenile (0.05-0.40g)	Purified FA	0.5-1%	0-0.2%	0.5-1%	DHA>EPA>ARA	G, S, BFA	4 weeks	Merican and Shim (1996)
Penaeus monodon	Juvenile (0.07-0.37g)	Purified DHA, without other PUFAs	—	—	1.5%	_	G, S, BFA	4 weeks	Merican and Shim (1997)
Penaeus monodon	Juvenile (1.78-5.10g)	Vegetable/animal oil and Purified FA	1.0%	—	1.0%	EPA=DHA	G, S, BFA	50 days	Glencross and Smith (2001a)
Penaeus monodon	Juvenile (2.34-10g)	Vegetable/animal oil and Purified ARA; with optimized DHA and EPA	—	0	—	_	G, S, BFA	50 days	Glencross and Smith (2001b)
Litopenaeus vannamei	Juvenile (0.39-4.71g)	Purified EPA, ARA and DHA of 0-0.5%DW	0.5%	0.5%	0.5%	DHA=EPA=ARA	G, S, BFA	6 weeks	Gonz alez-F elix et 2003a
Scylla serrata	Juvenile (0.06-0.78g)	Purified ARA and DHA of 0-0.2% DW	_	0.2%	0.2%	DHA =ARA	G, S, BFA, MF	10 weeks	Sheen and Wu (2003)
Scylla serrata	Larvae to megalopa	Artemia enriched purified EPA and DHA	0.7-0.9%	—	0.5-0.7%	DHA >EPA	S,DP, CW, BFA	20 days	Suprayudi et al (2004b)
Scylla paramamosain	Larvae to megalopa	Artemia enriched purified EPA and DHA	1.3-2.5%	—	0.5%	DHA >EPA	S,DP, CW, BFA	20 days	Kobayashi et al (2000)
Eriocheir sinensis	Larvae to megalopa	Rotifer and <i>Artemia</i> enriched with different DHA/EPA ratios	0.7-1.1%		0.6-1.0%	DHA >EPA	S,DP, CW, BFA, SR	25 days	Sui et al (2007)

Table 1.4 Summary of dietary optimum EPA, ARA and DHA levels for crustacean larvae/juveniles (% dry weight)

Notes: S: survival; G: growth; BFA: body/tissue fatty acid analysis; SR: stress resistance; MF: moulting frequency; FC: Feed conversion; DP: development period; CW: carapace width.

Secondly, the requirements of n-3 HUFA and n-6 HUFA could be partly replaced by LNA and LOA (Merican and Shim, 1997b; Gonz áez-F dix et al., 2002c; Gonz áez-F dix et al., 2003). Therefore, plant oils rich of LOA and LNA could be used to replace partial marine fish oil for commercial crustacean diets, such as shrimps and crabs. For juvenile *L. vannamei*, the studies have shown that the best growth was obtained when the same amounts of EPA and DHA were supplied (1.5g kg⁻¹) together with 6.5 g LOA kg⁻¹ and 7.5 g LNA kg⁻¹.A (Gonz áez-F dix et al., 2002b). Previous studies have suggested that fatty acid composition, particularly for EFA composition, is more important than dietary absolute EFA contents for juvenile *P. monodon* (Glencross et al., 2002).

Thirdly, the proportion of HUFAs is responsible to the fatty acids interaction as discussed in section 1.5.5. It is well known that DHA, EPA and ARA have different physiological role for crustaceans, and there may exist the bio-conversion between DHA and EPA for some species (Reigh and Stickney, 1989; Merican and Shim, 1996). Therefore, the optimization of their composition may reduce the dietary cost and promote growth and survival (D'Abramo, 1997). Although 20:4n-6 is the chief precursor of the eicosanoids, generating 2-series prostanoids and 4-series leukotrienes, 20:5n3 competes with 20:4n6 in eicosanoid production, which itself is converted to 3-series prostanoids and 5-series leukotrienes, which are generally less biologically active than the corresponding 2-series prostanoids and 4-series leukotrienes produced from 20:4n-6 (Abayasekara, 1999). As eicosanoid production is influenced by the dietary and cellular ratio of 20:4n6:20:5n3, and imbalanced ratio of 20:4n6/20:5n3, it appears to be as damaging in fish as in crustaceans and therefore the ratio of 20:4n6/20:5n3 in the diet seems more important (Bell and Sargent, 2003; Nghia et al., 2007).

1.6 Conclusions

During the past 40 years, significant progress has been made in metabolism and nutrition of fatty acids in crustacean, particularly for larval and juvenile stage shrimps. Although *P. pelagicus* and *P. ornatus* are two commercially important fishery species and target aquaculture candidates in the tropical and sub-tropical regions of the Indo-Pacific (Smith et al., 2009a; Wu et al., 2010d), our knowledge of lipid nutrition of early life stage *P. pelagicus* and *P. ornatus* is largely unknown. This is one of the major obstacles for the improvement of hatchery technology for both species. The further understanding of lipid nutrition for early life stages *P. pelagicus* and *P. ornatus* will facilitate the formulation of cost-effective and nutritionally balanced hatchery foods and the improvement of quality and quantity of artificial seeds for them. This present PhD study aimed to fill the gap of lipid nutrition for early life stage *P. pelagicus* and *P. ornatus* will facilitate the formulation of cost-effective and nutritionally balanced hatchery foods and the improvement of quality and quantity of artificial seeds for them. This

ornatus, which would be a major step towards to cost-effective and reliable hatchery production of blue swimmer crab and ornate rock lobster.

1.7 Aims of this study

The overall objective of this PhD project is to expand the understanding of lipid nutrition for early life stage *P. pelagicus* and *P. ornatus*, with special emphasis on highly unsaturated fatty acids. A series of experiments were designed and carried out using a quantitative approach and using enriched *Artemia* in order to maximize implementation potentials into hatchery practice. The specific aims of this study were as the following:

- 1. Review information available on metabolism and nutrition of fatty acids in the early life stage of crustaceans, with particular focus on embryonic and larval stages to provide knowledge basis for subsequent lipid nutrition studies on larval *P. pelagicus* and *P. ornatus* (Chapter 1).
- 2. To assess the ontogenetic changes of lipid class and fatty acid composition during the embryonic development of *P. pelagicus* (Chapter 2).
- 3. To assess the ontogenetic changes of lipid class and fatty acid composition during the embryonic development of *P. ornatus* (Chapter 3).
- 4. To determine the ontogenetic patterns of growth and lipid composition during the larval development of *P. pelagicus* (Chapter 4).
- 5. To determine the ontogenetic patterns of growth and lipid composition during early to mid-stages of development in *P. ornatus* phyllosoma (Chapter 5).
- 6. To assess the effects of starvation on survival, biomass and lipid composition of newly hatched *P. pelagicus* larvae (Chapter 6).
- 7. To assess the effects of starvation on survival, biomass and lipid composition of newly hatched *P. ornatus* phyllosoma larvae (Chapter 7).
- 8. To determine the effects of the dietary arachidonic acid levels on survival, growth and occurrence of moulting death syndrome for *P. pelagicus* larvae (Chapter 8).
- 9. To establish dietary arachidonic acid requirement for early stage phyllosoma of *P. ornatus* (Chapter 9).
- 10. To identify the dietary optimal DHA/EPA ratio for P. pelagicus larvae (Chapter 10).
- 11. To determine the optimal ratio of dietary DHA/EPA for early stage phyllosoma of *P. ornatus* (Chapter 11).

Changes in volume, biomass and lipid composition during the embryonic development of the blue swimmer crab, *Portunus pelagicus* (Linnaeus, 1758)

2.1 Introduction

Females of many decapod crustaceans carry their eggs under their abdomen after egg extrusion and brood them until hatching (Melville-Smith et al., 2007a; Figueiredo and Narciso, 2008). The embryonic development is an important stage in the life history of such crustaceans since nutrient and energy reserves utilized during the development could significantly affect early ontogeny of the larvae (Clarke, 1993; Chen et al., 2007). While egg size might reflect the energy and nutrient contents and indicate maternal investment (Yao et al., 2006; Rosa et al., 2007; Torres et al., 2008), quantifying biochemical dynamics during embryonic development is important for the evaluation of nutritional requirements for the broodstock as well as early larvae, helping improve broodstock management and larval culture success of commercially important crustaceans (Rosa et al., 2003; Rosa et al., 2005; Figueiredo et al., 2008).

Of major nutrients, lipids, including phospholipids (PL), cholesterol (CHO), triacylglycerol (TG) and free fatty acids (FFA), play important roles during crustacean embryonic development (Wehrtmann and Graeve, 1998; Wehrtmann and Kattner, 1998; Reppond et al., 2008) because firstly, lipids are most important energy source and generally contribute > 60% of total energy expenditure during crustacean embryonic development (Wehrtmann and Graeve, 1998; Jacobs et al., 2003; Yao et al., 2006; Chen et al., 2007). Secondly, lipids are generally essential as structural components of cellular biomembranes and as precursors of eicosanoids during egg development (Torres et al., 2008; Garcia-Guerrero, 2009). For example, the contents and ratios of important fatty acids, such as 20:5n-3, 20:4n-6 and 22:6n-3, could affect the egg hatchability and quantity and quality of newly hatched larvae (Cavalli et al., 1999; Wouters et al., 2001; Wu et al., 2007b).

The blue swimmer crab, *Portunus pelagicus* (Linnaeus, 1758), is a commercially important crab species that distributes widely in the Indo-Pacific, particularly in the tropical and subtropical waters of the region (Wu et al., 2010d). There is an increasing market demand for *P. pelagicus* worldwide (Soundarapandian and Dominic Arul Raja, 2008). However, wild *P. pelagicus* has been fully exploited (Dixon and Hooper, 2009), hence the future expansion in *P. pelagicus* production can only come from aquaculture or stock enhancement programs, both

rely on successful hatchery seed production (Maheswarudu et al., 2008). Larval nutrition, particular lipid nutrition, is considered as one of major contributors to the successful larval rearing of this species (Maheswarudu et al., 2008; Romano and Zeng, 2008), which is directly linked to the nutrient reserve and utilization during embryonic development. Previous studies have shown that examination of lipid composition changes during the embryonic development can provide valuable information not only on lipid utilization during organogenesis, but also contribute to our understanding of lipid nutrition for both broodstock and early larvae of crustaceans (Rosa et al., 2003; Rosa et al., 2005; Rosa et al., 2007; Torres et al., 2008). However, to date there is no such published information for *P. pelagicus*. Therefore, the current study was carried out to investigate changes in volume, individual wet weight (WW) and dry weight (DW), as well as lipid composition (lipid classes and fatty acids) during the embryonic development of *P. pelagicus*.

2.2 Materials and methods

2.2.1. Broodstock maintenance and egg sampling

Six adult blue swimmer crabs were collected in estuarine areas around Townsville (19°15'S, 146°48'E), north Queensland, Australia, using baited traps during August to September, 2008. The broodstock crabs were disinfected in formalin treated seawater (100µl/L) for 4-6 hours, and then were kept in outdoor 1000-L oval recirculating tanks. The tanks were provided with sand substrate and PVC tube shelter (diameter: 16 cm). The water temperature and salinity were maintained between 26-30 °C and 30-36 ‰, respectively. The broodstock were fed on an alternation of banana prawns (Penaeus merguiensis, Stockland Woolworths, Townsville, Australia), green lipped mussel (Perna canaliculus, Germain and Sons Pty. Ltd, Brisbane, Australia) and California squid (Loligo opalescens, Del Mar Seafoods. Inc., Watsonville, CA, USA) at a ration of 5-8% of total crab body weight adjustable based on daily observation of residual food in each tank. Prior to daily feeding, feces and uneaten feed were removed by siphoning. The spawning and mortality were checked and recorded every day in the morning. When a berried female was found, it was labeled with an identification number on the carapace to enable tracking the individual embryonic development. Under the above mentioned condition, the embryonic development took ca. 10-12 days. The egg sampling was performed every 2-7 days depending on the embryonic stage, and the embryonic development stage was identified under a stereo microscope (Leica MZ16A, Leica Microsystems, Germany). For the propose of current experiment and based on the staging criteria from Petersen and Anger (1997) and Arshad et al. (2006), the embryonic development of P. pelagicus was divided into five major stages. That is, I. Cleavage: eggs in orange colour; cell-borders become visible; II.

Gastrula: a small, transparent yolk-free area becomes visible but eye spots and pigment/chromatophores is not yet formed; III. Pigmentation: eye-pigment and red chromatophores become visible; IV. Early heart beating: heart-beating is visible but less than 80 beats/min, red chromatophores increase in number, and the embryos begin to move inside egg membranes; V. Pre-hatching: the heart-beating generally more than 150 beats/min; only small patches of yolk remain and eggs are grey in colour (Petersen and Anger, 1997; Arshad et al., 2006). For each embryonic developmental stage, approximate 5 g samples (wet weight) were collected and they were stored separately at -80 °C for later biochemical analysis. Totally, four berried females were sampled until egg hatching. Because one sampled female had very small egg masses, the lipid analysis was only conducted on the samples from three females.

2.2.2 Egg volume and weight measurement

For each embryonic stage, thirty eggs were detached from the berried female, and their width (W, short diameter) and length (L, long diameter) were measured under a microscope. Then, individual egg volume was calculated using the formula for oblate spheroids, V = $1/6 \times \pi \times W^2 \times L$ (Wehrtmann and Kattner, 1998). Bulk samples of eggs were also obtained for the estimation of average individual egg weight due to low weight values of individual eggs. Four sub-samples (approximately 50 eggs/sample) were randomly taken from each berried female for the measurement of average individual egg wet weight (WW) and dry weight (DW). Prior to weighting, the egg samples were rinsed 3 times with 0.5 M ammonium bicarbonate to remove traces of salts, and then blotted on filter paper to remove excess moisture. The solution of 0.5 M ammonium bicarbonate is iso-osmotic to the seawater, which facilitated the removal of trace salt from the surface of larvae, but prevents the ionic loss of body fluids (Zhu and Lee, 1997). The total egg number in each sample was then counted and egg WW were subsequently determined using a Cahn C-33 micro-balance (precision=1µg, Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc, Pittsburgh, PA, USA), DW were obtained after oven-drying the samples for 24 h at 60 °C. Average individual WW and DW were calculated by dividing the WW and DW of the sample by total egg number of the sample. The egg volume and water contents were determined from four berried females.

2.2.3 Lipid analysis

Prior to biochemical analysis, all samples were freeze-dried and homogenized separately. Moisture content of each sample was obtained by drying the tissue in an oven set at 60 °C for 24 h. Total lipid (TL) was extracted with chloroform-methanol (2:1, v/v) (Folch et al., 1957). Lipid fractions were separated and quantified using an Iatroscan MK-6s TLC-FID analyzer (Iatron Laboratories Inc., Tokyo, Japan) as described in detail in Wu et al. (2010c). The developing solvent system was hexane/diethyl ether/formic acid (42/28/0.3, v/v/v). Lipid classes were quantified for total PL (including PC, PE, PI and others PL), triacylglycerol (TG), free fatty acids (FFA) and cholesterol (CHO). The levels of each lipid fraction were expressed as percentage of both dry weight (% dry weight) and percentage of total lipids (% total lipid).

For fatty acid analysis, fatty acid methyl esters (FAME) were prepared by transesterification with boiling 14% borontrifluoride/methanol (w/w) (Morrison and Smith, 1964). FAME was analytically verified by flame ionization detection (FID) after injecting a sample into an Agilent 6890 gas chromatograph fitted with an Omegawax 320 fused silica capillary column ($30m \times 0.32mm$; Supelco, Billefonte, PA, USA). The injector and detector temperature was kept at 260 °C. The detailed method was provided in Wu et al. (2010a). Fatty acid compositions are expressed as percentage of each fatty acid to the total fatty acids (% total fatty acids). Fatty acid contents are expressed as mg of each fatty acid per g egg dry weight (mg/g dry weight). The lipid analysis was determined on the eggs from three berried females.

2.2.4 Statistical analysis

Homogeneity of variance of data was tested with Levene's test. When necessary, arcsine-square root or logarithmic transformation was performed prior to analysis. One-way ANOVA was used to determine the differences among different embryonic stages. If any significant difference was detected, Tukey's multiple range test was used as the means separation procedure. When a normal distribution and/or homogeneity of the variances were not achieved, data were subjected to the Kruskal-Wallis H nonparametric test followed by the Games-Howell nonparametric multiple comparison test. P < 0.05 was regarded as the statistically significant level. All statistics was performed using SPSS package (version 12.0).

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Egg volume, water content and biomass

During the embryonic development, egg volume and water content increased significantly (P < 0.05) and by 92.86% and 67.12%, respectively (Figure 2.1). The highest increase in egg volume and water content occurred during development from stage II (gastrula) to III (pigmentation) while the lowest increase happened when developed from stage III to IV. A significantly positive correlation was detected between egg volume and water content (n=20, r=0.893, P < 0.05).

Although there was a slight but not significant increase in DW from stage I (cleavage) to II (gastrula), the mean DW of individual egg decreased significantly (2.96 µg/egg) during the embryonic development, which equaled to a reduction of 21.62% initial egg dry weight (Figure 2.2). In opposite to DW, the mean egg WW and individual egg water content showed significant increases over the embryonic development (P < 0.05, Figures 2.2 and 2.3), increased by 80.88% and 198.67%, respectively. A significantly negative correlation was found between egg DW and WW (n=20, r = -0.515, P < 0.05).



Figure 2.1 The changes of volume and water content during the embryonic development of the blue swimmer crab, *Portunus pelagicus*. Data are presented as mean \pm SD (*n*=4). The bars that do not share a same letter indicate significantly different (*P*<0.05). Values on the top of bars indicate the percentage of egg volume increase to the previous stage. Egg developmental stages: I. Cleavage; II. Gastrula; III. Pigmentation; IV. Early heartbeating; V. Pre-hatching.



Figure 2.2 Developmental changes in individual egg wet weight (WW) and dry weight (DW) of blue swimmer crab, *Portunus pelagicus* during the embryonic development. Values are presented as means \pm SD (n=4). The bars that do not share a same letter indicate significantly different (*P*<0.05).

2.3.2 Total lipids and lipid classes

Both total lipids in individual egg (μ g/egg) and as a percentage of egg dry weight (% DW) decreased significantly during the embryonic development (*P* <0.05) (Figure 2.4). Overall, 1.63

µg of total lipids in an individual egg was utilized, which accounted for 65.14% of the total lipids of a newly extruded egg. The highest decrease for total lipids appeared to occur during the later stage of embryonic development from stage IV to V, for instance, total lipids as a percentage of DW decreased sharply from 17.46% to 11.32% over the period (Figure 2.4).



Figure 2.3 The changes of individual egg water content (μ g/egg) during the embryonic development of the blue swimmer crab, *Portunus pelagicus*. Data are presented as mean ±SD (*n*=4). The bars that do not share a same letter indicate significantly different (*P*<0.05).



Figure 2.4 The changes of total lipids as % of egg dry weight and in individual egg (μ g/egg) during embryonic development of the blue swimmer crab, *Portunus pelagicus*. Data are presented as mean ±SD (*n*=3). The columns that do not share a same letter indicate significantly different (*P*<0.05). Values above the lines indicate total lipids decreases as a percentage of stage I eggs for the subsequent egg development stages.

Of various lipid classes, phospholipids (PL) was the most dominant lipid fraction, ranging from 67.70% to 40.29% of the total lipids, which was followed by triacylglycerol (TG), cholesterol (CHO) and free fatty acids (FFA) (Table 2.1). As a percentage of total lipids, PL and CHO decreased significantly while the FFA increased significantly during the embryonic

development. When measured in the term of decrease in content per egg, $1.43 \ \mu g$ of PL and $0.44 \ \mu g$ of TG were utilized respectively during the egg development, which accounted for more than 55% of their initial contents (Table 2.2).

the blue swinnler	the blue swimmer crab, I britanus pelagicus									
Embryonic stage	Triacylglycerol	Free fatty acids	Cholesterol	Monoacylglycerol	Phospholipids					
I (Cleavage)	26.68±2.29	0.45 ± 0.26^{a}	5.22 ± 1.08^{b}	-	67.60±3.03 ^b					
II (Gastrula)	26.11±6.47	0.69±0.33 ^a	5.20 ± 1.12^{b}	-	68.01 ± 7.35^{b}					
III (Pigmentation)	28.24 ± 1.87	16.30 ± 7.22^{b}	3.69±0.65 ^{ab}	0.33±0.14	51.20 ± 8.22^{a}					
IV (Early heartbeating)	24.59 ± 1.36	21.92 ± 4.57^{b}	3.45 ± 0.27^{a}	-	50.03 ± 4.36^{a}					
V (Pre-hatching)	26.45 ± 1.98	29.52±5.37°	3.74±0.37 ^{ab}	-	40.29 ± 3.76^{a}					

Table 2.1 Egg lipid class composition as % of total lipids during the embryonic development of the blue swimmer crab, *Portunus pelagicus*

Data are presented as mean \pm SD (*n*=3). Values within a column having different superscript letters are significantly different (*P*<0.05). "--": undetectable.

Table 2.2 Egg lipid class contents (µg. Egg	¹) of an individual egg during the embryonic
development of the blue swimmer crab, Por	tunus pelagicus

Embryonic stage	Triacylglycer ol	Free fatty acids	Cholesterol	Monoacylg lycerol	Phospholipids	Total lipids
I (Cleavage)	0.76±0.04°	0.01 ± 0.005^{a}	$0.15\pm0.02^{\circ}$		1.92±0.18°	2.84±0.14 ^b
II (Gastrula)	0.79±0.19 ^c	0.02 ± 0.01^{a}	0.16 ± 0.04^{c}		1.98 ± 0.42^{c}	2.97 ± 0.47^{b}
III(Pigmentation)	0.74 ± 0.12^{c}	0.44 ± 0.18^{b}	$0.10\pm\!0.01^{b}$	0.01 ± 0.00	1.33 ± 0.07^{b}	2.63 ± 0.27^{b}
IV (Early heartbeating)	0.53 ± 0.02^{b}	0.48 ± 0.13^{b}	$0.08\pm\!0.01^{ab}$		1.09 ± 0.13^{b}	2.18±0.20 ^{ab}
V (Pre-hatching)	0.32±0.05 ^a	0.35 ± 0.04^{b}	$0.04\pm\!0.00^{a}$		0.49 ± 0.08^{a}	1.21 ± 0.10^{a}
Change (%)	-57.89	+3400.00	-73.33		-74.48	-65.14

Data are presented as mean \pm SD (*n*=3). Values within a column having different superscript letters are significantly different (*P* < 0.05). "--": undetectable.

2.3.3 Fatty acids

The changes in fatty acid compositions as % of total fatty acids in *P. pelagicus* eggs during the embryonic development are presented in Table 2.3. A total of 29 fatty acids were identified in samples of all five embryonic developmental stages. Of these fatty acids, 16:0 (16.67-21.46%), 18:1n-9 (8.09-10.48%), 18:1n-7 (6.08-8.02%), 20:5n-3 (8.29-18.02%) and 22:6n-3 (5.13-7.68%) were the five most abundant fatty acids (\geq 5%) found in all developmental stages, which generally accounted for 53.42-60.16% of egg total fatty acids. Among saturated fatty acids (SFA), 16:0 and 18:0 were the major constituents at all developmental stages. The significant decrease in the percentage of 16:0 only occurred during the late stage of embryonic development from stage IV to V while 18:0 was substantially lower at both stage III and IV (Table 2.3). For mono-unsaturated fatty acids (MUFA), 16:1n-7, 18:1n-9 and 18:1n-7 were the three most dominant fatty acids. During the embryonic development, a decreasing trend was detected for both 16:1n-7 and 18:1n-7 as a percentage of total fatty acids while no clear trend

was found for 18:1n-9, which was at the highest percentage at stage IV. Of poly-unsaturated fatty acids (PUFA), during egg development, 18:2n-6, 18:3n-3 and 22:2n-6 as a percentage of total fatty acids decreased significantly while 18:4n-3, 20:4n-6, 20:3n-6 and 20:5n-3 (EPA) increased significantly. Consequently, the ratio of n-3PUFA/n-6PUFA increased significantly, but DHA/EPA ratio decreased from 0.85 at stage I to 0.43 at stage V (Table 2.3).

Fatty acid	Ι	II	III	IV	V
14:0	3.19±0.24 ^b	2.59±0.21 ^{ab}	2.54±0.13 ^{ab}	2.43±0.10 ^{ab}	1.94±0.60a
15:0	0.67±0.49	0.83±0.01	0.61±0.17	0.68±0.06	0.51 ± 0.05
16:0	21.46±1.39 ^b	20.99±1.57 ^b	21.27 ±0.98 ^b	19.96 ± 1.28^{b}	16.67 ± 1.25^{a}
18:0	7.67±1.73 ^b	7.98±0.46 ^b	3.89±0.33 ^b	3.56 ± 0.37^{a}	8.68 ± 1.03^{b}
23:0	0.91 ± 0.18^{b}	0.30±0.14 ^a	0.21 ± 0.07^{a}	0.50 ± 0.18^{a}	0.23±0.14 ^a
∑SFA	34.05±0.53 ^b	33.07 ± 1.54^{b}	29.06 ± 1.15^{a}	27.84 ± 1.30^{a}	28.40 ± 1.97^{a}
16:1n-7	8.16±0.44°	7.83±0.71 ^{bc}	$8.48 \pm 1.19^{\circ}$	6.25 ± 0.56^{b}	4.54±0.37 ^a
18:1n-9	9.00±0.62 ^{ab}	8.81 ± 0.47^{ab}	9.79±0.51 ^{ab}	10.48 ± 0.81^{b}	8.09 ± 1.48^{a}
18:1n-7	8.02±0.21	7.69±0.28	7.34±0.92	7.43±0.68	6.08±3.07
20:1n-9	1.33±0.42	1.67±0.89	1.26±0.56	0.86±0.17	0.97 ± 0.48
20:1n-7	1.24±0.50	1.05±0.20	0.81±0.20	0.88±0.09	0.96±0.04
∑MUFA	27.99 ± 1.76^{b}	27.43±1.97 ^{ab}	28.16 ± 1.65^{b}	26.19±0.45 ^{ab}	21.55±4.30 ^a
16:2n-4	0.83±0.13 ^b	0.79±0.02 ^b	0.71 ± 0.10^{ab}	0.71±0.03 ^{ab}	0.59 ± 0.06^{a}
16:3n-4	1.07±0.04	1.03±0.03	0.72±0.50	0.63±0.66	0.76±0.54
18:2n-6	3.00 ± 0.41^{bc}	3.17 ± 0.76^{bc}	3.93±0.47°	2.13±0.87 ^{ab}	1.49 ± 0.78^{a}
18:3n-6	0.72±0.09	0.44±0.19	0.60±0.39	0.58 ± 0.07	0.95±1.12
18:3n-4	0.58±0.16	0.37±0.02	0.32±0.10	0.57±0.30	0.36±0.21
18:3n-3	0.51±0.13 ^b	0.39 ± 0.16^{ab}	0.28 ± 0.06^{a}	0.27 ± 0.02^{a}	0.27 ± 0.14^{a}
18:4n-3	0.68 ± 0.16^{bc}	0.36 ± 0.04^{a}	0.47 ± 0.10^{ab}	0.63 ± 0.05^{bc}	0.83±0.13°
20:2n-6	1.07±0.28	0.96±0.37	0.81±0.26	0.98±0.26	0.99±0.06
20:3n-6	0.29 ± 0.05^{a}	0.13±0.11 ^a	0.53 ± 0.19^{ab}	1.15 ± 0.56^{b}	1.05 ±0.32 ^b
20:4n-6	2.97 ± 0.62^{a}	3.66±0.73 ^{ab}	3.94 ± 1.18^{ab}	4.37±0.32 ^b	4.91 ± 1.42^{b}
20:4n-3	0.29 ± 0.02^{a}	0.51 ± 0.10^{b}	0.46 ± 0.01^{b}	$0.47 \pm 0.16a^{b}$	0.29±0.11 ^a
20:5n-3	8.29±0.37 ^a	10.07 ± 1.11^{a}	13.76±1.04 ^b	15.25±0.17 ^b	$18.02 \pm 1.08^{\circ}$
22:2n-6	1.30±0.03 ^b	0.24 ± 0.11^{a}	0.24 ± 0.08^{a}	0.51 ± 0.14^{a}	0.48 ± 0.26^{a}
22:5n-3	2.06±0.70	2.24±0.09	2.18±0.12	2.51±0.60	1.55±0.68
22:6n-3	6.99±0.39	5.87±0.24	5.13±0.42	7.03±1.29	7.68±1.96
$\sum \mathbf{PUFA} (\geq 18:2n)$	28.53 ± 1.28^{a}	28.50±0.38ª	32.72±1.08 ^b	36.84±1.29°	38.68±2.07°
$\overline{\Sigma}$ n-3PUFA	18.62 ± 0.97^{a}	19.55 ± 1.35^{ab}	22.35 ±0.75 ^b	26.25±1.37°	28.77±2.41°
$\overline{\Sigma}$ n-6PUFA	9.34±0.47	8.59±0.94	10.04±0.43	9.72±0.64	9.86±0.62
	1.99±0.03 ^a	2.30±0.41 ^{ab}	2.23±0.04 ^{ab}	$2.75 \pm 0.04b^{\circ}$	2.93±0.42°
Σ HUFA($\geq 20:3n$)	20.87 ± 1.37^{a}	22.59±0.62 ^{ab}	26.08 ± 1.71^{b}	$30.87 \pm 1.68^{\circ}$	33.63±3.19°
DHA/EPA	0.85 ± 0.09^{b}	0.59 ± 0.04^{a}	0.38 ± 0.06^{a}	0.46 ± 0.09^{a}	0.43±0.13 ^a

Table 2.3 Egg fatty acid composition (% total fatty acids) during the embryonic development of the blue swimmer crab, *Portunus pelagicus*

Data are presented as mean \pm SD (n=3). Values within a line having different superscript letters are significantly different (P<0.05). "--": undetectable.

Table 2.4 presented the changes in absolute contents of principal fatty acids in individual egg (μ g/egg) during the embryonic development. All principal fatty acids contents reduced dramatically during the embryonic development. Five fatty acids, i.e. 16:0, 16:1n-7, 18:1n-7, 18:1n-9 and 18:2n-6, in particular reduced by more than 60%. However, the reduction of 22:6n-3 was 50.38% while the reduction of EPA and ARA was relatively mild, being only

11.26% and 23.79%, respectively. Overall, the decrease in total fatty acids content was 59.70% over the period of embryonic development.

Fatty acid	Ι	II	III	IV	V	% change
16:0	$0.24 \pm 0.03^{\circ}$	0.24±0.01°	$0.21 \pm 0.02^{\circ}$	0.16±0.01 ^b	0.08±0.01ª	- 67.04
18:0	$0.08\pm0.03^{\circ}$	$0.09\pm 0.01^{\circ}$	$0.04\pm\!\!0.00^{ab}$	0.03 ± 0.00^{a}	$0.04\pm\!\!0.00^{a}$	- 52.69
∑SFA	0.38 ± 0.02^{d}	0.37 ± 0.03^{d}	0.29±0.03°	0.22 ± 0.01^{b}	0.13 ± 0.00^{a}	- 64.80
16:1n-7	$0.09\pm0.01^{\circ}$	$0.09\pm0.00^{\circ}$	$0.08\pm0.01^{\circ}$	0.05 ± 0.00^{b}	0.02 ± 0.00^{a}	- 77.23
18:1n-9	$0.10\pm0.01^{\circ}$	$0.10\pm0.01^{\circ}$	$0.10\pm0.01^{\circ}$	0.08 ± 0.00^{b}	0.03 ± 0.00^{a}	- 65.50
18:1n-7	$0.09\pm0.00^{\circ}$	$0.09\pm 0.01^{\circ}$	0.07 ± 0.01^{b}	0.06 ± 0.01^{b}	0.02 ± 0.01^{a}	- 74.11
∑MUFA	0.31 ± 0.03^{d}	0.31 ± 0.01^{d}	$0.27 \pm 0.02^{\circ}$	0.21 ± 0.02^{b}	0.09 ± 0.01^{a}	- 70.61
18:2n-6	0.03 ± 0.01^{bc}	$0.04 \pm 0.00^{\circ}$	$0.04\pm0.00^{\circ}$	0.02 ± 0.01^{ab}	0.01 ± 0.00^{a}	- 82.02
20:4n-6	0.03 ± 0.01^{bc}	$0.04\pm\!0.00^{\circ}$	$0.04 \pm 0.01^{\circ}$	0.03 ± 0.00^{b}	0.02 ± 0.00^{a}	- 23.79
20:5n-3	0.09 ± 0.00^{a}	0.10 ± 0.03^{b}	0.14 ± 0.02^{b}	0.12 ± 0.01^{b}	0.08 ± 0.01^{a}	- 11.26
22:6n-3	$0.08\pm0.01^{\circ}$	$0.07 \pm 0.01^{\circ}$	0.05 ± 0.00^{a}	0.06 ± 0.02^{bc}	0.04 ± 0.00^{a}	- 50.38
∑PUFA	0.32 ± 0.00^{b}	0.32 ± 0.05^{b}	0.33 ± 0.03^{b}	0.29 ± 0.04^{b}	0.18 ± 0.02^{a}	- 42.87
∑HUFA	0.23 ± 0.01^{b}	0.25 ± 0.04^{b}	0.25 ± 0.03^{b}	0.25 ± 0.04^{b}	0.16 ± 0.02^{a}	- 31.79
Unknown	0.08 ± 0.01^{ab}	0.11 ± 0.05^{ab}	0.09 ± 0.01^{b}	0.06 ± 0.02^{a}	0.05 ± 0.00^{a}	- 43.13
Total fatty acids	1.00±0.05 ^d	1.01 ± 0.09^{d}	0.89±0.09°	0.72 ± 0.07^{b}	0.40±0.03ª	- 59.70

Table 2.4 Egg fatty acid contents (µg. Egg⁻¹) of individual egg during the embryonic development of the blue swimmer crab, *Portunus pelagicus*

Data are presented as mean \pm SD (n=3). Values within a line having different superscript letters are significantly different (*P*<0.05). "--": undetectable.

2.4 Discussion

For the common brachyuran crab species, egg volume increments between 40-100% during the embryonic development have been reported (Jacobs et al., 2003; Chen et al., 2007; Figueiredo et al., 2008; Torres et al., 2008). In this study, the egg volume increase for P. pelagicus was 92.86%, which is similar to Chinese mitten crab, *Eriocheir sinensis* (85.33% increase) (Yu, 2008) and several fiddler crabs, *Uca annulipes, U. inversa, U. urvillei* and *U. chlorophthalmus* (Torres et al., 2008), but substantially higher than the Spider crab, *Maja brachydactyla* (34.36% increase) (Figueiredo and Narciso, 2008) and the blue crab, *Callinectes sapidus* (37.20% increase) (Jacobs et al., 2003). The egg volume is positively related to water content during the embryonic development of *P. pelagicus*, which is similar to the other crab species (Jacobs et al., 2003; Chen et al., 2007; Yu, 2008).

A dramatic increase in water content occurred during the later stage of embryonic development in many crab species, including *P. trituberculatus* and *C. sapidus* (Jacobs et al., 2003; Chen et al., 2007; Figueiredo and Narciso, 2008). This is because during later stage of

embryonic development, high moisture and osmolality, absorbing water and mineral ions leads to high internal osmotic pressure that helps egg hatching (Pandian, 1970a). The increasing egg water content also leads to a reduction in specific gravity and buoyancy of the newly hatched larvae (Pandian, 1970b). Pandian et al. (1970b) reported that during egg development of the lobster *Homarus gammarus*, approximately 91% of water intake was through the egg membrane while ca. 9% produced by the oxidation of yolk substances, such as protein, lipid, carbohydrate. During the embryonic development, most decapod crustaceans generally display remarkable fat metabolism, but suppressed protein metabolism (Pandian, 1970b; Chen et al., 2007). This is probably because lipids contain higher energy levels (33.0KJ/g) than protein (17.9 KJ/g) (Heras et al., 2000). Therefore, during the embryonic development, lipids generally serve as main energy source while protein more as structural components for organogenesis (Heras et al., 2000; Figueiredo and Narciso, 2008; Reppond et al., 2008).

The total lipids as % of DW in eggs of a crab could be affected by various factors. The previous study has shown that the total lipids of the first brood eggs (31.65%DW) produced by P. trituberculatus was significantly higher than that from the second brood (24.54%DW) (Wu et al., 2010b). For blue crab C. sapidus of North Carolina population, the embryos from spring spawning contained higher total lipids (26.4%) than those from summer spawning (21.5%DW) (Amsler and George, 1984). The similar condition maybe exists for the blue swimmer crab, P. pelagicus. Overall, newly extruded P. pelagicus eggs have similar lipid classes profile to the blue crab, C. sapidus and the swimming crab, P. trituberculatus (Chen et al., 2007; Li et al., 2012). However, egg lipid classes profile of *P. pelagicus* is different to the Chinese mitten crab, E. sinensis and the mud crab, Scylla serrata (Yu, 2008; Wu et al., Unpublished data), which had the higher PL percentage and lower TG than P. pelagicus egg. During the embryonic development of P. pelagicus, the TG loss only accounted for 26.99% of total lipids loss. Therefore, TG appeared to be not the major energy source during the embryonic development. In opposite, PL was the dominant lipid fraction (40.29-68.01%) at all embryonic stages and accounted for 87.77% of total lipids loss. During the embryonic development, there was a 73.33% of cholesterol reduction. This may be explained by the fact that cholesterol is essential for the crustacean embryonic development and it is a precursor of ecdysone of steroids hormone (Subramoniam, 2000). The increased percentage of free fatty acids is possibly due to the decompounding/hydrolysis of PL and TG that formed free fatty acids. The lipid classes of pre-hatching P. pelagicus eggs are close to those of C. sapidus (Li et al., 2012) (Table 2.5), but contained higher TG than that of S. serrata (Wu et al., Unpublished data) and lower TG than that of E. sinensis (Yu, 2008). Such difference may reflect the embryogenesis adaptation of each species to life-history pattern, feeding ecology and habitat that they live within (Rosa et al., 2007). For instance, *P. pelagicus* is a typical oceanic species inhabiting 10-30 m depth while *E. sinensis* is a freshwater species that migrates to the estuary for reproduction (Josileen and Menon, 2004; Wu et al., 2007a).

Egg developmental stage	Crab species	Triacylgl ycerol	Free fatty acids	Choleste rol	Phosphol ipid	Source
	Eriocheir sinensis	53.57		0.83	45.59	Yu (2008)
Newly extruded egg	Scylla serrata	44.68		3.00	51.59	Wu et al. unpublished data
	Portunus trituberculatus	36.58		2.08	61.34	Chen et al. (2007)
	Callinectes sapidus	33.96	3.74	4.48	57.81	Li et al. (2012)
	Portunus pelagicus	26.68	0.45	5.22	67.60	Present study
Pre-hatching egg	Eriocheir sinensis	42.85	10.78	3.54	43.17	Yu (2008)
	Scylla seratta	10.89	9.44	3.93	72.66	Wu et al. unpublished data
	Portunus trituberculatus	37.59	7.27	2.92	51.92	Chen et al. (2007)
	Callinectes sapidus	25.31	35.09	6.94	32.66	Li et al. (2012)
	Portunus pelagicus	26.45	29.52	3.74	40.29	Present study

Table 2.5 A comparison of major lipid classes (% total lipids) of newly extruded and pre-hatching eggs of major commercially important crab species.

"--": undetectable.

Overall, the fatty acid profile of newly extruded egg of *P. pelagicus* is similar to that of *S. serrata* (Wu et al., Unpublished data) and *C. sapidus* (Li et al., 2012), but having higher SFA and lower MUFA and PUFA than that of *E. sinensis* (Yu, 2008) and *P. trituberculatus* (Chen et al., 2007) (Table 2.6). Among four commercially important marine Portunidae species, i.e swimming crab *P. trituberculatus*, blue swimmer crab *P. pelagicus*, blue crab *C. sapidus* and mud crab *S. serrata*, newly spawned eggs of *P. pelagicus* have the highest 18:0, 18:1n-7, 18:2n-6 and EPA, but the lowest 18:1n-9, DHA, n-3/n-6 and DHA/EPA ratios (Table 2.6). Compared to freshwater species, newly extruded eggs of *P. pelagicus* have lower MUFA and 18:2n-6, but higher DHA, HUFA and n-3/n-6, DHA/EPA. Generally, embryos of freshwater prawn, *Macrobrachium rosenbergii*, have higher MUFA and 18:2n-6, but lower DHA, HUFA (Cavalli et al., 1999; Yu, 2008), which is likely related to differences in nutritional profile of their food.

		Ν	Newly extruded egg					Pre-hatching egg		
Fatty acid	Eriocheir sinensis	Scylla serrata	Portunus trituberculatus	Callinectes sapidus	Portunus pelagicus	Eriocheir sinensis	Scylla serrata	Portunus trituberculatus	Callinectes sapidus	Portunus pelagicus
16:0	13.09	21.11	15.93	21.42	21.46	14.02	20.86	16.26	22.97	16.67
18:0	3.34	6.47	5.74	5.62	7.67	3.71	6.90	5.39	8.86	8.68
∑SFA	18.02	31.87	24.21	30.57	34.05	19.42	30.90	24.34	34.85	28.40
16:1n-7	10.96	7.24	8.88	10.08	8.16	10.61	4.91	8.28	7.25	4.54
18:1n-9	24.42	19.20	23.61	12.19	9.00	21.85	14.98	22.92	11.74	8.09
18:1n-7	3.97	6.97	3.57	3.44	8.02	5.23	7.45	3.86	3.21	6.08
20:1n-9	1.12	1.19	1.30	2.73	1.33	0.98	1.53	1.42	2.00	0.97
∑MUFA	43.79	36.03	40.56	33.94	27.99	43.02	31.05	39.89	28.77	21.55
18:2n-6	14.16	2.18	0.88	1.49	3.00	12.08	1.58	0.84	1.91	1.49
18:3n-3	3.69	0.14	0.53		0.51	2.48	0.44	0.47	0.35	0.27
20:4n-6	4.37	4.28	2.63	2.13	2.97	3.27	5.09	2.70	3.40	4.91
20:5n-3	5.26	6.19	7.64	7.71	8.29	7.27	11.74	8.66	10.14	18.02
22:6n-3	3.73	9.07	15.20	12.19	6.99	5.67	10.25	15.45	10.02	7.68
∑ PUFA (≥ 18:2n)	35.14	26.86	30.21	29.89	28.53	34.57	34.46	31.62	30.34	38.68
∑HUFA(≥ 20:3n)	15.05	21.88	27.73	24.17	20.89	17.60	28.68	28.84	25.41	33.63
n-3/n-6	0.74	2.06	6.17	4.29	1.99	0.99	2.62	6.20	3.21	2.93
DHA/EPA	0.69	1.47	1.98	1.60	0.85	0.79	0.87	1.79	0.99	0.43
Source	Yu (2008)	Wu et al. unpublished data	Chen et al. (2007)	Li et al. (2012)	Present study	Yu (2008)	Wu et al. unpublished data	Chen et al. (2007)	Li et al. (2012)	Present study

Table 2.6 A comparison of principal fatty acid profile of newly extruded and pre-hatching eggs among major commercially important crab species.

During the embryonic development of *P. pelagicus*, around 60% of total fatty acids in an individual egg was consumed. Among various fatty acids, the consumption of PUFA and HUFA were lower than that of SFA and MUFA, which suggests egg PUFA and HUFA were relatively conserved during embryonic development. For many crustaceans, SFA and MUFA are the main fuels during the embryonic development while HUFA, especially ARA, EPA and DHA, are comparatively conserved. These HUFAs play important physiological roles, including as the components of membrane, precursors of biologically active eicosanoids and important for neural development during embryonic and larval development (Heras et al., 2000; Narciso and Morais, 2001; Wouters et al., 2001; Morais et al., 2002), hence have been identified as essential fatty acids (EFAs) for various crustacean species (D'Abramo and Sheen, 1993; Rees et al., 1994; Xu et al., 1994d). To date, it is still unknown as to which fatty acids are EFAs for *P. pelagicus*, but it is very likely that HUFAs are important for larval and juvenile survival and development as having been shown in other Portunidae species (Hamasaki et al., 1998; Suprayudi et al., 2004a,b). ARA and EPA generally serve as the important components of membrane phospholipids and also the precursors of prostaglandins (Mourente et al., 1995; Heras et al., 2000; Wouters et al., 2001) while DHA affects crustacean neural development and hatchability (Xu et al., 1994b). Therefore, it is not surprising that these fatty acids are relatively conserved during P. pelagicus embryonic development. However, among important HUFAs, the consumption of DHA (50.38% initial total fatty acids) was dramatically higher than EPA (11.26%) and ARA (23.79%). This led to significantly reduced DHA/EPA ratio toward the end of embryonic development. A similar trend was observed for S. serrata (Wu et al., Unpublished data) and C. sapidus (Li et al., 2012). Finally, it should be noted that SFA are nonessential and can be synthesized *de novo* while MUFA could be produced by the desaturation of SFA, such as from 16:0 to 16:1n-7 and 18:0 to 18:1n-9 during embryonic development of decapod crustaceans (D'Abramo, 1997; Heras et al., 2000). Therefore, the actual consumption of SFA and MUFA during egg development is difficult to estimate since they could be synthesized/produced by the embryos themselves (Rosa et al., 2003; Rosa et al., 2005).

The lipid class and fatty acid profile of pre-hatching *P. pelagicus* eggs can provide the important clues for the development of suitable dietary regime for the newly hatched larvae, which normally is a crucial period during larval culture. The pre-hatching embryos of *P. pelagicus* contained very limited yolk reserves and the lowest total lipids, which suggest newly hatched larvae would need to feed soon after hatching and the availability of a suitable diet is crucial (Morais et al., 2002). The high EPA (18.02%) and DHA (7.68%) and increasing ARA as a percentage (4.91%) of total fatty acids toward the end of egg development indicate that newly hatched larvae need a diet rich in these HUFAs. Presently, the preys commonly used for *P. pelagicus* larval culture are rotifers and *Artemia* nauplii (Castine et al., 2008). However, rotifer and *Artemia* lack of DHA and have a lower DHA/EPA ratio (Hamasaki et al., 1998; Liddy et al., 2005). It indicates that improving *Artemia* DHA level via enrichment or development artificial diets containing balanced fatty acids could improve *P. pelagicus* larval culture. Previous studies have shown optimization of dietary HUFA composition enhanced larval survival and shorten development duration for *S. serrata* and *P. trituberculatus* (Hamasaki et al., 1998; Suprayudi et al., 2004a,b). Clearly, optimal dietary ARA, EPA, DHA and their ratios should be investigated in the future for *P. pelagicus*.

2.5 Conclusion

In summary, during the embryonic development of *P. pelagicus*, the egg volume, water content and individual WW increased substantially, while individual DW, total lipids content as % of egg DW and in individual egg (μ g/egg) decreased significantly. At all embryonic development stages, PL and TG were the two most dominant lipid fractions while PL is the major energy source during embryonic development. Among fatty acids, 16:0, 16:1n-7, 18:1n-9 and 18:1n-7 were preferentially utilized while ARA, EPA and DHA, were relatively conserved during the embryonic development. These results provide useful information for better understanding lipid utilization and dynamics during embryonic development of *P. pelagicus*, which also will have implications for lipid nutrition and formulated diet development for broodstock and early larvae of *P. pelagicus*.

Changes in volume, biomass and lipid composition during the embryonic development of the ornate rock lobster, *Panulirus ornatus*

3.1 Introduction

Females of some decapods extrude and carry their eggs under the abdomen until hatching (Melville-Smith et al., 2007a; Figueiredo and Narciso, 2008). The developing embryo is lecithotrophic relying on energy reserves packaged into the egg before female ovopositioning (Herring, 1974; Clarke, 1993; Chen et al., 2007). Egg size can not only reflect the energy and nutrient contents but also indicate the maternal investment per embryo (Yao et al., 2006; Rosa et al., 2007; Torres et al., 2008). The understanding of variations in biochemical composition through embryonic development is essential for the estimation of broodstock nutritional requirements during oogenesis. Improvements in crustacean broodstock nutrition are important to improve larval survival and quality of commercially important crustaceans in aquaculture (Rosa et al., 2003; Rosa et al., 2005; Figueiredo et al., 2008).

Although protein is the major component for crustacean eggs, lipids play several central roles in embryonic development and metabolism (Wehrtmann and Graeve, 1998; Wehrtmann and Kattner, 1998; Reppond et al., 2008). Firstly, lipids are generally essential as structural components for cellular biomembranes and precursors of eicosanoids during egg development (Torres et al., 2008; Garcia-Guerrero, 2009). Secondly, lipids are most important energy source and generally contribute more than 60% of total energy expenditure during crustacean embryonic development (Wehrtmann and Graeve, 1998; Jacobs et al., 2003; Yao et al., 2006; Chen et al., 2007). Moreover, the contents and ratios of some important fatty acids, such as 20:5n-3, 20:4n-6 and 22:6n-3 will affect the embryonic development, egg hatchability and suivival and quality of newly hatched larvae (Cavalli et al., 1999; Wouters et al., 2001; Wu et al., 2007b). Therefore, the quality and quantity of lipids in broodstock diets have the potential to affect embryonic development, egg hatchability and survival of newly hatched larva (Xu et al., 1994b; Cavalli et al., 1999; Smith et al., 2004). Generally, examination of lipid composition during the embryonic development can provide valuable information on the lipid nutrition and the understanding of relative importance of specific lipid classes and fatty acids for the broodstock and early larvae (Rosa et al., 2003; Rosa et al., 2005; Rosa et al., 2007; Figueiredo and Narciso, 2008; Torres et al., 2008).

Aquaculture production of seafood is an increasingly important source of supply. The aquaculture production of Penaeid prawns is firmly established with other species being targeted for domestication. The rock spiny lobster, *Panulirus ornatus*, is a high-price and high-demand seafood delicacy. It is a commercially important crustacean species supplied through wild fisheries throughout the Indo-West Pacific region and in particular in the tropical and subtropical waters of the region, e.g. Torres Strait and North eastern Australia (Ye, 2008; Ye and Dennis, 2009). Global demand for *P. ornatus* has exceeded its wild harvest yields (FAO, 2005), and hence there is an increasing interest for the *P. ornatus* aquaculture to meet the increasing market demands (Hung and Tuan, 2009; Irvin et al., 2010). One of current bottleneck in ornate rock lobster aquaculture is the lack of artificial seed. Hatchery technology for larval supply is in its infancy and of insufficient robustness for commercial establishment. Larval survival is variable which may be partially due to poor quality eggs and in particular due to inadequacies in egg biochemical composition as well as inadequate broodstock diets (Wu et al., 2012). Therefore, knowledge of the lipid dynamics and metabolic process during embryonic development may be essential for the understanding and improving of *P. ornatus* larval quality.

This study examined the lipid composition and dynamics during embryonic development of *P. ornatus*. The current study was designed to investigate the changes of individual egg volume, wet weight (WW) and dry weight (DW), as well as ontogenetic changes in the lipid composition (lipid classes and fatty acids) during the embryonic development of *P. ornatus*. Those results will not only provide basic information for lipid utilization and organogenesis during egg development of *P. ornatus*, but also contribute to the understanding of the lipid nutrition for broodstock and early larvae of this species.

3.2 Materials and methods

3.2.1 Broodstock culture and egg sampling

Wild-caught adult *P. ornatus* broodstock were obtained by commercial fishers from M.G. Kallis Pty Ltd collecting in coastal waters of far northern Queensland (latitude: $13-16 \,^{\circ}$ S; 144-145 $^{\circ}$ E), Australia and transported live to AIMS, Townsville, Queensland. The broodstock were disinfected in formalin treated seawater (100 mg L⁻¹) for 0.5 hours, and then were maintained in indoor 12,000-L circular tanks (diameter: 4.5m) with flow-through seawater with PVC half-pipes to provide shelter (diameter: 30 cm). To induce mating and spawning, broodstock were held under natural or simulated photoperiod, water temperature of 28°C and salinity of 33-36 ‰. All females were labeled with a different colored ring tags (bird leg rings)

attached around the eyestalk to allow visual identification, enabling individual spawns and embryonic development to be tracked.

Females were examined daily for spawning, and if any berried females were found, their ovipositioning dates were recorded. Embryonic development lasted 22-25 days until hatching. The designated sampling date was performed every 2-7 days, and the embryonic development stage was identified under a stereo microscope (Leica MZ16A, Leica Microsystems, Germany). Based on the staging criteria from Petersen and Anger (1997) and Tong et al. (2000), the embryonic development was divided into four stages. I. Cleavage: cell-borders become visible in the amorphous yolk, and the egg colour is orange; II. Gastrula: a small, transparent and yolk-free area becomes visible for all eggs, and no eye spots and pigment/chromatophores could be found on the eggs; III. Differentiation: eye-pigment, heart-beating, appendages and increasing red chromatophores become visible; IV. Pre-hatching: the heart-beating, general more than 150 times/min, and the embryos begin to move inside the eggs. The eggs only contain a small yolk volume and eggs are brown-grey colour (Tong et al., 2000). For each stage, approximate 8 g wet weight samples were collected and stored separately at -80 $^{\circ}$ C for later biochemical analysis. Totally, three females were sampled during the experiment. Because the egg quality and quantity varied from female to female, only one female had adequate egg masses until the hatching. Therefore, the data presented in the paper was from one female.

3.2.2 Egg volume and weight measurement

For each embryonic stage, thirty eggs were separated from the berried female, and their width (W) and length (L) were measured under a microscope. Then, individual egg volume was calculated using the formula for oblate spheroids $V = 1/6 \times \pi \times W2 \times L$ (Wehrtmann and Kattner, 1998). Egg bulk samples were used to estimate the weight of an individual egg as individual eggs were too small to give accurate measurements. Four sub-samples (approximately 50 eggs/sample) were randomly selected from each berried female for the measurement of individual egg wet weight (WW) and dry weight (DW). Prior to weighing, the egg samples were rinsed three times with 0.5 M Ammonium bicarbonate to remove traces of salts and blotted on filter paper to remove excess moisture. 0.5 M Ammonium bicarbonate is an iso-osmotic solution to the seawater, which facilitates the removal of trace salt from the larvae surface but prevents the ionic loss of internal body fluids (Zhu and Lee, 1997). Egg WW were determined using a Cahn C-33 micro-balance (precision=1µg, Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc, Pittsburgh, PA, USA), DW were obtained after oven-drying for 24 h at 60 °C. Individual mean WW and DW were calculated by the division of egg number for each embryonic development stage. The egg
volume and water contents were determined from three replicate samples, but all of them are sampled from one berried female.

3.2.3 Lipid analysis

Lipid analysis was described in Chapter 2 (See section 2.2.3). The lipid samples of each embryonic stage were analyzed in triplicate for lipid classes and fatty acid contents.

3.2.4 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was described in Chapter 2 (See section 2.2.4).

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Volume, water contents and biomass

During egg development there was a significant increase in egg volume and water contents (% egg wet weight, P < 0.05). The highest increase of egg volume and water contents occurred from stage II (gastrula) to III (differentiation) while the lowest increase happened from stage III to IV (Figure 3.1). A significantly positive correlation exists between egg volume and water content (n=16, r=0.903, P < 0.01). Overall, the egg volume and water content increased by 90.9% and 34.6% of their initial values, respectively. Individual egg dry weight (DW) decreased significantly during the embryonic development with a 14.1% loss (i.e. 5.2 µg/egg) during embryonic development (Figure 3.2A). In contrast, there was a significant increase individual egg wet weight (WW) (Figure 3.2B) and individual egg water content (P < 0.05, Figure 3.3). Egg WW increased by 61.4% during the embryonic development while individual water content (µg/egg) increased form 51.5µg/egg of Stage I to 112.0 µg/egg of Stage IV.



Figure 3.1 Developmental changes in egg volume ($\times 10^{-2}$ mm³) and water content (%) of *Panulirus ornatus* during embryonic development. Mean ±SD (*n*=4). The bars or diamonds that do not share a same

letter are significantly different (P<0.05). Values in the each bar indicate the percentage of egg volume increase to that of last Stage embryos.



Figure 3.2 Developmental changes in individual egg wet weight (A) and dry weight (B) of *Panulirus ornatus* during embryonic development. Mean \pm SD (n=4). The bars that do not share a same letter are significantly different (*P*<0.05).



Figure 3.3 Change in individual egg water content (μ g/egg) of *Panulirus ornatus* during embryonic development. Mean ±SD (*n*=4). The bars that do not share a same letter are significantly different (*P*<0.05).

3.3.2 Total lipids and lipid classes

Total lipids and individual total lipids of eggs progressively decreased through embryonic development (Figure 3.4). There was a significant decrease in egg total lipids (% dry weight) and individual egg total lipids (μ g/egg) through embryonic development. For both total lipids and individual egg total lipids, the highest decrease was found on the period of Stage III to IV. For instance, total lipids contents decreased from 20.2% to 12.3% of dry weight during the period of stage III to IV. During the embryonic development, 6.4 µg of total lipids per egg was utilized, which accounted for 61.3% of initially egg total lipids.



Figure 3.4 Changes in total lipids content (%dry weight) and individual egg total lipids (μ g/egg) of *Panulirus ornatus* during embryonic development. Mean \pm SD (*n*=3). The bars or diamonds that do not share a same letter are significantly different (*P*<0.05). Values in the each bar indicate the percentage of decreasing lipids to that of last stage embryos.

Of the lipid classes measured, phospholipids were the dominant lipid fraction, ranging from 66.6% to 81.2%, followed by triacylglycerol, cholesterol, monoacylglycerol and free fatty acids, respectively (Table 3.1). Between Stage I to III, phospholipids, cholesterol and monoacylglycerol increased significantly while the percentages of triacylglycerol decreased significantly. Between Stage III and IV, the percentage of triacylglycerol significantly increased to 23.5%. During embryonic development, 4.86 μ g of phospholipids and 1.66 μ g of triacylglycerol were utilized on a per egg basis, respectively, accounting for more than 60% of initial individual contents (Table 3.2).

Table 3.1 Lipid class composition (% total lipids) of the eggs during embryonic development in the orante rock lobster, *Panulirus ornatus*.

Embryonic stage	Triacylglycerol	Free fatty acids	Cholesterol	Monoacylglyc erol	Phospholipids
Stage I (Cleavage)	25.15 ± 2.67^{a}	0.20 ± 0.01^{a}	2.65±0.16 ^a	0.37 ± 0.02^{a}	71.62±2.77 ^{ab}
Stage II (Gastrula)	16.58 ± 1.83^{b}	0.94 ± 0.09^{b}	3.11±0.37 ^a	0.86 ± 0.20^{a}	78.38±2.11 ^{bc}
Stage III (Differentiation)	10.17 ± 3.66^{b}	0.09 ± 0.12^{a}	5.33±0.21 ^b	2.81 ± 0.59^{b}	$81.21 \pm 3.56^{\circ}$
Stage IV (Pre-hatching)	23.53 ± 0.64^{a}		7.47±0.11 [°]	2.36±0.27 ^b	66.64 ± 0.74^{a}

Data are presented as mean \pm SD (n=3). Values within a column having different superscript letter are significantly different (P < 0.05). "--": undetectable.

3.3.3 Fatty acids

A total of 26 individual fatty acids were identified during embryonic development (Table 3.3). The five most abundant fatty acids (\geq 5%) in all embryos at different development stages, included 16:0 (18.4-21.8%), 18:0 (8.7-9.2%), 18:1n-9 (9.9-11.9%), 20:5n-3 (9.9-11.8%) and 22:6n-3 (15.9-21.1%). Those five fatty acids accounted for 68.9-70.6% of all total fatty acids in

eggs. Among saturated fatty acids (SFA), 16:0 and 18:0 were the major constituents of SFA for all stages, and their percentages did not change significantly during the embryonic development. Of the mono-unsaturated fatty acids (MUFA), 16:1n-7, 18:1n-9, 18:1n-7 and 20:1n-9 were four dominant. Through embryonic development the percentage of 18:1n-9 and 18:1n-7 increased significantly in comparison to a significant decrease in 20:1n-9. Of the poly-unsaturated fatty acids (PUFA), the percentages of 18:2n-6, 18:3n-3, 20:4n-6 and 20:5n-3 (EPA) increased significantly while 18:4n-3 and 22:6n3 (DHA) decreased significantly, particularly between Stage III to IV. The ratio of n-3PUFA/n-6PUFA and DHA/EPA decreased significantly between Stage III to IV. Table 3.4 presented the changes of principal fatty acid contents (μ g/egg) during the embryonic development. All principal fatty acids contents reduced dramatically during the embryonic development. There are two fatty acids with reduction of more than 70%, including 20:1n-9 and DHA. Overall, the loss of total fatty acids was 64.53%.

Table 3.2 Lipid class contents (μg . Egg⁻¹) of the individual egg during embryonic development in the orante rock lobster, *Panulirus ornatus*.

Embryonic stage	Triacylglycerol	Free fatty acids	Cholesterol	Monoacylgl ycerol	Phospholipids
Stage I (Cleavage)	2.61±0.23c	0.02 <u>±</u> 0.01a	0.27±0.01a	0.04±0.00c	7.54 <u>+</u> 0.43c
Stage II (Gastrula)	1.51±0.17b	0.08±0.01b	0.28±0.03a	0.08±0.02c	7.12 <u>+</u> 0.20c
Stage III (Differentiation)	0.69±0.21a	0.01±0.01a	0.37±0.04b	0.19±0.03b	5.60±0.60b
Stage IV (Pre-hatching)	0.95±0.20ab		0.30±0.06a	0.10±0.03a	2.68 <u>+</u> 0.49a
Change	- 63.68	- 100.00	+ 9.14	+ 153.69	- 64.03

Data are presented as mean \pm SD (n=3). Values within a column having different superscript letter are significantly different (P<0.05). "--": undetectable.

3.4 Discussion

In Homarid and Palinurid lobster eggs there is between a 60-280% increase in egg volume through embryonic development (Pandian, 1970a,b; Silberbauer, 1971; Herring, 1974; Rosa et al., 2003; Rosa et al., 2005). In this study on *P. ornatus*, egg volume increased by 91.0%; similar to the scalloped spiny rock lobster, *Panulirus homarus* with increases of 120% (Berry, 1971). However, the percentage of egg volume increase for P. ornatus is lower the European lobster, *Homarus gammarus* increased by 177.3% (Rosa et al., 2005), the American lobster, *Homarus americanus* by 270% (Pandian, 1970b) and in the South African rock lobster, *Jasus lalandii* by 200% (Silberbauer, 1971). The individual egg volume is positively related to water contents during the embryonic development of *P. ornatus*. This is similar the other lobster species, including European lobster *Homarus gammarus* (Pandian, 1970b), and Norway lobster, *Nephrops norvegicus* (Rosa et al., 2003).

E-44	Stage I	Stage II	Stage III	Stage IV
Fatty acid	(Cleavage)	(Gastrula)	(Differentiation)	(Pre-hatching)
14:0	1.13±0.32	1.45±0.00	1.29±0.10	1.28±0.11
15:0	0.56±0.15	0.69±0.04	0.64 ± 0.04	0.63±0.04
16:0	18.45±3.50	21.42 ± 1.00	21.10±0.01	21.82±1.89
18:0	9.22±0.09 ^b	8.81 ± 0.24^{a}	8.74±0.02 ^a	9.09 ± 0.25^{ab}
23:0	0.51±0.03°	0.42 ± 0.02^{b}	0.37 ± 0.00^{a}	0.32 ± 0.05^{a}
∑SFA	29.87±4.05	32.79±0.78	32.13±0.17	33.14±1.84
16:1n-7	3.71±0.79	4.33±0.14	4.16±0.03	4.02±0.19
16:1n-5	0.63 ± 0.04	0.65 ± 0.04	0.66±0.18	0.73±0.04
18:1n-9	9.93 ± 0.07^{a}	10.44 ± 0.44^{ab}	10.85 ±0.03 ^b	11.99±0.31°
18:1n-7	4.17 ± 0.02^{a}	4.31±0.24 ^{ab}	4.51 ±0.02 ^b	4.68±0.27 ^b
20:1n-9	3.64 ±0.33°	3.33 ± 0.20^{bc}	2.94 ± 0.09^{a}	2.97 ± 0.28^{ab}
20:1n-7	1.72±0.15 ^b	1.63±0.02 ^b	1.38±0.12 ^a	1.35±0.27 ^{ab}
∑MUFA	23.89±0.36 ^a	24.81±0.65 ^{ab}	24.66±0.40 ^b	25.93±0.16°
16:2n-4	0.81 ± 0.16^{ab}	0.88 ± 0.04^{b}	0.84 ± 0.03^{ab}	0.78 ± 0.06^{a}
16:3n-4	1.03 ± 0.09^{a}	1.11 ± 0.05^{ab}	1.12±0.01 ^b	1.19±0.05°
18:2n-6	0.84 ± 0.15^{a}	0.80 ± 0.03^{a}	0.84 ± 0.01^{a}	1.26±0.00 ^b
18:3n-6	0.22 ± 0.04^{a}	0.21 ± 0.17^{ab}	0.33 ± 0.00^{b}	$0.40\pm0.02^{\circ}$
18:3n-4	0.41±0.03 ^b	0.23 ± 0.01^{a}	0.23 ± 0.00^{a}	0.25 ± 0.06^{a}
18:3n-3	0.28 ± 0.02^{ab}	0.29 ± 0.01^{b}	0.26 ± 0.00^{a}	0.33±0.06b
18:4n-3	0.95 ± 0.07^{b}	0.95 ± 0.06^{b}	0.93±0.06 ^b	0.74 ± 0.09^{a}
20:2n-6	0.84 ± 0.07	0.82 ± 0.01	0.84 ± 0.02	0.97±0.16
20:4n-6	2.18±0.16 ^{ab}	2.11±0.02 ^a	2.35±0.03 ^b	$2.61 \pm 0.06^{\circ}$
20:3n-3	0.61±0.06	0.50±0.09	0.64±0.12	0.65±0.12
20:5n-3	$10.14\pm\!\!0.77^{\rm ab}$	9.86 ± 0.04^{a}	10.90±0.12 ^b	11.80±0.23°
22:2n-6	0.41±0.22	0.25 ± 0.07	0.28 ± 0.11	0.27±0.06
22:5n-3	0.58 ± 0.08^{a}	0.79 ± 0.03^{b}	0.79±0.16 ^{ab}	0.88±0.21 ^b
22:6n-3	21.13±2.67°	19.40 ± 0.98^{bc}	18.64±0.25 ^b	15.87 ± 0.90^{a}
∑ PUFA (≥	38.75 + 3.40	36.36+0.75	37.10+0.96	36.23+1.51
18:2n)	50.75 _5.10	20.20	57.10	50.25 1.51
\sum n-3PUFA	33.84±3.56	31.94 ±0.98	32.23±0.38	30.47 ± 1.90
∑n-6PUFA	4.50 ± 0.18^{ab}	4.20±0.23 ^a	4.64 ±0.05°	$5.51 \pm 0.25^{\circ}$
n-3/n-6	$7.55\pm1.10^{\circ}$	$7.63\pm0.65^{\circ}$	$6.94 \pm 0.01^{\circ}$	2.90 ± 0.05^{a}
∑HUFA(≥ 20:3n)	34.79±3.67	32.81 ± 1.01	33.39±0.29	32.02±1.22
DHA/EPA	2.08±0.11°	1.97±0.11°	1.71±0.04 ^b	1.35±0.05ª

Table 3.3 Fatty acid composition (% total fatty acids) of eggs during embryonic development in the ornate rock lobster, *Panulirus ornatus*.

Data are presented as mean \pm SD (n=3). Values within a line having a different superscript letter are significantly different (P < 0.05).

For many lobster species there is an increase in water content during the late development stages, i.e. *H. gammarus*, *H. americanus*, *N. norvegicus* (Pandian, 1970b; Rosa et al., 2003; Rosa et al., 2005). This increase may be related to osmolality as it could lead to an increased internal osmotic pressure improving successful egg hatching (Pandian, 1970a). It has been suggested that the increased egg water content leads to a reduction in specific gravity resulting in the newly hatched larvae floating (Pandian, 1970b). However, other factors also influences on egg hatching, including circadian control, intra-embryonic moving and some other unknown factors (Davis, 1964; Dorota et al., 2010). Pandian et al. (1970b) further reported for *H. gammarus* egg development, approximately 91% of increasing water is due to water intake

through the egg membrane, and there is ca. 9% of metabolic water, which produced by the oxidation of yolk substances, such as protein, lipid and carbohydrate.

Fatty acid	Stage I	Stage II	Stage III	Stage IV	Change (%)
-	(Cleavage)	(Gastrula)	(Differentiation)	(Pre-hatching)	
16:0	0.69±0.13°	$0.72 \pm 0.06^{\circ}$	0.54±0.03 ^b	0.29 ± 0.00^{a}	- 58.20
18:0	$0.35 \pm 0.00^{\circ}$	$0.30\pm0.02^{\circ}$	0.23 ± 0.01^{b}	0.12±0.01 ^a	- 64.98
∑SFA	1.12±0.15°	$1.10\pm0.07^{\circ}$	0.83 ± 0.04^{b}	0.44 ± 0.01^{a}	- 60.75
16:1n-7	$0.14\pm0.03^{\circ}$	$0.15 \pm 0.01^{\circ}$	0.11 ± 0.01^{b}	0.05 ± 0.00^{a}	- 61.56
18:1n-9	$0.37 \pm 0.00^{\circ}$	$0.35 \pm 0.03^{\circ}$	0.28 ± 0.02^{b}	0.16±0.01 ^a	- 57.22
18:1n-7	0.16 ± 0.00^{d}	$0.15 \pm 0.01^{\circ}$	0.12 ± 0.01^{b}	0.06 ± 0.00^{a}	- 60.29
20:1n-9	0.14 ± 0.01^{d}	$0.11 \pm 0.00^{\circ}$	$0.08\pm\!\!0.00^{\mathrm{b}}$	0.04 ± 0.01^{a}	- 70.96
∑MUFA	$0.89\pm 0.01^{\circ}$	$0.83 \pm 0.05^{\circ}$	0.64 ± 0.03^{b}	0.34 ± 0.03^{a}	- 61.52
18:2n-6	0.03 ± 0.01^{b}	0.03 ± 0.00^{b}	0.02 ± 0.00^{a}	$0.02\pm\!0.00^{a}$	- 47.04
20:4n-6	$0.08 \pm 0.01^{\circ}$	0.07 ± 0.01^{bc}	0.06 ± 0.00^{b}	0.03 ± 0.00^{a}	- 57.51
20:5n-3	0.38 ± 0.03^{d}	$0.33 \pm 0.01^{\circ}$	0.28 ± 0.01^{b}	0.16 ± 0.02^{a}	- 58.70
22:6n-3	0.79 ± 0.10^{d}	$0.65 \pm 0.01^{\circ}$	0.48 ± 0.03^{b}	0.21 ± 0.03^{a}	- 73.29
∑ PUFA (≥ 18:2n)	1.45 ± 0.13^{d}	1.22±0.02°	0.96 ± 0.07^{b}	0.48±0.06ª	- 66.78
∑HUFA(≥ 20:3n)	1.30 ± 0.14^{d}	1.10±0.01°	0.86 ± 0.06^{b}	0.43 ± 0.05^{a}	- 67.30
Unknown	0.21 ± 0.05^{d}	$0.14 \pm 0.02^{\circ}$	0.11 ± 0.01^{b}	0.04 ± 0.01^{a}	- 82.65
Total fatty acids	3.74 ± 0.05^{d}	3.36±0.13°	2.58 ± 0.15^{b}	1.33±0.11 ^a	- 64.53

Table 3.4 Fatty acid contents (μg . Egg⁻¹) of the eggs during embryonic development in the orante rock lobster, *Panulirus ornatus*.

Data are presented as mean \pm SD (n=3). Values within a line having different superscript letter are significantly different (*P*<0.05).

Through embryonic development most of decapod crustacean exhibit an enhancement of fat metabolism with a suppression in protein metabolism (Pandian, 1970a; Chen et al., 2007). As lipids are of a higher energy content (33.0KJ/g) than proteins (17.9 KJ/g), it would be a high energy density per weight basis (Heras et al., 2000). Lipids generally serve as main energy source while the major functions of proteins are for structural components during organogenesis (Pandian, 1970b; Wehrtmann and Graeve, 1998; Heras et al., 2000; Figueiredo and Narciso, 2008; Reppond et al., 2008). Total lipids (27.2% DW) of newly spawned *P. ornatus* eggs is similar to that of European lobster, *H. gammarus* (Rosa et al., 2005), but lower than southern rock lobster, *Jasus edwardsii* (ca. 40%) (Smith et al., personal communication). Generally, decapod crustaceans from polar and temperate regions, or deep-sea environment have larger egg size and higher egg lipid levels than those similar species in tropic and subtropical sea, or shallow water (Thatje et al., 2005; Morley et al., 2006)..

		Triacylglycer ol	Free fatty acids	Cholesterol	Phosphol ipids	Source
Newly spawned egg	Nephrops norvegicus	24.32	14.89	21.03	29.80	Rosa et al. (2003)
	Hormarus gammaurs	52.75	4.81	11.87	16.83	Rosa et al. (2005)
	Panulirus ornatus	25.15	0.20	2.65	71.62	Present study
Pre-hatching egg	Nephrops norvegicus	6.87	22.31	19.28	51.51	Rosa et al. (2003)
	Hormarus gammaurs	12.35	22.19	2.91	57.13	Rosa et al. (2005)
	Panulirus cygnus	4.20	0.80	8.40	85.50	Melville-smith et al. (2007)
	Panulirus ornatus	23.53		7.47	66.64	Present study

Table 3.5 The comparison of major lipid classes (% total lipids) of newly spawned eggs and pre-hatching eggs among the different lobster species.

"--": undetectable.

During embryonic development in P. ornatus, 61.3% of initial total lipids per egg were utilized while the percentage of total lipids (%DW) decreased by 54.9%. Similar patterns have been reported for other lobster species, including the European lobster, H. gammarus (Rosa et al., 2005), the American lobster, H. americanus (Pandian, 1970b) and the Norway lobster, Nephrops norvegicus (Rosa et al., 2003). Compared to European lobster, Homarus gammarus (Rosa et al., 2005) and Norway lobster, Nephrops norvegicus (Rosa et al., 2003), newly spawned P. ornatus eggs contained a higher percentage of PL, but lower free fatty acids and cholesterol. Although TG is a common energy source and the major form of energy storage for the crustacean egg (Rosa et al., 2003; Rosa et al., 2005; Yao et al., 2006), the newly spawned P. ornatus eggs only contained 25.2% of TG in the total lipids. During embryonic development, the TG loss only accounted for 25.1% of the decrease in total lipids. TG is unlikely to be a major energy source during the embryonic development of *P. ornatus*. PL is the dominant lipid fraction (71.6-66.6%) for all embryonic stages and accounts for 76.30% of total lipids loss and may be the major energy source in contrast to TG. Although the percentage of cholesterol increased significantly during embryonic development, the absolute content of cholesterol per egg did not increased significantly. Cholesterol is essential for crustacean embryonic development as is a precursor of ecdysone, steroids hormone and cell membrane constituent (Subramoniam, 2000). The increasing percentage of cholesterol is possibly due to the decompound/hydrolysis of sterol-ester to free fatty acids and cholesterol. As for the lipid classes of pre-hatching P. ornatus eggs, except for TG, the lipid composition of P. ornatus closely resembles that in the western rock lobster, *P. cygnus* (Melville-Smith et al., 2007) (Table 3.5).

The fatty acid profile of pre-hatching *P. ornatus* eggs can provide important insight into the formulation of an appropriate dietary regime for the newly hatched *P. ornatus* larvae. The high percentages of EPA and DHA, indicates that phyllosoma may need a diet rich in these PUFAs, as the pre-hatching egg contained higher percentage of EPA and DHA (11.80% and 15.87%, respectively). In the hatchery environment, the diet for *P. ornatus* larval culture is represented by *Artemia* nauplii, on-growing/on-grown *Artemia*, adult *Artemia* and blue mussel gonad (Wu et al., 2012). However, *Artemia* is deficient in DHA, which would inhibit/suppress growth for phyllosoma from hatching to Stage IV, as found in western rock lobster, *P. cygnus* (Liddy et al., 2005). A similar condition may exist for newly hatched *P. ornatus* phyllosomas (O'Sullivan, 2010). It is likely that DHA levels of *Artemia*, via enrichment or through the development of an artificial diet would be necessary for the fatty acids requirements for *P. ornatus* phyllosomas.

During embryonic development of P. ornatus, around 64.5% of total fatty acids was consumed. Interesting, the consumption of PUFA and HUFA were higher than that of SFA and MUFA. In crustaceans SFAs are nonessential and can be synthesized *de novo* while MUFA can be produced by the desaturation of SFA, such as from 16:0 to 16:1n-7 and 18:0 to 18:1n-9 (D'Abramo, 1997; Heras et al., 2000). Due to the possibility of metabolic transformation it is not possible to accurately estimate how much SFA and MUFA is consumed during embryonic development (Rosa et al., 2003; Rosa et al., 2005). In crustaceans, HUFA, especially for ARA, EPA and DHA, play many important physiological roles and are components of membrane phospholipids, precursors of biologically active eicosanoids and involved in neural development (Heras et al., 2000; Narciso and Morais, 2001; Wouters et al., 2001; Morais et al., 2002). These fatty acids have been identified as essential fatty acids (EFAs) for some crustacean species (D'Abramo and Sheen, 1993; Rees et al., 1994; Xu et al., 1994a). Although to date, it is not clear for a number of EFA of spiny lobster species, HUFAs apprear to be important for phyllosoma/juvenile survival and development (Smith et al., 2003a; Liddy et al., 2004a; Liddy et al., 2005; Limbourn and Nichols, 2009). ARA and EPA are important components of membrane phospholipids as well as being precursors of prostaglandins (Mourente et al., 1995; Heras et al., 2000; Wouters et al., 2001). It is possible that 20:5n-3 and 20:4n-6 are relatively conserved during embryonic development of P. ornatus because of their importance in key developmental processes. Although DHAs are essential for crustacean embryonic development and hatchability (i.e. neural development) it is unclear why 22:6n-3 was preferentially utilized compared to ARA and EPA during embryonic development of P. ornatus. This utilization led to a significantly decrease in the percentage of DHA (%total fatty acids) and DHA/EPA ratio. Similar patterns have been described in the Norway lobster, N. norvegicus (Rosa et al., 2003) and the freshwater giant prawn M. rosenbergii (Yao et al., 2006).

3.5 Conclusion

In summary, during embryonic development of *P. ornatus*, egg volume, water contents and egg wet weight increased, while the individual egg dry weight (DW), total lipids contents (%DW) and individual egg total lipids (μ g/egg) decreased significantly. For all stages of eggs, phospholipids (PL) represent the dominant lipid fraction (66.6-71.6% total lipids). PL is probably a major energy source during embryonic development of *P. ornatus*. Fatty acids dynamics were characterized by preferential utilization of 18:0, 20:1n-9 and 22:6n-3 while the other fatty acids, in particular ARA and EPA, were relatively conserved. These results offer valuable insights for the understanding of lipid metabolism in *P. ornatus* during embryonic development, which may contribute to the formulation of balanced diets for broodstock and newly hatched larvae.

Ontogenetic patterns of growth and lipid composition changes of blue swimmer crab larvae: insights into larval biology and lipid nutrition

4.1 Introduction

The blue swimmer crab, Portunus pelagicus (Linnaeus, 1758), is a commercially important crab species that is distributed widely throughout the Indo-Pacific, particularly in the tropical and subtropical waters of the region (Stephenson and Campbell, 1959; Wu et al., 2010d). This species supports an important fishery resource (Dineshbabu et al., 2008; Campbell and Sumpton, 2009), and plays an important role in the coastal and estuarine ecosystems of the region via affecting benthic and planktonic food web (Wu and Shin, 1998; Hall et al., 2006; Dineshbabu et al., 2008). Although there is an increasing market demand for P. pelagicus supply worldwide, wild P. pelagicus population has been fully exploited or over-exploited (Dineshbabu et al., 2008; FAO, 2012). Therefore, in the future, the expansion of *P. pelagicus* output can only depend on aquaculture and stock enhancement programs (Maheswarudu et al., 2008; Dixon and Hooper, 2009). Pond-culture of P. pelagicus has been started in small scale in Australia and South-Asian countries (O'Sullivan and Savage, 2008; Oniam et al., 2010). Hatchery seeds are important for the future aquaculture of *P. pelagicus* (Maheswarudu et al., 2008). Although larval culture of *P. pelagicus* generally has better survival than that of other commercially important portunid crabs, such as the mud crab Scylla spp. and the blue crab Callinectes sapidus (Zmora et al., 2005; Nghia et al., 2007), variable survival during the larval development is still one of the obstacles for the P. pelagicus hatchery production (Castine et al., 2008; Soundarapandian and Dominic Arul Raja, 2008). In contrast to our knowledge of adult and juvenile stages, only very limited information is available on larval biology of this species, which include the description of larval morphology and development (Shinkarenko, 1979; Josileen and Menon, 2004; Arshad et al., 2006) as well as effects of temperature and photoperiod on larval development (Bryars and Havenhand, 2006; Andr és et al., 2010). The larval phase of P. pelagicus consists of four zoeal instars and one megalopal stage before settling as the first stage crab (Josileen and Menon, 2004a; Andr és et al., 2010). The duration of *P. pelagicus* megalopa is longer than that of any zoeal stage (Andrés et al., 2010), and megalopa prefers to settle in the shallow sea grass meadows of estuarine areas (Sumpton et al., 2003).

For crustacean larvae, lipids, including phospholipids (PL), cholesterol (CHO), triacylglycerol (TG) and free fatty acids (FFA), play an important role in supporting their survival, development and growth, by providing metabolic energy (D'Abramo, 1997; Anger, 1998; D'Abramo, 1998), maintenance of structure and function of cellular biomembranes and precursors of eicosanoids (Teshima and Kanazawa, 1971; Coutteau et al., 1997). Therefore, the quality and quantity of lipids supplied to the larvae via their diets could significantly affect survival, development and growth as well as general well-being of the larvae (Sui et al., 2007; Wu et al., 2007c). Examination of the lipid compositions of wild crustacean larvae collected from plankton sampling can provide valuable information on lipid requirements and an understanding of the relative importance of specific fatty acids during larval development (Phleger et al., 2001; Limbourn and Nichols, 2009). However, collection and identification of marine larvae from plankton samples is technically difficult, tedious and costly, particularly for species with a number of larval development stages and extended larval duration (Danaher, 2003; Smith et al., 2009). For example, P. pelagicus undergoes four pelagic zoeal stages and a postlarval megalopal stage before settling as benthic juvenile, which are assumed to disperse and live in different parts of ocean (Josileen and Menon, 2004). Clearly, collection of sufficient numbers of wild larvae of representative stages and at similar stage of moulting cycle for lipid analysis would be impractical or technically difficult for P. pelagicus larvae. Use of laboratory cultured larvae has become an important tool in understanding aspects of larval nutrition of various crustaceans, including the penaeid shrimp, Penaeus kerathurus (Mourente et al., 1995), the giant freshwater prawn, Macrobrachium rosenbergii (Roustaian et al., 1999), the rock spiny lobster, Jasus edwardsii (Ritar et al., 2003; Limbourn and Nichols, 2009), the spider crab, Maja brachydactyla (Andr & et al., 2010), the mud crab, Scylla serrata (Holme et al., 2009b) and the red king crab, Paralithodes camtschaticus (Copeman et al., 2012).

The aims of this study were to investigate the survival, growth patterns in body sizes and weights, as well as ontogenetic changes in lipid composition (lipid classes and fatty acid compositions) during larval development of *P. pelagicus*. Such information would not only help better understanding larval biology and ecology as well as lipid nutrition of *P. pelagicus* larvae, but also allow inter-specific comparison and facilitate better fishery management.

4.2 Materials and methods

4.2.1 Broodstock source and maintenance

Broodstock source and maintenance was described in Chapter 2 (See section 2.2.1). Broodstock were checked and recorded every day in the morning and when a berried female was found, it was labeled on the carapace with an identification number stick to enable subsequent tracking. A few days prior to hatching, berried females were disinfected again using formalin treated seawater (50 μ L/L) for 6 h and then transferred to an indoor 300-L hatching tank with salinity of 34 ± 1 g/kg and water temperature of 27 ± 2 °C. The berried females were hatched separately to acquire the larvae from a single female, i.e. one berried female was kept in one indoor 300-L hatching tank.

4.2.2 Culture of larvae and natural food

Within 8 h of hatching, healthy and actively swimming zoea-I were collected by attracting them to a light source. They were then transferred to several 300 L flat-bottom, shallow rearing tanks with batch exchange water and where they were stocked at a density of 60-100 larvae L⁻¹. Larval culture protocols were modified from Castine *et al.* (2008), and feeding and water exchange regime was summarized in Table 1. Throughout larval culture, water temperature was maintained at 28 ± 1 °C while salinity was initially set at 22 g kg⁻¹, but was gradually increased to 33-35 g kg⁻¹ as larval development progressed. Light was provided by overhead fluorescent ceiling lights with photoperiod set at 14 h L: 10 h D and light intensity ranged from 350 to 450 lux. Larval culture tanks were siphoned each morning to remove dead larvae, feces and other debris.

Microalgae, *Nannochloropsis* sp. were cultured in 2500 L tanks and aquatic plant fertilizer (AQUASOL, Yates Ltd, New South Wales, Australia) was added at 0.5 mg L⁻¹ upon inoculation. When culture density reached approximately $1-2 \times 10^7$ cells mL⁻¹, the microalgae were pumped to the rotifer culture tanks to feed the ss type rotifers, *Brachionus rotundiformis*, which were then used to feed zoea I and II of *P. pelagicus*. To obtain newly hatched *Artemia* nauplii, *Artemia* cysts (EG grade, INVE Ltd) were hatched daily at 28 °C in 1-µm filtered seawater with a salinity of 25 g kg⁻¹. After 24 h, nauplii (size: 430-520 µm) were harvested and either fed directly to the larvae, or held for further enrichment. The latter *Artemia* were stocked at a density of approximately 300 ind. mL⁻¹ for 24 h at 28 °C with the enrichment emulsion (DHA Selco) dosed at 0.3 g emulsion L⁻¹ (DC DHA Selco: HUFA=27.5%, DHA=17.8%, EPA=5.2%; INVE Aquaculture NV, Belgium) at beginning and at 12 h, respectively. After enrichment, the *Artemia* were rinsed thoroughly with filtered seawater to remove residual emulsion before being fed to the larvae. Any enriched *Artemia* meta-nauplii and newly-hatched nauplii that were not used immediately for feeding larvae were kept at 4 °C in a fridge to minimize fatty acid catabolism (Merchie, 1996).

4.2.3 Larval sampling and measurement

To determine the biochemical compositions of natural foods used, samples (5-10 g wet weight sample⁻¹) of *Nannochloropsis* sp, rotifers, newly hatched and enriched *Artemia* meta-nauplii were sampled and stored at $-70 \,^{\circ}$ C prior to biochemical analysis. Meanwhile, various stages of *P. pelagicus*, i.e. newly hatched zoea I, zoea IV, megalopae and the newly settled first stage crabs, were also sampled for analysis of the lipid components. The samplings of zoea IV, megalopae and the first stage crabs from 300 L culture tanks were carried out when 70-80% of population had just moulted to the desired developmental stage. This was done to ensure that larvae sampled were at a similar stage, early in the moulting cycle. Samples were immediately rinsed with filtered seawater and then stored at $-70 \,^{\circ}$ C for later analysis.

Larval stage	Feeding regime	Daily batched water exchange	Average larval duration
Zoea I	Rotifers 20-40 mL ⁻¹ Microalgae 5-10×10 ⁴ mL ⁻¹	No water exchange	2 - 3 days
Zoea II	Rotifers 20-40 mL-1 Artemia nauplii 0.5 -1 ind. mL ⁻¹ Microalgae 5-10×10 ⁴ mL ⁻¹	10-20%	2 - 3 days
Zoea III	Enriched Artemia 2 - 3 ind. mL ⁻¹	15-30%	3 - 4 days
Zoea IV	Enriched Artemia 2 - 4 ind. mL ⁻¹	30-50%	3 - 4 days
Megalopa	Enriched Artemia 3–5 ind. mL ⁻¹	30-50%	4 - 6 days

Table 4.1 Protocol developed at James Cook University for mass rearing of *Portunus pelagicus*

 larvae in 300 L tanks

Close to each moult, 50-250 individuals (depending on stage) were randomly collected from a 300 L culture tank and transferred into five replicate 500 mL glass beakers. These larvae were cultured on identical feeding regime and conditions as shown in Table 4.1. These larvae were checked every 12 h for newly moulted larvae, which were recorded and then removed from the beakers. These larvae were briefly rinsed with 0.5 M ammonium bicarbonate to remove trace of salt and blotted dry on a filter paper before their wet weights were measured. The use of 0.5 M ammonium bicarbonate for washing larvae was based on the fact that this solution is iso-osmotic to the seawater used, therefore, it would wash off salt from the surfaces of the larvae but not lead to ion losses from larval tissues (Zhu and Lee, 1997). After wet weights were determined, larval samples were oven-dried at 60 °C for 24 h and their dry weights (DW) were determined using a Cahn C-33 micro-balance (precision=1µg, Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc, Pittsburgh, PA, USA). The number of larvae in each sample was also counted to enable the calculation of mean wet weight (WW) and mean dry weight (DW) per larvae for each stage. For the present study, the number of larvae in each replicate was 40-50 for zoea I and II, 20 - 30 for zoea III and IV, 8-15 for megalopa and 2-4 for the first stage crab. To determine the mean carapace length (CL), 30 newly hatched zoea I or newly moulted larvae of subsequent stages were randomly sampled from the mass culture tanks. CL was measured under a Leica S8APO dissecting microscope equipped with a computer-controlled display system (Leica Microsystems Inc., Wetzlar, Germany). CL was defined from the base of the rostral spine to the midpoint of the posterior lateral margin of the carapace (Josileen and Menon, 2004a).

To obtain larval survival and mortality data for each stage, 150 newly hatched zoea I larvae were collected randomly and transferred into five 500 mL glass beakers (30 larvae/beaker). Feeding protocol, water temperature and salinity matched those of mass cultured larvae in 300-L tanks (section 2.2) while 100% water exchange was performed daily. Mortality and moulting of larvae were checked and recorded every 12 h, and any newly moulted larvae found during the checking procedure were transferred to a set of new beakers with fresh live food. By doing this, the average intermoult period of each larval instar could be calculated accurately. Cannibalism typically occurs after larvae metamorphose to the megalopae stage when two chelipeds develop (Castine et al., 2008). To avoid cannibalism, megalopae were reared individually in 500 mL flatted bottom vessels as soon as any megalopae were found in the beakers. The experiment was terminated when all larvae either moulted to the first stage crabs or died.

4.2.4 Biochemical analysis

The moisture content of each sample was determined by drying the sample at 60 °C for 24 h while Lipid analysis was described in Chapter 2 (See section 2.2.3). The crude protein content (Kjeldahl method, using a 6.25 N to protein conversion factor) of live food were analyzed according to AOAC procedures (AOAC, 1995). For lipid class analysis, both live food and larvae were quantified for total phospholipids (PL; including phosphatidyl choline, phosphatidyl ethanolamine, phosphatidyl inositol and other polar fractions), triacylglycerol (TG), free fatty acids (FFA) and cholesterol (CHO). The level of each lipid fraction was expressed as percentage of dry weight (% dry weight) and/or percentage of total lipid (% total lipid). Fatty acid composition was defined as percentage of a particularly fatty acid to the total fatty acids while fatty acid content was expressed as mg fatty acid per g dry weight. Between 2 to 4 replicates were analyzed for each sample.

4.2.5 Data analysis and statistics

The larval mortality, cumulative survival and specific growth rate (SGR, % day⁻¹) for each replicate beaker were calculated using following formulae:

Mortality at a particular larval stage (%) =100% ×Total number of larval mortality found during this larval stage/initial number of larvae moulted to this larval stage

Cumulative survival (%) = $100\% \times Total$ number of larvae moulted successfully to the next larval stage/30

Specific growth rate (SGR, % day⁻¹) = $100 \times (\ln Wt - \ln Wo)/D$

where Wo is the mean initial larval body weight of a particular stage while Wt is the mean body weight of the larvae that newly moulted to the next stage, D is the duration of the larval stage in days.

Homogeneity of variance of the data was first tested with Levene's test. Where necessary, arcsine-square root or logarithmic transformation was performed prior to analysis. One-way ANOVA was used to determine any significant differences of growth parameters and lipid composition among different live food sources or larval stages. If any significant difference was detected, Tukey's multiple range test was used as the means separation procedure. When a normal distribution and/or homogeneity of the variances were not achieved, data were subjected to the Kruskal-Wallis H nonparametric test followed by the Games-Howell nonparametric multiple comparison test. P < 0.05 was regarded as the statistically significant level (Sokal and Rohlf, 1995). All statistics was performed using SPSS package (version 12.0).

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Larval survival and development

Figure 4.1 presents larval mortality of each stage and cumulative survival of newly hatched larvae to each subsequent larval stage. The highest mortality of 33.1% occurred at zoea IV stage before larvae metamorphosed to megalopae and the second highest mortality of 29.2% occurred at megalopae to the first crab stage. Overall, the cumulative survival of larvae decreased more gradually after zoea I with the mortality at each subsequent stage ranging from 10% to 18%. Under present rearing conditions (Temperature=28 °C, Salinity=22-33 g/kg), the newly hatched zoea I of *P. pelagicus* took 14-18 days to develop to the first crab stage with a mean overall cumulative development time (OCDT) at 16.1 ± 0.7 days. The mean development time for each stage are presented in Figure 4.2. Zoea I and zoea II had the shortest periods (2.2-2.3 days) among five larval stages, accounting for only 13-14% of OCDT, while the duration of megalopae was the longest (4.7 days), accounting for 29.28% of OCDT. From zoea II to megalopal stage, a trend of increasing development duration was observed (Figure 4.2). Finally, after natural logarithmic transformation of overall cumulative development time (OCDT) to a particular larval stage and the instar number (I), a significant non-linear relationship was

detected between OCDT and I. The equation was $\ln(\text{OCDT}) = 1.2020 \times \ln(I) + 0.7673$ for such a relationship (Table 4.2, P=0.001, n=5).



Figure 4.1. Mortality of each larval stage (%) and cumulative survival (% newly hatched larvae moulted successfully to the each subsequent stage) of *Portunus pelagicus* larvae. Values are presented as means \pm SD (n=5). Bars that do not share a same letter are significantly different (*P*<0.05).



Figure 4.2. Mean development time (days) of each stage of *Portunus pelagicus* larvae. Values are presented as means \pm SD (n=5). Bars that do not share a same letter are significantly different (*P*<0.05). Value on the top of a bar is the percentage of the particular stage duration to the overall larval developmental time.

4.3.2 Larval growth

The growth in terms of both wet weight (WW) and dry weight (DW) increases during the course of larval development of *P. pelagicus* is shown in Figure 4.3. Overall, the body WW and DW increased exponentially over larval ontogenetic development and from zoea-I to the first stage crab, a positive correlation between larval WW and DW increases was found (P < 0.001, n = 30), which can be described as DW = $0.1565 \times WW + 16.118$ (Table 4.2). However, when each larval stage was further examined, the percentage increases of WW was similar to the

	Equation	r	Р	n	n'
OCDT/I	$\ln(\text{OCDT}) = 1.2020 \times \ln(I) + 0.7673$	0.995	0.001	5	150
DW/WW	$DW = 0.1565 \times WW + 16.118$	0.995	< 0.001	30	1321
WW/CL	$ln(WW) = 3.0037 \times ln(CL) + 5.7927$	0.977	0.001	6	180
DW/CL	$\ln(DW) = 2.6867 \times \ln(CL) + 4.243$	0.979	< 0.001	6	180
DW/I	$\ln(DW) = 0.8293 \times I + 1.7367$	0.996	< 0.001	6	665
WW/I	$\ln(WW) = 0.9294 \times I + 2.9828$	0.996	< 0.001	6	665
CL/I	$\ln(CL) = 0.3008 \times I - 0.9053$	0.991	< 0.001	6	180

Table 4.2 Equations of linear regression for various biometric parameters of *Portunus pelagicus*

 larvae

Notes: OCDT=overall cumulative development time to each larval stage; I = Stage/instar number, zoea II=1, zoea II=2, zoea III=3, zoea IV=4, megalopa=4 and the first crab=5; DW = dry weight; WW = wet weight; CL = carapace length; r = correlation coefficient; P = level of significance; n = number of replicates; n' = total number of larvae.



Figure 4.3. Ontogenetic changes in larval wet weight (A) and dry weight (B) through successive stages in *Portunus pelagicus*. Values are presented as means ±SD (n=5). "I": instar number, i.e. zoea II=1, zoea II=2, zoea III=3, zoea IV=4, megalopa=4 and the first crab=5.



Figure 4.4. Increment (%) in wet weight and dry weight of *Portunus pelagicus* larvae through successive stages.

increases in DW during larval development from zoea I to zoea II, zoea III to zoea IV and from megalopa to the first stage crab (Figure 4.4). Among all five larval stages, the highest percentage increase in both WW (303.9%) and DW (212.3%) occurred during final zoeal stage

as zoea IV larvae developed to megalopal stage. Interestingly, a substantial difference between percentage increase in WW (150.5%) and DW (66.9%) was detected when larvae developed from zoea II to zoea III. The specific growth rate (SGR, % day⁻¹) at each larval stage and over the whole of larval development are summarized in Figure 4.5. The SGR of WW was significantly higher than the SGR of DW when larvae developed from zoea II to zoea III and from zoea IV to megalopa as well as for the OCDT (i.e. zoea I to the first crab stage) (P < 0.05) while the differences were not significant for other larval stages. From newly hatched zoea I to newly settled first stage crab, the mean individual WW increased 92.4 times, which is substantially higher than that of DW (58.6 times). Among four zoeal stages, the highest SGR of WW was during larval development from zoea II to zoea III while the highest SGR of DW was from zoea I to zoea II. Interesting, the lowest SGR of both WW and DW among all larval stages was observed during larval development from megalopa to the first stage crab; statistical analysis confirmed that both SGR of WW and DW for megalopal stage were significantly lower than any zoeal stages (P<0.05) (Figure 4.5).



Figure 4.5. The specific growth rate (SGR, % day⁻¹) for each larval stage and overall larval development duration of *Portunus pelagicus*. Values are presented as means \pm SD (n=5). The bars that do not share a same letter are significantly different (*P*<0.05). "*" indicates significant differences between the SGR of wet weight and SGR of dry weight (*P*<0.05).

In terms of growth in size over larval development, newly hatched zoea I had an mean carapace length (CL) of 0.50 ± 0.02 mm (Figure 4.6). After 16.12 ± 0.67 days of rearing, the CL had increased to a mean of 2.49 ± 0.16 mm (4.98 fold) when they reached the first juvenile crab stage. An exponential equation could be used to describe the relationship between carapace length and the number of zoeal instars (I) (Figure 4.6). Among four zoeal stages, the highest increases in CL was recorded when larvae developed from zoea I to zoea II (+58%) (Fig. 6). After logarithmic transformation of body weight and carapace length, non-linear relationships were detected between CL and WW as well as CL and DW (Table 4.2).



Figure 4.6. Ontogenetic changes in carapace length of *Portunus pelagicus* at each larval stage. Values are presented as means \pm SD (n=30). The bars that do not share a same letter are significantly different (*P*<0.05). "I": instar number, i.e. zoea I=1, zoea II=2, zoea III=3, zoea IV=4, megalopa=4 and the first crab=5.

Table 4.3 Gross composition and lipid class compositions (% dry weight) of microalgae
Nannochloropsis sp., rotifers, newly hatched and enriched Artemia used in Portunus pelagicus
larval culture

	Microalgae Nannochloropsis	Rotifers	Newly hatched <i>Artemia</i> nauplii	Enriched <i>Artemia</i> metanauplii
Gross composition				
Moisture (% wet weight)	85.83 ± 1.21^{a}	92.98±0.43°	86.84 ± 0.14^{a}	90.98±0.03 ^b
Crude protein (% dry weight)	40.48±0.38 ^a	54.96±0.48°	56.68±0.66 ^d	49.27±0.45 ^b
Total lipid (% dry weight)	13.98±0.02 ^b	6.80 ± 0.19^{a}	18.26±0.43°	30.34 ± 0.74^{d}
HUFA (% dry weight)	1.97 ± 0.17^{b}	0.56 ± 0.07^{a}	0.51 ± 0.03^{a}	2.79±0.21°
Lipid classes (% dry weight)				
Phospholipids	11.28±0.33 ^d	5.30±0.22 ^a	7.25 ± 0.18^{b}	9.00 ± 0.10^{c}
Monoacylglycerol	ND	0.03 ± 0.02^{a}	0.13 ± 0.02^{b}	$0.22 \pm 0.05^{\circ}$
Cholesterol	ND	0.31 ± 0.05^{a}	0.66 ± 0.01^{b}	1.21 ± 0.02^{c}
Pigments	0.42 ± 0.00	ND	ND	ND
Diacylglycerol	0.32 ± 0.04^{b}	ND	0.26 ± 0.02^{a}	$0.70\pm0.05^{\circ}$
Free fatty acids	1.27 ± 0.22^{b}	0.50 ± 0.03^{a}	3.00 ± 0.50^{c}	$4.68 \pm 0.18^{\circ}$
Triacylglycerol	0.65 ± 0.09^{a}	0.66±0.26 ^a	6.96 ± 0.06^{b}	14.51±0.38°

Values are presented as means \pm SD (n=3). Values in a same row that do not share a same superscript are significantly different (*P*<0.05). "ND": values was not detectable or < 0.01%.

4.3.3 Chemical composition of live food

Both proximate compositions and lipid classes of live prey and microalgae used for larval rearing in this study are shown in Table 4.3. Among them, i.e. rotifers, newly hatched *Artemia*

iourers, newry nateries	Microalgae		Newly hatched	Enriched Artemia	
Fatty acids	Nannochloropsis	Rotifers	Artemia nauplii	metanauplii	
12:0	0.14±0.02	0.14 ±0.00	ND	ND	
14:0	3.36 ± 0.07^{d}	$2.79\pm0.04^{\circ}$	0.66 ± 0.03^{a}	1.49±0.03 ^b	
15:0	0.24 ± 0.00^{b}	0.50 ± 0.01^{d}	0.15 ± 0.01^{a}	$0.28 \pm 0.01^{\circ}$	
16:0	$18.71 \pm 0.22^{\circ}$	21.80 ± 0.19^{d}	10.29 ± 0.15^{a}	10.88 ± 0.11^{b}	
18:0	0.75 ± 0.01^{a}	$6.83 \pm 0.03^{\circ}$	$6.06 \pm 2.38^{\circ}$	4.32±0.05 ^b	
20:0	0.24±0.33 ^a	0.77 ± 0.50^{b}	0.42 ± 0.38^{ab}	ND	
23:0	0.37 ± 0.26^{b}	$1.04\pm0.08^{\circ}$	0.11 ± 0.02^{a}	0.53 ± 0.06^{b}	
∑SFA	24.01 ±0.49 ^b	34.99±0.46 °	17.65 ±2.71 ^a	17.62±0.04 ^a	
14:1n-7	0.45 ± 0.00^{a}	0.53 ± 0.02^{b}	1.31 ± 0.03^{d}	$0.71 \pm 0.02^{\circ}$	
16:1n-7	22.65 ± 0.15^{d}	$7.28\pm0.57^{\circ}$	1.98 ± 0.04^{a}	3.49±0.04 ^b	
16:1n-5	$0.92 \pm 0.00^{\circ}$	ND	0.27 ± 0.01^{b}	0.12 ± 0.00^{a}	
18:1n-9	5.63 ± 0.06^{a}	5.43±0.33 ^a	15.70±2.08 ^b	$21.27 \pm 0.02^{\circ}$	
18:1n-7	0.73 ± 0.02^{a}	7.15 ± 0.21^{d}	5.11±0.73°	4.43±0.01 ^b	
20:1n	ND	3.10 ± 1.82^{b}	0.63 ± 0.04^{a}	1.62 ± 0.01^{b}	
∑MUFA	30.38±0.03b	23.55±2.97 ^a	25.00±1.37 ^a	31.64±0.07 °	
16:2n-4	0.24 ± 0.01^{a}	0.45 ± 0.09^{bc}	$0.44 \pm 0.00^{\circ}$	0.43 ± 0.00^{b}	
16:3n-4	$0.34 \pm 0.00^{\circ}$	1.02 ± 0.03^{d}	0.24 ± 0.00^{a}	0.30 ± 0.01^{b}	
18:2n-6 (LA)	4.98 ± 0.03^{b}	4.27 ± 0.13^{a}	$5.60 \pm 0.03^{\circ}$	8.69 ± 0.02^{d}	
18:3n-6	$0.72 \pm 0.01^{\circ}$	6.21 ± 1.02^{d}	0.68 ± 0.00^{b}	0.30±0.11 ^a	
18:3n-3 (LNA)	0.40 ± 0.17^{a}	2.00 ± 0.09^{b}	31.07 ± 0.15^{d}	$18.25 \pm 0.08^{\circ}$	
18:4n-3	0.29 ± 0.06^{a}	0.32 ± 0.06^{a}	$6.64 \pm 0.07^{\circ}$	3.67 ± 0.12^{b}	
20:2n-6	0.15 ± 0.11^{a}	$2.12\pm1.38^{\circ}$	0.22±0.01a	0.35 ± 0.01^{b}	
20:3n-6	0.14 ± 0.20^{a}	1.19 ± 0.18^{b}	0.16±0.07a	0.13 ± 0.10^{a}	
20:4n-6 (ARA)	3.23±0.06 ^b	$3.62 \pm 0.11^{\circ}$	1.07±0.11a	1.01 ± 0.02^{a}	
20:3n-3	ND	0.52 ± 0.19^{a}	1.00 ± 0.00^{b}	0.64 ± 0.00^{a}	
20:4n-3	0.10 ± 0.09^{a}	0.52 ± 0.19^{b}	ND	$0.96 \pm 0.01^{\circ}$	
20:5n-3 (EPA)	24.31 ± 0.51^{d}	$7.67 \pm 0.01^{\circ}$	1.33±0.04 ^a	4.43 ± 0.09^{b}	
22:2n-6	0.14 ± 0.20^{ab}	$0.70\pm0.31^{\circ}$	0.20 ± 0.01^{a}	0.26 ± 0.03^{b}	
22:5n-3	ND	$1.95\pm0.77^{\circ}$	0.11 ± 0.07^{a}	0.75 ± 0.02^{b}	
22:6n-3 (DHA)	0.28 ± 0.03^{a}	0.96±0.31 ^b	0.23 ± 0.02^{a}	5.22±0.13°	
∑ PUFA(≥ 18:2 n)	34.80 ± 0.01^{b}	32.22±2.59 ^a	48.32 ± 0.11^{d}	$44.65 \pm 0.12^{\circ}$	
n-3PUFA	25.48 ± 0.44^{b}	14.11 ± 1.98^{a}	40.38 ± 0.27^{d}	$33.91 \pm 0.05^{\circ}$	
n-6PUFA	9.32 ± 0.46^{b}	18.11 ± 0.61^{d}	7.94 ± 0.16^{a}	$10.75 \pm 0.17^{\circ}$	
n-3/n-6	2.74 ± 0.18^{b}	$0.78\pm\!\!0.08^{\mathrm{a}}$	5.09 ± 0.14^{d}	3.16±0.06 ^c	
Σ HUFA($\geq 20:3n$)	28.15 ± 0.53^{d}	$16.61 \pm 1.90^{\circ}$	3.90±0.13 ^a	13.14±0.17 ^b	
DHA/EPA	0.01 ± 0.00^{a}	0.13 ± 0.04^{b}	$0.17 \pm 0.02^{\circ}$	1.18 ± 0.00^{d}	

Table 4.4 Fatty acid compositions (% total fatty acids) of microalgae *Nannochloropsis* sp., rotifers, newly hatched and enriched *Artemia* used in *Portunus pelagicus* larval culture

Values are presented as means \pm SD (n=3). Values in a same row that do not share a same superscript are significantly different (P<0.05). "ND": values was not detectable or < 0.1%.

nauplii, enriched *Artemia* metanauplii and microalgae *Nannochloropsis* sp., rotifers contained the highest level of moisture (92.98%) and the lowest total lipid (6.80%). As expected, enriched *Artemia* metanauplii contained much higher levels of total lipid (30.34% dry weight) and highly unsaturated fatty acids (HUFA) (2.79% dry weight) than the newly hatched, un-enriched nauplii (total lipid: 18.26% dry weight; HUFA: 0.51% dry weight). As for the lipid class contents, the

microalgae *Nannochloropsis* sp. contained the highest level of phospholipids (PL) while the enriched *Artemia* metanauplii had the highest cholesterol (CHO) and triacylglycerol (TG) contents (Table 4.3). As rotifers contained the lowest level of total lipid, this was reflected in all lipid classes since they were all found at the lowest levels when compared to other live foods tested.

The fatty acid compositions (% total fatty acids) of the live foods used for the larval culture are shown in Table 4.4. Among saturated fatty acids (SFA), 16:0 was the dominant fatty acid for all of them while rotifers contained the highest percentage of SFA (34.99%) (P<0.05) (Table 4.4). For mono-unsaturated fatty acids (MUFA), *Nannochloropsis* sp. contained the highest level of 16:1n-7 fatty acid while enriched *Artemia* metanauplii had the highest percentage of 18:1n-9 fatty acid (P<0.05). Of the poly-unsaturated fatty acids (PUFA), newly hatched *Artemia* nauplii had a significantly higher level of 18:3n-3 fatty acid (31.07%) than the other live foods, while microalgae *Nannochloropsis* sp. contained the highest percentage of 18:2n-6, 20:5n-3 (EPA), 22:6n-3 (DHA) and a higher DHA/EPA ratio than that of newly hatched *Artemia* nauplii (P<0.05, Table 4.4).

Table 4.5 Moisture (% wet weight), total lipid and lipid class contents (% dry weight) of newly hatched zoea I larvae, and newly moulted zoea VI, megalopae and first stage crabs of *Portunus pelagicus*

	Zoea I (n=4)	Zoea IV (n=3)	Megalopa (n=2)	First stage crab (n=3)
Moisture (% wet weight)	79.32±2.01 ^a	79.21±2.48 ^a	83.26±1.26 ^b	84.11±1.09 ^b
Total lipid (% dry weight)	6.95 ± 1.68^{a}	11.39±0.41°	8.19 ± 0.41^{a}	10.43 ± 0.26^{b}
Lipid classes (% dry weight)				
Phospholipids	6.05 ± 1.06^{ab}	5.90 ± 0.09^{a}	5.30 ± 0.10^{b}	5.17±0.03 ^b
Monoacylglycerol	0.02 ± 0.02^{a}	ND	ND	0.06 ± 0.01^{b}
Cholesterol	0.67 ± 0.13^{b}	0.66 ± 0.05^{b}	0.48 ± 0.05^{a}	0.42 ± 0.01^{a}
Diacylglycerol	ND	ND	ND	0.08 ± 0.01
Triacylglycerol+Free fatty acids	0.21 ± 0.08^{a}	$4.84 \pm 0.45^{\circ}$	2.40 ± 0.55^{b}	4.69±0.24 ^c

Values are presented as means \pm SD. "n": the number of replicates (2-3g larvae was pooled as one replicate). Values in a same row that do not share a same superscript are significantly different (*P*<0.05). "ND": values was not detectable or < 0.01%.

4.3.4 Total lipid, lipid classes and fatty acid profile of crab larvae

The moisture, total lipid and various lipid classes (% dry weight) of newly hatched zoea I, newly moulted zoea IV, megalopa and the first stage crab of *P. pelagicus* are shown in Table 4.5. Zoea I and zoea IV larvae contained significantly lower moisture contents than megalopae

and the first stage crabs (P < 0.05). The highest total lipid and TG+FFA contents were detected in zoea IV larvae and zoea IV, together with zoea I larvae, also contained significantly higher CHO levels (0.66-0.67% dry weight) than megalopae and the first stage crabs. As for the percentage compositions of lipid classes (%total lipid, Table 4.6), zoea I had the highest percentage of PL and CHO, but dramatically lowest percentage of TG+FFA among the four early life stages of *P. pelagicus* analyzed (P < 0.05). The first stage crab contained the highest level of TG+FFA (45%) among the four stages.

noulted zoea IV, megalopae and first stage crabs of <i>Portunus pelagicus</i>						
	Zoea I (n=4)	Zoea IV (n=3)	Megalopae (n=2)	First stage crab (n=3)		
Phospholipids	$87.03 \pm 0.82^{\circ}$	51.81 ± 2.64^{a}	64.85±4.39 ^b	49.60±1.22 ^a		
Monoacylglycerol	0.30 ± 0.27^{a}	ND	ND	0.62 ± 0.05^{b}		
Cholesterol	$9.64 \pm 0.32^{\circ}$	5.76 ± 0.22^{b}	5.91 ± 0.84^{b}	4.03 ± 0.01^{a}		
Diacylglycerol	ND	ND	ND	0.74±0.03		
Triacylglycerol + Free fatty acids	3.09±1.01 ^a	$42.44\pm2.42^{\circ}$	29.24±5.23 ^b	45.00±1.13°		

Table 4.6 Lipid class compositions (% total lipid) of newly hatched zoea I larvae, newly moulted zoea IV, megalopae and first stage crabs of *Portunus pelagicus*

Values are presented as means \pm SD. "n": the number of replicates (2-3g larvae was pooled as one replicate). Values in a same row that do not share a same superscript are significantly different (*P*<0.05). "ND": values was not detectable or < 0.1%.

The fatty acid compositions of the four early life stages of *P. pelagicus* were calculated as percentage of total fatty acids (Table 4.7). While the newly hatched zoea I contained the highest percentage of SFA (30.12%), which was significantly higher than all other stages (P < 0.05), 16:0 and 18:0 fatty acids were the major constituents of SFA for all stages analyzed. The percentage of mono-unsaturated fatty acids (MUFA) increased with larval development with zoea I had the lowest level (18.94%), followed by zoea IV (28.23%), megalopa (30.21%) and the first stage crab (32.59%), the differences among four stages were all statistically significant (P<0.05). However, for all four stages, 18:1n-9 and 18:1n-7 fatty acids were the two most dominant MUFA. Of carbon 18 poly-unsaturated fatty acids (C18-PUFA), zoea I contained significantly higher percentages of 18:3n-3 and 18:4n-3 fatty acids among the four stages (P<0.05). As to highly unsaturated fatty acids (HUFA), zoea I contained the significantly higher 20:4n-6 (ARA), EPA and DHA than other stages (P<0.05). Meanwhile, from zoea IV to the first crab stage, DHA level and DHA/EPA ratio increased gradually while EPA levels remained relative stable at 6.09-7.39% (Table 4.7).

The contents of major fatty acids were also converted as mg per g of larval dry weight for the four stages (mg/g dry weight, Table 4.8). It was shown that the newly hatched zoea I generally contained the lowest levels of MUFA and C18-PUFA among the four stages with the

	Zoea I	Zoea IV	Megalopae	First stage
Fatty acids	(n=4)	(n=3)	(n=2)	crab
				(n=3)
13:0	$0.18\pm\!\!0.07^{\mathrm{ab}}$	0.12 ± 0.01^{a}	0.26 ± 0.05^{b}	ND
14:0	$1.33 \pm 0.29^{\circ}$	0.65 ± 0.13^{ab}	0.86 ± 0.01^{b}	0.70 ± 0.02^{a}
16:0	16.41 ± 2.16^{d}	8.39 ± 0.13^{b}	6.57 ± 0.67^{a}	$9.65 \pm 0.39^{\circ}$
18:0	11.18±0.53 ^d	5.63±0.32 ^b	4.21 ± 0.31^{a}	$6.26 \pm 0.29^{\circ}$
20:0	0.21 ± 0.08^{a}	0.60 ± 0.43^{a}	1.37 ± 1.28^{ab}	2.05 ± 0.02^{b}
23:0	0.24±0.13 ^{ab}	0.13 ± 0.04^{a}	0.28 ± 0.23^{ab}	0.39 ± 0.04^{b}
∑SFA	30.12 ± 2.21 ^c	15.71 ±0.69 ^a	13.98±1.92 ^a	19.36±0.71 ^b
14:1n-7	0.19 ± 0.08^{a}	$0.50\pm0.01^{\circ}$	0.42 ± 0.02^{b}	0.69 ± 0.00^{d}
16:1n-7	3.04 ± 0.77^{b}	1.88 ± 0.03^{a}	1.69 ± 0.05^{a}	1.83 ± 0.03^{a}
16:1n-5	0.17±0.21	0.07±0.09	0.10±0.14	0.17±0.04
18:1n-9	8.37 ± 0.86^{a}	18.06±0.17 ^b	$19.42 \pm 0.05^{\circ}$	21.19 ± 0.23^{d}
18:1n-7	5.01 ± 1.82	6.50±0.02	7.20±0.11	7.25 ± 0.00
20:1n	2.15±0.66 ^b	1.22 ± 0.05^{a}	1.38±0.11 ^a	1.45 ± 0.03^{a}
∑MUFA	18.94 ±2.69 ^a	$28.23 \pm 0.00^{\circ}$	$30.21 \pm 0.01^{\circ}$	32.59 ± 0.18^{d}
16:2n-4	0.62 ± 0.02	0.53±0.43	0.67±0.65	0.63±0.09
16:3n-4	1.03 ± 0.13^{b}	0.48 ± 0.57^{ab}	0.15 ± 0.04^{a}	0.18 ± 0.01^{a}
18:2n-6 (LA)	0.54 ± 0.47^{a}	$7.02\pm0.12^{\circ}$	$7.26 \pm 0.05^{\circ}$	6.74±0.04 ^b
18:3n-6	0.39±0.31 ^{ab}	0.42 ± 0.17^{ab}	0.41 ± 0.01^{b}	0.26 ± 0.01^{a}
18:3n-3 (LNA)	0.71 ± 0.41^{a}	23.56 ± 0.05^{d}	$20.19 \pm 1.24^{\circ}$	16.88±0.22 ^b
18:4n-3	1.16 ± 0.17^{a}	$2.99\pm0.04^{\circ}$	2.57±0.14 ^b	2.09±0.25 ^b
20:2n-6	1.46 ± 0.67^{ab}	$0.31 \pm 0.06^{\circ}$	0.66 ± 0.52^{ab}	0.17 ± 0.00^{a}
20:3n-6	1.02±0.92 ^{ab}	0.51 ± 0.55^{ab}	0.23 ± 0.18^{a}	0.91 ± 0.00^{b}
20:4n-6 (ARA)	$6.89 \pm 1.02^{\circ}$	1.81±0.01a	2.16±0.15 ^b	2.16±0.02 ^b
20:3n-3	0.11 ± 0.08^{a}	2.64 ±0.02 ^b	2.25 ± 1.44^{b}	0.02 ± 0.02^{a}
20:4n-3	0.21 ± 0.26^{a}	$1.27 \pm 0.02^{\circ}$	1.44 ± 0.02^{d}	0.99 ± 0.01^{b}
20:5n-3 (EPA)	18.39 ± 2.41^{d}	6.09 ± 0.05^{a}	$7.39\pm0.01^{\circ}$	6.58 ± 0.03^{b}
22:2n-6	0.69 ± 0.19^{b}	0.33 ± 0.00^{a}	0.45 ± 0.08^{ab}	0.53 ± 0.04^{b}
22:5n-3	$1.65 \pm 0.10^{\circ}$	1.11 ± 0.02^{b}	1.00 ± 0.16^{b}	0.61 ± 0.02^{a}
22:6n-3 (DHA)	9.74 ± 1.00^{d}	1.73 ± 0.04^{a}	3.05 ± 0.05^{b}	$4.24 \pm 0.02^{\circ}$
∑ PUFA(≥ 18:2 n)	42.43 ± 3.71^{ab}	49.65±1.03 ^c	49.06 ± 2.18^{bc}	42.18±0.47 ^a
n-3PUFA	31.68±2.67 ^{ab}	39.41 ± 0.12^{bc}	37.89 ± 2.76^{b}	31.40±0.47 ^a
n-6PUFA	10.63±0.94	10.40±0.69	11.16±0.58	10.78±0.00
n-3/n-6	2.98±0.03 ^a	3.80 ± 0.24^{b}	3.40 ± 0.42^{b}	2.91 ±0.04 ^a
∑HUFA(≥ 20:3n)	$38.00 \pm 3.62^{\circ}$	15.17 ±0.58 ^{ab}	17.52 ± 1.62^{b}	15.50 ±0.01 ^a
DHA/EPA	$0.54 \pm 0.11^{\circ}$	0.28 ± 0.00^{a}	0.41 ± 0.01^{b}	$0.64 \pm 0.00^{\circ}$

Table 4.7 Fatty acid compositions (% total fatty acids) of newly hatched zoea I larvae, newly moulted zoea IV, megalopae and first stage crabs of *Portunus pelagicus*

Values are presented as means \pm SD. "n": the number of replicates (2-3g larvae was pooled as one replicate). Values in a same row that do not share a same superscript are significantly different (*P*<0.05). "ND": values was not detectable or < 0.1%.

exception of 16:1n-7 fatty acid. Although zoea IV had significant higher PUFA content (33.47 mg/g dry weight) than that of other stages, it had the lowest DHA content (1.16 mg/g dry

weight), which was significantly lower than all other stages (P<0.05). Significantly higher levels of SFA and MUFA contents were found in the first stage crab as compared to the other stages (*P*<0.05) (Table 4.8).

Fotty ooida	Zoea I	Zoea IV	Megalopae	First stage	
ratty acids	(n=4)	(n=3)	(n=2)	crab (n=3)	
16:0	5.36±0.71 ^{bc}	5.64 ± 0.09^{b}	3.23±0.33 ^a	$6.04 \pm 0.25^{\circ}$	
18:0	3.65 ± 0.17^{a}	3.78 ± 0.21^{b}	2.07 ± 0.15^{a}	3.92 ± 0.18^{b}	
∑SFA	9.84±0.72 ^b	10.56±0.46 ^b	6.87 ±0.94 ^a	12.12 ±0.45 ^c	
16:1n-7	0.99 ± 0.25^{ab}	$1.26 \pm 0.02^{\circ}$	0.83 ± 0.03^{a}	1.15 ± 0.02^{b}	
18:1n-9	2.73 ± 0.28^{a}	$12.14\pm0.11^{\circ}$	9.54 ± 0.02^{b}	13.26 ± 0.15^{d}	
18:1n-7	1.85 ± 0.51^{a}	4.37±0.01°	3.54 ± 0.06^{b}	4.54 ± 0.00^{d}	
∑MUFA	6.19±0.88 ^a	18.87 ±0.13 ^c	14.84 ±0.03 ^b	20.39±0.12 ^d	
18:2n-6	$0.18\pm\!0.15^{a}$	4.71 ± 0.01^{d}	3.57 ± 0.02^{b}	$4.22 \pm 0.02^{\circ}$	
18:3n-3	0.23 ± 0.13^{a}	$15.84 \pm 0.04^{\circ}$	9.92±0.61 ^b	10.56 ± 0.14^{b}	
18:4n-3	0.28 ± 0.19^{a}	$2.01 \pm 0.03^{\circ}$	1.26 ± 0.07^{b}	1.31 ± 0.16^{b}	
20:4n-6	2.25 ± 0.33^{d}	1.22 ± 0.00^{b}	1.06 ± 0.07^{a}	$1.35 \pm 0.00^{\circ}$	
20:5n-3	$6.01 \pm 0.79^{\circ}$	4.09 ± 0.03^{b}	3.63 ± 0.00^{a}	4.12 ± 0.02^{b}	
22:6n-3	3.18 ± 0.33^{d}	1.16±0.03 ^a	1.50 ± 0.02^{b}	$2.65 \pm 0.01^{\circ}$	
\sum PUFA (\geq 18:2n)	13.86±1.21 ^a	33.47 ±0.54 ^d	24.11 ± 1.07^{b}	$26.40 \pm 0.30^{\circ}$	
∑HUFA(≥ 20:3n)	12.41 ± 1.18^{d}	10.20 ±0.39 °	8.61 ±0.80 ^a	9.70 ±0.01 ^b	
Unknown	2.24±0.91	3.53±0.18	2.92±0.43	3.17±0.02	
Total fatty acids	30.42±0.91 ^a	63.67 ± 0.18^{d}	46.22±0.43 ^b	59.41±0.22 ^c	

Table 4.8 Major fatty acid contents (mg g^{-1} dry weight) of newly hatched zoea I larvae, newly moulted zoea IV, megalopae and first crabs of *Portunus pelagicus*

4.4 Discussion

This study described the patterns of larval growth for the blue swimmer crab, *P. pelagicus*, reared in the laboratory. The developmental patterns and equations established allow conversion and estimation of one growth parameter from another, for example, estimating larval dry weight based on wet weight. The basic information obtained on larval development and lipid composition of cultured larvae can be used to compare with that of wild larvae, resulting in the improvement of hatchery diets for the future *P. pelagicus* seed production (Copeman et al., 2012). Therefore, these data have both ecological and aquaculture relevance.

As in many brachyuran crab species, the increase in biomass during larval development of *P. pelagicus* could be described as exponential to successive larval stages. The slopes of the linear regressions were 0.8293 for larval dry weight and 0.9294 for larval wet weight of *P. pelagicus*. These data are similar to those of larval swimming crab, *Portunus trituberculatus*

Values are presented as means \pm SD. "n": the number of replicates (2-3g larvae was pooled as one replicate). Values in a same row that do not share a same superscript are significantly different (*P*<0.05).

(slope for dry weight = 0.907; slope for wet weight = 0.905) (Lim and Hirayama, 1991), but higher than that reported for the other several crabs, e.g. the spider crab, *Maja brachydactyla* (slope for dry weight = 0.63) (Andr \pm et al., 2008), the flying crab, *Liocarcinus holsatus* (slope for dry weight= 0.62) (Harms, 1990) and the salt marsh crab, *Neohelice* (formerly *Chasmagnathus*) *granulata* (slope for dry weight = 0.69) (Anger and Ismael, 1997).

However, since there are substantial inter-specific and intra-specific differences in developmental durations of larval instars, the growth equations mentioned earlier are inappropriate for the comparison of growth. The specific growth rate (SGR) is a common used parameter for evaluating growth rate under different conditions and can be used both intra-species (Guillaume, 2001; Romano and Zeng, 2006) and inter-species (Mcandrew and Majumdar, 1989). Therefore, SGRs were calculated in the present study, which provide a mean for comparing growth rate between species. For instance, over larval development from newly hatched zoea I to the first crab stage, dry weight increase of P. trituberculatus (9058%) was substantially higher than that of P. pelagicus (5862%), while the SGR calculated for P. pelagicus (25.36) is higher than that of P. trituberculatus (22.58) (Lim and Hirayama, 1991) (Table 4.9). Hence, P. pelagicus larvae had higher growth rate than that of P. trituberculatus under the experimental conditions reported. It is evident that P. pelagicus larvae grow faster than all other species. Furthermore, the previous study reported a dramatically lower SGR of 8-9 during the development from the 4th to the 9th crab stage for P. pelagicus cultured under similar conditions of temperature and salinity (Romano and Zeng, 2006). This is considerably lower than that of larval P. pelagicus (25.36) and illustrates the slowing in the rate of relative growth with increasing age of an animal (Southgate and Lucas, 2003). Therefore, SGR can also be used to assess growth at different life stages within the same species (Folkvord, 2005).

For most brachyuran crabs, the megalopal stage is the longest larval stage, that normally accounts for 20-50% of total larval developmental time. The megalopal stage of *P. pelagicus* accounts for 29.28% of total larval development time, which is similar to other Portunid crabs, such as the swimming crab, *P. trituberculatus* (Lim and Hirayama, 1991), the mud crab, *Scylla serrata* (Wang et al., 1995b), the blue crab, *Callinectes sapidus* (Zmora et al., 2005) and the shore crab, *Carcinus maenas* (Dawirs, 1985) and some non-portunid crabs, such as the Chinese mitten crab, *Eriocheir sinensis* (Zhang and Li, 2002) and the salt marsh crab, *N. granulata* (Anger and Ismael, 1997). However, when compared to the spider crab, *M. araneus* (Anger and Dawirs, 1982) and the bristly crab, *Pilumnus hirtellus* (Hartnoll and Mohamedeen, 1987), it is shorter since megalopal stage of these two crabs ranges from 47 to 50% of total larval duration. In the field, an extended duration for megalopa may be an adaption for *P. pelagicus*, to search

and reach suitable habitat to settle (Bryars and Havenhand, 2006). This speculation is supported by the SGR results of the present study showing that both SGR of dry weight and wet weight of *P. pelagicus* megalopae were significantly lower than other larval stages.

1							
	DW of Z I (µg)	DW of C1(µg)	Percentage increase	OCDT (days)	SGR (% day ⁻¹)	Water temperature	Source
Hyas araneus	63	420	567%	48	3.95	12 °C	Anger et al. (1983)
Maja brachydactyla	94.0	627	567%	18	10.54	18 °C	Adr és et al. (2008)
Carcinus maenas	10.9	188.6	1,085%	32	8.92	18 °C	Dawirs et al. (1986)
Chasmagnathus granulata	8.45	276	3,160%	32	10.89	18 °C	Anger and Ismael (1997)
Callinectes sapidus	8.0	726	8,975%	35	12.88	22 °C	Zmora et al., 2005
Portunus trituberculatus	18.0	1649	9,058%	20	22.57	23-24 °C	Lim and Hirayama, 1991
Eriocheir sinensis	14.5	1203	8,197%	23	19.21	23-25 °C	Zhang and Li (2002)
Scylla serrata	10.7	1234	11,433%	28	16.96	26-28 °C	Wang et al. (1995)
Portunus pelagicus	13.3	793	5,862%	16.1	25.36	28 °C	This study
Ranina ranina	90.0	14350	15,844%	34	14.92	29 °C	Minagawa et al (1993)

Table 4.9 Dry weight of zoea I and the first stage crabs (C1), percentage increase in dry weight, overall cumulative development time (OCDT) and SGR in dry weight relative to the larval development of various crab species

DW of Z I: Dry weight of zoea I; DW of C1: Dry weight of the first stage crabs; SGR: Specific growth rate.

It is worth noting that the duration of a larval stage and its proportion to the total larval development time might change depending on quality and quantity of larval diets. For example, when zoea I and II larvae of *P. pelagicus* were fed rotifers only, duration of zoea II stage was always longer than zoea I (Bryars and Havenhand, 2006). However, when zoea I and II larvae were fed solely on newly hatched *Artemia* nauplii (Josileen and Zeng, unpublished data) or a mixture of rotifers and *Artemia* nauplii (current study), the duration of zoea II was shorter/similar than that of zoea I. There are two possible explanations: (1) the newly hatched *Artemia* nauplii contained significantly higher levels of lipids and HUFA than rotifers and it has been reported that high lipid and HUFA contents could accelerate larval development in *E. sinensis* (Sui et al., 2007) and *P. trituberculatus* (Takeuchi et al., 1999a); (2) compared to newly hatched *Artemia* nauplii, rotifers are smaller and contain substantially less energy per individual. As the consequence, energy budget suggest it is highly inefficient for the crab larvae to feed on

rotifers as they would need to capture and ingest many more rotifers to gain the same energy level provided by *Artemia* nauplii (Zeng and Li, 1999). Duration of the larval stage may therefore be extended to accumulate sufficient nutrition and energy reserves to enable a successful moult.

	Number of zoeal stages	Megalopal duration (days)	OCDT (days)	Megalopal duration/OCDT (%)	Water temperature	Source
Maja brachydactyla	2	4	18	22.22	18 °C	Adr és <i>et al.</i> (2008)
Hyas araneus	2	24	48	50.00	12 °C	Anger and Dawirs (1982)
Pilumnus hirtellus	4	14.3	30.1	47.51	20 °C	Hartnoll and Mohamedeen (1987)
Chasmagnathus granulata	4	12	32	37.50	18 °C	Anger and Ismael (1997)
Carcinus maenas	4	12	32	37.50	18 °C	Dawirs (1985)
Portunus trituberculatus	4	6	20	30.30	23-24 °C	Lim and Hirayama (1991)
Portunus pelagicus	4	4.7	16.1	29.28	28 °C	This study
Eriocheir sinensis	5	7	23	30.43	23-25 °C	Zhang and Li (2002)
Menippe mercenaria	5	8	28	28.57	30 °C	Brown <i>et al</i> . (1992)
Scylla serrata	5	8	28	28.57	26-28 °C	Wang <i>et al.</i> (1995)
Charybdis feriatus	6	5-6	25	20.00-24.00	27.5-29.5 °C	Wang <i>et al.</i> (2008)
Ranina ranina	7-8	19	53	35.85	26.1-29.9 °C	Minagawa <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> (1990)
Callinectes sapidus	8	8	35	22.85	22 °C	Zmora <i>et al.</i> 2005
Paralithodes camtschaticus	4	21	35	40.00	11 °C	Swingle <i>et al</i> . (2013)

Table 4.10 Number of zoeal stages, megalopal duration, overall cumulative larval development time (OCDT) and percentage of megalopal duration to OCDT of various crab species

The mass mortality, occurred during metamorphosis moulting to megalopae and megalopae to the first crab, are common phenomenon for brachyuran crabs, including *S. serrata* (Holme et al., 2007b), *P. trituberculatus* (Lim and Hirayama, 1991) and *E. sinensis* (Wu et al., 2007c). The previous studies have reported this mass mortality is due to moulting death syndrome (MDS), when crab larvae do not have the ability to completely shed the old carapace

or integument of the chelipeds or walking legs (Hamasaki et al., 2002a). It is thought that a major cause of MDS is the insufficient energy and nutrient intakes during the final zoeal stage (Minagawa et al., 1993), and related particularly to HUFA, CHO, PL and total lipids stored in the hepatopancreas (Holme et al., 2007b). Hence, the optimization of larval nutrition and culture physical-chemical conditions, may reduce mortality over this critical period (Hamasaki et al., 2002b; Suprayudi et al., 2004a,b).

During larval development of *P. pelagicus*, total lipid and lipid class contents underwent significant changes. The final zoeal stage, zoea IV were found to have the highest total lipid content among all larval stages and there are two possible explanations for this: firstly, it is likely related to the high energy and nutritional reserves required to facilitate crucial process of metamorphosis to megalopae (Minagawa et al., 1993). Secondly, lipids can contribute to larval buoyancy, and reduce energy consumption associated with maintaining position in water column (Roustaian et al., 2001). As the final holoplanktonic stage, the highest lipid content of zoea IV may assist their buoyancy. Cholesterol, as a precursor for ecdysone, is essential for the normal growth and ecdysis of crustaceans, however, crustaceans cannot synthesis cholesterol de novo (Teshima and Kanazawa, 1971), and it has to be obtained from their diet (Holme et al., 2007c). Although the enriched Artemia meta-nauplii had the highest cholesterol content of the live foods used, cholesterol contents of P. pelagicus decreased significantly from zoea IV. This decrease may indicate megalopae and juvenile P. pelagicus had lower cholesterol requirements than the zoeal stage larvae. Moreover, during the moulting cycle, the early stage of crustacean larvae generally contains the lower total lipid levels than the middle and late moulting larvae (Limbourn and Nichols, 2009). Therefore, our sampled larvae had the low lipid levels in this study because those larvae were sampled from the early moulting stage.

While the fatty acid composition of newly hatched zoea I of *P. pelagicus* is similar to that of *P. trituberculatus* (Wu et al., 2010c) and *S. serrata* (Holme et al., 2009b), *P. pelagicus* zoea I contained substantially higher EPA level and had a lower DHA/EPA ratio. Our recent study has shown that although the mature ovary and newly spawned eggs contained higher DHA/EPA ratio, the significantly decreasing trend was found on the DHA/EPA ratio during the embryonic development of *P. pelagicus*, resulting in a lower DHA/EPA of newly hatched zoea I (See Chapter 2). This suggests EPA might be more important for *P. pelagicus* early larvae. A trend of increasing levels of 18:1n-9, DHA and \sum MUFA but decreasing 18:3n-3 and 18:4n-3 fatty acids were found from zoea IV onwards, which likely reflected fatty acid profile of their diet. As from zoea III onward, replacing un-enriched nauplii, enriched *Artemia* were fed to larvae,

and fatty acid analysis showed that enriched *Artemia* contained higher levels of 18:1n-9, DHA and \sum MUFA but lower levels of 18:3n-3 and 18:4n-3 fatty acids than newly hatched nauplii.

However, although the enrich Artemia and un-enriched nauplii contained similar levels of ARA (ca.1% total fatty acids), megalopae and first stage crabs contained significantly higher percentage of ARA than zoea IV (P < 0.05). It indicates that megalopae and first stage crabs may have a higher ARA requirement than pelagic zoeal larvae. Sargent and Whittle (1981) had suggested that ARA, derived from the benthic algae and therefore more accessible to juvenile and adult crustaceans, is relatively low in planktonic crustacean larvae because their natural diets contain relatively low ARA (Sargent and Whittle, 1981). It has also been suggested that pelagic crustacean larvae may have a lower ARA requirements than that of juveniles (Ritar et al., 2003). The present study also showed that later larvae of *P. pelagicus* from zoea IV onward contained significantly higher levels of 18:2n-6 (6.74-7.26% total fatty acids) than newly hatched zoea I, which likely reflected the enriched Artemia containing higher 18:2n-6 than the rotifer and un-enriched nauplii. Although it is not clear whether 18:2n-6 is one of the essential fatty acids (EFA) for marine crustacean larvae (Sheen and Wu, 2002), more recently, Wu et al. (2010a) speculated that the accumulation of 18:2n-6 in E. sinensis tissues may serve as a mechanism to counter for negative effects caused by dietary HUFA deficiency (Wu et al., 2010a). Previous studies have also shown that an increase in \sum MUFA level is an indicator for essential fatty acids deficiency in crustaceans (Reigh and Stickney, 1989; Sheen and Wu, 2002; Suprayudi et al., 2004b). Therefore, the increasing \sum MUFA levels during larval ontogeny and lower ARA contents at later larval stages may suggest that later larvae of *P. pelagicus* in this study may not have an optimal supply of HUFA despite being fed enriched Artemia. Unfortunately, the HUFA requirements are completely unknown for blue swimmer crab larvae, which warrant further investigations.

4.5 Conclusion

In summary, our results provide a first description of the developmental patterns of larval growth for *P. pelagicus*. The highest increase in biomass and high SGR were recorded when zoea IV moulted to megalopa and when zoea I moulted to zoea II, respectively. Mass mortality occurred during the critical metamorphosis of zoea IV to megalopa and megalopa to the first crab stage, and this may be linked to insufficient energy and nutritional intakes during the previous stages (zoea IV and megalopa). Finally, the data on ontogenetic changes in lipid composition during larval development should provide important clues for understanding larval lipid nutrition and developing suitable dietary regimes for *P. pelagicus* larvae.

Ontogenetic patterns of growth and lipid composition changes during early to mid-stages of development in *Panulirus ornatus* phyllosoma

5.1 Introduction

The rock spiny lobster, *Panulirus ornatus*, is widely distributed throughout the Indo-West Pacific region, particularly in the tropical and subtropical waters of the region, such as the Torres Straits and North Eastern Australia (Ye, 2008; Ye and Dennis, 2009). This lobster species is targeted in a sustainable fishery in this region with a managed annual harvest in Australia and Papua New Guinea of approximately 662 tonnes (Ye, 2008). *P. ornatus* has many favorable attributes for consumers, and hence an attractive aquaculture candidate, including non-aggressive communal behavior, high fecundity, rapid growth, and delicate flavor with global demand for the product increasing at 15% per annum (Murugan et al., 2005; Jones et al., 2007; Smith et al., 2009). However, it is evident that globally, the fishery for wild *P. ornatus* is fully exploited with landing yields plateauing during the past 10 years despite increased fishing effort (FAO, 2005; Hung and Tuan, 2009). It is likely that sustainable production of this species will only be possible through closed-life cycle aquaculture production through development of commercially robust hatchery technologies (Priyambodo and Sarifin, 2009; Smith et al., 2009).

Open-life cycle aquaculture of *P. ornatus* is established in Vietnam and Indonesia (Jones et al., 2007; Priyambodo and Sarifin, 2009). However, this form of aquaculture is reliant on the capture of wild planktonic puerulus and just settled benthic juveniles, which has the high likelihood that annual recruits from the wild will be overexploited resulting in detrimental impacts on the long term viability of natural populations (Jones et al., 2007). Over and above the potential impacts on local marine ecosystems, wild puerulus is known to vary in both quality and quantity, as well as being a vector of introducing pathogens into a grow-out system (Meng et al., 2009; O'Sullivan, 2010). The establishment of hatchery technologies based on closed larval cycle is the key to avoid overexploitation of wild stocks and the development of sustainable production for Palinurid lobsters as well as facilitating genetic selection for desirable traits, such as accelerated growth, colouration, flesh quality or pathogen resistance (Smith et al., 2009; O'Sullivan, 2010).

The larval cycle of *P. ornatus* is complex, consisting of eleven distinct morphological pelagic planktonic phyllosoma stages, a transitional planktonic post-larval puerulus stage and **a**

first instar benthic juvenile (also known as post-puerulus) (Smith et al., 2009b). The current bottleneck in the aquaculture production of all Palinurid marine lobster species is the lack of ability to rear large quantities larvae, from egg through the multiple planktonic phyllosoma stages to puerulus and the benthic juvenile stages. Successful larval production has been achieved for *P. ornatus* in Australia between 2006 and 2010, but only at small scales (Smith et al., 2009; O'Sullivan, 2010). Survival from egg to phyllosoma, puerulus and the first instar juvenile is currently less than 5% (Hall, pers comm), which in part is due to the limited information on larval feeding and nutritional requirements for this species (O'Sullivan, 2010). Larval nutrition, and in particular lipid nutrition, is deemed a critical area to the successful commercialization of this species (O'Sullivan, 2010).

Lipids, including phospholipids (PL), cholesterol (CHO), triacylglycerol (TG) and free fatty acids (FFA), play important roles in the survival and growth of crustacean larvae, by providing energy for metabolism, maintenance of structure and function of cellular biomembranes and precursors of eicosanoids (Anger, 1998; Ritar et al., 2003; Limbourn and Nichols, 2009). As critical nutritional components, the quality and quantity of dietary lipids have the potential to affect the development, survival and physiological status of crustacean larvae (Liddy et al., 2005; Holme et al., 2007a,b; Sui et al., 2007). However, the dietary requirement of phyllosomas is unknown. An examination of lipid composition of wild, naturally feeding crustacean larvae can provide valuable information of lipid requirements and an understanding of the relative importance of specific lipid classes and fatty acids during the different larval stages (Phleger et al., 2001; Phillips et al., 2006; Limbourn and Nichols, 2009). The range of natural food that larvae are exposed to in the wild is likely to provide a successful larval outcome (Danaher, 2003; Ritar et al., 2003; Jeffs et al., 2004; Jeffs, 2007).

Analysis of the ontogenetic changes in lipid composition during larval rearing has been used as a method for understanding larval nutrition requirements and for the development of suitable dietary regimes. This method has been used to understand lipid requirements for many crustacean species, including the marine shrimp, *Penaeus kerathurus* (Mourente et al., 1995), freshwater prawn, *Macrobrachium rosenbergii* (Roustaian et al., 1999), spider crab, *Maja brachydactyla* (Andr és et al., 2008), mud crab, *Scylla serrata* larvae (Holme et al., 2009b) and rock spiny lobster, *Jasus edwardsii* (Ritar et al., 2003; Smith et al., 2003). To date there is no published information on larval growth pattern or lipid composition of *P. ornatus* phyllosoma. Although collection of mid (Stages IV-VIII) to late stage (Stage VIII-XI) *P. ornatus* phyllosomas in the wild is possible, few early developmental stages are captured (Smith et al., 2007).

2009a). For example, there were no Stage I or II and only one Stage III phyllosoma collected from two Australian Institute of Marine Science (AIMS) Coral sea collection cruises to Osprey Reef (13° 56' S to 14° 03' S and 144° 26' E to 146° 4' E) on 24 January - 09 February 2006 and 24 May - 9 June 2008, respectively (Smith et al., 2009a). Nevertheless, whole phyllosoma lipid analysis had been made on mid- to late Stage phyllosomas from the wild and provides insights into the natural diet of these larvae (Smith et al., pers comm).

The current study investigated the ontogenetic changes in the lipid composition (lipid classes and fatty acids) during the early larval development of *P. ornatus* as well as larval growth in terms of total body length (TBL), wet weight (WW) and dry weight (DW). The data gained in this study would provide baseline information on the basic lipid metabolism of early stage larvae and offer criteria for evaluating larval quality and rearing conditions as well as in the development of suitable dietary regimes for *P. ornatus*.

5.2 Materials and methods

5.2.1. Broodstock source and maintenance

Broodstock source and maintenance were described as Chapter 3 (Section 3.2.1). Females were examined weekly for the presence of eggs and the estimated date of hatching determined by inspection of embryo development. The broodstock were fed alternatively on a proprietary wet feed, blue mussel (*Mytilus galloprovincialis*) and squid (*Loligo opalescensat*) at a rate of 5-8% total body weight, adjusted based on daily observation of feed consumption. Berried females with eggs estimated to be within 1-3 days of hatching were removed from the holding tank and held in a 200 L tub for 4 h and treated with 25 mg L-1 formalin, 8 mg L-1 oxytetracycline, 9 mg L-1 erythromycin and 20 mg L-1 streptomycin for 4 h to partially surface sterilize the female and eggs (Bourne et al., 2004). After treatment, females were placed into a 1000 L hatching tank with the salinity of 33-36‰ and the temperature of 28 ± 1 °C. Water in the hatching system was aerated and flow through with a turnover rate of once per hour. The berried females were not fed in the hatching tank with feces and discarded eggs siphoned daily till hatch.

5.2.2 Larvae culture and live food source

On the day of hatching, active and photopositive phyllosoma were collected from the surface of the broodstock spawning tank and transferred into a 20 L container of clean seawater for estimation of larval production, larvae density calculated and 10,000 newly hatched

phyllosoma volumetrically dispensed into 500 L mass culture vessel. Two to four replicate tanks were used for each hatching depending on the culture space and larval quality. Water temperature and salinity were same as for broodstock culture. Continuous aeration was provided using air-stones. Light was provided by overhead fluorescent ceiling lights set on a photoperiod of 14 h light: 10 h dark and light intensity of 5 ± 1 lx. Phyllosoma were fed twice daily at 9:00 and 16:00 h. The general rearing protocol was shown in Table 5.1. Each morning, *Artemia* remaining from the previous day were flushed from the culture tanks for 4 h prior to feeding. The larval culture tanks were siphoned each morning to remove dead larvae, faeces and other debris. Totally, three batches of larvae rearing were conducted during the experiment. Because the larvae quality varied from female to female, the data presented in the paper was from one female.

Larval stage Feed Live foods regime duration Newly hatched Artemia nauplii, 4 nauplli mL⁻¹ Stage I-III (Instar 1-5) 4-5 weeks Juvenile Artemia (body length 2.5-4.5 mm), 1 mL⁻¹ Stage IV-VI (Instar 6-Blue mussel (M. galloprovincialis) gonad, 20 mg 5-8 weeks 11) L^{-1} Juvenile/adult Artemia (body length 5.0-7.0 mm), $0.5 - 1 \text{ mL}^{-1}$ Stage VII-XI (Instar 9-14 weeks Blue mussel (M. galloprovincialis) gonad, 20 mg 12-24) L^{-1}

Table 5.1 General rearing protocol developed for ornate rock lobster *Panulirus ornatus* larvae at Australia Institute of Marine Science.

Artemia cysts (GSL strain, AAA+ grade, INVE Aquaculture Inc, Salt Lake City, UT, USA) were hatched daily in 50 L conical tanks at 28 ± 1 °C in filtered seawater (33-36‰). After 20-24 h hatching, the newly hatched nauplii (size: 430-520 µm) was harvested by siphoning out free swimming photo positive nauplii, *Artemia* were treated with a 25 mg L⁻¹ formalin in fresh algae (*Chaetoceros muelleri*, $2x10^6$ cells mL⁻¹) bath for 30 min before addition to larval-rearing tanks. For juvenile/adult *Artemia*, newly hatched nauplii were cultured for up to 10 days using mixed algal *spp.*, i.e. *C. muelleri*, *Pavlova lutheri*, *Isochrysis aff. galbana* (Clone Tahiti Isochrysis) and *Tetraselmis chuii*, until they obtained the desired size required for larval feeding. The juvenile *Artemia* was 5-9 days old with body length of 2.5-4.5 mm while the adult *Artemia* was 10-11 days old with body length of 5-7 mm, but without berried eggs. Gonadal tissue from live blue mussel *M. galloprovincialis* was chopped into 0.2-0.3 mm pieces for subsequent feeding.

5.2.3 Sampling and data collection

During the experiment, 5-10 g wet weight samples of newly hatched Artemia nauplii, juvenile/adult Artemia and chopped blue mussel gonad were collected and stored separately at

-80 °C for later biochemical analysis. Phyllosoma stages and instars were identified using the morphological features (Smith et al., 2009a). When 70% of each tank population had attained the desired larval stage, samples of larvae were collected from the mass culture tanks and individuals staged under light microscopy rinsed three times with isotonic 0.5 M ammonium bicarbonate to remove traces of salts, then blotted on filter paper to remove excess moisture (Zhu and Lee, 1997) and then frozen at -80 °C. For Stage I and II, there are only one instar within the stage, which were sampled for the late analysis. Although there are 2 - 3 instars within the stages for Stage III – VI phyllosoma, only the first instar of each Stage (i.e. instar 6, 8, 10) was sampled for the biomass measurement. Therefore, the majority instars were instar 1, 2, 3, 6, 8, 10, respectively to each Stage (I-V) for the experiments. Samples were collected until Stage VI, or day 65 after hatching.

Phyllosoma bulk samples were used to obtain mean individual phyllosoma body weight, due to their small initial weight immediately post hatch. A total number of between 20 - 200 phyllosoma, depending on the stage of development, were weighed and four replicates were used per sampling. Prior to weighing the phyllosoma were rinsed three times with 0.5 M ammonium bicarbonate. Phyllosoma WW were then determined using a Cahn C-33 micro-balance with a precision of 1µg (Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc, Pittsburgh, PA, USA). Phyllosoma DW were obtained after oven-drying for 24 h at 60 °C. Individual mean WW and DW were calculated by the division of phyllosoma number for each larval Stage. Each replicate consisted of 50 Stage I phyllosoma, 25-30 Stage II and III phyllosoma, 10-15 Stage IV phyllosoma and 4-6 Stage V and VI phyllosoma, respectively. Total body length of the larvae was measured using light microscopy on 18-25 newly moulted Stage specific phyllosoma randomly selected from the mass culture tanks. Total body length was defined as the distance between from the anterior margin of the cephalic shield to the posterior edge of the pleon.

At the completion of the experiment, the percentage weight gain (%) and specific growth rate (SGR, % day⁻¹) was calculated according to the following formulae:

Percentage of weight gain (%) = $100 \times (Wt-Wo)/Wo$

Specific growth rate (SGR, % day⁻¹) = $100 \times (\ln Wt - \ln Wo)/D$.

Where Wt is the larval body weight after each moult, Wo is the initial body weight prior to a moult, D is the duration of the larval development in days.

5.2.4 Biochemical analysis

See section 4.2.4.

5.2.5 Statistical analysis

See section 4.2.5.

5.3 Results

5.3.1 Weight growth

The individual body WW and DW during the early larval development (Stage I-VI) increased exponentially with the number of Stages (Figure 5.1 and Table 5.2). There was a positive correlation between body WW and DW (P < 0.001, n = 24, see equation in Table 5.2). The greatest percentage increases in individual WW and DW were presented from Stage III - IV (WW:155.13%; DW: 166.64%) while the smallest percentage increase in DW and WW was present from Stage IV - V (63.34%) and Stage V - VI (72.67%), respectively (Fig. 5.2). There was a significant difference between the increase in individual wet weight (WW, 101.95%) and dry weight (DW, 63.34%) during the period between Stage IV and V (P < 0.01), where WW increase was significantly greater than DW increase.

Table 5.2 Equations of linear regressions and correlations between different biometric parameters.

	Equation	r	Р	n
DW/WW	$DW = 0.2241 \times ww + 9.9414$	0.988	< 0.001	24
DW/X	$\ln(DW) = 0.7387 \times X + 3.1347$	0.995	< 0.001	24
WW/X	$ln(WW) = 0.7518 \times X + 4.5458$	0.996	< 0.001	24
TBL/X	$\ln(\text{TBL}) = 0.3333 \times X + 0.0282$	0.990	< 0.001	6
WW/TBL	ln(WW) = 2.2581 ×ln(TBL) + 4.4904	0.993	< 0.001	6
DW/ TBL	ln(DW) = 2.2209 ×ln(TBL) + 3.0735	0.994	< 0.001	6

DW = Body dry weight; WW = Body wet weight; X= the number of stage; ln = natural logarithm; TBL = Total body length; r = correlation coefficient; P = level of significance; n = number of replicates.

The specific growth rate (SGR, % day⁻¹) of each Stage during early to mid-stage was reduced with subsequent development across both WW and DW (Figure 5.3). The exception to this was an increase in SGR of DW from Stage V - VI, and the significant differences noted between WW and DW for this period. Between the different stages the highest SGR could be found during the period from Stage I - II for both body WW and DW. The total SGR of phyllosoma from Stage I - VI during the study for WW and DW were 5.68 and 5.61, respectively.



Figure 5.1 Developmental changes of larval wet weight (WW) and dry weight (DW) of *Panulirus ornatus* phyllosoma during the early to mid-larval development (Stage I - VI). Values are presented as means±SD (n=4).



Figure 5.2 The percentage increase in body wet weight (WW) and dry weight (DW) between consecutive stages (% increase) of *Panulirus ornatus* phyllosoma during the early to mid-larval development (Stage I - VI). Values are presented as means \pm SD (n=4). The bars that do not share a same letter are significantly different (*P*<0.05). "*" indicates significant differences between the growth (*P*< 0.05).

5.3.2 Total body length (TBL)

Newly hatched *P. ornatus* phyllosoma had a TBL of 1.50 ± 0.04 mm (Figure 5.4). After 65 days of rearing, the larvae had attained stage VI of development, and there had been an increase in the TBL to 7.56 ± 0.27 mm; a 504% increase from stage I. There was a significant increase in TBL with developmental Stage (Figure 5.4 and Table 5.2). Among the five transition periods during the early larval development, the greatest percentage increase in TBL was recorded for the development period between Stage III - IV (+82.04%), with the second greatest increase during the period from Stage V to VI (+42.11%) (Figure 5.4). A log transformation of body
weight (DW and WW) and TBL demonstrated significant non-linear relationships between TBL and WW as well as TBL and DW (Table 5.2).



Figure 5.3 The specific growth rate (SGR, % day⁻¹) of both body wet weight (WW) and dry weight (DW) for each larval stage and total early to mid-larval development period (Stage I - VI) of *Panulirus ornatus* phyllosoma. Values are presented as means \pm SD (n=4). The bars that do not share a same letter are significantly different (*P*<0.05). "*" indicates significant differences between the SGR of WW and SGR of DW (*P*< 0.05).



Figure 5.4 Changes of total body length (TBL) of *Panulirus ornatus* phyllosoma during the early to mid-larval development (Stage I - VI). Values are presented as means ±SD (n=30).

5.3.3 Live food chemical composition

The proximate composition and lipid classes of the four different feed types demonstrated that juvenile *Artemia* contained the highest moisture content (89.64% WW, Table 3), and the lowest totals of highly unsaturated fatty acids (HUFA) (0.32% DW). Blue mussel gonad had the highest crude protein (69.38% DW) and HUFA (2.17% DW), and the lowest moisture (75.52%

WW) and total lipid contents (10.74% DW). As for the lipid classes of four live feeds, the newly hatched *Artemia* nauplii had the highest cholesterol (CHO) and free fatty acids (FFA) while the juvenile *Artemia* quantitatively contained the highest amount of phospholipids (PL) (Table 5.3). The adult *Artemia* contained the highest triacylglycerol (TG) content, but lowest PL (7.38%).

Table 5.3 Gross composition and lipid class composition (% DW) of newly hatched nauplii, enriched juvenile and adult *Artemia* and chopped blue mussel (*Mytilus galloprovincialis*) gonad used to feed early larval stages of *Panulirus ornatus*

	Newly hatched nauplii (n=2)	Juvenile Artemia (n=2)	Adult Artemia (n=2)	Blue mussel gonad (n=2)
Gross composition				
Moisture (% WW)	80.71 ± 0.42^{b}	89.64 ± 0.85^{d}	$86.14 \pm 0.85^{\circ}$	75.52 ± 1.65^{a}
Crude protein (% DW)	54.63 ± 0.76^{b}	$56.83 \pm 0.39^{\circ}$	50.11 ±0.40 ^a	69.38 ± 0.46^{d}
Total lipid (% DW)	17.95 ± 0.53^{d}	12.55 ± 0.46^{b}	14.18±0.53°	10.74±0.35 ^a
HUFA (% DW)	$0.64\pm0.09^{\circ}$	0.32 ± 0.02^{a}	0.40 ± 0.03^{b}	2.17 ± 0.27^{d}
Lipid classes (% DW)				
Phospholipids	8.27 ± 0.38^{b}	9.02±0.74 ^c	7.38±0.12 ^a	8.34 ± 0.08^{b}
Monoacylglycerol	0.75±0.21 ^c	0.34 ± 0.12^{b}	0.08 ± 0.00^{a}	0.28 ± 0.01^{b}
Cholesterol	$0.81 \pm 0.06^{\circ}$	0.63 ± 0.07^{b}	0.58 ± 0.02^{a}	0.65 ± 0.07^{b}
Diacylglycerol	0.24±0.03			
Free fatty acids	$2.77 \pm 0.08^{\circ}$	0.04 ± 0.01^{a}	0.25 ± 0.09^{b}	0.64 ± 0.31^{b}
Triacylglycerol	5.12±0.01 ^c	2.42±0.09 ^b	5.86 ± 0.55^{d}	0.83 ± 0.05^{a}

Values are presented as means \pm SD. "n": the number of samples. Values in a same line that do not share the same superscripts are significantly different (*P*<0.05). -: values was not detectable or < 0.05%.

The fatty acid composition (% total fatty acids) of four feeds differed in the composition of saturated fatty acids (SFA), mono-unsaturated fatty acids (MUFA) and poly-unsaturated fatty acids (PUFA) (Table 5.4). Among SFA, 16:0 and 18:0 were the dominant across all feed groups. Among MUFA, 18:1n-9 and 18:1n-7, were the most dominant in all *Artemia* life stages while 18:1n-9 and 20:1n were dominated in blue mussel gonad. However, mussel gonad contained substantially lower MUFA than the other three live foods (P<0.05). The PUFA profile of juvenile *Artemia* was dominated by 18:2n-6 (24.23%) which was in significantly greater concentrations compared to found in the other foods, while newly hatched nauplii contained the highest 18:3n-3 (9.23%) among the four live foods. Blue mussel gonad was dominated by highly-unsaturated fatty acids (HUFA), with significantly higher concentrations of 20:5n-3 (EPA) and 22:6n-3 (DHA) and the only food source to have a DHA/EPA ratio greater than one (P<0.05, Table 5.4).

Fatty acids	v acids Newly hatched nauplii Juvenile Artemia Adult		Adult Artemia	Blue mussel gonad
	(n=2)	(n=2)	(n=2)	(n=2)
14:0	1.27 ± 0.18^{6}	0.87 ± 0.06^{a}	$1.82\pm0.21^{\circ}$	$1.70\pm0.37^{\circ}$
15:0	$0.92\pm0.05^{\circ}$	0.23 ± 0.00^{a}	0.24 ± 0.06^{a}	$0.73 \pm 0.13^{\circ}$
16:0	15.42 ± 0.47^{a}	$16.06 \pm 0.30^{\circ}$	14.23 ± 1.08^{a}	16.31 ± 2.00^{ab}
18:0	5.95 ± 0.52^{6}	6.25 ± 1.81^{ab}	5.77 ± 0.02^{6}	4.48 ± 0.68^{a}
∑SFA	23.56±0.17°	23.41 ± 1.46^{ab}	22.33 ±0.54 ^a	23.85±1.76 ^{ab}
14:1n-7	$1.87\pm0.19^{\circ}$	0.11 ± 0.00^{a}	$0.38\pm0.17^{\circ}$	0.13 ± 0.02^{a}
16:1n-7	$3.97 \pm 0.26^{\circ}$	3.30 ± 0.10^{a}	$7.03\pm0.84^{\circ}$	3.11 ± 0.59^{ab}
16:1n-5	0.96 ± 0.02^{b}	0.34 ± 0.01^{a}	$1.94 \pm 0.54^{\circ}$	$2.94 \pm 1.35^{\circ}$
18:1n-9	$24.26\pm0.01^{\circ}$	$22.96 \pm 1.64^{\circ}$	16.70±0.30 ^b	3.62 ± 0.53^{a}
18:1n-7	9.32±0.87°	4.74 ± 0.15^{b}	$9.01 \pm 0.38^{\circ}$	1.67 ± 0.26^{a}
20:1n	0.37 ± 0.04^{ab}	0.55 ± 0.14^{b}	0.28 ± 0.05^{a}	$5.34\pm0.33^{\circ}$
22:1n	,	,	0.11 ± 0.05^{a}	1.17±0.37 ^b
∑MUFA	40.75 ± 0.43^{d}	31.99±1.63 ^b	$35.42\pm0.97^{\circ}$	17.98 ± 1.54^{a}
16:2n-4	1.69±0.01 ^b	$2.61\pm0.03^{\circ}$	0.85 ± 0.24^{a}	1.50 ± 0.30^{b}
16:3n-4	$1.65 \pm 0.05^{\circ}$	0.79 ± 0.00^{a}	$1.71\pm0.17^{\circ}$	1.21±0.07 ^b
18:2n-6	7.85 ± 0.10^{b}	24.23 ± 0.21^{d}	19.66±1.37 ^c	1.86±0.03 ^a
18:3n-6	0.69 ± 0.05^{a}	9.35 ± 0.01^{d}	7.93±0.31°	1.63±0.13 ^b
18:3n-3	9.23 ± 0.37^{d}	0.57 ± 0.05^{a}	2.03±0.23 ^b	$2.68\pm0.00^{\circ}$
18:4n-3	$0.70\pm0.05^{\circ}$	0.24 ± 0.05^{a}	0.27 ± 0.09^{ab}	0.38 ± 0.07^{b}
20:2n-6		0.61 ± 0.01^{b}	0.35 ± 0.02^{a}	$0.72\pm0.10^{\circ}$
20:3n-6	$0.92\pm0.27^{\circ}$	0.57 ± 0.01^{b}	0.58 ± 0.03^{b}	0.45 ± 0.03^{a}
20:4n-6	1.18 ± 0.10^{a}	1.14 ± 0.00^{a}	1.24±0.13 ^a	1.95±0.28 ^b
20:3n-3	1.18±0.10			
20:4n-3	1.37±0.19			
20:5n-3	2.44±0.21 ^a	2.81±0.21 ^{ab}	3.12±0.23 ^b	$15.64 \pm 1.43^{\circ}$
22:2n-6	0.40±0.09			0.45±0.04
22:5n-3				1.04±0.26
22:6n-3	0.39 ± 0.06^{b}	0.17 ± 0.03^{a}	0.23 ± 0.02^{a}	$21.24 \pm 3.14^{\circ}$
∑PUFA(≥ 18:2n)	25.39±1.30 ^a	39.73±0.38 ^c	$35.85{\pm}1.43^b$	48.28 ± 4.65^{d}
n-3PUFA	$15.31 \pm 0.67^{\circ}$	3.83±0.19 ^a	5.65 ± 0.08^{b}	40.98 ± 4.76^{d}
n-6PUFA	10.08 ± 0.61^{b}	35.90±0.19 ^d	$29.76 \pm 1.18^{\circ}$	7.07 ± 0.04^{a}
n-3/n-6	$1.52\pm0.03^{\circ}$	0.11 ± 0.00^{a}	0.19±0.02 ^b	5.80 ± 0.64^{d}
∑HUFA(≥ 20:3n)	6.52 ± 0.92^{b}	4.73±0.29 ^a	5.17±0.32 ^{ab}	40.32±5.08°
DHA/EPA	0.16 ± 0.01^{b}	0.06 ± 0.01^{a}	0.08 ± 0.01^{a}	$1.35 \pm 0.08^{\circ}$
Unkown	6.96±1.51°	1.48±0.53 ^a	3.84±0.21 ^b	7.18 ± 1.12^{d}

Table 5.4 Fatty acid compositions (% total fatty acids) of newly hatched nauplii, enriched juvenile and adult *Artemia* and blue mussel (*Mytilus galloprovincialis*) gonad used to feed early larval stages of *Panulirus ornatus*

Values are presented as means ±SD. "n": the number of samples. Values in a same line that do not share the same superscripts are significantly different (P < 0.05). -: values was not detectable or < 0.1%. SFA: saturated fatty acids. MUFA: mon-unsaturated fatty acids. PUFA: poly-unsaturated fatty acids. HUFA: highly unsaturated fatty acids.

The absolute contents of principal fatty acids of all diets are tabulated (Table 5.5). The quantitative/absolute contents of total fatty acids (TFA) increased from a low in blue mussel gonad (49.85 mg g⁻¹ DW), followed by on-grown *Artemia* (65.53 mg g⁻¹ DW), then adult *Artemia* (74.99 mg g⁻¹ DW) and finally newly hatched nauplii (91.85 mg g⁻¹DW). A similar progressive increase in concentrations of total SFA and MUFA was also found in the respective diets. The concentrations of C-18 PUFA were greatest in juvenile and adult *Artemia*, particularly the 18:2n-6 and 18:3n-6 fatty acids, while 18:2n-6 and 18:3n-3 dominated in newly hatched nauplii (*P*<0.05, Table 5.5). The HUFA content of blue mussels were dominant among

the four feeds (21.65 mg/g DW), despite their low TFA content. Juvenile *Artemia* contained the lowest HUFA (3.15 mg/g DW).

Fatty acids	Newly hatched nauplii (n=2)	Juvenile Artemia (n=2)	Adult Artemia (n=2)	Blue mussel gonad (n=2)
16:0	15.22±0.46 ^d	10.68±0.20 ^b	11.10±0.84 ^c	8.76±1.07 ^a
18:0	$5.87 \pm 0.52^{\circ}$	4.15±1.21 ^{bc}	4.50±0.01 ^b	2.41±0.36 ^a
∑SFA	23.26 ± 0.17^{d}	15.57 ± 0.97^{b}	$17.42 \pm 0.42^{\circ}$	12.81 ± 0.95^{a}
16:1n-7	3.92±0.26 ^c	2.19 ± 0.07^{b}	5.48 ± 0.66^{d}	1.67±0.32 ^a
18:1n9	23.95 ± 0.01^{d}	$15.27 \pm 1.09^{\circ}$	13.02 ± 0.24^{b}	1.94±0.28 ^a
18:1n7	9.20±0.86 ^d	3.15 ± 0.10^{b}	7.03±0.30 ^c	0.90 ± 0.14^{a}
∑MUFA	40.23 ± 0.42^{d}	21.28 ± 1.09^{b}	$27.62 \pm 0.75^{\circ}$	9.66±0.83 ^a
18:2n-6	7.75 ± 0.10^{b}	16.12±0.14 ^c	$15.32 \pm 1.07^{\circ}$	1.00±0.01 ^a
18:3n-6	0.70 ± 0.05^{a}	6.22±0.01 ^c	6.19±0.24 ^c	0.87 ± 0.07^{b}
18:3n-3	9.11±0.37°	0.38±0.03 ^a	1.58 ± 0.18^{b}	1.44 ± 0.00^{b}
18:4n-3	0.68 ± 0.05^{b}	0.16±0.03 ^a	0.21 ± 0.07^{a}	0.20 ± 0.04^{b}
20:4n-6	0.91 ± 0.27^{ab}	0.76 ± 0.00^{a}	0.97 ± 0.10^{b}	1.05 ± 0.15^{b}
20:5n-3	2.41±0.21 ^b	1.87 ± 0.14^{a}	2.43 ± 0.18^{b}	8.40±0.77 ^c
22:6n-3	0.38±0.06 ^c	0.11 ± 0.02^{a}	0.18 ± 0.03^{b}	$11.40{\pm}1.69^{d}$
$\sum PUFA (\geq 18:2n)$	25.06±1.28	26.43±0.25	27.96±1.12	25.93±2.50
n-3PUFA	15.11 ±0.66 ^c	2.55±0.13 ^a	4.40±0.06 ^b	22.00 ± 2.55^{d}
n-6PUFA	9.95 ± 0.62^{b}	23.88±0.13 ^c	$23.21 \pm 0.92^{\circ}$	3.79±0.02 ^a
∑HUFA(≥20:3n)	6.43±0.90°	3.15±0.19 ^a	4.03±0.25 ^b	21.65 ± 2.73^{d}
Total fatty acid	$91.85{\pm}1.50^d$	65.53±0.35 ^b	$74.99 \pm 1.80^{\circ}$	49.85 ± 0.60^{a}

Table 5.5 Principal fatty acid contents (mg g^{-1} DW) of newly hatched nauplii, enriched juvenile and adult *Artemia* and blue mussel (*Mytilus galloprovincialis*) gonad used to feed early larval stages of *Panulirus ornatus*

Values are presented as means \pm SD. "n": the number of samples. Values in a same line that do not share the same superscripts are significantly different (*P*<0.05). SFA: saturated fatty acids. MUFA: mon-unsaturated fatty acids. PUFA: poly-unsaturated fatty acids. HUFA: highly unsaturated fatty acids.

5.3.4 Total lipid and lipid classes of larvae

Stage I had the lowest total lipids, PL and TG of all groups while Stage II phyllosomas contained higher total lipids, PL and FFA than the other stages (Table 5.6, % DW or mg g⁻¹ DW). From stage II to stage V, there was a decreasing trend in the total lipid component based on DW (% DW, n=11, P<0.05). The qualitative lipid class composition was dominated by PL, with a range from 85.50% to 94.65% (Table 5.7). The second highest lipid class was cholesterol (2.15-10.49%total lipids), with Stage IV phyllosoma containing the highest percentage of cholesterol across all five phyllosoma stages examined (10.49%) (P < 0.05).

	*				
	I	П	Ш	IV	V
	(instar 1, n=4)	(instar 2, n=3)	(instar 3, n=3)	(instar 6, n=2)	(instar 8, n=2)
Total lipids (% DW)	5.51±0.32 ^a	8.97±0.91°	7.99±0.59 ^{bc}	7.36±0.61 ^b	7.13±0.06 ^b
Lipid classes $(mg g^{-1} DW)$					
Phospholipids	51.56±0.51 ^a	84.72±0.66 ^d	$69.67 \pm 5.25^{\circ}$	62.93±0.08 ^b	$67.49 \pm 0.39^{\circ}$
Monoacylglycerol		0.59±0.26 ^a	2.00±1.59 ^a	0.58±0.81 ^a	
Cholesterol	2.56±0.32 ^{ab}	1.92±0.37 ^a	2.87 ± 1.13^{ab}	7.72 ± 0.65^{c}	2.85 ± 0.44^{b}
Free fatty acids	0.44 ± 0.22^{b}	1.46±0.10 ^c	1.19±0.48°	0.07 ± 0.05^{a}	0.32 ± 0.00^{b}
Triacylglycerol	0.52 ± 0.12^{a}	0.97 ± 0.27^{b}	4.17 ± 3.00^{bc}	$2.31\pm0.15^{\circ}$	0.65 ± 0.06^{a}

Table 5.6 Total lipids (% DW) and lipid class contents (mg g⁻¹ DW) of early larval stages of *Panulirus ornatus*

Values are presented as means \pm SD. "n": the number of samples. Values in a same line that do not share the same superscripts are significantly different (*P*<0.05). -: values was not detectable or <0.01%. Each samples were made of a certain number of larvae.

5.3.5 Fatty acids of larvae

The major constituents of the saturated fatty acids (SFA) for all stages were 16:0 and 18:0. Newly hatched phyllosoma larvae contained the highest percentage, 30.78% SFA, with 16:0 at 18.36% (P < 0.05). Among MUFA, 18:1n-9 and 18:1n-7 were the two dominant fatty acids with Stage I phyllosoma having the lowest MUFA level (24.35%) (P < 0.05, Table 5.8). From stage IV to VI, phyllosoma were fed on juvenile Artemia and blue mussel gonad and these larvae contained lower 18:1n-9, 18:1n-7 and total MUFA compared to Stage I - III which were fed on newly hatched Artemia. There were significant decreasing trends for 18:1n-9, 18:1n-7 and total MUFA from Stage III to V. Stage IV phyllosoma contained qualitatively the most 18:2n-6 which mirrored that of their juvenile/on-grown Artemia food, with a decline in prevalence in Stage V phyllosoma (4.96%). The lowest relative concentration of 18:2n-6 was in newly hatched phyllosomas (3.35%). Qualitatively 18:3n-3 was most prevalent in Stage II phyllosoma (13.39%) declining in stage III (9.18%) and IV (0.97%) phyllosoma, respectively. The HUFA's 20:4n-6 (ARA), EPA and DHA were present in significant concentrations in Stage I phyllosoma compared to their presence in the other stages (P < 0.05). From Stage I – III, EPA, DHA and HUFA exhibited a decreasing trend while an increasing trend occurred in the DHA, HUFA and DHA/EPA ratios through Stage III to Stage V.

The principal quantitative fatty acid contents (mg/g dry weight) of early larval stage phyllosoma of *P. ornatus* are presented in Table 5.9. Stage I phyllosoma contained significantly lower concentrations of SFA, MUFA and PUFA and total fatty acids, but had the highest EPA and DHA content. From Stage II to Stage V, a decreasing trend could be found in MUFA while substantially lowest EPA, DHA and HUFA were found in the Stage III. From Stage I to IIII, both EPA and DHA decreased dramatically. Although the phyllosomas of Stage IV and V were

fed on the same diets (on-grown *Artemia* and blue mussel gonad), 16:0 and DHA increased significantly while 18:2n-6 and 20:4n-6 decreased (P<0.05).

1		, I	, ,	0	
Lipid classes	I (instar 1, n=4)	II (instar 2, n=3)	Ⅲ(instar 3, n=3)	IV (instar 6, n=2)	V (instar 8, n=2)
Phospholipids	93.57±0.93 ^b	94.49±0.74 ^b	87.19±6.58 ^a	85.50 ± 0.10^{a}	94.65±0.54 ^b
Monoacylglycerol		0.65 ±0.29 ^a	2.50±1.99 ^a	1.09 ± 0.79^{a}	
Cholesterol	4.65±0.57 ^b	2.15 ± 0.42^{a}	3.59 ± 1.41^{ab}	$10.49 \pm 0.88^{\circ}$	4.00±0.62 ^b
Free fatty acids	0.80 ± 0.44^{b}	1.63±0.11 ^c	$1.50\pm0.60^{\circ}$	0.07 ± 0.10^{a}	0.44 ± 0.01^{b}
Triacylglycerol	0.95 ± 0.21^{a}	1.08 ± 0.30^{a}	5.22 ± 3.82^{b}	3.15 ± 0.21^{b}	0.91 ± 0.08^{a}

Table 5.7 Lipid class composition (% total lipids) of early larval stages of *Panulirus ornatus*

Values are presented as means \pm SD. "n": the number of samples. Values in a same column that do not share the same superscripts are significantly different (*P*<0.05). -: values was not detectable or < 0.01%. Each samples were made of a certain number of larvaes.

5.4 Discussion

This study is the first to describe the developmental patterns of larval growth, in terms of body weight, carapace length, specific growth rate (SGR) and the numbers of stages, for the laboratory-reared ornate rock spiny lobster *P. ornatus* during the early larval development (Stage I-VI). These developmental patterns allow the extrapolation of growth in size and biomass for successive developmental stages and can be applied in ecology and aquaculture to assess the quality of environmental conditions and food for larval growth (Anger et al., 2009).

The highest gain in body weight and carapace length was noted during the period from Stage III to Stage IV, but this included more instars, in which there is 2-3 instars, within stage III compared to only 1 or 2 instars in the other stages examined. This pattern of multiple instars during larval development has been already reported in a prior study on *P. ornatus* (Smith et al., 2009a) and in other spiny lobsters (Kittaka, 1997; Sekine et al., 2000). As in many other decapod crustacean species, the pattern of larval or early larval biomass growth could be described as an exponential relationship of the number of successive stages. After the natural logarithmic transformation, the slope parameters of the linear regression are 0.7387 for body dry weight and 0.7518 for body wet weight. These data are higher than many crustacean species, e.g. spider crab, *Maja brachydactyla* (slope of dry weight: 0.62) (Harms, 1990), salt marsh crab, *Neohelice* (formerly *Chasmagnathus*) granulata (slope of dry weight: 0.69) (Anger and Ismael, 1997) and Amazon River prawn, *Macrobrachium amazonicum* (Anger et al., 2009), but lower than the swimming crab, *P. pelagicus* (slope of dry weight: 0.8293) (Chapter 4).

	т	Π	ш	IV	V
Fatty acids	(instar 1, n=4)	11 (instar 2, n=3)	ш (instar 3, n=3)	(instar 6,	(instar 8,
14.0				$\frac{n=2}{1.12 \cdot 0.14^{\circ}}$	$\frac{n=2}{2}$
14:0	0.99±0.32	0.48±0.06	0.48±0.15	1.13±0.14	$0.69\pm0.01^{\circ}$
15:0	0.42±0.06 ^a	0.83±0.08°	$0.59\pm0.10^{\circ}$	$0.43 \pm 0.03^{\circ}$	0.40±0.01"
16:0	18.36±1.29°	13.84±0.23ª	14.35±1.29 ^{ab}	13.63±1.06 ^a	15.14±0.28°
18:0	11.01±0.41	11.09±0.98	11.39±0.49	9.99±0.78	10.93±0.20
∑SFA	30.78±1.24°	26.24±0.61 ^a	26.81±1.31ª	25.19±2.01ª	27.51 ±0.50 ^a
14:1n-7	0.20 ± 0.08^{a}	2.49 ± 0.17^{d}	$1.20\pm0.61^{\circ}$	0.16 ± 0.02^{a}	$0.33 \pm 0.09^{\circ}$
16:1n-7	2.94 ± 0.42^{d}	3.95±0.46 ^e	1.29±0.13 ^a	1.60±0.14 ^b	$2.08\pm0.04^{\circ}$
16:1n-5	1.50 ± 0.98^{ab}	0.84 ± 0.04^{a}	1.12 ± 0.16^{b}	0.62 ± 0.09^{a}	0.90 ± 0.02^{b}
18:1n-9	11.99 ± 0.80^{a}	15.59±0.42 ^b	$17.13\pm0.83^{\circ}$	16.52 ± 0.71^{bc}	15.65 ± 0.52^{b}
18:1n-7	3.69 ± 0.30^{a}	5.08 ± 0.93^{b}	10.43 ± 1.42^{d}	$7.25 \pm 0.66^{\circ}$	6.07 ± 0.50^{b}
20:1n	4.03±0.23°	1.78 ± 0.05^{b}	1.87 ± 0.53^{b}	1.85±0.36 ^b	1.19 ± 0.01^{a}
∑MUFA	24.35±0.99 ^a	29.73 ± 0.71^{d}	33.04 ± 1.95^{e}	28.00±0.19 ^c	26.21±0.03 ^b
16:2n-4	0.65 ± 0.05^{b}	1.14 ± 0.00^{c}	1.33 ± 0.13^{d}	0.30 ± 0.00^{a}	0.62 ± 0.01^{b}
16:3n-4	1.00 ± 0.08^{a}	0.98 ± 0.06^{a}	1.11 ± 0.16^{a}	2.19±0.02 ^b	2.02±0.36 ^b
18:2n-6	3.35 ± 1.22^{a}	$6.01 \pm 0.22^{\circ}$	7.70 ± 1.32^{d}	12.17±0.64 ^e	4.96±0.09 ^b
18:3n-6	0.38 ± 0.08^{bc}	0.26 ± 0.07^{b}	$0.55 \pm 0.18^{\circ}$	1.80 ± 0.12^{d}	0.18 ± 0.00^{a}
18:3n-3	0.18 ± 0.03^{a}	13.39 ± 0.31^{d}	$9.18 \pm 1.64^{\circ}$	0.97 ± 0.03^{b}	0.93 ± 0.02^{b}
18:4n-3	0.91 ± 0.11^{b}	0.14 ± 0.02^{a}	1.21 ± 0.50^{b}	0.99 ± 0.67^{b}	1.44±0.29 ^c
20:2n-6	1.26 ± 0.05^{b}	0.71 ± 0.27^{a}	0.77 ± 0.46^{a}	$1.73 \pm 0.06^{\circ}$	1.34±0.15 ^b
20:3n-6		0.41 ± 0.17^{a}	0.32 ± 0.13^{a}	0.64 ± 0.02^{b}	0.68 ± 0.01^{b}
20:4n-6	3.19 ± 0.10^{b}	1.53 ± 0.18^{a}	1.99 ± 0.66^{a}	$3.79 \pm 0.05^{\circ}$	3.11±0.46 ^b
20:3n-3	0.71 ± 0.15^{a}	2.44±0.28°	3.57 ± 0.50^{d}	1.08 ± 0.02^{b}	1.10±0.02 ^b
20:4n-3	0.20 ± 0.14^{a}	0.83 ± 0.12^{d}	1.25 ±0.24 ^e	0.36±0.01 ^b	0.50±0.01°
20:5n-3	14.33±0.41°	7.11 ± 1.16^{a}	5.18±1.21 ^a	9.10±0.18 ^b	9.05 ± 0.55^{b}
22:2n-6	0.06 ± 0.07^{a}	$0.41 \pm 0.06^{\circ}$	$0.40 \pm 0.05^{\circ}$	$0.45 \pm 0.01^{\circ}$	0.16 ± 0.00^{b}
22:5n-3	0.34 ± 0.07^{a}	0.37 ± 0.03^{a}		0.31 ± 0.04^{a}	0.63±0.01 ^b
22:6n-3	11.68±0.80 ^e	3.34 ± 1.15^{b}	1.32 ± 0.24^{a}	5.91±0.94°	8.28 ± 0.15^{d}
$\sum PUFA(\geq 18:2n)$	36.54 ±0.69 ^b	36.94 ± 1.02^{b}	33.44 ±0.94 ^a	39.29±0.59 ^c	32.37±0.26 ^a
n-3PUFA	28.31±1.17°	$27.61 \pm 1.55^{\circ}$	21.71 ± 1.03^{b}	18.71 ± 1.46^{a}	21.93±0.05 ^b
n-6PUFA	8.23 ± 1.05^{a}	9.33±0.53 ^{ab}	11.73±0.89°	20.58 ± 0.87^{d}	10.44 ± 0.20^{b}
n-3/n-6	3.49 ± 0.57^{d}	2.97 ± 0.33^{d}	1.86 ± 0.20^{b}	0.91 ± 0.11^{a}	$2.10\pm0.04^{\circ}$
∑HUFA(≥ 20:3n)	30.41 ± 1.21^{d}	16.03±1.53 ^a	13.63±2.82 ^a	21.18±0.79 ^b	23.35±0.81°
DHA/EPA	$0.81 \pm 0.03^{\circ}$	0.46±0.09 ^b	0.26±0.03 ^a	0.65±0.12 ^b	0.92 ± 0.07^{d}
Unkown	6.67 ± 2.10^{a}	$4.97 \pm 0.97^{\rm a}$	4.26±0.63 ^a	5.04 ± 1.65^{a}	11.63±0.14 ^b

Table 5.8 Fatty acid compositions (% total fatty acids) of early larval stages of *Panulirus* ornatus

Values are presented as means \pm SD. "n": the number of samples. Values in a same column that do not share the same superscripts are significantly different (*P*<0.05). -: values was not detectable or < 0.1%. Each sample was made of a certain number of larvaes. SFA: saturated fatty acids. MUFA: mon-unsaturated fatty acids. PUFA: poly-unsaturated fatty acids. HUFA: highly unsaturated fatty acids.

The number of moults within a particular larval stage in crustaceans varies widely between species, as does the intermoult period of different larval stages of the same species (Sekine et al., 2000). Because of this it may be invalid to compare the growth rate based solely on the growth equations of biomass and the number of instars between the different species. Specific growth rate (SGR) is a commonly used criteria to evaluate the growth for the different diets and other rearing conditions of a same species (Guillaume, 2001; Romano and Zeng, 2006; Rotllant et al., 2010), compare the growth among the species (Mcandrew and Majumdar, 1989) and assess the growth rate of different life stages for a same species/inter-species (Folkvord, 2005; Rotllant et al., 2010) as both body weight increase and duration are taken into the calculation. We have used SGR, widely used in as a comparative measure of growth in aquaculture, to assess the larval growth of *P. ornatus* whilst acknowledging its limitations for organisms that grow in discrete periodic moults rather than continuously. Among phyllosomas SGR data for three Palinurid species, Jasus edwardsii, Panulirus cygnus and P. ornatus, P. ornatus has the highest SGR (Table 5.10). This difference may be due to *P. ornatus* originating in a tropical climate, with warmer water temperatures stimulating faster growth, compared to the temperate or sub-tropical Palinurid species, e.g. Jasus edwardsii and Panulirus cygnus (Ritar et al., 2003; Liddy et al., 2004a). More recently, Irvin et al. (2010) found the SGR of wet weight of juvenile P. ornatus (body weight 2.1-9.1g) was around 2.99 (calculated from the data provided in the reference), which is substantially lower than the SGR of early larvae of P. ornatus (5.68) (Irvin et al., 2010). This difference suggests the larval stages displays faster growth compared to that noted for juveniles of this species and is a general trend noted in many other marine species (Folkvord, 2005).

In the present study, the mean total lipid content for the newly hatched phyllosoma was 5.51% DW. Occasionally, the highest total lipid of newly hatched *P. ornatus* phyllosoma can reach 7.89% DW (Wu et al, unpublished data), and this may indicate the different hatching conditions, broodstock diets and physiological status between different larval batches (Phleger et al., 2001; Sachlikidis et al., 2010). The total lipid content of newly hatched *P. ornatus* phyllosoma is substantially lower than that of temperate species such as *J. edwardsii* (7-12% DW) (Ritar et al., 2003). Generally, crustaceans inhabiting tropical and subtropical regions contain lower body lipid contents compared to temperate and polar crustaceans from temperate and polar regions generally have higher body lipid reserve (Wang et al., 1995a; Wu et al., 2010b). This difference maybe explained that the high body lipids can improve the fluidity of cellular membranes, leading to enhance the cellular metabolic activity for temperate and polar crustacean species under low temperature (Kong et al., 2006).

Fatty acids	I (instar 1, n=4)	II (instar 2, n=3)	Ⅲ(instar 3, n=3)	IV (instar 6, n=2)	V (instar 8, n=2)
16:0	4.86±0.34 ^a	6.21±0.10 ^c	5.90±0.47 ^{bc}	4.95±0.48 ^a	5.51±0.25 ^b
18:0	2.91±0.11 ^a	$4.97 \pm 0.44^{\circ}$	$4.69 \pm 0.25^{\circ}$	3.63 ± 0.35^{b}	3.98 ± 0.18^{b}
∑SFA	8.14±0.33 ^a	11.77 ± 0.27^{d}	$11.03\pm0.48^{\circ}$	9.15 ± 0.91^{b}	9.88 ± 0.45^{b}
16:1n-7	0.78 ± 0.11^{b}	1.77±0.21°	0.53 ± 0.05^{a}	0.58 ± 0.06^{a}	0.76 ± 0.03^{b}
18:1n9	3.17±0.21 ^a	6.99±0.19 ^d	7.05 ± 0.31^{d}	$5.99 \pm 0.14^{\circ}$	5.69 ± 0.03^{b}
18:1n7	0.98 ± 0.08^{a}	2.28 ± 0.42^{b}	4.30±0.65 ^c	2.63 ± 0.29^{b}	2.21 ± 0.24^{b}
∑MUFA	6.44 ± 0.26^{a}	13.33 ± 0.32^{d}	13.60 ± 0.98^{d}	$10.16 \pm 0.27^{\circ}$	9.53 ± 0.25^{b}
18:2n-6	0.89 ± 0.32^{a}	$2.70\pm0.10^{\circ}$	3.17 ± 0.56^{d}	4.42 ± 0.32^{e}	1.81 ± 0.08^{b}
18:3n-3	0.05 ± 0.01^{a}	6.00 ± 0.14^{d}	$3.79 \pm 0.76^{\circ}$	0.35 ± 0.02^{b}	0.34 ± 0.02^{b}
18:4n-3	0.24 ± 0.03^{b}	0.06 ± 0.01^{a}	$0.50\pm0.21^{\circ}$	0.36 ± 0.23^{bc}	$0.53 \pm 0.12^{\circ}$
20:4n-6	0.84 ± 0.03^{b}	0.69 ± 0.08^{a}	0.81 ± 0.26^{bc}	1.38 ± 0.05^{d}	1.13±0.14°
20:5n-3	3.79±0.11 ^c	3.19 ± 0.52^{bc}	2.12 ± 0.47^{a}	3.30 ± 0.13^{b}	3.29±0.11 ^b
22:6n-3	3.09 ± 0.21^{d}	1.50 ± 0.51^{b}	0.54 ± 0.09^{a}	2.14±0.30 ^c	3.01 ± 0.14^{d}
∑PUFA(≥ 18:2n)	9.67±0.19 ^a	16.57±0.46 ^e	13.76±0.36 ^c	14.26±0.06 ^d	11.77±0.23 ^b
n-3PUFA	7.49±0.31 ^b	12.39±0.69 ^d	$8.94 \pm 0.50^{\circ}$	6.79 ± 0.40^{a}	7.97 ± 0.20^{b}
n-6PUFA	2.18 ± 0.28^{a}	4.18±0.24 ^c	4.82 ± 0.30^{d}	$7.47 \pm 0.46^{\circ}$	3.79 ± 0.03^{b}
∑HUFA(≥ 20:3n)	8.04±0.32 ^c	7.19±0.69 ^{ab}	5.59±1.09 ^a	7.69 ± 0.14^{b}	8.49 ± 0.06^{d}
Total fatty acid	24.68 ± 0.55^{a}	42.62±0.44 ^e	39.39 ± 0.79^{d}	$34.48 \pm 1.27^{\circ}$	32.13 ± 0.84^{b}

Table 5.9 Principal fatty acid contents (mg g⁻¹ DW larvae) of early larval stages of *Panulirus* ornatus

Values are presented as means \pm SD. "n": the number of samples. Values in a same column that do not share the same superscripts are significantly different (*P*<0.05). Each sample was made of a certain number of larvaes. SFA: saturated fatty acids. MUFA: mon-unsaturated fatty acids. PUFA: poly-unsaturated fatty acids. HUFA: highly unsaturated fatty acids.

However, the total lipids of crustacean larvae is not only related to their inherited characters and environmental conditions (e.g. temperature and salinity), but their feeding foods (Sui et al., 2007; Wu et al., 2007c). In this study, the highest total lipid content was in Stage II and III phyllosoma, which reflect the feeding regime as these stages were fed solely on newly hatched *Artemia* nauplii, which contained a higher total lipids than the larval feeds available to more advanced phyllosoma stages. The gradual accumulation of total body lipids with development may be indicative that lipids are an important source of energy for larval development as well as precursors for metabolic processes (Ritar et al., 2003; Liddy et al., 2005).

	Initial weight	Final weight	Growth (% increase)	Mean CDT (days)	SGR (% day ⁻¹)	Water temperature (°C)	Source
Panulirus ornatus Larvae	Stage I: 46.1µg	Stage VI: 1781µg	3763	65	5.62	28	This study
<i>Jasus edwardsii</i> Larvae	Stage I: 80.0µg	Stage VI: 1084.0µg	1255	63	4.14	18	Ritar et al (2003)
<i>Panulirus cygnus</i> Larvae	Stage I: 79.0µg	Stage VI: 222.0µg	181	26	3.97	23	Liddy et al (2004a,b)
<i>Panulirus</i> ornatus Juvenile	2.1 g	9.1g	333	49	2.99	28-30	Ivrin et al (2010)

Table 5.10 The comparison of body DW, growth (% increase) and SGR of different lobster species.

Mean CDT: Mean cumulative development time; SGR: Specific growth rate.

Although newly hatched Artemia, juvenile and adult Artemia contained a higher content of TG (2.4-5.9% DW), PL was the dominant lipid class noted in early larval stage P. ornatus, accounting for more than 85% of total lipids, while TG was only a minor lipid fraction (0.9-5.2% total lipids). Similar findings have also been found in other Palinurid lobsters, including J. edwardsii (Phleger et al., 2001; Ritar et al., 2003) and P. cygnus (Liddy et al., 2004a; Liddy et al., 2005). Phleger et al. (2001) speculated that PL serves as the major lipid class for Palinurid phyllosomas because of its transparency character, in contrast to the more opaque neutral lipids such as TAG and FFA, as transparency in the planktonic phase may greatly reduce the risk of being detected by visually-hunting predators during the long larval development (Phleger et al., 2001; Limbourn and Nichols, 2009). Cholesterol is essential for the normal growth and ecdysis of crustacean species and as a precursor of ecdysone (Teshima and Kanazawa, 1971; Irvin et al., 2010) and is the second most abundant lipid class (up to 10.49% total lipid). However, it is unclear as to why Stage IV larvae contained the highest cholesterol among the five stages in a pattern similar to that present in wild J. edwardsii phyllosoma (Phleger et al., 2001). Although TG is a common short - term storage lipid for energy provision in many marine crustacean (Perez-Velazquez et al., 2003; Yao et al., 2008), it only represented a small proportions of the total lipids in phyllosoma in this study. This may indicated that TG is not a major energy source for early larval stages of P. ornatus. Previous studies have shown PL are the prominent energy source for late-stage J. edwardsii (Ritar et al., 2003) and P. cygnus phyllosoma (Liddy et al., 2003; Liddy et al., 2004a; Liddy et al., 2004b; Liddy et al., 2005; Melville-Smith et al., 2007) and it is likely that a similar strategy is being utilized by *P. ornatus* phyllosoma. Interesting, despite ample free fatty acids (FFA) levels in their diet, early P. ornatus phyllosoma (Stage I to V) contained very low FFA levels (0.07-1.63% total lipid). A similar phenomenon was also found in J. edwardsii (Phleger et al., 2001) and P. cygnus phyllosoma (Liddy et al., 2003; Melville-Smith et al., 2007). Although the reason for this is

unclear, it may be explained by the conversion of FFA to PL or oxidation to be utilized as an energy source.

Overall, the fatty acid (FA) profile of newly hatched larvae of P. ornatus is similar to the phyllosomas of the southern spiny rock lobster, J. edwardsii (Phleger et al., 2001) and western spiny rock lobster, P. cygnus (Liddy et al., 2004a). However, the newly hatched larvae of P. ornatus contained higher 16:0 (18.36%) compared to J. edwardsii (13.9-14.5% total fatty acids) (Phleger et al., 2001; Ritar et al., 2003) and P. cygnus larvae (14.69% total fatty acids) (Liddy et al., 2004a) and a very low percentage of ARA (3.19% total fatty acids) compared to J. edwardsii (7.0-11.6% total fatty acids) (Phleger et al., 2001; Ritar et al., 2003) and P. cygnus larvae (10.02% total fatty acids) (Liddy et al., 2004a). As a result of low ARA content in newly hatched P. ornatus larvae, their EPA/ARA ratio (4.49) was greater than that present in J. edwardsii (1.31-2.41) (Phleger et al., 2001; Ritar et al., 2003) and P. cygnus larvae (0.60-0.99) (Liddy et al., 2004a; Melville-Smith et al., 2007). To a certain extent, the FA profile of newly hatched larvae may reflect the broodstock diets, particularly the HUFAs (Wouters et al., 2001), although when an essential nutrient is required preferential sequestering may occur (Smith et al., 2004). For P. cygnus and J. edwardsii, previous studies have revealed that newly hatched larvae of wild broodstock contained higher percentage of ARA than the larvae from captive females fed a mixture diets, including mussel, squid, fish and artificial pellets (Phleger et al., 2001; Ritar et al., 2003; Smith et al., 2003a; Smith et al., 2004; Liddy et al., 2005; Melville-Smith et al., 2007b). This may indicate a higher presence of ARA in wild natural diets compared to a captive combination diet and/or low ability for the *de novo* synthesis of ARA (Kanazawa et al., 1979a; Wouters et al., 2001). In this study, the newly hatched larvae of *P. ornatus* had low percentage of ARA (3.19% total fatty acids), which may be explained by a small proportion of ARA in their broodstock diets, being primarily squid (2.17% total fatty acids) and mussel (1.98% total fatty acids) (Wu et al, unpublished data), but is also possible to reflect a fundamental differences in requirements for the tropical P. ornatus compared to temperate lobsters. There is little information on the effects of dietary ARA levels on ovarian development, reproductive performance and larval quality in Palinurid lobsters, and this is an area requiring further investigation.

Because larvae were only fed newly hatched *Artemia* nauplii from Stage I - III, it may be expected that their FA profile would reflect that of newly hatched *Artemia* (Ritar et al., 2003; Liddy et al., 2005). However, it was noted during this study that Stage II - III *P. ornatus* phyllosoma contained substantially higher percentages of 18:0, EPA, DHA, HUFA and a DHA/EPA ratio compared to newly hatched *Artemia* nauplii. This suggests preferential

accumulation and storage of essential fatty acids, particularly EPA and DHA, for the larval growth and development as noted in other spiny rock lobster phyllosoma (Smith et al., 2003b). As for the increasing percentage of 18:0, there are two possible explanations. Firstly, the early larvae (Stage I to Stage III) possess the capability of 18:0 synthesis as in some other crustacean (D'Abramo, 1997; Li, 2005); secondly, that 18:0 maybe not be used as the primary energy source during the early larvae development and moulting; therefore, its relative percentage increased compared to the newly hatched *Artemia* nauplii diet.

From Stage III to Stage V, a decreasing trend was detected for 18:1n-9, 18:1n-7 and 18:3n-3 while the percentage of ARA, DHA, EPA and DHA/EPA ratio exhibited an increased trend. This pattern may be indicative of the dietary shift from a diet of newly hatched Artemia nauplii to a diet of juvenile Artemia and blue mussel gonad. Surprisingly, Stage IV to Stage V phyllosoma contained a significantly higher percentage of ARA (3.11-3.79% total fatty acids) compared to their diets (1.14-1.95% total fatty acids) and suggests a higher ARA requirement and sequestering ability. Based on feeding structures, behavior and digestive capacity of J. edwardsii and Sagmariasus verreauxi, Jeff (2007) inferred wild phyllosoma probably undergo marked dietary shifts at around Stage III-IV and again at Stage VIII and IX. Furthermore, using lipid biomarkers and ecological association of zooplankton with the pelagic larvae, gelatinous zooplankton, such as jellyfish and small crustaceans, such as krill and mysids, were regarded as important prey items for the mid-Stages (V-VIII) of wild J. edwardsii phyllosoma (Jeffs et al., 2004; Jeffs, 2007). Similarly, gelatinous zooplankton, such as salps and chaetognaths, are considered to be putative food items for mid-Stage (IV-VIII) P. ornatus phyllosoma based on historic records, feeding structures, feeding behavior and field investigation (Smith et al., 2009a). As some gelatinous zooplankton contain a high ARA concentration (3.2-9.9% total fatty acids) (Danaher, 2003), it is possible that they would be a source for mid-Stage (IV-VIII) P. ornatus phyllosoma (Kittaka, 1997).

5.5 Conclusion

In summary, this study provides a first description of the developmental patterns of early larval growth for *P. ornatus* phyllosoma (Stage I-VI) in captivity. Overall, the body wet weight, dry weight and total body length increased exponentially with number of successive stages. The SGR of early phyllosoma of *P. ornatus* indicated this species grows faster than the temperate and subtropical Palinurid lobsters, *J. edwardsii* and *P. cygnus*. The lipid class profile of *P. ornatus* phyllosoma was dominated by PL for all early Stages (I-V) despite a high TG content of their primary diet of *Artemia*. Overall, total lipid, lipid class and fatty acid profile of phyllosoma reflects those of their diets. The elevated ARA content of Stage IV and V *P.*

ornatus phyllosoma suggested a higher ARA requirement compared to earlier stages. The phyllosomas can preferentially accumulate and store a range of essential fatty acids, including EPA and DHA. Finally, the ontogenetic changes of lipid composition during larval development may provide important cues for the understanding of larval lipid nutrition. Future research should be conducted to investigate the effects of varying dietary HUFA (ARA, EPA and DHA) levels on larval growth, survival and development of *P. ornatus* phyllosoma.

Effects of starvation on survival, biomass and lipid composition of newly hatched larvae of the blue swimmer crab, *Portunus pelagicus*

6.1 Introduction

The blue swimmer crab, Portunus pelagicus (Linnaeus, 1758), is widely distributed in the coastal waters throughout the Indo-Pacific, particularly in the tropical and subtropical waters of the region (Dixon and Hooper, 2009). This crab supports important commercial and recreational fisheries in many countries of the region (Lestang et al., 2003; Dineshbabu et al., 2008; Romano and Zeng, 2008). Because of their large size, high meat yield and delicate flavor, there is an increasing market demand for P. pelagicus worldwide (Soundarapandian and Dominic Arul Raja, 2008; Wu et al., 2010d). However, wild *P. pelagicus* populations have already been fully exploited (Maheswarudu et al., 2008; Dixon and Hooper, 2009), hence, any further expansion on P. pelagicus output can only come from either aquaculture or stock enhancement efforts. During the past decade, many efforts have been spent on the development of hatchery techniques for P. pelagicus (Soundarapandian et al., 2007; Maheswarudu et al., 2008; Andr és et al., 2010). However, the survival of newly hatched larvae to the first crab stage is still variable (Soundarapandian et al., 2007). It is well known that larval survival and development of decapod crustaceans are affected by lipid nutrition (Takeuchi et al., 1999a; Liddy et al., 2005; Sui et al., 2007). Similarly, deficiencies in lipid nutrition are considered as one of major contributors to the inconsistency in larval survival of *P. pelagicus* (Maheswarudu et al., 2008; Romano and Zeng, 2008).

Previous studies have shown optimization of dietary lipid nutrition is highly important for achieving successful propagation for many decapod crustacean, including the Chinese mitten crab *Eriocheir sinensis* (Sui et al., 2007), the mud crab *Scylla paramamosain* (Nghia et al., 2007) and the swimming crab *Portunus trituberculatus* (Takeuchi et al., 1999a). Therefore, better understanding of lipid requirements is likely to facilitate the improvement in larval survival for hatchery culture of *P. pelagicus*. It proved very difficult to investigate lipid requirements by usual feeding experiments on newly hatched larvae as they are very small and fragile (Nates and McKenney, 2000; Ritar et al., 2003). Starvation experiments accompanied with lipid analysis on newly hatched larvae have thereby been considered as effective alternative for the elucidation of relative importance of various lipid classes and fatty acids in decapod crustacean larvae (Weng et al., 2002; Ritar et al., 2003).

In the wild, newly hatched P. pelagicus larvae with limited swimming ability are often carried by tides and currents (Weng et al., 2002; Bryars and Havenhand, 2004; Bryars and Havenhand, 2006). As the result, these pelagic larvae are likely to expose to highly variable conditions of food availability and could face prolonged starvation (Dawirs, 1984; Staton and Sulkin, 1991). Although starvation resistance capacity is species-specific and largely relates to nutrition reserves stored in newly hatched larvae, most of marine decapod larvae would eventually die without minimum food intakes (Dawirs, 1984; Staton and Sulkin, 1991). In aquaculture research, starvation has also been used to evaluate the quality of newly hatched larvae (Wu et al., 2007b). It is believed that those larvae could survive for longer period under starvation are of better quality (Djunaidah et al., 2003; Wu et al., 2010b). However, no information is so far available on the impacts of starvation on newly hatched P. pelagicus larvae. Therefore, the aims of current study were to investigate firstly, survival and body weight change of newly hatched larvae subjected to starvation; and subsequently by comparison of relative conservation and utilization of various lipid composition (lipid classes and fatty acids) during starvation to infer their comparative nutrition values. Such information may be useful for understanding starvation resistance and development of suitable dietary regime for the newly hatched P. pelagicus larvae.

6.2 Materials and methods

6.2.1 Broodstock source and maintenance

Broodstock source and husbandry were described in Chapter 4 (Section 4.2.1).

6.2.2 Larvae source and starvation resistance of newly hatched larvae

On the day of hatching, within 6 h of hatching, larvae were attracted to a light source and then collected. They were transferred to ten 300 L static rearing tanks and stocked at a density of ca. 150 larvae L⁻¹. Seawater used was filtered through three in-line cartridge filters (10, 5 and 1 μ m) and a UV sterilization unit. Water temperature and salinity were maintained at 28±1 °C and 22‰, respectively. Light was provided by overhead fluorescent ceiling lights (40 w/light) set on a photoperiod of 14 h light:10 h dark, light intensity reached larval tanks ranging from 350 to 450 lux. A daily 30-50% water exchange was performed for all larval tanks. The larval tanks were siphoned each morning to remove dead larvae and other debris. Aeration was provided to each tank using air-stones. The larvae were not fed during the experiment.

Additionally, 150 newly hatched zoea I larvae from one female crab were also randomly selected and transferred into five 500 mL glass beakers (30 larvae/beaker). The beaker was filled with 400 mL filtered seawater (filtered to 1µm). Water temperature and salinity were set the same as in the larval tanks. All beakers were gently aerated. Larval mortality was checked every 12 h with dead larvae removed during the checking until all larvae died. Daily 50% water exchange was performed for all beakers. At the end of experiment, larval mortality and average survival time under starvation for each replicate were calculated used the following formulae:

Mortality (%) = $100 \times$ cumulative number of dead larvae at each checking time/30

Average duration of larval survival under starvation (day) = $(0.5 \times N_{0.5} + 1 \times N_1 + 1.5 \times N_{1.5} + \dots + T \times N_T) / 30$

Where $N_{0.5}$, N_1 , $N_{1.5}$... represent the number of dead larvae at each point of checking time at 12 h interval during starvation.

6.2.3 Sampling for lipid analysis and data collection

On day 0, 1, 2 and 3 post-hatching, all larvae from each of two tanks were taken using a net with a mesh size of ca.150µm for the following lipid analyis. The larval samples were then rinsed with fresh filtered seawater. After rinsing, each sample was blotted dry on an absorbent paper before beeing stored in a -70 °C freezer. At the same time, two small samples of approximately 50 larvae/sample were randomly taken from each of sampling tank for the measurement of body wet weight (WW) and dry weight (DW) of the larvae. These samples were briefly rinsed with 0.5 M ammonium bicarbonate to remove traces of salts and blotted dry on an absorbent paper before weight measurements. The use of 0.5 M ammonium bicarbonate for rinsing is based on the fact that it is an iso-osmotic solution to the seawater, hence can remove the trace salt from the larvae surface without leading to ionic loss (Zhu and Lee, 1997). Each sample was then weighed for total weight using a Cahn C-33 micro-balance (precision=1µg, Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc, Pittsburgh, PA, USA) and total number of larvae in each sample counted under a microscope (Nikon SMZ645), which enabled the calculation of average weight per individual larva. The larval samples were then put into an over set at 60 $^{\circ}$ C for 24 h to dry before the dry weight (DW) of each sample was determined on the Cahn C-33 micro-balance. In this way, the mean individual wet weight (WW) and dry weight (DW) at each sampling point were calculated. After day 3, surviving larvae was not enough for taking further samples due to mass mortality between day 3 and day 4 post hatching. Then, four samplings were collected during the starvation of day 0, 1, 2 and 3.

6.2.4 Biochemical analysis

See section 4.2.4. For each starvation period, the samples were analyzed in duplicated.

6.2.5 Statistical analysis

See section 4.2.5.

6.3 Result

6.3.1 Starvation resistance and changes in larval body weight during starvation

Figure 6.1 shows cumulative mortality of newly hatched larvae of *P. pelagicus* with the progress of starvation duration. Clearly, the highest and the second highest mortality happened between day 3 to day 4 (61.9%) and day 4 to day 5 (24.2%), respectively. The average survival time of newly hatched larvae when subjected to starvation was 3.87 ± 0.13 days. No significant difference in individual larval wet weight (WW) was detected over the duration of starvation although a slight increasing in wet weight was found initially. In contrast, a significant decreasing trend in individual dry weight (DW) was evident (Figure 6.2) and regression showed that the relationship between individual larval DW and duration of starvation (days) can be described by a exponential curve (Figure 6.3). During starvation, the highest and the second highest DW loss occurred between day 0 to day 1 (8.84%) and day 1 to day 2 (5.05%), respectively. Overall, 2.62µg of larval dry weight was lost during 3-day starvation period, which accounted for 17.42% of initially larval DW.



Figure 6.1 Cumulative mortality of newly hatched larvae of *Portunus pelagicus* subjected to starvation (n=5). The bars with different letters indicate significantly differences (*P*<0.05).



Figure 6.2 Changes in individual wet weight and dry weight of newly hatched larvae of *Portunus* pelagicus subjected to starvation. Data are presented as mean \pm SD (*n*=4). The bars with different letters indicate significantly differences (*P*<0.05).



Figure 6.3 Regression analysis of individual dry weight of newly hatched *Portunus pelagicus* larvae in relation to days of starvation (n=5).

6.3.2 Larval total lipids and lipid classes

Both larval total lipid content (% larval dry weight) and individual total lipids (µg/larvae) decreased significantly over the duration of starvation and the highest loss of total lipid content (11.92%) and individual total lipids (19.16%) occurred during the first day starvation (i.e. from day 0 to day 1) (Figure 6.4). Over 3-day starvation, the total lipid content and individual total lipids decreased by 25.51% and 38.39%, respectively. Overall, 0.455µg of total lipids was lost per larvae over the 3-day period of starvation, which accounted for 17.36% of total body dry weight lose.

	Triacylglycerol	Free fatty acids	Cholesterol	Phospholipid	Total lipids
				S	
Day 0	0.020 ± 0.003^{a}	0.017 ± 0.001^{a}	0.039±0.002	1.109±0.064 ^d	1.185±0.060°
Day 1	0.018 ± 0.007^{a}	0.017 ± 0.002^{a}	0.037±0.011	0.881 ± 0.054^{c}	0.952 ± 0.034^{b}
Day 2	0.045 ± 0.011^{b}	0.039 ± 0.012^{ab}	0.041 ± 0.011	0.712 ± 0.064^{b}	0.836 ± 0.030^{ab}
Day 3	0.043 ± 0.002^{b}	0.078 ± 0.027^{b}	0.058 ± 0.009	0.550 ± 0.035^{a}	0.730 ± 0.068^{a}
Change (%)	+116.54	+351.76	+49.66	- 50.39	- 38.46

Table 6.1 Changes of lipid class contents (μ g. larvae⁻¹) in newly hatched larvae of the blue swimmer crab, *Portunus pelagicus* subjected to starvation.

Data are presented as mean \pm SD (*n*=2). Values within a column with different superscript letters are significantly different (*P*<0.05).

Table 6.2 Changes of lipid class composition (% total lipids) of newly hatched larvae of the blue swimmer crab, *Portunus pelagicus* subjected to starvation.

	Triacylglycerol	Free fatty acids	Cholesterol	Phospholipids
Day 0	1.69±0.36 ^a	1.45 ± 0.02^{a}	3.29 ± 0.30^{a}	93.57±0.64°
Day 1	1.88 ± 0.77^{a}	1.76±0.31 ^a	3.87 ± 1.25^{a}	92.49±2.33 ^{bc}
Day 2	5.39 ± 1.56^{b}	4.64 ± 1.60^{a}	4.87 ± 1.49^{a}	85.08 ± 4.65^{b}
Day 3	5.96 ± 0.81^{b}	10.54 ± 2.67^{b}	7.95 ± 0.45^{b}	75.55±2.32 ^a

Data are presented as mean \pm SD (*n*=2). Values within a column with different superscript letters are significantly different (*P*<0.05).

During starvation, among different lipid classes, phospholipids (PL) decreased significantly while triacylglycerol (TG) and free fatty acids (FFA) showed notable increases (P < 0.05, Table 6.1). Although there was an increasing trend for cholesterol content, the differences were not statistically significant (P > 0.05). Over 3-day starvation, 50.39% of larval phospholipids were utilized while a 116.54%, 351.76% and 49.66% increase was detected on TG, FFA and cholesterol, respectively. In term of percentage composition, PL was the most dominant lipid fraction throughout despite a substantial decrease from 93.57% to 75.55% over the 3-day-starvation. In contrast to PL, the percentage of the other three lipid classes increased significantly over the duration of starvation (Table 6.2).

6.3.3 Larval fatty acids

A total of 27 fatty acids was identified for all larval samples. Of these 27 fatty acids, 13 had levels of more than 1% of total fatty acids throughout the starvation duration (Table 6.3). The five most abundant fatty acids (\geq 5%) in both newly hatched and starved larvae were 16:0 (13.02-15.58%), 18:0 (9.30-10.81%), 18:1n9 (7.17-8.24%), 20:5n3 (12.50-18.90%) and 22:6n3 (10.38-18.24%). These five fatty acids generally accounted for 55-66% of total fatty acids of the larvae. Among saturated fatty acids (SFA), 16:0 and 18:0 are the major constituents throughout the starvation duration and during starvation, the percentage of both 16:0 and Σ SFA increased

significantly (P < 0.05). In contrast, the percentage of $\sum PUFA$ and $\sum HUFA$ in larvae decreased significantly during starvation. For mono-unsaturated fatty acids (MUFA), 14:1n, 18:1n9 and

Fatty acid	Day 0	Day 1	Day 2	Day 3
14:0	1.02±0.13 ^{ab}	1.05±0.20 ^{ab}	0.90 ± 0.09^{a}	1.10±0.09 ^b
15:0	0.32 ± 0.07^{a}	0.34 ± 0.09^{a}	0.42 ± 0.04^{ab}	0.66 ± 0.10^{b}
16:0	13.02 ± 0.87^{a}	13.18±0.37 ^a	15.58±0.57 ^b	15.11±0.32 ^b
18:0	9.30±0.01 ^a	10.81 ± 0.02^{b}	9.79 ± 0.95^{a}	9.85 ± 0.76^{a}
∑SFA	$23.67\pm\!\!1.07^a$	25.39±0.64 ^b	26.69±0.51°	$26.71 \pm 0.24^{\circ}$
14:1n-7	3.03 ± 0.42^{a}	$5.77{\pm}1.41^{ab}$	8.73±0.66 ^{bc}	$11.17 \pm 1.61^{\circ}$
16:1n-7	1.74 ± 0.27^{ab}	1.53±0.41 ^a	2.12±0.21 ^{ab}	$2.95 \pm 0.35^{\circ}$
16:1n-5	0.55±0.12	0.71±0.18	0.65 ± 0.06	0.77±0.36
18:1n-9	7.75±0.13	8.24±0.72	7.38±0.33	7.17±0.32
18:1n-7	4.62 ± 0.04^{a}	4.83 ± 0.17^{a}	5.52 ± 0.16^{b}	5.46±0.19 ^b
20:1n-9	0.27 ± 0.02^{a}	0.27 ± 0.03^{a}	0.50 ± 0.09^{b}	0.42 ± 0.24^{b}
20:1n-7	0.63±0.04	0.58±0.35	0.36±0.06	0.49±0.14
∑MUFA	18.59±0.93 ^a	21.94 ± 2.58^{ab}	25.25±0.64 ^b	28.43 ± 2.50^{b}
16:2n-4	0.65 ± 0.18^{a}	0.82 ± 0.03^{b}	0.60 ± 0.06^{a}	0.78 ± 0.10^{b}
16:3n-4	1.17 ± 0.41^{a}	1.37 ± 0.47^{a}	2.57 ± 0.10^{b}	1.23 ± 0.50^{a}
18:2n-6	2.38 ± 0.06^{a}	2.92 ± 0.32^{b}	2.33 ± 0.12^{a}	2.22 ± 0.20^{a}
18:3n-6	0.16 ± 0.05^{a}	0.41 ± 0.01^{b}	0.40 ± 0.04^{b}	0.34 ± 0.12^{b}
18:3n-3	$0.38\pm\!0.05^{a}$	0.56 ± 0.23^{b}	0.45 ± 0.04^{ab}	0.51 ± 0.00^{ab}
18:3n-4	0.24 ±0.07			
18:4n-3	0.83 ± 0.02^{a}	0.72 ± 0.11^{a}	0.95 ± 0.09^{b}	$1.27 \pm 0.03^{\circ}$
20:2n-6	$0.62 \pm 0.10^{\circ}$	0.45 ± 0.14^{b}	0.22 ± 0.02^{a}	0.50 ± 0.05^{bc}
20:3n-6	1.46±0.15 ^b	1.10±0.43 ^{ab}	1.04 ± 0.10^{a}	1.26 ± 0.16^{ab}
20:4n-6	3.46±0.36 ^c	3.19 ± 0.57^{bc}	2.53±0.25 ^{ab}	2.67 ± 0.40^{a}
20:3n-3	0.26 ± 0.00^{b}	$0.19\pm\!\!0.01^{a}$	0.32 ± 0.03^{c}	0.51 ± 0.02^{d}
20:4n-3	0.30 ± 0.01^{a}	0.38 ± 0.12^{ab}	0.36 ± 0.04^{ab}	0.40 ± 0.04^{b}
20:5n-3	$18.90 \pm 1.03^{\circ}$	$17.83 \pm 1.00^{\circ}$	15.40±0.11 ^b	12.50 ± 1.50^{a}
22:2n-6	0.50 ± 0.02^{a}	0.57 ± 0.06^{a}	0.80 ± 0.08^{b}	0.75 ± 0.00^{b}
22:5n-3	1.73±0.24 ^b	1.06 ± 0.28^{a}	0.98 ± 0.09^{a}	1.19±0.27 ^a
22:6n-3	18.24 ± 0.92^{d}	14.52±0.51°	12.87±0.28 ^b	10.38 ± 1.46^{a}
$\sum \mathbf{PUFA} (\geq 18:2n)$	49.53±2.71 ^c	43.90 ± 3.04^{b}	38.64 ± 1.04^{a}	34.50 ± 3.53^{a}
∑n-3PUFA	$40.64 \pm 2.21^{\circ}$	35.25 ±2.29 ^b	31.32±0.68 ^b	26.75 ± 3.24^{a}
∑n-6PUFA	8.65 ± 0.57^{b}	8.65 ± 0.75^{b}	7.32±0.36 ^a	7.75 ± 0.29^{ab}
n-3/n-6	4.70 ± 0.05^{c}	4.08 ± 0.09^{b}	4.28 ± 0.12^{b}	3.45 ± 0.29^{a}
Σ HUFA($\geq 20:3n$)	44.34 ± 2.68^{d}	$38.25 \pm 2.94^{\circ}$	33.50±0.89 ^b	28.91 ± 3.78^{a}
DHA/EPA	$0.97 \pm 0.00^{\circ}$	0.81 ± 0.02^{a}	0.84 ± 0.01^{b}	0.83 ± 0.02^{ab}
ARA/EPA	0.18 ± 0.01^{b}	0.18 ± 0.02^{ab}	0.16 ± 0.01^{a}	$0.21 \pm 0.01^{\circ}$

Table 6.3 Fatty acid compositions (%total fatty acids) of newly hatched larvae of the blue swimmer crab, *Portunus pelagicus* subjected to starvation.

Data are presented as mean \pm SD (n=2). Values within a row with different superscript letters are significantly different (P<0.05).

18:1n7 were the three dominant fatty acids. Interesting, of these three fatty acids, only 14:1n increased significantly by 268% during starvation. Among poly-unsaturated fatty acids (PUFA), starvation lead to higher levels of reduction in 20:4n6 (3.46% to 2.67%), 20:5n3 (18.90% to 12.50%) and 22:6n3 (18.24% to 10.38%). When changes in principal fatty acid contents during starvation were considered in term of absolute weight decreases per larvae (μ g/larvae), except 14:1n, all principal fatty acids reduced substantially during starvation. The most significant reductions of between 57.69-68.88% were found for 20:4n6, 20:5n3 and 22:6n3, which were followed by 18:0, 18:1n9 and 18:2n6 with a reduction of between 40-50%. The rest of principal fatty acids decreased by a less extents of 7.23-36.56% (Table 6.4).

Fatty acid	Day 0	Day 1	Day 2	Day 3	Change (%)
16:0	0.069 ± 0.015^{d}	$0.054 \pm 0.002^{\circ}$	0.052 ± 0.002^{b}	0.044 ± 0.001^{a}	-36.56
18:0	0.050 ± 0.000^d	$0.044 \pm 0.000^{\circ}$	0.033 ± 0.003^{b}	$0.029\pm\!0.002^{a}$	-42.14
∑SFA	0.126 ± 0.006^d	$0.104 \pm 0.003^{\circ}$	0.089 ± 0.002^{b}	0.078 ± 0.001^{a}	-38.28
14:1n	0.016 ± 0.002^{a}	0.024 ± 0.006^{b}	0.029 ± 0.002^{c}	0.033 ± 0.005^{c}	+101.59
16:1n-7	0.009 ± 0.001^{b}	0.006 ± 0.002^{a}	0.007 ± 0.001^{a}	0.009 ± 0.001^{b}	-7.23
18:1n-9	0.041 ± 0.001^d	$0.034 \pm 0.003^{\circ}$	0.025 ± 0.000^{b}	0.021 ± 0.001^{a}	-49.41
18:1n-7	$0.025 \pm 0.000^{\circ}$	0.020 ± 0.001^{b}	0.018 ± 0.001^{b}	0.016 ± 0.001^{a}	-35.38
∑MUFA	0.099 ± 0.005^{b}	0.090 ± 0.011^{b}	0.084 ± 0.002^{a}	0.083 ± 0.007^{a}	-16.36
18:2n-6	$0.013 \pm 0.000^{\circ}$	$0.012 \pm 0.001^{\circ}$	0.008 ± 0.000^{b}	0.006 ± 0.001^{a}	-48.86
20:4n-6	$0.018 \pm 0.002^{\circ}$	0.013 ± 0.002^{b}	0.008 ± 0.001^{a}	0.008 ± 0.001^{a}	-57.69
20:5n-3	0.101 ± 0.006^{d}	$0.073 \pm 0.004^{\circ}$	0.051 ± 0.000^{b}	0.036 ± 0.004^{a}	-63.82
22:6n-3	0.097 ± 0.005^d	$0.059 \pm 0.002^{\circ}$	0.043 ± 0.001^{b}	0.030 ± 0.004^{a}	-68.88
∑PUFA	0.264 ± 0.014^{d}	0.180 ± 0.012^{c}	0.129 ± 0.003^{b}	0.101 ± 0.010^{a}	-61.91
∑HUFA	0.236 ± 0.014^d	$0.157 \pm 0.012^{\circ}$	0.112 ± 0.003^{b}	0.084 ± 0.011^{a}	-64.35
Unknown	0.034 ± 0.007^{a}	0.035 ± 0.001^{a}	0.033 ± 0.011^{ab}	0.045 ± 0.004^{b}	+30.48
Total fatty acids	0.533 ± 0.00^d	$0.417 \pm 0.000^{\circ}$	0.347 ± 0.004^{b}	0.312 ± 0.002^{a}	-41.53

Table 6.4 Changes of principal fatty acid content (μ g. Larvae⁻¹) in newly hatched larvae of the blue swimmer crab, *Portunus pelagicus* subjected to starvation.

Data are presented as mean \pm SD (n=2). Values within a line with different superscript letters are significantly different (*P*<0.05).



Figure 6.4 Changes of larval total lipids content (% larval dry weight) and individual total lipids (μ g/larvae) of newly hatched larvae of *Portunus pelagicus* subjected to starvation. Data are presented as mean ±SD (*n*=4). The bars with different letters indicate significantly differences (*P*<0.05). Values in the each column indicate percentage decreases in larval lipids as compared to the previous day.

6.4 Discussion

Under the similar water temperature, the average survival time of newly hatched *P. pelagicus* larvae subjected to starvation is generally close to the mud crabs, *Scylla serrata* and *S. paramamosain* (Li and Zeng, 2001; Djunaidah et al., 2003), but less than tropical lobster *Panulirus ornatus* (Smith et al., 2010). Average survival time under starvation has been used for evaluation starvation tolerances in crustacean larvae (Djunaidah et al., 2003; Wu et al., 2007b; Sui et al., 2009; Wu et al., 2010b,c). Generally, Point of no return (PNR) is also considered as a good measure for evaluation of starvation tolerance and nutritional condition of crustacean larvae for inter-species and intra-species (Anger and Dawirs, 1981; Calado et al., 2007). However, measurement of PNR is complicated and time-consuming (need several treatments for different starvation period and different feeding time) when there were several hatchings simultaneously (Li and Zeng, 2001; Djunaidah et al., 2003). It is worthy noting PNR is generally shorter than average survival time under starvation because mortality occurs after PNR has passed (Anger et al., 1981; Limbourn et al., 2008).

The present results show that the highest body dry weight and total lipid loss happened during the first day of starvation. This is similar to what has been reported for the swimming crab *P. trituberculatus* (Wu et al., 2006) and the mud crab *S. paramamosian* (Weng et al., 2002). One of likely reasons for this is that larvae are probably more active searching for food during their first day of starvation and their activity may tamper off as starvation continued and their energy

	16:0	18:0	SFA	14:1n	16:1n7	18:1n	MUFA	20:4n6	20:5n3	22:6n3	HUFA	Source
Portunus pelagicus	13.02	9.30	23.67	3.03	1.74	12.37	18.59	3.46	18.90	18.24	44.34	This study
Portunus trituberculatus	16.67	7.68	26.69	6.51	4.23	20.73	33.86	4.08	10.48	12.61	28.87	Wu et al. (2010b)
Scylla serrata	24.3	9.0				17.20		5.0	11.4	4.80		Weng et al. (2002)
Scylla serrata	20.86	6.9	30.90	0.15	4.91	22.43	31.05	5.09	11.74	10.25	28.68	Wu et al. unpublished data
Callinectes sapidus	22.36	8.29	35.31	1.0	9.38	13.24	33.17	3.04	9.52	9.24	23.51	Li et al. (2012)
Eriocheir sinensis	15.04	4.96	22.21		9.27	25.88	45.85	3.47	8.02	7.69	18.21	Sui et al (2007)

Table 6.5 Comparison of principal fatty acid profile (% total fatty acids) in the newly hatched larvae among various brachyuran crab species.

"---": undetectable or no data was provided in the cited literature.

reserve using up (Wu et al., 2006). During 3-day-starvation, larval body dry weight and total lipids decreased by 17.42% and 38.39%, respectively. However, the lipid loss only accounted for 15-20% of total body dry weight loss during starvation, which indicates that higher proportions of protein and/or carbohydrate were metabolised than lipids during the starvation. Newly hatched larvae of decapod crustaceans that are not lecithotrophy generally contain lower total lipids; therefore, they must start feeding immediately after hatching to avoid quick depletion of nutritional reserves (Staton and Sulkin, 1991; Calado et al., 2007). If such newly hatched larvae subjected to prolonged starvation, membrane structural proteins and lipids, and generally higher proportion of protein than lipids, will be oxidized for energy provision (Anger, 2001; Ritar et al., 2003; Wu et al., 2006). This prolonged starvation would eventually lead to point-of-no-return (Anger, 2001; Li and Zeng, 2001).

Phospholipids (PL) were the major lipid constitutes for newly hatched *P. pelagicus*, and it decreased by about 50% by the end of 3-day-starvation. It indicates that PL was the major lipid class utilized during the starvation by the newly hatched *P. pelagicus* larvae. PL is also known to serve as membrane structural lipids for brachyuran crabs (Anger, 2001). However, the oxidation of structural lipids suggests that prolonged starvation is highly detrimental to newly hatched larvae, which could lead to the point of no return (PNR) (Anger and Dawirs, 1981; Staton and Sulkin, 1991; Ritar et al., 2003). The increases in free fatty acids and cholesterol during starvation probably could be attributed to the decomposition of sterol-ester to free fatty acids and cholesterol while the increased level of triacyglycerol could be associated with the metabolic conversion of PL to TG (Liddy et al., 2004a).

Overall, the fatty acid profile of newly hatched larvae of *P. plegicus* is similar to other Portunidae crabs although they appeared to contain lower 16:0, 16:1n7 and 18:1n, and substantially higher percentage of 20:5n3 and 22:6n3 (Table 6.5). To certain extents, the fatty acid profile of newly hatched larvae reflects broodstock diets, particular for highly unsaturated fatty acids (HUFAs) (Wouters et al., 2001). In the present study, the broodstock *P. plegicus* were fed banana prawn (*Penaeus merguiensis*), green lipped mussel (*Perna canaliculus*) and California squid (*Loligo opalescens*), all of these diets contain high levels of EPA, DHA and HUFA. Additionally, the high HUFA percentage of newly hatched *P. plegicus* larvae may also been linked to the utilization of MUFA during the embryonic development (Rosa et al., 2003). The fatty acids, 18:3n3 and 18:2n6, have been identified as essential fatty acids for many crustaceans as they can not be synthesized *de novo* by decapod crustaceans but play important roles in larval survival, growth and development (Kanazawa et al., 1979a; Merican and Shim, 1996). However, relative low percentages of 18:3n3 (0.38-0.51% total fatty acids) and 18:2n6 (2.22-2.92% total fatty acids) were found in newly hatched larvae of *P. plegicus*, which might imply that they are less important to the newly hatched *P. plegicus* larvae.

During starvation, the increasing of 14:1n content (μg /larvae) may reflect the fact that this is an intermediate fatty acid of MUFA, such as 18:1n and 16:1n, catabolization/metabolization. It is a common strategy that SFA and MUFA are preferably metabolized during starvation while HUFA are conserved to maintain the structure of membranes and normal metabolic function during food deprivation in crustacean larvae (Ritar et al., 2003; Smith et al., 2003; Limbourn et al., 2008). However, interestingly it appeared that HUFA were preferentially utilized by newly hatched P. plegicus larvae when under starvation. This may relate to relative high HUFA content in the newly hatched *P. plegicus* larvae as compared to the other Portunidae crabs (Weng et al., 2002; Li et al., 2012). The higher levels of HUFA reduction under starvation could also indicate the oxidation of membrane structural PL since animal membrane PL generally contains high levels of HUFA (Liddy et al., 2004a; Holme et al., 2009b). Generally HUFA, in particular ARA, EPA and DHA, are considered to be more important for the functioning of the nervous system, membrane integrity, stress resistance, immunity to infections and parasitic disease than as a source of energy (Liddy et al., 2004a; Wu et al., 2007b). During food deprivation, preferentially depletion of particular fatty acids has been regarded as an indicator of limited nutritional value while retention of specific fatty acids is often interpreted as higher importance of those particular fatty acids (Weng et al., 2002; Smith et al., 2003). The high utilization of HUFA in newly hatched P. plegicus larvae might suggest those HUFA is less important in the larval tissue than previously suggested, or the requirement of HUFA for newly hatched *P. plegicus* larvae is lower than other Portunidae crabs.

6.5 Conclusion

In summary, when newly hatched *P. plegicus* larvae subjected to prolonged 3-day-starvation, their body dry weight and total lipids decreased by 17.42% and 38.39%, respectively. However, total lipids loss only accounted for 17.36% of total body dry weight reduction, which suggests protein and/or carbohydrate were the more important energy sources during the food deprivation. PL contributed to the majority of total lipids reduction during starvation. Meanwhile, the increases in free fatty acids and cholesterol during starvation maybe explained by the decomposition of sterol-ester to free fatty acids and cholesterol. The newly hatched larvae of *P. plegicus* contained substantially higher percentages of 20:5n3 and 22:6n3 suggest requirements of these HUFA by newly hatched *P. plegicus* larvae might be lower than other Portunidae crabs.

Effects of starvation on survival, biomass (body weight) and lipid composition of newly hatched phyllosoma of the ornate rock lobster, *Panulirus ornatus*

7.1 Introduction

The spiny rock lobsters fishery is an important natural resource industry in Australia, with over AU\$ 460 million of annual landing value (Mikami and Kuballa, 2004). Although there is an increasing market demand and high price (> \$US 60/kg) around the world, most of commercially important spiny lobsters have been fully exploited (FAO, 2005). Therefore, aquaculture is one of the keys to expand production levels of them (Kittaka and Booth, 2000; Mikami and Kuballa, 2004; Smith et al., 2009a). Because of large size, fast growth, short larval period and delicate flavour, Panulirus ornatus become one prominent candidate for potential aquaculture (Irvin et al., 2010; O'Sullivan, 2010; Sachlikidis et al., 2010). One of the primary constraints for *P. ornatus* aquaculture is the lack of hatchery reared seed, particularly very low survival during the rearing period from phyllosoma to puerulus/juveniles. More recently, some breakthrough progress have been achieved in rearing P. ornatus larvae at the Australian Institute of Marine Science (AIMS), the M.G. Kallis Pty Ltd Exmouth hatchery facility and the Northern Fisheries Centre (NFC) of Queensland Primary Industries and Fisheries (QPI&F) from 2006 to 2010 (Smith et al., 2009a; O'Sullivan, 2010). However, the survival of newly hatched phyllosoma to puerulus/juveniles is very low (generally less than 1% at AIMS) and unstable during the larval rearing (Smith et al., 2009a; Wu et al., 2012). Larval nutrition, particularly lipid nutrition, is deemed as one of critical issues for the successful hatchery of this species (O'Sullivan, 2010).

Previous studies have shown optimization of dietary lipid nutrition is crucial to improve larval survival and shorten development period for western rock lobster, *Panulirus cygnus* (Liddy et al., 2004a; Liddy et al., 2005) and southern rock lobster, *Jasus edwardsii* (Nelson et al., 2003; 2004). Therefore, the better understanding of lipid requirements will facilitate the improvement of larval survival of *P. ornatus*. Starvation experiments and lipid analysis of newly hatched larvae have thereby been used as effective strategies to elucidate the relative importance of specific lipid compositions for crustacean larvae, with the consideration of the retention of specific lipid fractions and fatty acids (Weng et al., 2002; Ritar et al., 2003). In field/open sea, newly hatched *P. ornatus* phyllosoma generally hatch in offshore water (depth 20 - 50m), and have limited swimming ability. Consequently, they have to rely on tides and currents for crossing continental shelf transportation (Jeffs, 2007). Therefore, similar to other marine crustacean, these pelagic larvae maybe exposed on the conditions of highly variable prey densities and face starvation (Dawirs, 1984; Staton and Sulkin, 1991). Although the ability of starvation resistance is species-specific depending on stored reserves of newly hatched larvae, most of marine decapod larvae are planktotrophic, and need immediate feeding after hatching (Dawirs, 1984; Staton and Sulkin, 1991; Calado et al., 2007). For a same species, starvation test was also used to evaluate the quality of newly hatched larvae. This is because the good quality larvae tend to have a longer survival period than the inferior quality larvae under the starvation (Djunaidah et al., 2003; Wu et al., 2010b). Moreover, the food deprivation of newly hatched decapod larvae will lead to a set of negative effects, including biomass loss, low survival, delayed development (Li and Zeng, 2001; Calado et al., 2007). Howver, no available information could be found on the impacts of starvation for the newly hatched *P. ornatus* phyllosoma.

Therefore, the aims of current study were to investigate (1) changes of survival and body weight of newly hatched larvae under the continued starvation; (2) which lipids (lipid classes and fatty acids) were of potentially important nutrition value by comparison of relative conservation or loss. Such information should be useful for the understanding of starvation resistance and development of suitable dietary regime for the newly hatched *P. ornatus* phyllosoma.

7.2 Materials and methods

7.2.1 Broodstock source and maintenance

Broodstock source and husbandry were described in Chapter 5 (Section 3.2.1).

7.2.2 Larvae source and starvation resistance of newly hatched phyllosoma

On the day of hatching, active and photopositive phyllosomas from one berried female were collected from the surface of the broodstock spawning tank and transferred into a 20 L container of clean seawater for the estimation of larval production. Prior to stocking, the larvae were disinfected in 25 mg L⁻¹ formalin solution for 4h. Then, larvae were placed into ten 64 L conical tubs at the density of 60 larvae L⁻¹. The tubs were water flow through system with rate of 1L/min. Water temperature and salinity were maintained at 29.9±1.1 $^{\circ}$ and 34-36 ‰,

respectively. Prior to the use, seawater was settled, foam fractionated, ozonated (750Mv for 30 min), and carbon and cartridge filtered to 1 μ m, temperature adjusted and UV sterilized. Light was provided by overhead fluorescent ceiling lights set on a photoperiod of 14 h light: 10 h dark, and light intensity was around 180 lx. Continuous aeration was provided using air-stones. The larvae were not fed during the experiment. The larval culture tanks were siphoned each morning to remove dead larvae and other debris.

Additionally, one hundred and fifty newly hatched larvae were also randomly selected and transferred into five 500 mL glass beakers with twenty-five larvae per beaker. The beaker was filled with 400 mL filtered seawater. All beakers were water bath in the 64L conical tubs as described above. The mortality was checked and dead larvae was removed every 12 h until all larvae died. 100% water exchanges were performed for all beakers every morning. At the end of experiment, average survival time and mortality were calculated as the following formulae:

Average survival time (day) = $(1 \times N_1 + 1.5 \times N_{1.5} + 2 \times N_2 + \dots + T \times N_T) / 30$, Where N_1 , $N_{1.5}$, N_2 ... represent the number of dead larvae during a 12 h period after 1, 1.5, 2... days of starvation.

Mortality (%) = $100 \times Number$ of cumulative dead larvae of each sampling period/30

7.2.3 Sampling for lipid analysis and data collection

During day 0, 1, 3 and 5 post hatching, all larvae sample (approximately 3-4 g wet weight) from 2 tanks were collected on nylon mesh (ca.200 μ m) and rinsed three times with 0.5 M Ammonium bicarbonate to remove traces of salts. 0.5 M Ammonium bicarbonate is an iso-osmotic solution to the seawater, which facilitates the removal of trace salt from the larvae surface but prevents the ionic loss of internal body fluids (Zhu and Lee, 1997). After rinsing, the samples were blotted on an absorbent paper and then frozen at -20 °C freezer. Prior to each sampling, two sub-samples (approximately 30 larvae/sample) were randomly selected from each tank for the measurement of body wet weight and dry weight. The samples were briefly rinsed with 0.5 M ammonium bicarbonate and blotted on an absorbent paper. Then, each sample was weighed by a Cahn C-33 micro-balance (precision=1 μ g, Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc, Pittsburgh, PA, USA) and counted under a microscope (Nikon SMZ645). After 24 h oven-drying at 60 °C, dry weight (DW) of each sample was determined. Therefore, the mean individual wet weight (WW) and dry weight (DW) of each sampling period were calculated by dividing the total sample wet and dry weight by the number of starved larvae. After day 5, most of phllosoma settle at the bottom and mix with dead larvae. Therefore, it is difficult to separate and sample enough alive phyllosoma. Consequently, four samplings were collected during the starvation of day 0, 1, 3 and 5.

7.2.4 Biochemical analysis

See section 4.2.4. For each starvation period, the samples were analyzed in duplicated.

7.2.5 Statistical analysis

See section 4.2.5.

7.3 Results

7.3.1 Starvation resistance and changes of larval body weight

Figure 7.1 presented the cumulative mortalities of newly hatched larvae of *P. ornatus* during the starvation. Clearly, the highest mortality happened during day 8 to day 10 (from 38.54% to 85.34%) and only 20.22% of mortality was recorded from day 1 to day 7. Up to day12, 100% mortality happened. Under the starvation, average survival time of newly hatched larvae was 8.69 ± 0.92 days. During the starvation, the changes of individual wet weight and dry weight were shown in Figure 7.2. The significant decreasing trend could be detected on individual body wet weight and dry weight during the starvation period. As a consequence, a exponential curve could be found between individual body dry weight and starvation days (See Figure 7.3).



Figure 7.1. Time-course of cumulative mortalities of newly hatched larvae of the ornate rock lobster, *Panulirus ornatus* during the starvation period (n=5). The columns not having a same letter are significantly different (P < 0.05).

During the starvation, the highest individual dry weight loss (12.38%) occurred during the day 0 to day 1, then the period of day 1 to day 3 accounted for the second highest individual dry weight loss (9.26%). Only 7.57% of individual dry weight loss existed during the period of day 3 to day 5. However, the highest individual wet weight loss (14.35%) occurred during the starvation of day 1 to day 3, then the period of day 0 to day 1 accounted for the second highest individual wet weight loss (9.26%). Only 2.05% of individual wet weight loss existed during the period of day 3 to day 5. Overall, 13.54µg of larval dry weight and 43.81µg of larval wet weight were lost during 5-days starvation, which accounted for 29. 21% and 22.03% of initially individual larvae dry weight and wet weight, respectively.



Figure 7.2 The changes of individual wet weight and dry weight of newly hatched larvae of *Panulirus* ornatus during the starvation period. Data are presented as mean \pm SD (*n*=4). The columns that do not share a same letter are significantly different (*P*<0.05).



Figure 7.3 The regression of starvation period and individual dry weight of newly hatched larvae of the ornate rock lobster, *Panulirus ornatus* (n=4).

7.3.2 Changes of larval total lipids and lipid classes

Figure 7.4 presented the changes of larval total lipids and individual total lipids. The significant decrease could be detected on larval total lipids (% dry weight) and individual total lipids (μ g/larvae) during the starvation. Although there was only one day starvation from day 0 to day 1, the highest individual total lipids loss (21.13%) was found on this period, then the period of day 1 to day 3 accounted for the second highest individual total lipids loss (19.05%). Only 13.84% of individual total lipids reduction existed during the period of day 3 to day 5. Overall, 1.97 µg total lipids per larvae was lost during 5-days starvation, which accounted for 53.97% of initially total lipids.



Figure 7.4 The changes of larval total lipids content (% larval dry weight) and individual total lipids (μ g.Larvae⁻¹) of newly hatched larvae of *Panulirus ornatus* during the starvation period. Data are presented as mean ±SD (*n*=4). The columns that do not share a same letter are significantly different (*P*<0.05). Values in the each column indicate the percentage of decreasing lipids to that of newly hatched larvae during each starvation period.

During the starvation, phospholipids decreased significantly, and 55.47% of phospholipids per larvae was utilized (P<0.05, Table 7.1). Although there were 43.98% and 24.97% of decrease found on individual triacylglycerol and cholesterol contents, respectively, not statistic difference was found for them during 5-day starvation (P > 0.05). However, there was 22.77% of increase for individual free fatty acids. As for the percentage composition of lipid classes (Table 7.2), phospholipids was the dominant lipid fraction ranged from 92.70% to 95.90%. The dramatic decrease was only detected on the percentage of phospholipids, while the percentage of cholesterol increased significantly.

		Ŷ.	A		
	Triacylglycerol	Free fatty acids	Cholesterol	Phospholipids	Total lipids
Day 0	0.031±0.014	0.021±0.015	0.105±0.045	3.506 ± 0.270^{d}	3.657 ± 0.322^{d}
Day 1	0.019±0.004	0.032±0.004	0.078±0.026	$2.755 \pm 0.027^{\circ}$	$2.884 \pm 0.002^{\circ}$
Day 3	0.026±0.016	0.019±0.007	0.082±0.013	2.062 ± 0.113^{b}	2.189 ± 0.149^{b}
Day 5	0.018±0.004	0.026±0.011	0.079 ± 0.005	1.561 ± 0.085^{a}	1.683 ± 0.074^{a}
Change (%)	-43.98	+22.77	- 24.97	- 55.47	- 53.97

Table 7.1 Quantitative lipid class contents (μg . larvae⁻¹) of newly hatched larvae of the ornate rock lobster, *Panulirus ornatus* during the starvation period.

Data are presented as mean \pm SD (*n*=2). Values within a column having different superscript letter are significantly different (*P*<0.05).

Table 7.2 Qualitative lipid class composition (% total lipids) of newly hatched larvae of the orante rock lobster, *Panulirus ornatus* during the starvation period.

	Triacylglycero 1	Free fatty acids	Cholesterol	Phospholipids
Day 0	0.88 ± 0.45	0.54±0.38	2.84 ± 0.97^{ab}	95.90±1.06 ^b
Day 1	0.65±0.14	1.10±0.13	2.72 ± 0.90^{b}	95.54 ± 0.89^{ab}
Day 3	1.18±0.63	0.85 ± 0.28	3.73±0.33 ^{ab}	94.23 ± 1.24^{ab}
Day 5	1.05±0.31	1.55±0.71	4.70 ± 0.08^{a}	92.70±0.93ª

Data are presented as mean \pm SD (*n*=2). Values within a column having different superscript letter are significantly different (*P*<0.05).

7.3.3 Changes of larval fatty acids

The fatty acid compositions (% total fatty acids) of newly hatched and starved P. ornatus phyllosomas were presented in Table 7.3. A total of 28 individual fatty acids were identified in all samples. Of the 28 fatty acids identified, 13 fatty acids had relative levels of more than 1% of total fatty acids at all starvation points. There were five most abundant fatty acids (\geq 5%) in newly hatched larvae and starved larvae, i.e. 16:0 (12.06-18.33%), 18:0 (9.29-14.24%), 18:1n-9 (6.51-10.04%), 20:5n-3 (14.36-16.31%) and 22:6n-3 (10.58-15.51%). Those five fatty acids generally accounted for 58-68% of total fatty acids in larvae. Among saturated fatty acids (SFA), 16:0 and 18:0 are the major constituents of SFA for all stages, and their percentages decreased significantly during the starvation. For mono-unsaturated fatty acids (MUFA), 14:1n, 16:1n-7, 18:1n-9 and 18:1n-7 were four dominant fatty acids. Interesting, only dramatic increase was found on 14:1n, which increase by 12.2 times during the starvation. Of poly-unsaturated fatty acids (PUFA), the percentages of 18:2n-6 and 18:3n-3 decreased significantly while 20:4n-6 and 22:6n-3 increased significantly, particularly during the day 3 to day 5. Consequently, the percentage of Σ PUFA, Σ HUFA and DHA/EPA ratio increased significantly during the starvation of day 3 to day 5. Table 7.4 presented the changes of principal fatty acid contents (μ g/larvae) during the starvation. Except for 14:1n, principal fatty acid contents reduced dramatically during the starvation. There are six fatty acids with reduction of more than 70%,

including 16:0, 18:0, 16:1n-7, 18:1n-9, 18:1n-7 and 18:2n-6. In contrast, the lowest loss was detected on 20:4n-6, and 22:6n3 while 20:5n-3 decreased by 63.59% during 5-days starvation.

Fatty acid	Day 0	Day 1	Day 3	Day 5
14:0	0.68 ± 0.03^{a}	0.48 ± 0.03^{a}	0.99 ± 0.05^{b}	1.13±0.18b
15:0	0.48 ± 0.02	0.39±0.01	0.60±0.28	0.50±0.02
16:0	18.33±0.75°	16.42±0.00 ^b	15.04 ± 1.24^{b}	12.06±0.79 ^a
18:0	13.58±2.04 ^b	14.24±0.84 ^b	13.25±0.88 ^b	9.29 ± 0.59^{a}
23:0	0.38±0.05	0.24 ± 0.07	0.37±0.03	0.34 ± 0.05
ΣSFA	33.46 ± 2.80^{b}	31.76±0.81 ^b	30.24±0.10 ^b	23.32 ± 1.63^{a}
14:1n	1.45 ± 0.42^{a}	3.22 ± 1.06^{a}	11.69±0.27 ^b	13.20±0.70 ^b
16:1n-7	4.25±0.13 ^b	3.69 ± 0.02^{b}	2.64 ± 0.55^{a}	2.62 ± 0.18^{a}
16:1n-5	0.58 ± 0.10^{ab}	0.45 ± 0.03^{a}	0.81 ± 0.16^{b}	0.74 ± 0.14^{ab}
18:1n-9	9.76±0.65 ^b	10.04±0.32 ^b	7.78 ± 0.79^{a}	6.51 ± 0.47^{a}
18:1n-7	2.97 ±0.45 ^b	2.73±0.19 ^{ab}	2.46±0.07 ^{ab}	2.21 ±0.14 ^a
20:1n-9	0.28±0.04	0.22±0.04	0.52±0.04	0.31 ±0.022
20:1n-7	1.40±0.22	1.36±0.18	1.28±0.09	1.20±0.02
ΣΜυγΑ	20.69 ± 1.77^{a}	21.70±0.47 ^a	27.18±1.26 ^b	26.80±0.25 ^b
16:2n-4	0.52 ± 0.10^{a}	0.25 ± 0.01^{a}	1.16±0.13°	0.83 ± 0.13^{b}
16:3n-4	1.35±0.06	1.02±0.11	1.93 ± 1.02	2.07±0.10
18:2n-6	1.94±0.01 ^b	1.63 ± 0.10^{ab}	1.53±0.14 ^a	1.48 ± 0.18^{a}
18:3n-6	0.21±0.13	0.28±0.06	0.43 ± 0.01	0.27 ± 0.11
18:3n-3	1.00 ± 0.05^{b}	0.80 ± 0.02^{ab}	0.73 ± 0.14^{a}	0.59 ± 0.10^{a}
18:3n-4	0.31±0.07	0.25 ± 0.02	0.43±0.24	0.16±0.08
18:4n-3	0.64 ± 0.07^{a}	0.68 ± 0.05^{a}	0.96±0.14 ^b	0.94 ± 0.01^{b}
20:2n-6	0.77 ±0.07 ^b	0.49 ± 0.03^{a}	0.51 ± 0.03^{a}	0.44 ± 0.15^{a}
20:3n-6	1.11 ± 0.11	1.20±0.08	1.08±0.15	1.14 ±0.12
20:4n-6	2.96±0.37 ^a	3.51±0.20 ^{ab}	3.75 ± 0.13^{a}	3.98±0.17 ^{ab}
20:3n-3	0.35 ± 0.06	0.36±0.06	0.49±0.08	0.28 ± 0.09
20:4n-3	$0.53 \pm 0.02^{\circ}$	0.37 ± 0.14^{ab}	0.25 ± 0.02^{a}	0.40 ± 0.01^{ab}
20:5n-3	14.73±0.35	16.31±0.95	14.67±0.07	14.36±1.61
22:2n-6	0.27 ± 0.10^{ab}	0.21 ± 0.05^{a}	0.27 ± 0.04^{ab}	$0.42 \pm 0.07^{\circ}$
22:5n-3	0.38 ± 0.08^{a}	0.67 ± 0.14^{a}	1.46 ± 0.85^{ab}	$2.78\pm0.65^{\circ}$
22:6n-3	11.48±0.44 ^a	11.32±0.95 ^a	10.58 ± 1.00^{a}	$15.51 \pm 0.67^{\circ}$
$\sum \mathbf{PUFA} (\geq 18:2n)$	36.67 ± 1.84^{a}	38.08 ± 0.68^{ab}	37.13±0.03 ^{ab}	42.75±3.48°
\sum n-3PUFA	29.11 ± 0.97^{a}	30.50±0.13ª	29.13 ± 0.16^{a}	$34.88\pm3.12^{\circ}$
∑n-6PUFA	7.26±0.79	7.33±0.53	7.56±0.11	7.72±0.44
n-3/n-6	4.03±0.30	4.17±0.28	3.84±0.04	4.52±0.14
Σ HUFA($\geq 20:3n$)	31.53 ± 1.44^{a}	33.73±0.35 ^a	32.27 ± 0.16^{a}	$38.46 \pm 2.30^{\circ}$
DHA/EPA	0.78 ± 0.01^{a}	0.70 ± 0.10^{a}	0.72 ± 0.06^{a}	$1.08 \pm 0.08^{\circ}$
ARA/EPA	0.20±0.02 ^a	0.22 ± 0.02^{a}	0.26±0.01°	0.28±0.02 ^b

Table 7.3 Qualitative fatty acid composition (%total fatty acids) of newly hatched larvae of the ornate rock lobster, *Panulirus ornatus* during the starvation period.

Data are presented as mean \pm SD (n=2). Values within a line having different superscript letter are significantly different (*P*<0.05).

7.4 Discussion

Under the starvation, the average survival time of newly hatched *P. ornatus* phyllosoma is 8.69 ± 0.92 days. This is dramatically longer than the other tropical crustacean, including mud crabs, *Scylla serrata* (3.5days) and *Scylla paramamosain* (ca.3 days) (Li and Zeng, 2001; Djunaidah et al., 2003) and blue swimmer crab, *P. pelagicus* (3.87days, see Chapter 6). This

difference is likely to be due to their specie-specific abilities of starvation resistance and their different nutrient reserves in the newly hatched larvae (Abrunhosa and Kittaka, 1997; Liddy et al., 2003). However, for a same species, the newly hatched larvae also displayed a significant variability of starvation resistance (Anger, 1995; Wu et al., 2006). This could be explained by a number of factors, including hatching conditions, broodstock diets and its physiological status (Garcia-Guerrero et al., 2003; Garcia-Guerrero, 2010; Wu et al., 2010b). Previous studies have shown those factors may play an important role in the quantity and quality of reserves of newly hatched larvae for crustacean, consequently, resulting in the different starvation resistance of newly hatched larvae (Garcia-Guerrero et al., 2003; Wu et al., 2010b).

Fatty acid	Day 0	Day 1	Day 3	Day 5	Change (%)
16:0	0.355 ± 0.015^{d}	$0.232 \pm 0.000^{\circ}$	0.146±0.012 ^b	0.087 ± 0.006^{a}	-75.44
18:0	$0.263 \pm 0.040^{\circ}$	0.201 ± 0.012^{c}	0.129 ± 0.009^{b}	0.067 ± 0.004^{a}	-74.46
∑SFA	0.648 ± 0.054^{d}	0.449±0.011 ^c	0.293 ± 0.001^{b}	0.169 ± 0.012^{a}	-73.98
14:1n	0.028 ± 0.008^{a}	0.045 ± 0.015^{a}	0.113 ± 0.003^{b}	0.096 ± 0.005^{b}	+240.76
16:1n-7	$0.082 \pm 0.002^{\circ}$	0.052 ± 0.000^{b}	0.026 ± 0.005^{a}	$0.019\pm\!\!0.001^{a}$	-77.02
18:1n-9	0.189 ± 0.013^{d}	$0.142 \pm 0.005^{\circ}$	0.075 ± 0.008^{b}	0.047 ± 0.003^{a}	-75.09
18:1n-7	0.058 ± 0.009^{d}	$0.039\pm\!0.003^{c}$	$0.024\pm\!\!0.001^{b}$	0.016 ± 0.001^{a}	-72.23
∑MUFA	0.401 ± 0.034^{d}	0.307 ± 0.007^{c}	0.264 ± 0.012^{b}	0.194 ± 0.002^{a}	-51.63
18:2n-6	0.038 ± 0.000^{d}	$0.023 \pm 0.001^{\circ}$	0.015 ± 0.001^{b}	0.011 ± 0.001^{a}	-71.68
20:4n-6	$0.057 \pm 0.007^{\circ}$	$0.050\pm 0.003^{\circ}$	0.036 ± 0.001^{b}	0.029 ± 0.001^{a}	-49.77
20:5n-3	0.286 ± 0.007^{d}	0.230 ± 0.013^{c}	0.142 ± 0.001^{b}	0.104 ± 0.012^{a}	-63.59
22:6n-3	$0.223 \pm 0.009^{\circ}$	0.160 ± 0.013^{b}	0.103 ± 0.010^{a}	0.112 ± 0.005^{a}	-49.53
∑PUFA	0.711 ± 0.036^{d}	$0.538 \pm 0.017^{\circ}$	0.360 ± 0.002^{b}	0.309 ± 0.025^{a}	-56.47
∑HUFA	0.611 ± 0.028^{d}	0.477 ± 0.022^{c}	0.313 ± 0.002^{b}	0.278 ± 0.024^{a}	-54.45
Unknown	0.142 ± 0.015^{b}	0.102 ± 0.034^{b}	0.023 ± 0.002^{a}	0.031 ± 0.014^{a}	-78.36
Total fatty acids	1.797 ± 0.015^{d}	1.311±0.034 ^c	0.947 ± 0.002^{b}	0.693 ± 0.014^{a}	-61.42

Table 7.4 Principal fatty acid content (µg. Larvae⁻¹) of newly hatched larvae of the ornate rock lobster, *Panulirus ornatus* during the starvation period.

Data are presented as mean \pm SD (n=2). Values within a line having different superscript letter are significantly different (P<0.05).

	16:0	18:0	SFA	16:1n7	18:1n	MUFA	20:4n6	20:5n3	22:6n3	HUFA	Source
Nephrops norvegicus	21.43	5.28	30.18	7.59	28.29	40.09	2.88	11.26	9.88	25.44	Rosa et al (2003)
Panulirus hormarus	12.22	7.35	23.86	4.36	28.91	37.14	4.96	5.34	1.07	12.3	Chakraborty et al (2010)
Panulirus cygnus	13.7	13.6	28.2	2.7	16.9	24.7	9.9	13.7	10.5	35.6	Liddy et al (2004a)
Jasus edwardsii	14.5	6.9	27.6	3.7	17.7	27.6	11.6	15.1	8.1	38.3	Phleger et al (2003)
Panulirus ornatus	18.33	13.58	33.46	4.25	12.73	20.69	2.96	14.73	11.48	31.53	This study

Table 7.5 Qualitative comparison of principal fatty acid profile (%total fatty acids) of newly hatched phyllosoma among the different lobster species.

Fifty percentage of point of no return (PNR₅₀) was considered as a valuable measure for evaluation of starvation tolerances and nutritional condition of crustacean larvae for inter-species and intra-species (Anger and Dawirs, 1981; Calado et al., 2007). However, measurement of PNR is more complicated and time-consuming (need several treatments for different starvation period and different feeding time) when there were several hatchings simultaneously (Li and Zeng, 2001; Djunaidah et al., 2003; Liddy et al., 2003). Therefore, average survival time under starvation was recommended and used to evaluate starvation tolerances for crustacean larvae (Djunaidah et al., 2003; Wu et al., 2007b; Sui et al., 2009; Wu et al., 2010b). It is worth noting PNR₅₀ is generally shorter than average survival time under starvation because the death will normally occur after they have passed the PNR (Anger et al., 1981; Limbourn et al., 2008). For instance, the current study showed average survival time under starvation was 8.69 \pm 0.92 days while PNR₅₀ is 3.8 days for the newly hatched *P. ornatus* phyllosoma (Smith et al., 2010).

Although there was only one day of starvation during the first day starvation, the highest body dry weight and total lipids loss happened. Although a clear decreasing trend for the individual dry weight and total lipids reduction during the starvation of day 1 - day 3 to day 3 - day 3day 5, the individual body dry weight loss of later period is less than that of the first day starvation. This is similar to swimming crab P. trituberculatus (Wu et al., 2006) and mud crab Scylla serrata (Weng et al., 2002). This is probably because the larvae were more active and restless in the first day starvation than the later. The later inactive/tranquil seclusion of larvae is effective strategy to reduce energy consumption during the starvation (Wu et al., 2006). During the starvation, reduction of the dry weight and total lipids per larvae were 29.21% and 53.97% to the initial values, respectively. However, the lipid loss only accounted for 13.47-16.20% of total body dry weight reduction during the starvation, and mean percentage was 17.36%. This is similar to southern rock lobster, Jasus edwardsii (17.8%) (Smith et al., 2003a), but higher than the western rock lobster, P. cygnus (6.5%) (Liddy et al., 2005). Those authors further suggested more protein, and to a lesser extent carbohydrate and lipids, was preferentially catabolized during the starvation of newly hatched spiny rock lobster phyllosoma (Ritar et al., 2003; Smith et al., 2003a). For those newly hatched larvae absent of lecithotrophy, they generally contained the lower body reserves, particularly for total lipid levels; therefore, they must start feeding immediately after hatching and avoid the deleterious effects induced by starvation (Staton and Sulkin, 1991; Anger, 1995; Calado et al., 2007). If those newly hatched larvae are subjected to starvation, they will be oxidized membrane structural proteins and lipids for the energy provision, leading to beyond the point of no return (Anger, 2001; Ritar et al., 2003; Wu et al., 2006).
Phospholipid (PL) is the major lipid constitutes (92-95%) for newly hatched *P. ornatus*, and PL was the major lipid class utilized during the starvation. Although TAG is a common short-term storage lipid for energy provision in many marine crustacean (Perez-Velazquez et al., 2003; Yao et al., 2008), it only accounted for 0.88-1.18% of total lipids in the newly hatched *P. ornatus* phyllosoma. Therefore, TAG could not be as one of major energy source during the starvation experiment on newly hatched *P. ornatus* phyllosoma. This is similar to the other spiny rock lobsters, including western rock lobster, *P. cygnus* (Liddy et al., 2005; Limbourn and Nichols, 2009) and southern rock lobster, *Jasus edwardsii* (Smith et al., 2003). PL commonly serves as membrane structural lipids for crustacean (Anger, 2001). Therefore, oxidation of structural lipids may suggest the continuous starvation of newly hatched *P. ornatus* larvae leads to a detrimental damage to successful development, resulting in a point of no return (PNR) (Anger and Dawirs, 1981; Staton and Sulkin, 1991; Ritar et al., 2003). During the starvation experiment, the increasing of free fatty acids may be due to the hydrolysis of sterol-ester and PL to free fatty acids, cholesterol and glycerol (Liddy et al., 2004a).

Overall, the fatty acid profile of newly hatched phyllosoma of *P. ornatus* is similar to the other lobsters (Table 7.5). However, the newly hatched phyllosoma of *P. ornatus* and *Nephrops norvegicus* had higher SFA, but lower 20:4n-6 than other lobsters. To some extent, the fatty acid profile of newly hatched phyllosoma can reflects that of their broodstock diets, particular for highly unsaturated fatty acids (HUFAs) (Wouters et al., 2001). Therefore, this difference of fatty acid profile may indicate their different broodstock diets as well as fatty acid requirements (Ritar et al., 2003; Smith et al., 2003a; Melville-Smith et al., 2007). 18:3n-3 and 18:2n-6 have also been identified as essential fatty acids for many crustaceans as they cannot be synthesized *de novo* and play important roles for survival, growth and development (Kanazawa et al., 1979a; Merican and Shim, 1996b). However, the relative low percentages of 18:3n-3 (1.00% total fatty acids) and 18:2n-6 (1.94%total fatty acids) may suggest they have inferior effect to newly hatched *P. ornatus* phyllosoma.

During the starvation experiment, the percentages of four major fatty acids, 16:0, 18:0, 18:1n and 16:1n, decreased dramatically. This indicated those fatty acids were preferentially utilized during the starvation of newly hatched *P. ornatus*. It is common phenomenon that SFA and MUFA are initially catabolized during the starvation and HUFA are conserved to maintain the structure of membranes and normal metabolic function during the food deprivation (Ritar et al., 2003; Smith et al., 2003; Limbourn et al., 2008). However, 20:5n-3, as an important HUFA, was not relatively conserved during the starvation. Therefore, its percentage remained around

14% of total fatty acids. The high utilization of 20:5n-3 might suggest this HUFA is less important for newly hatched *P. ornatus* than previously suggested, or the requirement of this fatty acid for newly hatched *P. ornatus* is lower than previously expected. In addition, the increasing 14:1n content (μ g/larvae) maybe reflect this is an intermediate fatty acid during the catabolization of MUFA, such as 18:1n and 16:1n.

7.5 Conclusion

In summary, during the starvation of newly hatched *P. ornatus*, the individual body dry weight and total lipids decreased by 29.21% and 34.89% to the initial, respectively. However, total lipids loss only accounted for 14.58% of total body weight reductions. This suggests protein and/or carbohydrate are also important energy source during the food deprivation. The lipid class profile was dominated by PL, and PL contributed the major total lipids reduction during the starvation. The newly hatched phyllosoma of *P. ornatus* contained high percentages of 20:5n-3 and 22:6n-3, but low 20:4n-6. During the starvation experiment, the preferentially conservation of DHA and ARA might suggest those HUFAs are very important for newly hatched *P. ornatus*. Therefore, more attention should be focused on their HUFA requirements, storage and utilization for *P. ornatus* phyllosoma.

Dietary arachidonic acid level affects larval performance and the occurrence of ing death syndrome in the blue swimmer crab, *Portunus pelagicus*

8.1 Introduction

The blue swimmer crab, Portunus pelagicus (Linnaeus, 1758), is a commercially important species that is widely distributed in the Indo-Pacific, particularly in tropical and subtropical waters (Stephenson and Campbell, 1959). This species has been sold worldwide in various product forms, including traditional hard-shell crab, and more recently as soft-shell crab and various pasteurized crabmeat products (Romano and Zeng, 2008; O'Sullivan and Savage, 2008). Because of their high nutritional value, large size and delicate flavor, there is an increasing market demand for this species (Wu et al., 2010d). It is believed that wild P. pelagicus stocks have been fully exploited, therefore, any further increase in *P. pelagicus* production is likely to have to come from either aquaculture or stock enhancement programs (Maheswarudu et al., 2008; Dixon and Hooper, 2009), both of which rely on successful hatchery seed production. Larval development of *P. pelagicus* includes four zoeal instars and one megalopal stage before settling as the first stage crab (Josileen and Menon, 2004; Andres et al., 2010). Generally, larval culture of P. pelagicus has the better survival than that of other commercially important portunid crabs, such as the mud crab Scylla spp. and the blue crab, Callinectes sapidus (Zmora et al., 2005; Nghia et al., 2007). However, high incidences of moulting death syndrome (MDS) during the period when zoea IV metamorphoses to megalopa is still commonly observed (Soundarapandian et al., 2007; Castine et al., 2008), which significantly impacts the final yield of seed production.

Previous research has shown that unbalanced dietary highly unsaturated fatty acids (HUFA) could lead to low larval survival as well as a high incidence of ing death syndrome (MDS) in larval culture of the mud crab, *S. serrata* (Suprayudi et al., 2004c; Dan and Hamasaki, 2011) and the swimming crab, *Portunus trituberculatus* (Takeuchi et al., 1999a,b; Arai et al., 2004). For *P. pelagicus*, larval nutrition, particular fatty acid nutrition, has also been suggested as a major contributor to incidents of unsuccessful larval rearing (Maheswarudu et al., 2008). However, there is no published information on the HUFA requirements of *P. pelagicus* larvae. This undoubtedly will hinder the development of hatchery culture protocols as well as potential formulation of cost-effective larval feeds for *P. pelagicus*.

More importantly, despite extensive research on n-3 HUFA (e.g. EPA and DHA) requirement for larval crustaceans, very limited research efforts have focused on n-6 HUFA requirements, particularly those for arachidonic acid (ARA) (Bell and Sargent, 2003; Nghia et al., 2007). Interestingly, our recent study revealed that there were positive correlations between larval ARA level and higher survival and shorter intermoult period in the newly hatched larvae of the swimming crab *P. trituberculatus* (Wu et al., 2010c). It is known that ARA generally serves as the preferred precursor for biosynthesis of eicosanoids, such as prostaglandin E_2 (PGE₂) and prostaglandin $F_{2\alpha}$ (PGF_{2a}), which play important roles in the modulation of growth, metamorphosis and stress resistance in crustacean and fish larvae (Koskela et al., 1992; Bell and Sargent, 2003; Van Anholt et al., 2004a,b). This current study was designed and carried out to assess the effects of dietary ARA on survival, development, growth and occurrence of MDS, and to identify the optimal dietary ARA level and ARA/EPA ratio for *P. pelagicus* larvae.

8.2 Materials and methods

8.2.1 Broodstock source and maintenance

Broodstock source and husbandry were described in Chapter 4 (Section 4.2.1).

8.2.2 Artemia enrichment

Five *Artemia* enrichment emulsions containing different ARA levels were formulated by incorporating 0% (ARA1), 8% (ARA 2), 16% (ARA 3), 24% (ARA 4) and 32% (ARA 5) of concentrated ARA oil (containing 41.19% ARA) (Table 8.1). Because the concentrated ARA oil used for formulation also contained 6.79% of 18:2n-6, the addition of different quantities of the ARA oil could lead to differences in 18:2n-6 contents of these emulsions. To resolve this problem, various amounts of corn oil (rich in 18:2n-6) and macadamia oil (rich in 18:1n-9) were added to maintain similar levels of 18:2n-6 in all enrichment emulsions (Bransden et al., 2005b). Concentrated n-3 HUFA oil (DHA/EPA=1.51, n-3 HUFA=67.53% total fatty acids) was also added to the emulsions to provide DHA (22:6n-3) and EPA (20:5n-3). Finally, 10% of soy lecithin was added as an emulsifier while 2% of α -tocopherol acetate was added as an antioxidant (Est évez et al., 2001; Villalta et al., 2005). Each emulsion was then emulsified with equal amounts of distilled water using an Ultra-turrax T25 homogenizer (IKA Works Inc, Wilmington, North Carolina, USA) operating at 10, 000 rpm for 60 seconds. They were then stored in bottles and kept in a refrigerator at 4°C.

To obtain newly hatched *Artemia* nauplii for the experiment, *Artemia* cysts (EG grade, INVE (Thailand) Ltd, Thailand) were hatched daily in 1-µm filtered seawater with a salinity of

25‰ at 28°C. After 24 h, nauplii (size between 430-520µm) were harvested for subsequent enrichment. Six-hour-old *Artemia* nauplii were enriched in 300 mL containers at a density of 200-250 *Artemia*/mL for 24 h with 0.6 g/L of each emulsion oil (Sui et al., 2007). During enrichment, temperature and salinity were maintained at 28 °C and 25‰, respectively. Enriched *Artemia* were then harvested and rinsed with freshwater to remove traces of the emulsion before being fed to *P. pelagicus* larvae. Any enriched *Artemia* that were not fed to larvae were immediately placed at 4 °C in a refrigerator to minimize fatty acid catabolism (Merchie, 1996), they were to be used within 24 h and any leftovers discarded after this period. Enriched *Artemia* (ca.1-2 g/sample) in each treatment were sampled three times during the larval culture for lipid and fatty acid analysis. All samples were stored at -70 °C before analysis took place.

		· · · I					
	Source	ARA1	ARA 2	ARA 3	ARA 4	ARA 5	
ARA oil	А	0	80	160	240	320	
Macadamia oil	В	440	370	300	230	160	
Corn oil	С	40	30	20	10	0	
n-3 HUFA oil	D	400	400	400	400	400	
Soy Lecithin	С	100	100	100	100	100	
α -tocopherol acetate	E	20	20	20	20	20	

Table 8.1 The formulation (mg/g) of five experimental emulsion oils for Artemia enrichment

Source of the ingredients:

A. Cargill health and food Technologies, MA, USA, contained 41.19% arachidonic acid (20:4n-6);

B. Macadamias (Aust) Ltd, Gympie, Queensland, Australia;

C. Sigma-Aldrich Pty Ltd, Castle hill, NSW, Australia;

D. Obsidian Research Ltd, U.K., contained 67.53% of n-3 HUFA; DHA/EPA=1.51;

E. Blackmores Ltd, Warriewood, New South Wales, Australia.

8.2.3 Experimental design and setup

On the day of larval hatching, within 8 h of hatching, healthy and actively swimming zoea I larvae origated from one female were collected and randomly transferred into 600 mL glass beakers filled with 500 mL UV- treated, 1 μ m filtered seawater at a salinity of 28‰. Twenty-five larvae were stocked into each beaker as a replicate. There were five treatments (Treatment 1 to 5, defined as T1-T5) with larvae fed *Artemia* enriched with self-prepared ARA1- ARA5 emulsions, respectively. Every treatment had 6 replicates and among them, one replicate was used exclusively for sampling of zoea IV for measurement of chela length (CHL) and carapace length (CL) to calculate the ratio of chela length (CHL) to carapace length (CL) (CHL/CL), which has been reported as a good index of morphogenesis from final zoea to megalopae in portunid crabs (Hamasaki et al., 2002a; Arai et al., 2004). Throughout the experiment, water temperature was maintained at 28±1 $\$ using a water bath. Photoperiod was set at 14 h light :10 h dark, and light was provided by fluorescent lights with light intensity ranging between 500 - 600 lux. At the beginning of the experiment, three samples of newly

hatched zoea I (50 larvae/sample) were collected and briefly rinsed with 0.5 M ammonium bicarbonate to remove trace of salt before being blotted dry on a filter paper. They were then oven-dried at 60 % for 24 h before being weighed to determine the average dry weight of individual newly hatched zoea I larvae.

Previous research in this laboratory has shown that when cultured in beakers with daily 100% water exchange, newly hatched larvae of *P. pelagicus* fed *Artemia* alone, could show comparable survival to those fed on rotifers (Josileen and Zeng, unpublished data). As a result, throughout this experiment, the larvae were fed enriched *Artemia* containing five levels of ARA (Table 8.2). *Artemia* were held at a density of 4 ind. mL^{-1} for all treatments. Each morning, total water exchange was carried out when surviving larvae in each beaker were counted and staged before being transferred to a new beaker with clean seawater and fresh enriched *Artemia*. Mortality and moulting of larvae in each beaker were checked again 12 h later (i.e. every 12 h). By doing this, the average intermoult period of larval instars could be estimated more accurately. Cannibalism typically occurs after larvae metamorphose to megalopae when they develop two chelipeds (Castine et al., 2008). To avoid cannibalism, any newly developed megalopae were removed from beakers as soon as they were located. The experiment terminated when all larvae had either moulted to megalopae or died.

8.2.4 Data collection

Larval survival, development and specific growth rate (SGR)

Larval survival was expressed as cumulative survival to a particular larval stage, which was calculated by dividing the total number of larvae that moulted successfully to a particular larval stage with the initial number of larvae stocked into each replicate (i.e. 25). Similarly, larval development was expressed as the mean cumulative development time required reaching a particular larval stage from the newly hatched zoea I. The specific growth rate (SGR, % day⁻¹) was calculated for each replicate using the following formulae:

 $SGR = 100 \times (lnWt- lnWo)/D$

where Wo is the mean dry weight of newly hatched zoea I larvae while Wt is the mean dry weight of newly moulted megalopae; D is the cumulative development time (in days) from newly hatched zoea I to megalopae.

Carapace length and dry weight of newly settled megalopae

The carapace length (CL) and dry weight of each newly moulted megalopa were measured. Firstly the carapace length of a newly developed megalopa was measured using a microscope (precision=0.01mm). The megalopa was then briefly rinsed with 0.5 M ammonium

bicarbonate to remove traces of salt and blotted dry on a filter paper before oven-drying at 60 $^{\circ}$ C for 24 h. The dry weight of individual megalopa was subsequently determined using a Cahn C-33 micro-balance (precision=1µg, Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc, Pittsburgh, PA, USA).

The ratio of chela length to carapace length (CHL/CL) of Zoea IV

All zoea IV larvae (i.e. the final zoeal instar) in one replicate beaker of a treatment designed for measuring chela length (CHL) and carapace length (CL) were sampled for such measurements. These zoea IV larvae were fixed with 10% formalin for 24 h and then preserved in 70% ethanol solution. Their CHL and CL were then measured under a microscope and CHL/CL was calculated as an index of morphogenesis from zoea IV to megalopae (Hamasaki et al., 2002a; Arai et al., 2004).

Occurrence of moulting death syndrome (MDS)

Toward the end of the experiment, it was obvious that some of the mortalities occurring during the zoea IV metamorphosis moulted to megalopae were linked to moulting death syndrome (MDS), i.e. mortality due to larvae being incapable of completely shedding their old exoskeleton (Arai et al., 2004). In order to quantity the incident of MDS, all mortality of the larvae was examined using a microscope to determine if MDS was involved and the percentage of MDS was calculated using the following formula based on Hamsasaki et al. (2002a), Arai et al. (2004) and Dan et al. (2011):

MDS (%) =100% ×Total incidents of MDS during zoea IV metamorphosis moulting/(Total number of zoea IV mortalities during metamorphosis + total number of survival megalopae).

8.2.5 Total lipid and fatty acid analysis

See section 4.2.4. For enriched *Artemia*, three sub-samples of each treatment were pooled for freeze-drying. Then, enriched *Artemia* of each treatment was analyzed in duplicate for total lipid and fatty acid composition. The average of the two values was used as the final value. For each megalopal samples, because they were very limited for each treatment, only one sample was analysed for each treatment.

8.2.6 Data analysis and statistics

Homogeneity of variance of all data was first tested with Levene's test. Where necessary, arcsine-square root or logarithmic transformation was performed prior to analysis. One-way ANOVA was used to determine significant differences for various parameters among treatments. If any significant difference was detected, Tukey's multiple range test was used as the means

separation procedure. Pearson-test was used to determine statistical relationship between dietary ARA level and different biological parameters measured. The relationships between dietary ARA level and different biological parameters were further evaluated with regression analysis. When a normal distribution and/or homogeneity of the variances were not achieved, data were subjected to the Kruskal-Wallis H non-parametric test followed by the Games-Howell non-parametric multiple comparison test. P < 0.05 was regarded as the statistically significant level. The coefficient of variation was calculated as the percentage of standard deviation divided by the mean. For any treatment, all CHL/CL ratio data were measured from one beaker, the CHL/CL ratio from one beaker was considered as the unreplicated data. Therefore, only Pearson Chi-square was performed to test the correlations between zoea IV CHL/CL ratio and dietary ARA levels as well as the zoea IV CHL/CL ratio and the percentage of MDS during the metamorphosis moult to megalopa (Hurlbert, 1984). All statistics were performed using SPSS package (version 12.0).



Figure 8.1 The relationship between ARA contents of enriched Artemia and the emulsion oils

8.3 Results

8.3.1 Total lipid and fatty acid profile of enriched Artemia

The total lipid and fatty acid compositions of *Artemia* enriched with five emulsion oils containing different levels of ARA are presented in Table 8.2. Total lipid contents were similar for all five treatments. While all *Artemia* contained similar levels of saturated fatty acid (SFA), with the increasing ARA level of the emulsion oils from ARA1 to ARA5 (Table 8.1), a decreasing trend of 16:1n-7, 18:1n-9 and total monounsaturated fatty acid (MUFA) was evident in the *Artemia* enriched with these emulsion oils, respectively (Table 8.2). For the polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA), all enriched *Artemia* generally had similar contents of 18:2n-6, 18:3n-3, 20:5n-3 (EPA) and 22:6n-3 (DHA). As expected, the five experimental emulsions oils with graduated 20:4n-6 (ARA) contents resulted in increasing ARA level and ARA/EPA ratio of enriched *Artemia* and a significant positive correlation was detected between

ARA contents of enriched *Artemia* and ARA levels of the emulsion oils (Figure 8.1, n=5, *P* <0.01). Consequently, the ratio of n-3PUFA/n-6PUFA decreased from 2.61 for *Artemia*

	Artemia	Artemia	Artemia	Artemia	Artemia
	enriched with				
	ARA1	ARA2	ARA3	ARA4	ARA5
Total lipid	28.19	27.18	27.79	27.19	27.23
Fatty acids					
C14:0	0.62	0.55	0.60	0.58	0.62
C15:0	0.78	0.72	0.76	0.86	0.93
C16:0	8.75	8.47	9.13	9.09	9.31
C18:0	5.37	3.95	4.27	4.21	4.20
SFA	15.52	13.70	14.76	14.74	15.06
C14:1n7	1.75	1.70	1.74	1.72	2.08
C16:1n7	5.16	5.03	4.53	3.94	3.58
C16:1n5	0.62	0.59	0.58	0.62	0.69
C18:1n9	30.30	29.52	28.53	25.65	23.95
C18:1n7	4.29	4.14	4.49	4.31	4.31
C20:1n9	0.30	0.28	0.31	0.23	0.38
C20:1n7	0.89	0.94	0.94	0.82	0.76
MUFA	43.31	42.19	41.14	37.28	35.76
C16:2n4	0.57	0.54	0.59	0.60	0.61
C16:3n4	0.60	0.56	0.58	0.60	0.62
C18:2n6	8.78	9.20	8.42	9.43	9.40
C18:3n6	0.16	0.14	0.24	0.28	0.36
C18:3n3	14.84	14.40	14.71	16.47	16.16
C18:3n4	2.29	2.15	2.20	2.33	2.37
C20:2n6	0.18	0.22	0.16	0.16	0.46
C20:3n6	0.20	0.20	0.33	0.30	0.39
C20:4n6	0.53	1.95	2.97	3.99	5.30
C20:3n3	0.41	0.35	0.44	0.41	0.46
C20:4n3	0.411	0.43	0.38	0.43	0.45
C20:5n3	5.20	6.10	5.64	5.46	5.28
C22:2n6	0.20	0.17	0.25	0.23	0.25
C22:5n3	0.40	0.54	0.49	0.50	0.39
C22:6n3	3.73	4.46	4.11	4.06	3.63
$\sum PUFA (\geq 18:2n)$	36.83	40.30	40.32	44.06	44.87
∑n-3PUFA	24.98	26.28	25.77	27.33	26.34
∑n-6PUFA	9.56	11.88	12.36	14.39	16.16
n-3/n-6	2.61	2.21	2.08	1.90	1.63
∑HUFA (≥20:3n)	10.87	14.03	14.36	15.15	15.87
DHA/EPA	0.72	0.73	0.73	0.74	0.68
ARA/EPA	0.10	0.32	0.53	0.73	1.00

Table 8.2 Total lipid contents (% dry weight) and fatty acid composition (% total fatty acids) of *Artemia* enriched with five emulsions with graduated ARA concentrations

enriched with ARA1 to 1.63 for those enriched with ARA5 while the ratio of ARA/EPA increased from 0.10 to 1.00, respectively. Table 3 shows the absolute contents (mg/g DW) of

principal fatty acids of *Artemia* enriched with the five emulsion oils and similar trends were found when fatty acid compositions were expressed as % of total fatty acids (Table 8.2). The ARA contents ranged from 1.10 mg/g DW in the *Artemia* enriched with ARA1 to 11.12 mg/g DW of the *Artemia* enriched with ARA5, while the total fatty acid contents remained very similar among all treatments (205.79 - 211.20 mg/g DW) (Table 8.3).

	Artemia	Artemia	Artemia	Artemia	Artemia
	enriched with	enriched	enriched	enriched with	enriched with
	ARA1	with ARA2	with ARA3	ARA4	ARA5
C16:0	18.01	17.50	19.28	19.03	19.53
C18:0	11.06	8.17	9.03	8.82	8.80
SFA	31.93	28.30	31.18	30.86	31.58
C16:1n7	10.61	10.41	9.56	8.25	7.51
C18:1n9	62.36	61.97	60.27	53.69	50.22
C18:1n7	8.83	8.54	9.49	9.03	9.03
MUFA	89.12	87.15	84.88	78.06	74.97
C18:2n6	17.05	19.00	17.78	19.75	19.71
C18:3n3	30.53	29.74	31.06	34.49	33.89
C18:3n4	4.72	4.40	4.64	4.88	4.96
C20:4n6	1.10	4.03	6.27	8.36	11.12
C20:5n3	10.70	12.61	11.91	11.44	11.06
C22:6n3	7.67	9.21	8.68	8.51	7.55
∑PUFA (≥18:2n)	75.79	83.25	85.17	92.24	94.07
∑n-3PUFA	51.40	54.28	54.42	57.23	55.23
∑n-6PUFA	19.67	24.53	26.11	30.13	33.88
∑HUFA (≥20:3n)	22.37	28.98	30.33	31.72	33.28
Total fatty acids	205.79	206.57	211.20	209.36	208.31

Table 8.3 Principal fatty acid contents (mg/g DW) of *Artemia* enriched with five emulsions with graduated ARA concentrations

Table 8.4 Cumulative survival (%) to subsequent larval stages of newly hatched *Portunus* pelagicus zoea I larvae fed enriched *Artemia* containing different levels of ARA

Treatmonte		Cumula	tive survival (%)	
Treatments -	Zoea II	Zoea III	Zoea IV	Megalopa (CV)
T1	90.2 ± 3.5^{a}	85.3±4.4 ^{ab}	76.3 ± 4.0^{ab}	36.3±7.4 ^{bc} (20.4)
T2	95.2 ± 6.6^{ab}	90.9 ± 6.2^{abc}	83.4 ± 4.2^{b}	15.8 ± 6.5^{a} (41.1)
Т3	96.8 ± 3.3^{b}	92.7 ± 3.3^{bc}	87.1 ± 5.9^{b}	$45.6\pm3.8^{\circ}$ (8.3)
T4	99.0 ± 2.0^{b}	95.9±3.4°	87.1 ± 9.1^{b}	33.5 ± 14.6^{bc} (43.6)
T5	97.3±4.5 ^b	82.8 ± 11.3^{a}	69.3 ± 17.4^{a}	$31.7 \pm 11.6^{b} (36.6)$

Data are presented as mean \pm SD (n=5). Values within a same column with different superscript letters are significantly different (*P* < 0.05). CV: coefficient of variation (%) = 100×standard deviation/mean.

8.3.2 Larval survival, development and growth

For all treatments, larval survival to the megalopa stage was successfully achieved. However, larval survival showed significant differences between treatments as early as the zoea II Stage with T1 showing significantly lower survival than T3 - T5 (Table 8.4, P < 0.05). The cumulative survival was similar and no significant difference was found among T2, T3 and T4 until zoea IV Stage. By the end of the experiment, larvae in the T3 treatment has the highest overall zoeal survival (i.e. cumulative survival to megalopa = 45.6%), followed by T1, T4, T5 and T2, while larvae in the T2 treatment had significant lower survival than those in other treatments. The lowest coefficient of variation (CV) of zoeal survival was also found in T3 (8.33%), indicating that survival was most consistent among replicates for the treatment.

Portunus pel	Portunus pelagicus zoea I larvae fed enriched Artemia containing different ARA levels							
Treatment	Cumulative development period (days)							
S	Zoea II	Zoea III	Zoea IV	Megalopa (CV)				
T1	2.2±0.1 ^a	4.5 ± 0.1^{bc}	7.6 ± 0.2^{d}	$11.4 \pm 0.2^{d}(1.7)$				
T2	2.2 ± 0.2^{a}	4.4 ± 0.1^{ab}	6.5 ± 0.1^{b}	$9.8\pm0.2^{b}(2.2)$				
T3	2.2±0.1 ^a	4.2 ± 0.1^{a}	6.2±0.1 ^a	$9.3 \pm 0.1^{a}(1.0)$				
T4	2.1 ±0.0 ^a	4.3±0.1 ^{ab}	$7.2 \pm 0.2^{\circ}$	$10.9 \pm 0.2^{\circ} (1.8)$				
T5	2.1±0.1 ^a	$4.6 \pm 0.3^{\circ}$	7.9 ± 0.3^{e}	$11.5 \pm 0.6^{d} (5.2)$				

Table 8.5 Cumulative development time (days) to subsequent larval stages of newly hatched

 Portunus pelagicus zoea I larvae fed enriched Artemia containing different ARA levels

Data are presented as mean \pm SD (n=5). Values within a same column with different superscript letters are significantly different (*P* < 0.05). CV: co-efficient of variation (%) = 100×standard deviation/mean.



Figure 8.2 Regression between dietary ARA level and zoeal development time to megalopa (A); specific growth rates (SGR) on larval dry weight (B); mean carapace length (C) and dry weight of newly metamorphosed megalopae (D) of *Portunus pelagicus* larvae fed enriched *Artemia* containing different ARA levels

Table 8.5 shows mean development time from newly hatched zoea I to each subsequent zoeal stage and finally to the megalopal stage for each treatment. Significant differences in larval cumulative development time were firstly detected at the zoea III stage and the differences appeared to increase with progressive larval development. Overall, from zoea III onward, larvae of T3 consistently had the shortest development time (P < 0.05) and showed the most synchronized metamorphosis moulting to megalopae among all treatments. Among other treatments, larvae in T2 had the second shortest overall zoeal development time (9.8 days), which was followed by larvae in T4 (10.9 days), and both development times were significantly shorter than that of larvae in T1 (11.4 days) and T5 (11.5 days) treatments (P < 0.05, Table 8.5). When larval dietary ARA level was plotted against overall zoeal development time, it fitted into an upper parabolic curve (Figure 8.2A, n=5, P < 0.01). Among treatments, T3 achieved the highest specific growth rate (SGR, % day⁻¹) of dry weight (DW) over zoeal development while T5 showed the lowest SGR (Figure 8.3). Regression showed that the correlation between dietary ARA level and SGR could be described as downer parabolic (Figure 8.2B, n=5, P < 0.05).



Figure 8.3 The specific growth rates (SGR, % day⁻¹) of *Portunus pelagicus* larvae fed enriched *Artemia* containing different ARA levels. SGRs are calculated based on dry weight of newly settled megalopae. Data are presented as mean \pm SD (n=5). Bars with different letters on the top are significantly different (*P* < 0.05)

Table 8.6 Carapace length and dry weight of newly metamorphosed megalopae of *Portunus* pelagicus larvae fed enriched Artemia containing different ARA levels

Treatments	Carapace length (mm)	Dry weight (µg.ind. ⁻¹)
T1	2.03±0.05 ^a	273.54±14.35 ^b
T2	2.13±0.02 ^b	$394.80 \pm 39.16^{\circ}$
Т3	$2.26 \pm 0.06^{\circ}$	475.07 ± 3.58^{d}
T4	2.03 ± 0.05^{a}	238.38 ± 18.22^{ab}
T5	1.99 ± 0.05^{a}	206.40±25.80 ^a

Data are presented as mean \pm SD (n=5). Values within a same column having different superscript letters are significantly different (P < 0.05).

8.3.3 Carapace length and dry weight of newly settled megalopae

The carapace length (CL) and dry weight (DW) of newly metamorphosed megalopae are shown in Table 8.6. The larvae from T3 had the highest CL and DW among all treatments and these were significantly higher than those in all other treatments (P < 0.05). The second highest CL and DW was found for larvae in the T2 treatment (P < 0.05). Interestingly, the lowest CL and DW were recorded for larvae in the T5 treatment in which larvae were fed *Artemia* containing the highest level of ARA at 5.30% total fatty acids. Regression showed that the relationship between dietary ARA level and both CL and DW of newly settled megalopa could be described as downer parabolic (Figure 8.2C and 8.2D, n=5, P < 0.05).



Figure 8.4 The zoea IV chela length to carapace length (CHL/CL) ratio (diamonds) and percentage of moulting death syndrome (MDS) (bars) during metamorphosis of *Portunus pelagicus* larvae fed enriched *Artemia* containing different levels of ARA. Data are presented as mean \pm SD. Bars with different letters on the top are significantly different (*P* <0.05).



Figure 8.5 Regression between dietary ARA level and the ratio of zoea IV CHL/CL of *Portunus pelagicus* larvae fed enriched *Artemia* containing different ARA levels. Data are presented as mean ±SD (n=5).

8.3.4 Zoea IV CHL/CL ratio and its relationship to MDS

Figure 8.4 shows the ratio of chela length to carapace length (CHL/CL) of zoea IV larvae and the percentage of MDS during the metamorphosis moult to megalopa in different treatments. Of all treatments, larvae from T3 had the highest CHL/CL ratio but the lowest percentage of MDS during the metamorphosis moult to megalopa. In contrast, the lowest CHL/CL ratio and the highest percentage of MDS were found for larvae in T4 and T2, respectively. Pearson Chi-square test suggested a negative linear correlation was found between zoea IV CHL/CL ratio and dietary ARA levels (Figure 8.5, r = -0.577, n=5, P <0.01). Furthermore, no significant correlation was identified between zoea IV CHL/CL ratio and the percentage occurrence of MDS (n=5, P >0.05).

	T1	T2	T3	T4	T5
Fatty acid					
C14:0	1.90	1.07	1.22	0.79	0.44
C15:0	0.75	0.62	0.45	0.52	0.59
C16:0	15.68	16.99	15.40	15.03	15.61
C18:0	8.11	9.01	8.01	9.06	8.42
C20:0	0.96	0.85	0.89	1.18	1.02
SFA	27.40	28.54	25.97	26.58	26.08
C14:1n7	0.37	0.31	0.42	0.45	0.39
C16:1n7	5.90	3.50	3.01	1.86	1.72
C16:1n5	0.38	0.56	0.51	0.50	0.65
C18:1n9	18.52	19.32	15.89	13.21	13.76
C18:1n7	3.91	4.65	4.38	3.90	3.46
C20:1n9	0.64	0.39	0.49	0.39	0.64
C20:1n7	1.26	0.91	1.04	0.89	1.99
MUFA	30.98	29.64	25.74	21.20	22.61
C18:2n6	9.67	7.15	6.30	4.87	5.91
C18:3n3	1.70	3.63	3.60	3.90	2.25
C18:4n3	0.37	0.81	0.50	0.77	0.76
C20:4n6	0.53	2.28	3.26	3.90	4.58
C20:3n3	0.39	0.48	0.72	0.78	0.66
C20:5n3	5.79	7.91	7.39	6.54	4.09
C22:6n3	4.86	4.45	5.45	4.20	4.81
∑PUFA (≥18:2n)	23.31	27.01	27.58	24.96	23.54
∑HUFA (≥20:3n)	11.57	15.12	16.82	15.42	14.62
∑n-3PUFA	13.11	17.28	17.66	16.19	13.05
∑n-6PUFA	10.20	9.43	9.56	8.77	10.49
n-3/n-6	1.29	1.83	1.85	1.85	1.24
ARA/EPA	0.09	0.29	0.44	0.60	1.12

Table 8.7 Fatty acid composition (% total fatty acids) of newly moulted *Portunus pelagicus* megalopae fed by enriched *Artemia* containing different ARA levels

8.3.5 Fatty acid profile of newly moulted megalopae

The fatty acid profile of newly moulted megalopae showed that there were six dominant fatty acids that contributed to more than 4% of the total fatty acids, which were 16:0, 18:0, 18:1n9, 18:2n6, 20:5n3 (EPA) and 22:6n3 (DHA) (Table 8.7). The percentage of these dominant fatty acids was generally reflective of larval dietary fatty acid compositions (Table 8.2), particularly for the 18:2n6, ARA, EPA and DHA. For example, the ARA percentage of newly moulted megalopae increased significantly from T1 (0.53%) to T5 (4.58%).

8.4 Discussion

A search of the literature suggests that this study is the first to use a dose-response design to examine the effect of dietary ARA on larval survival, development, growth and occurrence of MDS for a crustacean. For zoeal larvae of portunid crabs, microbound or microencapsulated diets are generally insufficient to support good survival and normal development through larval ontogeny, particularly for the early zoeal stages (Jones, 1998; Holme et al., 2006). Use of formulated diets is therefore not a feasible option for lipid nutrition studies for larvae of portunid crabs (Holme et al., 2006). This study utilized enriched Artemia for this purpose and the results showed that ARA in self-prepared lipid enrichment emulsions was readily absorbed/assimilated by Artemia. Therefore, by careful manipulation of ARA levels in lipid emulsions, graded ARA levels could be achieved in enriched Artemia, which can then be used to feed the crab larvae to access their dietary ARA requirements. Although similar dose-response experiments using enriched Artemia have been used to examine EPA and DHA requirement of crustacean larvae (Suprayudi et al., 2004b; Nghia et al., 2007; Sui et al., 2007), no published literature appears to exist for such study on ARA requirements. The outcomes of this study suggested that Artemia enrichment based, dose-response design, is a suitable approach for investigating the ARA requirements of crustacean larvae.

Survival data showed that for all treatments, mass mortality occurred during metamorphosis of zoea IV to megalopae (mortality rates between 40-70%). A high percentage of such mortalities could be attributed to ing death syndrome (MDS), i.e., larval mortality due to their inability to completely shed the old exoskeleton (Hamasaki et al., 2002a; Wu et al., 2007c). MDS is a common phenomenon found in brachyuran crab larvae during metamorphosis moulting, and mass mortalities due to MDS have been reported for various portunid crabs targeted for aquaculture, including the mud crabs, *Scylla serrata* (Hamasaki et al., 2002a), *S. paramamosain* (Takano et al., 2004), *S. tranquebarica* (Baylon, 2009) and the swimming crab, *P. trituberculatus* (Arai et al., 2004; Dan et al., 2013). More recent studies have revealed that an imbalance of dietary fatty acids is one of the major contributors to MDS in larval mud crabs

(Hamasaki et al., 2002b; Suprayudi et al., 2004a). The present results demonstrated, for the first time, that dietary ARA level also had a significant effect on the occurrence of MDS for *P. pelagicus* larvae. *P. pelagicus* larvae fed enriched *Artemia* containing 2.97% (of total fatty acids) of ARA (or 6.27 mg/g DW) had the highest survival with the lowest percentage of MDS. This treatment also recorded the shortest zoeal development time and most synchronized metamorphosis moult to megalopae.

In the mud crab S. serrata, excessive dietary n-3HUFA (DHA and EPA) has been reported to result in larvae with more advanced morphological features, i.e. showing morphological features of megalopae, such as large rudimentary chelipeds and plumose setae on pleopods, in the last zoeal stage larvae (zoea V) (Hamasaki et al., 2002b; Suprayudi et al., 2004a; Dan et al., 2013). Hamasaki et al. (2002a) defined such phenomenon as 'hyper-morphogenesis' and reported that S. serrata zoea V larvae with hyper-morphogenesis often led to MDS. These authors used the ratio of chela length to carapace length (CHL/CL) to quantify the degree of hyper-morphogenesis in S. serrata zoea V larvae. Since a positive correlation between dietary n-3 HUFA (particularly DHA) level and the occurrence of MDS was identified, both dietary n-3 HUFA level and the occurrence of MDS were positively correlated to the ratio of CHL/CL of zoea V, confirming that CHL/CL ratio is a good predictor of MDS (Hamasaki et al., 2002b; Hamasaki et al., 2002a; Suprayudi et al., 2002; Suprayudi et al., 2004a; Dan and Hamasaki, 2011). It was subsequently reported that for S. serrata and P. trituberculatus, if the CHL/CL ratios of the final zoeal stage larvae are higher than 0.45 or 0.37, respectively, MDS is likely to occur during metamorphosis (Arai et al., 2004; Dan and Hamasaki, 2011; Dan et al., 2013). Interestingly, in the current study, different results were shown because, in general, both dietary ARA levels higher or lower than 2.97% of total fatty acids, resulted in decreasing CHL/CL ratios of P. pelagicus zoea IV larvae. Moreover, in contrast to what was reported for S. serrata and P. trituberculatus (Hamasaki et al., 2002b; Hamasaki et al., 2002a; Arai et al., 2004; Dan and Hamasaki, 2011), lower CHL/CL ratios did not result in significantly reduced MDS, and no significant correlation was identified between zoea IV CHL/CL ratio and the percentage occurrence of MDS. Understandably, dietary ARA deficiency is likely to affect larval growth and hence lead to lower CHL/CL ratio in zoea IV larvae. The present results suggested that excessive dietary ARA could also depress larval growth and lead to a reduced ratio of CHL/CL; and in both cases, increased incidences of MDS as the result. The present results were different to the previous reports for S. serrata and P. trituberculatus (Hamasaki et al., 2002a,b; Arai et al., 2004; Dan and Hamasaki, 2011; Dan et al., 2013). The possible reasons might include different roles of ARA and n-3 HUFA during crab larval development and growth, as well as species-specific differences (Dan and Hamasaki, 2011; Dan et al., 2013).

P. pelagicus larvae fed enriched Artemia containing ARA at a level of 2.97% of total fatty acids not only had the higest survival and shortest larval development time, but resulting newly settled megalopae also had the longest carapace length and the heaviest dry weight. All these point to the importance of supplying appropriate dietary ARA during larval culture of P. *pelagicus.* The nutritional significant of ARA might firstly be explained by the fact that the moulting process in crustaceans is regulated by prostaglandin production and their ratios (Koskela et al., 1992; Brante et al., 2003). It is well known ARA and EPA are the precursors of series-2 (e.g. prostaglandin E₂, PGE₂) and series-3 prostaglandin (e.g. prostaglandin E₃, PGE₃), respectively (Yang et al., 2002). Optimal dietary ARA levels are therefore likely to result in increased PGE₂ synthesis and concentration in crustaceans (Reddy et al., 2004; Meunpol et al., 2010). Indeed, previous research has shown that brown tiger prawn *Penaeus esculentus* injected with PGE₂, a series-2 prostaglandin derived from ARA, displayed shorter moult cycles compared to the controls (Koskela et al., 1992). It is therefore possible that when dietary ARA is below an optimal level, increased dietary ARA would lead to increased PGE2 synthesis and concentration, hence enhancing larval development. However, since there exists a competitive inhibition between conversion of ARA to PGE₂ and EPA to PGE₃ (Bell and Sargent, 2003), further increase of dietary ARA beyond an optimal level may lead to excessive PGE₂ being produced with decreased PGE_3 production, resulting in an imbalanced PGE_2/PGE_3 ratio. The imbalanced PGE₂/PGE₃ ratio could lead to extended development time and high occurrence of MDS in P. pelagicus larvae. If this is true, then it suggested that like DHA/EPA ratio, ARA/EPA ratio is another important ratio that needs to be considered in crustacean larval nutrition and this aspect warrants further research.

In black tiger prawn *Penaeus monodon* juveniles, excessive dietary ARA has also been reported to reduce hepatopancreas palmitic acid (16:0) and total saturated fatty acid (SFA) contents (Glencross et al., 2001). Since 16:0 is one of the most important fatty acids for energy storage in crustaceans, low 16:0 levels have been suggested to have negative effects on moulting and growth of this species (Teshima et al., 1977; Teshima, 1998). Excessive levels of ARA in larval diets for *P. pelagicus* may have similar effects, resulting in reduced carapace length and dry weight of newly settled megalopae, high incidence of MDS and extended larval development.

Furthermore, experiments on mammals have shown that prostaglandin $F_{2\alpha}$ (PGF_{2 α}) have positive effects on protein synthesis while in contrast, PGE₂ inhibits muscle fiber formation and stimulates protein degradation. As a result, muscle growth could be modulated by altered ratios of these two prostaglandins (Palmer, 1990; Veli ça and Bunce, 2008). Although both PGF_{2a} and PGE₂ are derived from ARA and have been detected in crustaceans (Hampson et al., 1992; Spaziani et al., 1993; Reddy et al., 2004), the ratio of PGF_{2a} to PGE₂ might be regulated by exogenous ARA (dietary or injected ARA) because of preferred bioconversion or competitive inhibition of the same enzyme system for their synthesis. Prostaglandin H₂ (PGH₂) is an intermediate product for PGF_{2a} and PGE₂, that converts ARA to either PGF_{2a} or PGE₂ (Tocher, 2003; Reddy et al., 2004). Therefore, it is possible that the effects of dietary ARA on the larval growth of *P. pelagicus* observed in the present study are regulated by the ratio of PGF_{2a} to PGE₂. The optimal dietary ARA level might represent the level that produced most appropriate ratio of PGF_{2a} to PGE₂, resulting in the greatest carapace length and dry weight of newly metamorphosed megalopae as well as the highest SGR.

8.5 Conclusion

This study is the first report on quantitative larval ARA requirement of a crustacean. The present results suggested that dietary ARA level has significant effects on survival, development, growth as well as occurrence of MDS in *P. pelagicus* larvae. The results indicate that both deficient and excessive levels of ARA in larval diets could negatively affect larval performance. The optimal dietary ARA level for *P. pelagicus* zoeal larvae was identified to be around 2.97% of total fatty acids (or 6.27 mg/g DW) and the ARA/EPA ratio around 0.53. The results highlight ARA as an importance fatty acid for *P. pelagicus* larval survival and development and provide knowledge basis for the development of formulated diets for seed production of *P. pelagicus* in the future. The mechanisms underlying these observed effects of dietary ARA on *P. pelagicus* larvae warrant further research.

The effects of dietary arachidonic acid levels on survival, growth and fatty acid composition of early stage phyllosoma of ornate rock lobster, *Panulirus ornatus*

9.1 Introduction

The spiny rock lobster, *Panulirus ornatus*, is widely distributed throughout the Indo-West Pacific region, particularly in the tropical and subtropical waters of the region, such as the Torres Straits and Northeastern Australia (Ye, 2008; Ye and Dennis, 2009). This lobster species is targeted in a sustainable fishery in this region with a managed annual harvest in Australia and Papua New Guinea of approximately 662 tonnes (Ye, 2008). Although global demand for *P. ornatus* product is increasing at 15% per annum (Murugan et al., 2005; Jones et al., 2007; Smith et al., 2009a), the fishery for wild *P. ornatus* is fully exploited with landing yields plateauing during the past 10 years despite increased fishing effort (FAO, 2005; Hung and Tuan, 2009). Among the rock lobsters, *P. ornatus* is recognized as a prime candidate for aquaculture due to its short planktonic phyllosoma phase (<6 months), rapid growth (attaining 1 kg after 18 months post-settlement) and a delicate flavor (Johnston et al., 2008; Smith et al., 2009a). It is likely that sustainable production of this species will only be possible through closed-life cycle aquaculture production through development of commercially robust hatchery technologies (Priyambodo and Sarifin, 2009; Smith et al., 2009a).

The larval cycle of *P. ornatus*, is complex, consisting of eleven distinct morphological pelagic planktonic phyllosoma stages, a transitional planktonic post-larval puerulus stage and the first instar benthic juvenile (also known as post-puerulus) (Smith et al., 2009a). The current bottleneck in the aquaculture production of all Palinurid marine lobster species is the lack of ability to rear large quantities larvae, from egg through the multiple planktonic phyllosoma stages to puerulus and the benthic juveniles. Successful larval production has been achieved for *P. ornatus* in Australia, but only at small scales (Smith et al., 2009a; O'Sullivan, 2010). High mortalities during culture of the phyllosoma stages to puerulus, and the first instar juvenile, linked to a number of aspects, including poor nutrition (Johnston et al., 2008; O'Sullivan, 2010). Larval nutrition, particular fatty acid nutrition, has also been suggested as one of major contributor to incidents of unsuccessful larval rearing of this species (Wu et al., 2012).

Highly unsaturated fatty acids (HUFA), having carbon chain lengths of ≥ 20 and with ≥ 3 double bonds (Tocher, 2003), has been identified as essential fatty acids (EFA) for many

crustacean species (Xu et al., 1994a; Merican and Shim, 1996b; Suprayudi et al., 2004b). Because many crustaceans have limited capacity to synthesize HUFAs and therefore require certain amount of HUFAs in their diet (Kanazawa et al., 1979a,b). Previous research has shown that unbalanced dietary HUFA composition often leads to low larval survival and growth during larval culture of the rock lobsters, such as *Panulirus cygnus* (Liddy et al., 2005), and *Panulirus japonicus* (Kanazawa and Koshio, 1994). Our recent examination of the fatty acid composition, for early-mid Stages *P. ornatus* phyllosoma, has provided valuable insights into lipid nutrition for *P. ornatus* phyllosoma, and the results showed the Stage II-III phyllosoma accumulated relatively higher 20:4n6 (ARA) and 20:5n3 (EPA) than their live prey: *Artemia* (Wu et al., 2012). However, there is no published information on the HUFA requirements of *P. ornatus* phyllosoma. This undoubtedly will hinder the development of hatchery protocols as well as potential formulation of cost-effective larval feeds for *P. ornatus*.

More importantly, despite extensive research on n-3 HUFA (e.g. 20:5n3 and 22:6n3) requirement for larval crustaceans, very limited research efforts have focused on n-6 HUFA requirements, particularly those for ARA (Bell and Sargent, 2003; Liddy et al., 2005). It is well known that ARA generally serves as the preferred precursor for biosynthesis of eicosanoids, such as prostaglandin E_2 (PGE₂) and prostaglandin $F_{2\alpha}$ (PGF_{2\alpha}), which play important roles in the modulation of growth, metamorphosis and stress resistance in crustacean and fish larvae (Koskela et al., 1992; Bell and Sargent, 2003; Van Anholt et al., 2004a). Currently, *Artemia* have been used as major food source for early-Stage phyllosoma rearing as formulated diets could not support a good survival (Johnston et al., 2008; Wu et al., 2012). Although *Artemia* nauplii or meta-nauplii generally lacks HUFAs, enrichment can be used to improve the HUFA contents of the *Artemia*, which in turn affects the lipid composition of early stage phyllosoma for other rock lobster species (Ritar et al., 2004; Liddy et al., 2005). This study was designed and carried out to assess the effects of dietary ARA on survival, development, growth and fatty acid composition, and to identify the optimal dietary ARA levels for early-Stage *P. ornatus* phyllosoma.

9.2 Materials and methods

9.2.1 Broodstock source and maintenance

Broodstock source and husbandry were described in Chapter 5 (Section 5.2.1).

9.2.2 Artemia enrichment

Five *Artemia* enrichment emulsions containing different ARA levels were formulated by incorporating 0% (ARA1), 8% (ARA 2), 16% (ARA 3), 24% (ARA 4) and 32% (ARA 5) of concentrated ARA oil (containing 41.19% ARA) (see Table 8.1). Because the concentrated ARA oil used for formulation also contained 6.79% of 18:2n-6, the addition of different quantities of the ARA oil could lead to differences in 18:2n-6 contents of these emulsions. To resolve this problem, various amounts of corn oil (rich in 18:2n-6) and macadamia oil (rich in 18:1n-9) were added to maintain similar levels of 18:2n-6 in all enrichment emulsions (Bransden et al., 2005b). Concentrated n-3 HUFA oil (DHA/EPA=1.51, n-3 HUFA=67.53% total fatty acids) was also added to the emulsions to provide DHA (22:6n-3) and EPA (20:5n-3). Finally, 10% of soy lecithin was added as an emulsifier while 2% of α -tocopherol acetate was added as an antioxidant (Est évez et al., 2001; Villalta et al., 2005). Each emulsion was then emulsified with equal amounts of distilled water using an Ultra-turrax T25 homogenizer (IKA Works Inc, Wilmington, North Carolina, USA) operating at 10, 000 rpm for 60 seconds. They were then stored in bottles and kept in a refrigerator at 4°C.

To obtain newly hatched *Artemia* nauplii for the experiment, *Artemia* cysts (GSL strain, AAA+ grade, INVE Aquaculture Inc, Salt Lake City, UT, USA) were hatched daily in 50 L conical tanks at 28 ± 1 °C in filtered seawater (33-36‰). After 20-24 h hatching, the newly hatched nauplii (size: 430-520 µm) was harvested for subsequent enrichment. The newly hatched *Artemia* were disinfected in 400 µl L⁻¹ formalin bath for 1 hour before enrichment, and then they were enriched in 400 mL containers at a density of 200-250 *Artemia*/mL for 24 h with 0.6 g/L of each emulsion oil (Sui et al., 2007). During enrichment, temperature and salinity were maintained at 28 °C and 33‰, respectively. Enriched *Artemia* were then harvested and rinsed with UV treated freshwater to remove traces of the emulsion before being fed to *P. ornatus* larvae. Any enriched *Artemia* that were not fed to larvae were immediately placed at 4 °C in a refrigerator to minimize fatty acid catabolism (Merchie, 1996), they were to be used within 24 h and any leftovers discarded after this period. Enriched *Artemia* (ca.1-2 g/sample) in each treatment were sampled three times during the larval culture for lipid and fatty acid analysis. All samples were stored at -70 °C before analysis took place.

9.2.3 Experimental design and setup

On the day of hatching, within 8 h of hatching, active and photopositive phyllosoma originated from one female were collected from the surface of the broodstock spawning tank and transferred into a 20 L contain clean seawater for estimation of larval production. Experimental culture system was comprised of 20 x 250 ml mini round vessels (kriesels)

stocked at 25 phyllosoma per vessel. All experimental vessels were supplied with flow-through water equivalent to 300% water exchanges per hour. Water was introduced at the vessel bottom, providing minor levels of turbulence, but sufficient to maintain phyllosoma and feed in suspension. Seawater was supplied from a shoreline pump house with water being settled for 1-4 days followed by sequential passage through bag filters (100, 50 and 10 μ m), foam fractionation, ozonation (700-750 mV), UV (254 nm) and particulate/carbon filtration to 1 μ m. Seawater within this system was delivered to the point of usage within 20 minutes of processing. Salinity and water temperature were maintained at 32‰ and 28°C, respectively, during the period of the experiment. Light was provided by fluorescent light set on a photoperiod of 14 h light: 10 h dark and light intensity of 5 lx.

The culture experiment was conducted using four replicates, with 25 phyllosoma per replicate. There were five treatments (Treatment 1 to 5, defined as T1-T5) with phyllosoma fed Artemia enriched with self-prepared ARA1- ARA5 emulsions, respectively. At the beginning of the experiment, three samples of newly hatched Stage I phyllosoma (50 phyllosoma/sample) were collected and briefly rinsed with 0.5 M ammonium bicarbonate to remove trace of salt before being blotted dry on a filter paper. They were then oven-dried at 60 °C for 24 h before being weighed to determine the average dry weight of individual newly hatched Stage I phyllosoma. Throughout the experiment, the phyllosoma were fed enriched Artemia containing five levels of ARA (Table 9.2). Artemia were held at a density of 4 ind. mL^{-1} for all treatments. Each morning, surviving phyllosoma were counted and staged before being transferred to a new culture vessel, while old Artemia were removed. Fresh enriched Artemia, were then placed into each vessel at the density of 4 ind. mL^{-1} . Mortality and moulting of larvae in each vessel were checked again 12 h later (i.e. every 12 h). By doing this, the average development time (intermoult period) of larval instars could be estimated more accurately. When any newly moulted stage III phyllosoma was found, it was taken out for the later measurement and lipid analysis. The experiment terminated when all larvae either moulted to Stage III phyllosoma or died.

9.2.4 Data collection

Phyllosoma survival, development and specific growth rate (SGR)

Phyllosoma survival was expressed as cumulative survival to a particular larval Stage, which was calculated by dividing the total number of phyllosoma that moulted successfully to a particular stage with the initial number of phyllosoma stocked into each culture vessel (i.e. 25). Similarly, phyllosoma development was expressed as the mean cumulative development time

required reaching a particular stage from the newly hatched S tage I. The specific growth rate $(SGR, \% day^{-1})$ was calculated for each replicate using the following formulae:

 $SGR = 100 \times (lnWt- lnWo)/D$

where Wo is the mean dry weight of newly hatched Stage I phyllosoma while Wt is the mean dry weight of newly moulted stage III phyllosoma; D is the cumulative development time (in days) from Stage I to Stage III phyllosoma.

Total body length and dry weight of newly moulted stage III phyllosoma

The body length (BL) and dry weight of each newly moulted stage III phyllosoma were measured. Firstly the BL of a newly developed Stage III phyllosoma was measured using a microscope (precision=0.01mm). BL was defined as the distance between from the anterior margin of the cephalic shield to the posterior edge of the pleon. The phyllosoma was then briefly rinsed with 0.5 M ammonium bicarbonate to remove traces of salts, and blotted dry on a filter paper. A total number of 3-5 individual Stage III phyllosoma were randomly sampled and then dried in an oven at 60 °C for 24 h. The phyllosoma dry weight (DW) was subsequently weighed using a Cahn C-33 micro-balance (precision=1 μ g, Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc, Pittsburgh, PA, USA). Individual mean DW of Stage III phyllosoma was calculated by the division of phyllosoma number. The remaining samples were kept in a -70 °C freezer for the later fatty acid analysis.

9.2.5 Total lipid and fatty acid analysis

See section 4.2.4. For enriched *Artemia*, three sub-samples of each treatment were pooled for freeze-drying and homogenizing. Then, enriched *Artemia* of each treatment was analyzed in duplicate for total lipid and fatty acid composition. The average of the two values was used as the final value. For Stage III phyllosoma samples, because the survival numbers in each culture vessel were very limited, the survival phyllosoma from two vessels of each treatment were pooled for lipid analysis. Therefore, there were two replicates of each treatment for lipid analysis.

9.2.6 Statistical analysis

Homogeneity of variance of all data was first tested with Levene's test. Where necessary, arcsine-square root or logarithmic transformation was performed prior to analysis. One-way ANOVA was used to determine significant differences for various parameters among treatments. If any significant difference was detected, Tukey's multiple range test was used as the means

separation procedure. Pearson-test was used to determine statistical relationship between dietary 20:4n-6 level and different biological parameters measured. The relationships between dietary

	Artemia	Artemia	Artemia	Artemia	Artemia
	enriched	enriched	enriched with	enriched with	enriched with
	with ARA1	with ARA2	ARA3	ARA4	ARA5
Total lipids	26.28	25.86	25.97	25.62	26.01
Fatty acids					
C14:0	0.90	0.82	0.97	0.95	0.82
C15:0	0.70	0.71	0.80	0.78	0.73
C16:0	9.21	8.86	9.43	10.00	8.66
C18:0	4.16	4.38	3.91	4.47	3.77
SFA	14.97	14.76	15.11	16.20	13.97
C14:1n7	1.34	1.47	1.71	1.78	1.43
C16:1n7	4.65	4.22	3.73	3.67	3.33
C16:1n5	0.35	0.44	0.41	0.45	0.50
C18:1n9	30.41	27.41	25.46	23.00	22.83
C18:1n7	4.23	4.28	4.16	4.07	4.15
C20:1n9	0.28	0.43	0.39	0.37	0.23
C20:1n7	0.98	0.93	0.90	0.78	0.76
MUFA	42.23	39.18	36.76	34.12	33.23
C16:2n4	0.42	0.38	0.67	0.49	0.67
C16:3n4	0.48	0.49	0.47	0.52	0.46
C18:2n6	7.79	7.94	7.16	7.44	7.80
C18:3n6	0.20	0.28	0.28	0.35	0.44
C18:3n3	16.63	15.96	16.53	17.81	16.78
C18:3n4	2.53	2.43	2.43	2.60	2.43
C18:4n3	0.33	0.13	0.12	0.08	0.10
C20:2n6	0.10	0.23	0.13	0.26	0.14
C20:3n6	0.29	0.24	0.27	0.33	0.30
C20:4n6	0.66	2.58	4.43	5.45	8.36
C20:3n3	0.51	0.52	0.51	0.53	0.47
C20:4n3	0.55	0.60	0.54	0.56	0.56
C20:5n3	4.19	5.26	4.70	4.48	4.99
C22:2n6	0.86	1.31	1.31	1.07	1.25
C22:5n3	0.27	0.50	0.35	0.40	0.42
C22:6n3	4.01	4.78	4.57	3.99	4.40
∑PUFA (≥18:2n)	38.92	42.79	43.32	45.34	48.43
∑n-3PUFA	26.49	27.76	27.31	27.84	27.71
∑n-6PUFA	9.90	12.59	13.58	14.90	18.29
n-3/n-6	2.68	2.20	2.01	1.87	1.52
∑HUFA (≥20:3n)	10.48	14.49	15.36	15.73	19.50
DHA/EPA	0.96	0.91	0.97	0.89	0.88
ARA/EPA	0.16	0.49	0.94	1.22	1.68

Table 9.1 Total lipid contents (% dry weight) and fatty acid composition (%total fatty acids) of *Artemia* meta-nauplii enriched with five emulsions with elevated ARA concentrations

20:4n-6 level and different biological parameters were further evaluated with regression analysis. When a normal distribution and/or homogeneity of the variances were not achieved, data were subjected to the Kruskal-Wallis H non-parametric test followed by the Games-Howell non-parametric multiple comparison test. P < 0.05 was regarded as the statistically significant level. The coefficient of variation was calculated as the percentage of standard deviation divided by the mean. All statistics were performed using SPSS package (version 12.0).

9.3 Results

9.3.1 Total lipid and fatty acid profile of enriched Artemia

The total lipid and fatty acid compositions of *Artemia* enriched with five emulsion oils containing different levels of ARA are presented in Table 9.1. Total lipid contents were similar for all five treatments. While all *Artemia* contained similar levels of saturated fatty acid (SFA), with the increasing ARA level of the emulsion oils from ARA1 to ARA5 (see Table 8.1), a

	Artemia enriched with ARA1	Artemia enriched with ARA2	Artemia enriched with ARA3	Artemia enriched with ARA4	Artemia enriched with ARA5
C16:0	18.40	17.64	18.86	19.98	17.57
C18:0	8.32	8.71	7.82	8.94	7.64
SFA	29.90	29.40	30.21	32.37	28.35
C16:1n7	9.29	8.40	7.46	7.34	6.76
C18:1n9	60.73	54.57	50.90	45.97	46.32
C18:1n7	8.44	8.52	8.32	8.13	8.42
MUFA	84.34	78.01	73.50	68.18	67.42
C18:2n6	15.56	15.81	14.32	14.86	15.83
C18:3n3	33.21	31.77	33.05	35.60	34.04
C20:4n6	1.31	5.13	8.85	10.90	16.97
C20:5n3	8.37	10.48	9.40	8.96	10.12
C22:6n3	8.01	9.52	9.13	7.98	8.92
∑PUFA (≥18:2n)	77.73	85.20	86.63	90.61	98.26
∑n-3PUFA	52.91	55.28	54.61	55.64	56.22
∑n-6PUFA	19.77	25.08	27.66	29.78	37.11
∑HUFA (≥20:3n)	20.93	28.86	30.72	31.44	39.56
Total fatty acids	193.79	194.36	192.63	193.18	196.33

Table 9.2 Principal fatty acid contents (mg/g DW) of *Artemia* meta-nauplii enriched with five emulsions with graduated ARA concentrations

decreasing trend of 16:1n-7, 18:1n-9 and total monounsaturated fatty acid (MUFA) was evident in the *Artemia* enriched with these emulsion oils, respectively (Table 9.1). For the polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA), all enriched *Artemia* generally had similar contents of 18:2n-6, 18:3n-3, 20:5n-3 (EPA) and 22:6n-3 (DHA). As expected, the five experimental emulsions oils with graduated 20:4n-6 (ARA) contents resulted in increasing ARA level and ARA/EPA ratio of enriched *Artemia* and a significant positive correlation was detected between ARA contents of enriched *Artemia* and ARA levels of the emulsion oils (r=0.998, P < 0.01). Consequently, the ratio of n-3PUFA/n-6PUFA decreased from 2.68 for *Artemia* enriched with ARA1 to 1.52 for those enriched with ARA5 while the ratio of ARA/EPA increased from 0.16 to 1.68, respectively. Table 9.2 shows the absolute contents (mg/g DW) of principal fatty acids in enriched *Artemia*, and similar trends were found in absolute contents of fatty acids as fatty acid percentages (% of total fatty acids) (Table 9.1). The ARA contents ranged from 1.31 mg/g DW in the *Artemia* enriched with ARA1 to 16.97 mg/g DW of the *Artemia* enriched with ARA5, while the total fatty acid contents remained very similar among all treatments (192.63 – 196.33 mg/g DW) (Table 9.2).



Figure 9.1 Cumulative survivals (%) of ornate rock lobster, *Panulirus ornatus* phyllosoma from Stage I to II and Stage I to III fed enriched *Artemia* containing different ARA levels. Data are presented as mean ±SD (n=4).

Table 9.3 Development time (days) from hatching to Stage II and Stage III of ornate rock

 lobster, *Panulirus ornatus* phyllosoma fed enriched *Artemia* containing different ARA levels

			8
	Treatments	Stage I to II (CV)	Stage I to III (CV)
-	T1	$8.15\pm0.08^{\circ}$ (0.98)	$14.65 \pm 0.22^{ab} (1.50)$
	T2	7.58±0.12 ^a (1.58)	14.39±0.12 ^a (0.83)
	T3	8.22 ± 0.20^{bc} (2.43)	$14.88\pm0.14^{\rm bc}$ (0.94)
	T4	$8.23 \pm 0.09^{\circ}$ (1.09)	$15.10\pm0.23^{\circ}$ (1.52)
	T5	7.92±0.17 ^b (2.15)	$14.95 \pm 0.35^{bc} (2.34)$

Data are presented as mean \pm SD (n=4). Values within a column having different superscript letter are significantly different (*P* <0.05). CV: co-efficient of variation (%) = 100×standard deviation/mean.

9.3.2 Survival, development and growth

For all treatments, the similar survivals were found from Stage I to Stage II and Stage I to Stage II (Figure 9.1). The survival of Stage I to Stage II were approximately 90% for all treatment while cumulative survival from Stage I to Stage III ranged from 64.5% (T2) to 78.8% (T5). Although a slight higher survival was found in T3, T4 and T5 than that of T1 and T2, no

significant differences were detected among all treatments (Figure 9.1, P > 0.05). Table 9.3 showed mean development time from newly hatched phyllosoma to Stage II and III for each treatment. Significant differences in larval development time were detected for both stage I to II and stage I to III. Overall, phyllosoma of T2 consistently had the shortest development time (P < 0.05) and showed the most synchronized metamorphosis moult among all treatments. Among treatments, T2 achieved the highest specific growth rate (SGR, % day⁻¹) of dry weight (DW) over the period of Stage I to Stage III while T5 showed the lowest SGR (Figure 9.2). Further broken line regression analysis suggested that the optimal ARA content was estimated at 3.69 mg/g DW based on SGR of early Stage *P. ornatus* phyllosoma (Figure 9.3).



Figure 9.2 The specific growth rates (SGR, % day⁻¹) of ornate rock lobster, *Panulirus ornatus* phyllosoma from Stage I to Stage III fed enriched *Artemia* containing different ARA levels. SGRs are calculated based on dry weight of newly moulted Stage III phyllosoma. Data are presented as mean \pm SD (n=4). Bars with different letters on the top are significantly different (*P* < 0.05).



Figure 9.3 Broken line regression analysis of specific growth rates (SGR, % day⁻¹) and dietary ARA contents (mg/g DW) for ornate rock lobster, *Panulirus ornatus* phyllosoma from Stage I to Stage III fed enriched *Artemia* containing different ARA levels.

9.3.3 Body length and dry weight of newly moulted Stage III phyllosoma

The body length (BL) and dry weight (DW) of newly moulted phyllosoma are shown in Table 9.4. The phyllosoma from T5 had the lowest BL among all treatments and these were significantly lower than that in all other treatments (P < 0.05). The second lowest BL was found in phyllosoma from T4 (P < 0.05) while T1, T2 and T3 had the similar BL. Interestingly, although the highest body DW were recorded for phyllosoma in T2, no significant difference was detected on the body DW among T1, T2 and T3 treatments.

Treatments	Body length (mm)	Dry weight (µg.ind. ⁻¹)
T1	$2.43 \pm 0.02^{\circ}$	130.97±4.00 ^b
T2	2.41 ±0.03 ^{bc}	135.81±6.73 ^b
T3	2.41 ± 0.02^{bc}	127.10 ± 3.70^{ab}
T4	2.37 ± 0.03^{b}	119.35±9.79 ^a
T5	2.31±0.02 ^a	119.92±4.45 ^a

Table 9.4 Mean body length and dry weight of newly moulted Stage III *Panulirus ornatus*

 phyllosoma fed enriched *Artemia* containing different ARA levels.

Data are presented as mean \pm SD (n=4). Values within a column having different superscript letter are significantly different (P<0.05). CV: co-efficient of variation (%) = 100×standard deviation/mean.

9.3.4 Fatty acid profile of newly moulted Stage III phyllosoma

Twenty-seven fatty acids were identified in Stage III phyllosoma larvae with levels \geq 0.30% of total fatty acids while only 8 fatty acids were more than 5% of total fatty acids, including 16:0, 18:0, 16:1n-7, 18:1n-9, 18:2n-6, 18:3n-3, 20:5n3(EPA) and 22:6n3(DHA) (Table 9.5). The percentage of dominant fatty acids was generally reflecting the dietary fatty acid composition, particularly for 18:1n-9 and 20:4n-6. As expected, the ARA percentage in the phyllosoma larvae increased significantly from T1 (2.29%) to T5 (5.89%). Although the 18:2n-6 percentages were in a close range for five enriched *Artemia* treatments, significant lower percentages of 18:2n-6 was found in the Stage III phyllosoma from T3, T4 and T5 treatments. Table 9.6 showed the relative retention ratios (phyllosoma body PUFA percentage) of PUFA for the newly metamorphosed Stage III *P. ornatus* phyllosoma fed enriched *Artemia*. The decreasing trends were found in 18:2n-6 and ARA. Among the five PUFAs, 18:3n-3 had the lowest relative retention ratio while relative retention ratios of EPA and DHA were close to 1 for all treatments.

9.4 Discussion

To the best of my knowledge, this study is the first to use a dose-response design to examine the effect of dietary ARA on larval survival, development, growth and fatty acid composition of early stage larvae for a crustacean species. For early stage phyllosoma of ornate rock lobsters, formulated diets as replacement for live or fresh feeds are generally insufficient to support good survival and normal development through larval ontogeny (Johnston et al., 2008).

	T1	T2	T3	T4	T5
C14:0	1.52±0.06 ^b	1.61±0.16 ^b	1.65±0.14 ^b	1.56±0.49 ^{ab}	1.20±0.17 ^a
C15:0	0.72 ± 0.13^{b}	0.55 ± 0.06^{a}	0.71 ± 0.28^{ab}	0.70 ± 0.21^{ab}	0.68 ± 0.20^{ab}
C16:0	$14.67 \pm 0.28^{\circ}$	13.50±0.76 ^{ab}	13.65 ±0.73 ^{ab}	13.54±0.04 ^b	13.13±0.32 ^a
C18:0	7.98 ± 0.00^{b}	7.75 ± 0.11^{a}	8.00 ± 0.68^{abc}	7.69 ± 0.44^{ab}	$8.47 \pm 0.07^{\circ}$
SFA	24.89±0.47 ^b	23.41 ± 0.66^{a}	24.01 ±0.47 ^{ab}	23.49 ± 0.19^{a}	23.48±0.22 ^a
C14:1n7	0.95 ± 0.08^{a}	1.01 ± 0.23^{ab}	$1.45 \pm 0.08^{\circ}$	1.05 ± 0.14^{a}	1.25±0.11 ^b
C16:1n7	4.67±0.66	5.47±0.95	5.15±0.72	5.20±1.51	3.99±1.27
C16:1n5	1.77 ± 0.18^{d}	1.15 ± 0.11^{ab}	1.26 ± 0.05^{b}	$1.39 \pm 0.06^{\circ}$	0.98 ± 0.08^{a}
C18:1n9	17.87±0.76	15.50±0.17	14.67 ±0.13	14.53±1.36	13.75±0.74
C18:1n7	4.19±0.05 ^b	3.86±0.12 ^a	4.18 ± 0.06^{b}	4.23 ±0.31 ^{ab}	4.35 ±0.17 ^b
C20:1n9	0.47 ± 0.01^{b}	0.33 ± 0.12^{a}	0.46 ± 0.18^{b}	0.33 ± 0.12^{a}	0.42 ± 0.13^{b}
C20:1n7	1.12 ± 0.05^{b}	$1.02\pm\!0.05^{\rm a}$	1.18 ± 0.04^{b}	0.81 ± 0.26^{ab}	1.12 ± 0.04^{b}
MUFA	31.02 ± 0.19^{d}	28.32 ± 0.71^{bc}	28.33±0.47°	27.53 ± 0.06^{b}	25.86 ± 0.16^{a}
C16:2n4	0.78 ± 0.08^{b}	0.68 ± 0.05^{ab}	0.64 ± 0.04^{a}	0.65 ± 0.03^{a}	0.71 ± 0.01^{b}
C16:3n4	0.76 ± 0.05^{d}	0.36 ± 0.01^{a}	0.57 ± 0.02^{b}	0.60 ± 0.01^{b}	0.69±0.01°
C18:2n6	8.44 ±0.02 ^b	8.90±0.04°	6.56 ± 0.63^{a}	6.04 ± 0.52^{a}	6.17 ± 0.72^{a}
C18:3n6	0.77 ± 0.03^{b}	0.73 ± 0.08^{ab}	0.63 ± 0.09^{a}	0.62 ± 0.23^{ab}	0.60 ± 0.07^{a}
C18:3n3	5.30±0.11 ^b	$5.51 \pm 0.06^{\circ}$	5.12 ± 0.04^{a}	5.34 ± 0.42^{ab}	5.67±0.16 ^c
C18:3n4	0.89 ± 0.08^{a}	1.10±0.04 ^b	0.85 ± 0.15^{a}	$0.90\pm\!\!0.09^{\mathrm{a}}$	1.17±0.03 ^c
C18:4n3	$0.48 \pm 0.01^{\circ}$	0.45 ± 0.01^{b}	0.42 ± 0.02^{a}	0.46 ± 0.00^{b}	0.62 ± 0.04^{d}
C20:2n6	0.78 ± 0.06^{b}	0.76 ± 0.18^{ab}	0.59 ± 0.08^{a}	0.97 ± 0.43^{ab}	0.69 ± 0.07^{a}
C20:3n6	0.98±0.30	0.66 ± 0.07^{ab}	0.74 ± 0.04^{b}	0.61 ± 0.08^{a}	0.67 ± 0.16^{ab}
C20:4n6	2.29 ± 0.08^{a}	3.16±0.20 ^b	$3.69 \pm 0.02^{\circ}$	4.48 ± 0.28^{d}	5.89 ± 0.46^{e}
C20:3n3	1.00 ± 0.02^{b}	1.03 ± 0.42^{ab}	0.98 ± 0.04^{a}	$0.87\pm0.08^{\mathrm{a}}$	1.03±0.13 ^{ab}
C20:4n3	0.33±0.09	0.33±0.23	0.26±0.03	0.29±0.05	0.48 ± 0.18
C20:5n3	4.54±0.01	4.73±0.54	4.58±0.02	4.17±0.57	4.94±0.43
C22:2n6	0.61 ± 0.04^{b}	$0.85 \pm 0.14^{\circ}$	0.53 ± 0.04^{a}	0.66 ± 0.33^{abc}	0.59 ± 0.19^{abc}
C22:5n3	$0.69 \pm 0.04^{\circ}$	0.54 ± 0.12^{ab}	0.52 ± 0.04^{b}	0.54 ± 0.09^{b}	0.43 ± 0.00^{a}
C22:6n3	3.99 ± 0.49^{a}	4.49 ± 0.09^{a}	5.22 ± 0.44^{b}	4.77±0.75 ^{ab}	5.19±0.35 ^b
∑PUFA (≥18:2n)	31.06 ± 0.14^{a}	33.22±2.12 ^{ab}	30.65 ± 0.86^{a}	30.68±3.12 ^{ab}	34.11 ± 1.77^{b}
∑n-3PUFA	16.32±0.21	17.07 ± 1.46	17.08±0.33	16.42±1.96	18.35±0.59
∑n-6PUFA	13.86±0.26 ^b	$15.05 \pm 0.71^{\circ}$	12.73 ±0.69 ^a	13.37 ± 1.25^{abc}	14.60 ± 1.21^{bc}
n-3/n-6	1.18 ± 0.04^{a}	1.13±0.04 ^a	$1.34 \pm 0.05^{\circ}$	1.23 ± 0.03^{b}	1.26±0.06 ^{bc}
∑HUFA (≥20:3n)	13.81 ± 0.11^{a}	14.93 ± 1.67^{ab}	15.97 ± 0.41^{b}	15.70 ± 1.74^{b}	18.61±0.69 ^c
DHA/EPA	0.88 ± 0.11^{a}	0.95 ± 0.09^{a}	1.14 ± 0.10^{b}	1.14 ± 0.02^{b}	1.06 ± 0.16^{ab}
ARA/EPA	0.50 ± 0.02^{a}	0.67 ± 0.03^{b}	$0.81 \pm 0.00^{\circ}$	1.08 ± 0.08^d	1.19±0.01 ^e

Table 9.5 Fatty acid composition (%total fatty acids) of newly moulted Stage III *Panulirus* ornatus phyllosoma fed enriched Artemia containing different ARA levels.

Data are presented as mean \pm SD (n=2). Values within a line having different superscript letter are significantly different (*P* <0.05).

Use of formulated diets is therefore not a feasible option for lipid nutrition study for early stage phyllosoma (Liddy et al., 2005; Smith et al., 2009a,b). This study utilized enriched *Artemia* for this purpose and the results showed that ARA in self-prepared lipid enrichment emulsions was readily absorbed/assimilated by *Artemia*. Therefore, by careful manipulation of ARA levels in lipid emulsions, graded ARA levels could be achieved in enriched *Artemia*, which can then be used to feed the crab larvae to access their dietary ARA requirements. Although similar dose-response experiments using enriched *Artemia* have been used to examine EPA and DHA requirements of crustacean larvae (Suprayudi et al., 2004b; Nghia et al., 2007; Sui et al., 2007), no published literature exists for such a study on ARA requirements. The outcomes of this study suggested that *Artemia* enrichment, based dose-response design, is a suitable approach for investigating the ARA requirements of crustacean larvae.

Table 9.6 The relative retention ratios between phyllosoma body PUFA percentages and their dietary PUFA percentages of newly metamorphosed Stage III *Panulirus ornatus* phyllosoma fed enriched *Artemia* containing different ARA levels. Relative retention ratio = a fatty acid percentage of phyllosoma body / a respectively fatty acid percentage in the diet.

<u> </u>		<u> </u>		Ŷ	
	T1	T2	T3	T4	T5
C18:2n-6	1.08	1.12	0.92	0.81	0.79
C18:3n-3	0.32	0.35	0.31	0.30	0.34
C20:4n-6	3.47	1.22	0.83	0.82	0.70
C20:5n-3	1.08	0.90	0.97	0.93	0.99
C22:6n-3	1.00	0.94	1.14	1.20	1.04

My previous studies have showed that ARA and DHA are preferentially conserved at a high level during the starvation of newly hatched *P. ornatus*, indicating the important physiological functions for these fatty acids during the early ontogeny of this species (Wu et al, unpublished data). The previous study found the lower ARA levels was found on Stage II and Stage III phyllosoma compared to newly hatched phyllosoma when they were fed un-enriched newly hatched *Artemia* only containing 1.18% of ARA in total fatty acids (Wu et al., 2012). However, the current study showed dietary ARA levels did not significantly affect the survival for the early Stage *P. ornatus* phyllosoma for all treatments. Such a result might be explained by the fact that the Stage II and Stage III *P. ornatus* phyllosoma could preferentially absorb and deposit the dietary ARA in their tissue for the growth and development when their diets are lack of ARA. This explanation was further supported by the highest relative retention ratio of ARA was found in the phyllosoma containing ca. 2% ARA of total fatty acids still can support their normal survival (Wu et al., 2012). In the present study, the general survival to Stage III (around 70%) is higher than the previous reports for early stage phyllosoma only fed newly

hatched *Artemia* or on-grown *Artemia* (Johnston et al., 2008) (40%); this difference maybe ascribe to the batch variation and/or different culture conditions.

The present results clearly showed that the suitable diet ARA levels could promote the growth and shorten the development period while the dietary excessive ARA would inhibit/depress larval growth and delay the moulting. There are two possible explanations for this phenomenon. Firstly, crustacean growth generally depend on the moulting process and tissue growth, particularly for muscle growth, and the fatty acid composition of tissue membrane is relatively conserved for a specific species (Sheen and Wu, 2002). Inappropriate fatty acid composition in the diet might lead to unbalanced fatty acid composition of tissue membrane, which further resulted in slower growth and longer inter-moulting period (Merican and Shim, 1996b; Sui et al., 2007). Secondly, the nutritional significant of ARA might be explained by the fact that the ing process in crustaceans is regulated by prostaglandin production and their ratios (Koskela et al., 1992; Bransden et al., 2005). It is well known ARA and EPA are the precursors of series-2 (e.g. prostaglandin E2, PGE2) and series-3 prostaglandin (e.g. prostaglandin E₃, PGE₃), respectively (Yang et al., 2002). Optimal dietary ARA levels are therefore likely to result in increased PGE₂ synthesis and concentration in crustaceans (Reddy et al., 2004; Meunpol et al., 2010). Indeed, research has shown that brown tiger prawn Penaeus esculentus injected with PGE₂, a series-2 prostaglandin derived from ARA, displayed shorter cycles compared to the controls (Koskela et al., 1992). It is therefore possible that when dietary ARA is below an optimal level, increased dietary ARA would lead to increased PGE₂ synthesis and concentration, hence enhancing larval development. However, since there exists a competitive inhibition between conversion of ARA to PGE₂ and EPA to PGE₃ (Bell and Sargent, 2003), further increase of dietary ARA beyond an optimal level may lead to excessive PGE_2 being produced with decreased PGE₃ production, resulting in an imbalanced PGE₂/PGE₃ ratio. The imbalanced PGE₂/PGE₃ ratio could lead to extended development time and slower growth rate in early stage P. ornatus phyllosoma. Although some studies have revealed that ARA enriched Artemia would promote early stage phyllosoma growth for rock lobsters, including western rock lobster Panulirus cygnus (Liddy et al., 2005) and southern rock lobster Jasus edwardsii (Phleger et al., 2001), the optimal dietary ARA levels has not been identified for any lobster phyllosoma, even for any crustacean larvae. The present results clearly demonstrated, for the first time, that the optimal dietary ARA content is around 3.7 mg/g DW or 1.9% of total fatty acids (Fig. 3), which is significant higher than that of newly hatched and un-enriched Artemia (0.91 mg/g DW) (Wu et al., 2012). This suggested the ARA enrichment for newly hatched Artemia is important and essential for the culture of early stage P. ornatus phyllosoma when fed on newly hatched Artemia or on-grown Artemia.

The relative levels and ratios of major fatty acids in Stage III phyllosoma were positively related to the values for the same fatty acid parameter within the enriched Artemia, but with some modifications in some fatty acids, such as 16:0, 18:0 and 18:1n9. Compared to the enriched Artemia, those modifications of fatty acid composition in Stage III phyllosoma may be reflect their nature for body fatty acid composition. The fatty acid profile of Stage III phyllosoma was similar to our previous reports (Wu et al., 2012). Although there was a positive correlation between ARA levels of enriched Artemia and its percentages in Stage III phyllosoma (n=10, r=0.995, P<0.01), the relative retention ratio of ARA decreased dramatically from treatment 1 to treatment 5. This suggested early stage P. ornatus phyllosoma are able to preferentially assimilate and accumulate ARA from their diets when the dietary ARA level is inadequate. The similar results were found in western rock lobster *Panulirus cygnus* (Liddy et al., 2005) and southern rock lobster Jasus edwardsii (Nelson et al., 2004). Consequently, when dietary ARA level is above the optimal level, the relative retention ratio of ARA decreased with the increasing dietary ARA levels. Moreover, the decreasing trend of 18:2n6 levels (% total fatty acids) in treatment 1 - treatment 5 maybe ascribe to the increasing ARA levels. This is because both of them are belong to n-6PUFAs, and excessive tissue ARA percentages probably depress/hinder the assimilation and accumulation of 18:2n6 in P. ornatus phyllosoma. Our previous study has identified precocious Eriocheir sinensis could accumulate higher 18:2n6 in their gonads and muscle when diets were lack of HUFA (Wu et al., 2010a). Those results indicated that there may be strong interaction between C18-PUFA (such as 18:2n6, LOA) and HUFA for crustacean (Gonz dez-F dix et al., 2003). Therefore, further research is required to determine the optimal ratios of dietary ARA/LOA and ARA/EPA for the early stage P. ornatus phyllosoma, and to gain a better understanding of the interaction between dietary LOA and ARA as well as dietary EPA and ARA. In black tiger prawn Penaeus monodon juveniles, excessive dietary ARA has been reported to reduce hepatopancreas palmitic acid (16:0) and total saturated fatty acid (SFA) contents (Glencross et al., 2001). Since 16:0 is one of the most important fatty acids for energy storage in crustaceans, low 16:0 levels have been suggested to have negative effects on moulting and growth of this species (Teshima et al., 1977; Teshima, 1998). However, this effect is not clear in our results. This may be explained by the species-specific differences.

9.5 Conclusion

This study demonstrates the ARA contents in enriched *Artemia* was able to be improved via ARA-rich emulsion oil, and then the dietary ARA would effectively deliver to the early stage *P*. *ornatus* phyllosoma. The appropriate diet ARA level was able to sustain high survival, short

development time and fast growth, which led to the high individual dry weight and specific growth rate for the Stage III *P. ornatus* phyllosoma larvae. Further analysis suggested that the optimal ARA content was estimated at 3.69 mg/g DW for early stage phyllosoma of *P. ornatus*. The ARA percentage in Stage III phyllosoma increased significantly with the elevated dietary ARA levels while its relative retention ratio decreased dramatically from T1 to T5, which suggested early stage *P. ornatus* phyllosoma are able to preferentially assimilate and accumulate dietary ARA when their dietary ARA levels are inadequate.

The effects of dietary DHA/EPA ratios on larval survival, growth and fatty acid composition of blue swimmer crab, *Portunus pelagicus*

10.1 Introduction

The blue swimmer crab, *Portunus pelagicus* (Linnaeus, 1758), is a commercially important species that is widely distributed in the tropical and subtropical waters of Indo-Pacific region (Stephenson and Campbell, 1959). Because of their large size and delicate flavor, there is an increasing market demand for this crab species (Wu et al., 2010d). It is believed that wild *P. pelagicus* stocks have been fully exploited, therefore, further increase in *P. pelagicus* production is likely have to come from either aquaculture or stock enhancement programs (Maheswarudu et al., 2008; Dixon and Hooper, 2009), both of them rely on successful hatchery seed production.

Larval development of *P. pelagicus* includes four zoeal instars and one megalopal instar (Josileen and Menon, 2004b; Andres et al., 2010). While larval culture of *P. pelagicus* generally has better survival than other commercially important portunid crabs, such as the mud crab *Scylla* spp. and the blue crab *Callinectes sapidus* (Zmora et al., 2005; Nghia et al., 2007), high incidences of the moulting death syndrome (MDS) during the time zoea IV metamorphose to megalopae are still commonly observed (Soundarapandian et al., 2007; Castine et al., 2008). This has significantly impacted on the final yield of crab seed production.

Previous research has shown that unbalanced dietary highly unsaturated fatty acids (HUFAs) could lead to low larval survival with high incidences of MDS in larval culture of the mud crab, *S. serrata* (Suprayudi et al., 2004a,b; Dan and Hamasaki, 2011) and the swimming crab, *Portunus trituberculatus* (Takeuchi et al., 1999a,b; Arai et al., 2004). Larval nutrition, particular fatty acid nutrition, has also been suggested as a major contributor to unsuccessful larval rearing of *P. pelagicus* (Maheswarudu et al., 2008). HUFA is defined as fatty acids with carbon chain lengths ≥ 20 and containing ≥ 3 double bonds (Tocher, 2003) and they are considered as a crucial group of fatty acids to larval survival and growth of many decapod crustaceans (Sheen and Wu, 2002; Glencross, 2009). The important of appropriate dietary HUFA supply to crustaceans is primarily stemmed from the fact that many crustaceans have limited capacity to synthesize HUFAs *de novo* and therefore rely on dietary source for the supply (Kanazawa et al., 1979a).

Generally marine crustaceans have higher HUFA requirements as compared to freshwater crustaceans. This is thought to be reflective of higher HUFA levels presence in marine food chain (D'Abramo, 1997; Wu et al., 2010a). The most biologically significant HUFAs include 20:4n6 (ARA), 20:5n3 (EPA) and 22:6n3 (DHA) and they are considered to have a higher nutritional value for marine crustaceans as compared to 18-carbon poly-unsaturated fatty acids (C18-PUFA) (Xu et al., 1993; Xu et al., 1994a; Merican and Shim, 1996; Glencross and Smith, 2001). Past studies have focused on the nutritional effects of n-3 HUFAs for aquaculture of crustaceans, particularly EPA and DHA (Xu et al., 1993; Rees et al., 1994; Nghia et al., 2007; Sui et al., 2007; Wu et al., 2007c). EPA and DHA play important roles in many important physiological processes of crustaceans, including the important constitute of membrane phospholipids, as the precursors for biologically active eicosanoids and enhancement of neural development (Bell et al., 1986; Mourente and Tocher, 1992; Wouters et al., 2001). Previous studies have demonstrated that larval diets deficient in n-3 HUFA can result in a slow growth rate, high mortality, and prolonged inter period in larvae of many decapod crustaceans (Suprayudi et al., 2004b; Nghia et al., 2007; Wu et al., 2007c). Similarly, despite there are few reports, excess dietary HUFA supply has also been shown to have negative effects on larvae (Takeuchi et al., 1999b; Suprayudi et al., 2004b; Dan and Hamasaki, 2011).

DHA and EPA may perform different physiological functions in crustacean larvae (Takeuchi et al., 1999b; Suprayudi et al., 2004a,b). For example, in larvae of shrimp Penaeus monodon (Merican and Shim, 1997) and the crabs P. trituberculatus (Takeuchi et al., 1999a) and Eurypanopeus depressus (Levine and Sulkin, 1984), DHA has been reported to affect larval moulting and growth while EPA content has a significant impact on survival. However, there are limited efforts in addressing species-specific quantitative requirement of EPA and DHA (Merican and Shim, 1996; Takeuchi et al., 1999b; Glencross and Smith, 2001; Gonz dez-F dix et al., 2003a). There are a number of studies on marine crustacean larvae demonstrated that a greater DHA requirement as compared to EPA and it has been suggested that the dietary ratio of DHA to EPA could significantly affect larval survival and growth (Takeuchi et al., 1999b; Sui et al., 2007). However, there are considerable impediments to the efforts to better understand the provision and uptake of dietary DHA to marine crustaceans, especially considering that their preponderance to readily retro-convert DHA to EPA in both live foods, such as Artemia (Evjemo et al., 2001; Han et al., 2001), and cultured species such as Macrobrachium rosenbergii (D'Abramo and Sheen, 1993) and P. monodon (Merican and Shim, 1996a). However, the dietary DHA/EPA ratio is clearly important to marine crustacean larvae (Merican and Shim, 1997; Mourente and Rodr guez, 1997; Sui et al., 2007) as demonstrated in the swimming crab, P. trituberculatus (Takeuchi et al., 1999a) and the Chinese mitten crab, *Eriocheir sinensis* (Sui et al., 2007), if the ratio is not appropriate, it can negatively impact growth and survival.

The previous studies have showed that DHA was preferentially deposited during larval development of *P. pelagicus*, indicating the important of DHA during the early ontogeny of this species (Chapter 4). However, to date there is no published information on the HUFA requirements of *P. pelagicus* larvae. This can potentially hinder the development of successful hatchery protocols and stifle the formulation of larval feeds for *P. pelagicus*. Currently, the primary food sources for larval culture of *P. pelagicus* are rotifer and *Artemia* nauplii, there is no commercial formulated diet has been developed for their larval culture (Soundarapandian et al., 2007; Andr és et al., 2010). *Artemia* nauplii generally lack of HUFAs, however there are a number of enrichment products that can be used to increase *Artemia* HUFA content (Chapters 4). The present study was carried out to assess the effects of dietary DHA/EPA ratio on larval performance, occurrence of MDS as well as fatty acid composition of the newly moulted *P. pelagicus* megalopae.

10.2 Materials and methods

10.2.1 Broodstock source and maintenance

Broodstock source and husbandry were described in Chapter 5 (Section 4.2.1).

10.2.2 Artemia enrichment

The DHA/EPA ratios and fatty acid compositions of the five oils used for *Artemia* enrichment are shown in Table 10.1. Five oils contained different DHA/EPA ratios, while their SFA, MUFA and HUFA levels are in a close range. The formulations of five emulsion oils are shown in Table 10.2. Macadamia oil was used to provide saturated fatty acids and mono-unsaturated fatty acids. Ten percent of soy lecithin was added as an emulsifier while 2% of α -tocopherol acetate was added as an antioxidant (Est évez et al., 2001; Villalta et al., 2005). Each emulsion oil was then emulsified with equal amounts of distilled water using an Ultra-turrax T25 homogenizer (IKA Works Inc, Wilmington, North Carolina, USA) operating at 10, 000 rpm for 60 seconds. They were then stored in bottles and kept in a refrigerator at 4°C.

To obtain newly hatched *Artemia* nauplii for the experiment, *Artemia* cysts (EG grade, INVE (Thailand) Ltd, Thailand) were hatched daily in 1-µm filtered seawater with a salinity of 25‰ at 28°C. After 24 h, nauplii (size between 430-520µm) were harvested for subsequent enrichment. Six-hour-old *Artemia* nauplii were enriched in 300 mL containers at a density of 200-250 *Artemia*/mL for 24 h with 0.6 g/L of each emulsion oil (Sui et al., 2007). During
enrichment, temperature and salinity were maintained at 28 °C and 25‰, respectively. Enriched *Artemia* were then harvested and rinsed with freshwater to remove traces of the emulsion before being fed to *P. pelagicus* larvae. Any enriched *Artemia* that were not fed to larvae were immediately placed at 4 °C in a refrigerator to minimize fatty acid catabolism (Merchie, 1996), they were to be used within 24 h and any leftovers discarded after this period. *Artemia* (ca.1-2 g/sample) enriched with each emulsion were sampled three times over the same period as used for the larval culture for lipid and fatty acid analysis. All samples were stored at -70 °C before analysis took place.

Fatty acid	Oil 1	Oil 2	Oil 3	Oil 4	Oil 5
14:0	0.57	0.80	0.88	0.58	0.72
16:0	6.15	6.95	6.22	7.45	8.31
18:0	2.96	2.81	3.20	4.11	3.62
∑SFA	9.68	10.56	10.31	12.14	13.65
16:1n7	4.32	4.71	3.76	3.51	2.86
18:1n-9	20.92	18.81	17.00	17.13	15.15
18:1n-7		1.12	1.83	2.16	4.33
20:1n-9	2.16	2.02	1.18	1.36	1.82
20:1n-7	0.56	0.69	0.39	0.56	1.65
∑MUFA	27.96	27.91	24.16	24.72	25.81
16:2n-4		1.03	1.02		
16:3n-4	1.51	0.85	0.52		
18:2n-6	0.91		1.14	1.14	
18:3n-3	1.03	0.87	1.22	1.91	1.42
18:3n-6	3.69	3.84	2.92	1.57	1.43
18:3n-4	1.85	1.03	1.25	1.48	3.28
20:5n-3	35.05	30.51	25.47	16.83	12.32
20:4n-6	3.07	2.06	2.40	1.99	2.03
20:4n-3	0.98				
22:5n-3	1.17	1.64	2.16	3.00	3.32
22:6n-3	12.07	17.77	24.76	34.00	37.56
∑PUFA(≥	59 65	58 76	62 50	61.02	58 04
18:2n)	38.05	38.20	02.30	01.92	38.04
∑HUFA(≥	10 27	10 02	52 40	53.83	53 20
20:3n)	47.21	47.72	52.40	55.65	35.20
DHA/EPA	0.34	0.58	0.97	2.02	3.05
Unknown	2.20	1.39	1.51	1.22	2.50

Table 10.1 Fatty acid compositions (% total fatty acid) of the five type HUFA oils containing different DHA/EPA ratios.

10.2.3 Experimental design and setup

Larval culture condition was described in Chapter 8-Section 8.2.3. There were 5 treatments (Treatment 1 to 5, defined as T1-T5) with larvae fed *Artemia* enriched with 5 self-prepared emulsions, respectively. Every treatment had 6 replicates and among them, one replicate was used exclusively for sampling of zoea IV for measurement of chela length (CHL) and carapace length (CL) to calculate the ratio of chela length (CHL) to carapace length (CL)

(CHL/CL), which has been reported as a good index of morphogenesis at the final zoea stage in portunid crabs (Hamasaki et al., 2002a; Arai et al., 2004). Throughout the experiment, water temperature was maintained at 28 ± 1 °C using a water bath. At the beginning of the experiment, three samples of newly hatched zoea I (50 larvae/sample) were collected and briefly rinsed with 0.5 M ammonium bicarbonate to remove trace of salt before being blotted dry on a filter paper. They were then oven-dried at 60 °C for 24 h before being weighed to determine the average dry weight of an individual newly hatched zoea I larvae.

Previous research in this laboratory has shown that when cultured in beakers with daily 100% water exchange, newly hatched larvae of *P. pelagicus* fed *Artemia* alone could achieve comparable survival to those fed on rotifers (Josileen and Zeng, unpublished data). As a result, throughout this experiment, the larvae were fed *Artemia* enriched with 5 emulsions (Table 10.2). *Artemia* were fed at a density of 4 ind. mL^{-1} for all treatments. Each morning, 100% water exchange was carried out when surviving larvae in each beaker were counted and staged before being transferred to a new beaker with clean seawater and fresh enriched *Artemia*. Mortality and ing of larvae in each beaker were checked again 12 h after water exchange (i.e. every 12 h). This was done to ensure that the average intermoult period of each larval instar could be estimated more accurately. Since cannibalism typically occurs after larvae metamorphose to megalopae when they develop two chelipeds (Castine et al., 2008), to avoid cannibalism, any newly appeared megalopae were removed from beakers as soon as they were found. The experiment terminated when all larvae had either ed to megalopae or died.

	Source	Emulsion 1	Emulsion 2	Emulsion 3	Emulsion 4	Emulsion 5
Oil 1	А	680				
Oil 2	А		680			
Oil 3	А			680		
Oil 4	А				680	
Oil 5	А					680
Macadamia oil	В	200	200	200	200	200
Soy Lecithin	С	100	100	100	100	100
α-tocopherol acetate	D	20	20	20	20	20

Table 10.2 The formulation (mg/g) of five experimental emulsions oils used for *Artemia* enrichment

Source of the ingredients:

A. Obsidian Research Ltd, U.K.. The fatty acid composition of oil 1-5 were showed in Table 1 and these oils contained different DHA/EPA ratios;

B. Macadamias (Aust) Ltd, Gympie, Queensland, Australia;

C. Sigma-Aldrich Pty Ltd, Castle hill, NSW, Australia;

D. Blackmores Ltd, Warriewood, New South Wales, Australia.

10.2.4 Data collection

See section 8.2.4.

10.2.5 Total lipid and fatty acid analysis See section 4.2.4.

10.2.6 Data analysis and statistics

Homogeneity of variance of all data was first tested with Levene's test. Where necessary, arcsine-square root or logarithmic transformation was performed prior to analysis. One-way ANOVA was used to determine significant differences among treatments for various parameters measured. If a significant difference was detected, Tukey's multiple range test was used as the means separation procedure. Pearson-test was used to determine statistical relationship between dietary DHA/EPA ratio and different biological parameters measured. The relationships between dietary DHA/EPA ratio and different biological parameters were further evaluated with regression analysis. When a normal distribution and/or homogeneity of the variances were not achieved, data were subjected to the Kruskal-Wallis H non-parametric test followed by the Games-Howell non-parametric multiple comparison test. P < 0.05 was regarded as the statistically significant level. The coefficient of variation was calculated as the percentage of standard deviation divided by the mean. For any treatment, all CHL/CL ratio data were measured from one beaker, the CHL/CL ratio from one beaker was considered as the unreplicated data. Therefore, Pearson Chi-square was performed to test the correlations between zoea IV CHL/CL ratio and dietary DHA/EPA ratios as well as the zoea IV CHL/CL ratio and the percentage of MDS during the metamorphosis moult to megalopa (Hurlbert, 1984). All statistics were performed using SPSS package (version 12.0).

10.3 Results

10.3.1 Total lipid and fatty acid profile of enriched Artemia

The total lipids and fatty acid compositions of *Artemia* enriched with five emulsions of different DHA/EPA ratios are presented in Table 10. 3. *Artemia* enrichment increased total lipid contents and percentages of highly unsaturated fatty acids (HUFAs), particularly EPA (20:5n3) and DHA (22:6n3). Total lipid contents of enriched *Artemia* were similar among all five treatments. All enriched *Artemia* also contained similar levels of saturated fatty acid (SFA) and mono-unsaturated fatty acids (MUFA). For the polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA), while all enriched *Artemia* generally had similar contents of 18:2n-6 and 18:3n-3, as expected, a trend of increasing 22:6n-3 with decreasing 20:5n-3 were found in the *Artemia* enriched with 5 emulsions for 1 to 5, which resulted in a significant increase of DHA/EPA ratio of the enriched *Artemia*. Although enriched *Artemia* of 5 treatments differed in DHA/EPA ratio, they contained

close range of total poly-unsaturated fatty acids (PUFA), total HUFA, DHA+EPA (Table 10.3). The five experimental emulsions with elevated DHA/EPA ratio resulted in increasing DHA/EPA ratio of enriched *Artemia* and a significant positive correlation was detected between DHA/EPA ratios of enriched *Artemia* and that of the emulsions (r=0.965, n=5, P < 0.01).

	Newly hatched	<i>Artemia</i> enriched	<i>Artemia</i> enriched	<i>Artemia</i> enriched	<i>Artemia</i> enriched	<i>Artemia</i> enriched
Fatty acid	Artemia	with	with	with	with	with
		emulsion 1	emulsion 2	emulsion 3	emulsion 4	emulsion 5
Total lipid	18.61	28.35	29.43	28.67	28.74	29.66
Fatty acid						
C14:0	0.66	0.59	0.61	0.67	0.84	0.70
C15:0	0.25	0.39	0.41	0.39	0.48	0.38
C16:0	16.75	9.54	10.04	10.24	11.19	10.67
C18:0	7.06	4.31	4.76	4.85	5.11	4.72
∑SFA	25.15	14.82	15.82	16.15	17.61	16.47
C14:1n7	0.79	0.22	0.22	0.20	0.21	0.22
C16:1n7	5.03	4.86	4.40	4.34	4.51	4.72
C16:1n5	0.52	0.46	0.49	0.50	0.52	0.48
C18:1n9	18.20	29.26	28.34	28.54	26.01	28.10
C18:1n7	6.61	5.19	5.48	5.54	5.42	5.13
C20:1n	0.66	1.31	1.44	1.61	1.58	1.89
∑MUFA	31.82	41.31	40.33	40.73	38.25	40.55
_						
18:2n6	10.10	8.15	7.92	8.01	7.59	8.26
18:3n3	16.94	6.32	5.88	5.52	5.84	4.72
20:5n3	1.43	16.34	14.36	12.18	8.59	8.87
20:4n6	1.02	1.39	1.28	1.19	1.09	0.99
22:6n3	0.18	3.77	4.88	6.46	11.79	13.08
∑PUFA	37.26	38.24	36.77	36.78	37.84	38.68
∑HUFA	3.90	23.36	22.62	22.35	24.05	25.47
DHA/EPA	0.13	0.23	0.34	0.53	1.36	1.47
DHA+EPA	1.61	20.11	19.24	18.64	20.30	21.95

Table 10.3 Total lipid contents (% dry weight) and fatty acid compositions (% total fatty acids) of newly hatched *Artemia* enriched with emulsions containing different DHA/EPA ratios

10.3.2 Larval survival, development and growth

For all treatments, larval survival to the megalopal stage was successfully achieved. The cumulative larval survival was not significantly different among all treatments until zoea IV stage, however, the survival to megalopal stage were significant different (Table 10.4, P < 0.05), suggesting survival at zoea IV were particular impacted. During the zoeal development, it was observed that in all treatments, highest mortalities occurred during zoea IV metamorphosis ing to megalopa (Table 10.4). Larvae in the T3 treatment has the highest overall zoeal survival (i.e. cumulative survival to megalopa = 54.46%), followed by T4, T5, T2 and T1. The overall zoeal survival of T3 treatment was significantly higher than both T1 and T2 treatments (P < 0.05) but

the differences among other treatments was not significant (Table 10.4). Among all treatment, the lowest and second lowest coefficient of variation (CV) of zoeal survival was found for T4 (13.41%) and T3 treatments (28.61%), respectively, and both were substantially lower than that of other treatments (>51%), indicating that survival was most consistent among replicates for these treatments. During the zoeal development, most of mortality occurred during period of the zoea IV ing to megalopa (Table 10.4).

peragrens	peragrens harvae fed entrened Arrenna containing different DTAVER A fattos					
Treatment	Cumulative survival (%)					
S	Zoea II	Zoea III	Zoea IV	Megalopa (CV)		
T1	93.11±2.32	87.94±6.44	76.67±10.58	27.94±14.37 ^a (51.43)		
T2	96.44±5.69	92.92±10.88	89.01 ± 11.05	29.04±16.35 ^a (56.30)		
Т3	93.53±7.39	87.01 ± 10.18	80.38 ± 15.61	54.46±15.58 ^b (28.61)		
T4	93.89 ± 5.05	91.46±5.23	85.95±3.48	$46.22 \pm 6.20^{ab} (13.41)$		
T5	90.32±5.61	85.83±6.51	75.47±7.41	31.92±17.53 ^{ab} (54.92)		

 Table 10.4 Cumulative survival (%) to each subsequent larval stage of newly hatched Portunus pelagicus larvae fed enriched Artemia containing different DHA/EPA ratios

Data are presented as mean \pm SD (n=5). Values within a same column with different superscript letters are significantly different (*P* < 0.05). CV: coefficient of variation (%) = 100×standard deviation/mean.



Figure 10.1 The specific growth rates (SGR, % day⁻¹) of *Portunus pelagicus* newly hatched larvae fed enriched *Artemia* with different DHA/EPA ratios. SGRs are calculated based on dry weight of newly ed megalopae. The value in the bracket under the x-axis indicates its dietary DHA/EPA ratio of each treatment. Data are presented as mean \pm SD (n=4). Bars with different letters on the tops are significantly different (*P* < 0.05).

In contrast to survival, significant differences in larval cumulative development time were detected as early as at the first moult to the zoea II stage (Table 10.5). Until zoea IV stage, larvae of T5 consistently had the shortest development time while larvae of T1 had the longest development time (P < 0.05). For the overall zoeal development time, larvae of T4 had the shortest development time (9.1 days), and larvae from T3 and T5 had the second shortest time (9.5 days), which was followed by T2 (9.6 days) and T1 (9.9 days). Overall zoeal development time of T1 was significantly longer than that of larvae in T4 (P < 0.05, Table 10.5). For the

specific growth rate (SGR, % day⁻¹) of all treatments, T3 and T4 achieved the highest SGR of dry weight (DW) over zoeal development while T1 showed the lowest SGR (Figure 10.1).

10.3.3 Carapace length and dry weight of newly settled megalopae

The mean carapace length (CL) and dry weight (DW) of newly metamorphosed megalopae from different treatments are shown in Table 10.6. The larvae from T3 had the widest CL and the highest DW among all treatments and the differences were significant when compared to other treatments except T4 treatment (P < 0.05). The T4 treatment produced the second widest CL and the second highest DW, which was also higher than other treatments (P < 0.05). The lowest CL and DW were recorded for larvae of the T1 treatment, of which larvae were fed *Artemia* with the lowest DHA/EPA ratio (Table 10.6).

Table 10.5 Cumulative development time (days) to each subsequent larval stage of newly

 hatched *Portunus pelagicus* larvae fed enriched *Artemia* containing different DHA/EPA ratios

Treatments _		Cumulative de	velopment period (d	lays)
	Zoea II	Zoea III	Zoea IV	Megalopa
T1	2.2±0.1 ^b	4.5±0.1°	6.8±0.2°	9.9±0.3 ^b
T2	2.1 ± 0.1^{ab}	4.3±0.1 ^b	6.3±0.2 ^b	9.6±0.6 ^{ab}
Т3	2.1 ± 0.0^{ab}	4.2 ± 0.1^{ab}	6.2 ± 0.2^{b}	9.5±0.1 ^{ab}
T4	2.1 ± 0.1^{ab}	4.2±0.1 ^{ab}	6.2 ± 0.2^{b}	9.1±0.1 ^a
T5	2.0±0.1ª	4.1±0.1 ^a	5.9±0.3 ^a	9.5±0.2 ^{ab}

Data are presented as mean \pm SD (n=5). Values within a same column with different superscript letters are significantly different (P < 0.05).

Table 10.6 Mean carapace length and body dry weight of newly metamorphosed *Portunus* pelagicus megalopae fed enriched *Artemia* containing different DHA/EPA ratios.

Treatments	Carapace length (mm)	Body dry weight (µg.ind. ⁻¹)
T1	2.18±0.03ª	292.26±20.15 ^{ab}
T2	2.23±0.03ª	273.57 ± 37.26^{a}
T3	2.34±0.05°	354.02±18.63°
T4	2.30 ± 0.07^{bc}	322.87±22.31 ^{bc}
T5	2.25 ± 0.06^{ab}	295.99±9.93 ^{ab}

Data are presented as mean \pm SD (n=5). Values within a same column with different superscript letters are significantly different (*P* <0.05).

10.3.4 Zoea IV CHL/CL ratio and its relationship to MDS

Figure 10.2 shows the ratio of chela length to carapace length (CHL/CL) of zoea IV larvae and the percentage of MDS during metamorphosis moult of different treatments. A trend of increasing CHL/CL ratio was detected in larvae with the increase of DHA/EPA ratio from 0.23 to 1.36 for T1 to T4 treatments. However, CHL/CL ratio decreased significantly for T5 treatment when DHA/EPA ratio further increased to 1.47. Consequently, larvae from T4 treatment had the highest CHL/CL ratio while the lowest CHL/CL ratio was found in the T5

treatment. Larvae of T3 treatment had the lowest occurrence of MDS (29.45%) during the metamorphosis moult to megalopa while the significant higher MDS was observed in T1 (63.75%) and T2 treatment (66.47%). Further analysis demonstrated that the downer parabolic curves could be described for the relationship betwee the ratio of zoea IV CHL/CL and the percentage of MDS as well as the relationship between the dietary DHA/EPA ratio and the ratio of zoea IV CHL/CL (Figrure 10.3).



Figure 10.2 The chela length to carapace length (CHL/CL) ratio of zoea IV and percentage of moulting death syndrome (MDS) during metamorphosis of *Portunus pelagicus* newly hatched larvae fed enriched *Artemia* with different DHA/EPA ratios. Values in the bracket of x-axis indicate dietary DHA/EPA ratio. Data are presented as mean \pm SD (n=5). Bars or diamonds with different letters on the top are significantly different (*P* <0.05).



Figure 10.3 Regression between the ratio of zoea IV CHL/CL and the percentage of moulting death syndrome (MDS) during metamorphosis (A); dietary DHA/EPA ratios and the ratio of zoea IV CHL/CL (B) of *Portunus pelagicus* larvae fed enriched *Artemia* containing different DHA/EPA ratios

10.3.5 Fatty acid profile of newly moulted megalopae

The fatty acid profile of newly moulted megalopae showed that there were 7 dominant fatty acids that contributed to more than 5% of the total fatty acids, which were 16:0, 18:0, 16:1n7, 18:1n9, 18:2n6, 20:5n3 (EPA) and 22:6n3 (DHA) (Table 10.7). The percentage of these

dominant fatty acids was generally reflective of larval dietary fatty acid compositions (Table 10.3), particularly for the 16:0, 18:2n6 and DHA. For example, the DHA percentage of newly

<u> </u>	ica by children	Thiema contain	ing uniterent DI IA		
	T1	T2	Τ3	T4	T5
Fatty acid					
C14:0	1.31	1.05	0.99	1.31	1.04
C15:0	1.40	1.16	0.89	1.21	1.32
C16:0	19.44	17.26	17.08	15.75	15.75
C18:0	11.60	10.99	10.93	10.25	10.10
SFA	33.76	30.45	29.89	28.51	28.22
C14:1n7	0.87	0.84	0.74	0.81	0.87
C16:1n7	12.89	11.31	11.49	11.01	11.17
C16:1n5	0.70	3.19	1.41	0.92	2.25
C18:1n9	14.70	14.44	15.55	16.24	14.01
C18:1n7	4.24	4.17	4.74	5.39	4.67
C20:1n9	0.44	0.30	0.47	1.07	0.75
C20:1n7	0.63	0.75	0.84	1.36	1.19
MUFA	34.47	35.01	35.23	36.79	34.91
C18:2n6	6.83	6.25	6.79	7.04	6.10
C18:3n6	0.35	0.34	0.37	0.62	0.48
C18:3n3	2.06	2.39	2.48	2.24	1.86
C18:4n3	0.89	0.70	0.66	0.67	0.65
C20:4n6	1.69	1.66	1.86	1.82	1.77
C20:3n3	0.69	0.88	0.99	1.29	0.94
C20:4n3	0.21	0.25	0.27	0.22	0.58
C20:5n3	7.90	8.17	8.53	9.00	8.28
C22:2n6	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
C22:5n3	0.63	0.58	0.63	0.57	0.80
C22:6n3	3.71	4.34	4.67	5.76	6.20
∑PUFA	24.95	25 56	27.26	29.23	27.66
(≥18:2n)	27.75	25.50	27.20	27.25	27.00
∑HUFA	14.83	15.88	16.96	18.67	18.57
(≥20:3n)	16.00	17.01	10.00	10.75	10.20
∑n-3PUFA	16.09	17.31	18.23	19.75	19.30
∑n-6PUFA	8.86	8.25	9.02	9.48	8.35
n-3/n-6	1.82	2.10	2.02	2.08	2.31
DHA/EPA	0.47	0.53	0.55	0.64	0.75
DHA+EPA	11.61	12.51	13.21	14.76	14.48

Table 10.7 Fatty acid composition (% total fatty acids) of newly moulted *Portunus pelagicus* megalopae fed by enriched *Artemia* containing different DHA/EPA ratios

moulted megalopae increased significantly from T1 (3.71%) to T5 (6.20%). A linear correlation was detected between dietary DHA/EPA ratio and megalopal DHA/EPA ratio (Fig. 10.4A, n=5, P<0.01). A similar linear relationship was also shown between dietary DHA percentage (% total fatty acids) and DHA percentage of newly moulted megalopa (Figure 10.4B, n=5, P<0.01).

Although dietary EPA decreased substantially in *Artemia* enriched with various emulsions from T1 to T5 (reduced from 16.34% to 8.87%; Table 10.3), there was no concurrent decline in EPA noted in the megalopea. Newly moulted megalopae generally contained lower levels of 18:1n9, 18:3n3 and EPA as well as DHA/EPA ratio, but higher 18:0, 16:1n7 and 20:4n6 when compared to their respective diets.



Figure 10.4 Linear regression of A) dietary DHA/EPA ratio and larval DHA/EPA ratio; and B) dietary DHA percentage (% total fatty acids) and DHA percentage of newly moulted *Portunus pelagicus* megalopae.

When relative retention ratio of a fatty acid is defined as the percentage of a specific fatty acid incorporated in the body of megalopae was divided by the percentage of the same fatty acid incorporated in their diet (enriched *Artemia*), DHA showed a decreasing trend with increased dietary DHA level while relative retention ratio of EPA and ARA general showed an increasing trend. Among the five PUFAs, 18:3n-3 had the lowest relative retention ratio of between 0.33 to 0.45, while the highest relative retention ratio was found for ARA (> 1.20 for all treatments), signifying relative preservation of ARA in larval *P. pelegicus* at concentrations that were greater than it presented in their respective diets (Table 10.8).

PA ratios from	newly hatched	l larvae.			merent
PUFA	T1	T2	Т3	T4	T5
C18:2n6	0.84	0.79	0.85	0.93	0.74
C18:3n3	0.33	0.41	0.45	0.38	0.39
C20:4n6	1.21	1.30	1.57	1.67	1.79
C20:5n3	0.48	0.57	0.70	1.05	0.93

0.72

0.49

0.47

0.89

0.99

Table 10.8 The relative retention ratios (% of a specific fatty acid incorporated in megalopae/ % of the same fatty acid incorporated in their enriched *Artemia* diet) of major PUFAs in newly moulted *Portunus pelagicus* megalopae fed with enriched *Artemia* containing different DHA/EPA ratios from newly hatched larvae.

10.4 Discussion

C22:6n3

No previous study has used a dose-response design to examine the effect of dietary DHA/EPA ratio on the occurrence of MDS and larval survival, development and growth of a

portunid crab. Microbound or microencapsulated diets are generally inadequate for supporting good survival and normal development through larval ontogeny of portunid crabs, particularly for early zoeal stages (Jones, 1998; Holme et al., 2006). Use of formulated diets is therefore not a feasible option for lipid nutrition studies for zoeal larvae of portunid crabs (Holme et al., 2006). Consequently, the present study utilized enriched Artemia for the study and the results showed that during enrichment, DHA and EPA of self-prepared lipid emulsions was readily absorbed/assimilated by the Artemia. Therefore, by careful manipulation of DHA/EPA ratio in lipid emulsions, graded DHA/EPA ratio could be achieved in Artemia enriched with different emulsions. These enriched Aretmia with different DHA/EPA ratios can then being used to feed crab larvae to access their dietary DHA/EPA requirement. Although both DHA and EPA in enrichment emulsions were readily incorporated into enriched Artemia, the EPA retention was higher than that of DHA in enriched Artemia. This led to comparatively lower DHA/EPA ratio of enriched Artemia than that of the corresponding emulsion used to enrich them. The lower DHA/EPA ratio in the enriched Artemia is likely due to metabolic conversion of DHA to EPA by the Artemia (Han et al., 2001). Overall, the results of the present study demonstrated that Artemia enrichment based on a dose-response design is an appropriate approach for investigating effects of dietary DHA/EPA ratio on performance of crustacean larvae.

Survival data showed that for all treatments, mass mortality (30-50%) occurred during metamorphosis from zoea IV to megalopae and a high percentage of such mortalities could clearly be attributed to moulting death syndrome (MDS), i.e., mortality due to inability of the larvae to completely shed their old exoskeleton (Hamasaki et al., 2002a; Wu et al., 2007c). MDS is a common phenomenon found during metamorphosis of brachyuran crab larvae and mass mortalities due to MDS have been reported for various portunid crabs targeted for aquaculture, including the mud crabs, *Scylla serrata* (Hamasaki et al., 2002a), *S. paramamosain* (Takano et al., 2004), *S. tranquebarica* (Baylon, 2009) and the swimming crab, *P. trituberculatus* (Arai et al., 2004). More recent studies have revealed that an imbalance of dietary fatty acids as a major contributor to MDS in larval mud crab (Hamasaki et al., 2002b; Suprayudi et al., 2004a). The present results further demonstrated that dietary DHA/EPA ratio is clearly linked to the occurrence of MDS for *P. pelagicus* larvae.

In the mud crab *S. serrata*, excessive dietary n-3HUFA (DHA and EPA) has been linked to the appearance of abnormal advanced morphological features in the last zoeal stage (zoea V), i.e. showing morphological features of megalopae, such as large rudimentary chelipeds and plumose setae on pleopods (Hamasaki et al., 2002b; Suprayudi et al., 2004a). Hamasaki et al. (2002a) defined such phenomenon as 'hyper-morphogenesis' and reported that *S. serrata* zoea

V larvae with hyper-morphogenesis were often led to MDS. These authors have proposed that the ratio of chela length to carapace length (CHL/CL) in zoea V larvae of S. serrata can be used as a criterion for indicating the degree of hyper-morphogenesis. In their experiments, a positive correlation between dietary n-3 HUFA (particularly DHA) level and the occurrence of MDS was identified while both dietary n-3 HUFA level and the occurrence of MDS were positively correlated to the ratio of CHL/CL of zoea V larvae, suggesting that CHL/CL ratio is a good indicator for MDS (Hamasaki et al., 2002a,b; Suprayudi et al., 2002; Suprayudi et al., 2004a; Dan and Hamasaki, 2011). It was subsequently reported that for P. trituberculatus, if the CHL/CL ratio of a final stage zoeal larva was higher than 0.37, MDS was most likely to occur during metamorphosis (Arai et al., 2004; Dan and Hamasaki, 2011). Interestingly, in the current study, different results were shown because, in general, both dietary DHA/EPA ratio higher or lower than 1.36, resulted in decreases (someimtes significantly) CHL/CL ratios of *P. pelagicus* zoea IV larvae. Moreover, in contrast to what was reported for S. serrata and P. trituberculatus (Hamasaki et al., 2002a,b; Arai et al., 2004; Dan and Hamasaki, 2011), lower CHL/CL ratios did not result in significantly reduced MDS, but they generally led to significant increase in MDS. Understandably, dietary DHA deficiency is likely to affect larval growth and hence lead to lower CHL/CL ratio in zoea IV larvae. Our results suggested that excessive dietary DHA could also depress larval growth and lead to a reduced ratio of CHL/CL; and in both cases, increased incidences of MDS as the result. In fact, an overall significant negative correlation was identified between the CHL/CL ratio and the percentage of MDS for P. pelagicus zoea IV, which contradict the previous results reported for S. serrata and P. trituberculatus (Hamasaki et al., 2002a; Arai et al., 2004; Dan and Hamasaki, 2011). Such obvious discrepancy is difficult to explain, but possible indicating species-specific differences.

The present results clearly showed that an elevated dietary DHA/EPA ratio could accelerate larval development and shorten intermoult period for *P. pelagicus* larvae. This phenomenon is similar to marine crustacean larvae (Xu et al., 1993; Xu et al., 1994b; Suprayudi et al., 2004a,b; Sui et al., 2007). The internal mechanism maybe explained by the ecdysis modulation. Moulting of crustaceans and insects is regulated by ecdysteroids (Huberman, 2000; Subramoniam, 2000), which is secreted by Y-organ in the anterior branchial chamber of decapod crustacean and released into the haemolymph (Huberman, 2000). Ecdysteroids circulating in the haemolymph are converted to 20-hydroxyecdysone (20-E) or related compounds by peripheral tissues, such as the hindgut, ganglia, eyestalk and hepatopancreas (Mykles, 2011). However, in the tick *Ornithodoros moubata*, ecdyson was metabolized into three different compounds in embryos and larvae, and one of them conjugated with a C-22 fatty acids like DHA may possibly regulate moulting by the

modulation of ecdysteroid metabolism for insects (Dotson et al., 1993). Since both crustacean and insects are from the arthropod family and ecdysteroid metabolism is involved in their moulting regulation. Therefore, similar conjugation mechanisms may exist in the modulation of ecdysteroid metabolism.

Previous studies have demonstrated that DHA has a superior nutritional value when compared to EPA in terms of crustacean larval and juvenile growth (Xu et al., 1993; Merican and Shim, 1996; Sui et al., 2007). In vertebrates DHA is indispensable in the development of neural tissues, such as brain and eye retina (Bell et al., 1995; Innis, 2007), while marine crustacean species generally contain very high DHA levels in their tissue membranes (Teshima, 1998; Sheen and Wu, 2002) for the maintenance of cell membrane permeability, fluidity and resistance to osmotic shock (Palacios et al., 2004; Sui et al., 2007). Hence marine crustaceans generally have higher DHA requirements when compared to brackish or freshwater crustacean species (D'Abramo and Sheen, 1993; Sui et al., 2007). Although several previous reports have identified the importance of dietary DHA for the larvae of other crab species (Suprayudi et al., 2004a; Nghia et al., 2007; Sui et al., 2007), there is no published information on the dietary DHA/EPA ratio requirement for *P. pelagicus* larvae. While this study demonstrated that dietary DHA has very important role in the development, moulting and growth for *P. pelagicus* larvae, the function of EPA is unclear from the current study. This is because the lowest dietary EPA level was 8.59% of total fatty acids in this study, together with the potential retro-conversion of DHA to EPA in enriched Artemia and crustacean larvae (Merican and Shim, 1997b; Han et al., 2001; Sui et al., 2007). Dietary EPA input into larval crustaceans had an impact on larval survival and growth for the mud crab S. serrata (Suprayudi et al., 2004a), and influenced larval survival in the swimming crab P. trituberculatus (Takeuchi et al., 1999b).

The percentages and ratios of the major fatty acids in the newly moulted megalopae were positively related to the same fatty acid parameter within the enriched *Artemia*, especially for 16:0, 18:2n6 and DHA. The highly relative retention ratio of DHA was found in the larvae from treatment 1 to 3, which suggested *P. pelagicus* larvae are able to preferentially assimilate and accumulate DHA from their diets when the dietary DHA content is low and perhaps inadequate. Consequently, when dietary DHA level is above the optimal level, the relative retention ratio of DHA decrease with the increasing dietary DHA. However some of this lipid biochemistry may be explained the reduced inclusion of EPA stimulating retro-conversion of DHA to EPA to maintain a baseline concentration, as occurred in this study (Kanazawa et al., 1979a; Merican and Shim, 1997). Among the five PUFAs, 18:3n3 had the lower relative retention ratio, which suggested *P. pelagicus* larvae had low 18:3n3 requirements. As the requirement of dietary

18:3n3 is dependent on the dietary levels of DHA and EPA (Merican and Shim, 1997; Glencross and Smith, 1999; Gonz alez-F dix et al., 2003), the low requirement and relative retention ratio of 18:3n3 may indicate the dietary n-3 HUFAs is nearly sufficient for the survival and growth of *P. pelagicus* larvae.

The fatty acid composition of newly hatched larvae or embryo from wild females can generally provide valuable information on the fatty acid requirement of crustacean larvae (Phleger et al., 2001; Limbourn and Nichols, 2009). Compared to fatty acid composition of the embryos of wild *P. pelagicus* (ARA=2.97%, EPA=9.94%, DHA=7.41%), megalopae from treatments 4 and 5 contained similar levels of DHA and EPA , but lower ARA content, which indicated the dietary ARA level should be improved in the future for hatchery culture of *P. pelagicus*. Future studies to improve the fatty acid composition of emulsions, enriched *Artemia* and formulated diets, will assist in the provision of an optimized HUFA profile for *P. pelagicus*.

10.5 Conclusion

The present results suggested that dietary DHA/EPA ratio has significant effects on survival, development, growth, occurrence of MDS and fatty acid composition of newly ed *P. pelagicus* megalopae. The results indicate that both low and high dietary DHA/EPA ratios in larval diets could negatively affect larval performance. The optimal dietary DHA/EPA ratio was identified to be around 0.53 for *P. pelagicus* zoeal larvae. The results highlight the importance of dietary DHA/EPA ratio for larval survival and development of *P. pelagicus* and provide knowledge basis for the development of formulated diets for seed production of *P. pelagicus* in the future. The mechanisms underlying observed effects of dietary DHA/EPA ratio on larval performance of *P. pelagicus* larvae warrant further research.

The effects of dietary DHA/EPA ratios on survival, growth and fatty acid composition of early stage phyllosoma of ornate rock lobster, *Panulirus ornatus*

11.1 Introduction

Highly unsaturated fatty acids (HUFA) with carbon chain lengths of ≥ 20 containing ≥ 3 double bonds (Tocher, 2003) are considered to be an important fatty acid family for the survival and growth of many crustacean species (Glencross, 2009). This is primarily because many crustaceans have limited capacity to synthesize HUFAs de novo and therefore require a dietary source (Kanazawa et al., 1979a). Generally, freshwater crustaceans have a lower HUFA requirement compared to marine crustaceans, this is thought to be reflective of a low HUFA presence in freshwater systems; similar to terrestrial environments, significant terrestrial input into freshwater bodies and the adaptation of freshwater crustaceans to this environment (D'Abramo and Sheen, 1993; D'Abramo, 1998). The most biologically significant HUFAs include 20:4n6 (ARA), 20:5n3 (EPA) and 22:6n3 (DHA); they are considered to have a higher nutritional value for marine crustaceans when compared to 18-carbon poly-unsaturated fatty acids (C18-PUFA) (Xu et al., 1993; Xu et al., 1994a; Merican and Shim, 1996; Glencross and Smith, 2001). To date, many studies have focused on the nutritional effects of n-3 HUFAs for aquaculture crustacean species, particularly concentrating on the fatty acids EPA and DHA (Xu et al., 1993; Rees et al., 1994; Nghia et al., 2007; Sui et al., 2007; Wu et al., 2007c). These particular fatty acids are involved in many important physiological roles for crustaceans, such as the structural integrity of membrane phospholipids, precursors of biologically active eicosanoids and enhancement of neural development (Bell et al., 1986; Mourente and Tocher, 1992; Wouters et al., 2001). Many marine crustacean studies have demonstrated that diets deficient n-3 HUFA can result in slow growth rate, induce high mortality, prolonged inter period and reduced swimming activity, while similar results are also demonstrated with excess dietary HUFA (Takeuchi et al., 1999b; Suprayudi et al., 2004b; Dan and Hamasaki, 2011).

It is known that DHA and EPA perform different physiological functions in crustacean larvae. For the shrimp *Penaeus monodon* (Merican and Shim, 1997) and the crabs *Portunus trituberculatus* (Takeuchi et al., 1999a) and *Eurypanopeus depressus* (Levine and Sulkin, 1984) DHA is implicated in larval moulting and growth, while EPA content has an impact on survival. However, there have only been limited efforts made to address species specific EPA and DHA

quantitative requirements (Merican and Shim, 1996; Takeuchi et al., 1999b; Glencross and Smith, 2001; Gonz åez-F dix et al., 2003). There are a number of marine crustacean larval studies that have demonstrated a greater DHA requirement compared to EPA, it is likely that the proportions of DHA and EPA have a significant impact on larval survival and growth (Takeuchi et al., 1999b; Sui et al., 2007). There is a considerable impediment to the provision and uptake of dietary DHA to marine crustaceans especially their preponderance to readily retro-convert DHA to EPA in both live feeds, such as *Artemia* (Evjemo et al., 2001; Han et al., 2001), and cultured species such as *Macrobrachium rosenbergii* (D'Abramo and Sheen, 1993) and *P. monodon* (Merican and Shim, 1996a). Therefore the dietary DHA/EPA ratio that is delivered to marine crustaceans is critical (Merican and Shim, 1997b; Mourente and Rodr guez, 1997; Sui et al., 2007) because if inappropriate, as demonstrated in the black tiger prawn, *P. monodon* (Glencross et al., 2002) and the Chinese mitten crab, *Eriocheir sinensis* (Sui et al., 2007), it can result in negative lipid physiology impacting growth and survival.

The spiny rock lobster, *Panulirus ornatus*, is widely distributed throughout the Indo-West Pacific region, particularly in the tropical and subtropical waters of the region, including the Torres straits and Northeastern Australia (Ye, 2008; Ye and Dennis, 2009). Although global demand for *P. ornatus* product is increasing at 15% per annum (Jones et al., 2007; Smith et al., 2009a), the fishery for wild *P. ornatus* is fully exploited with landing yields plateauing during the past 10 years despite increased fishing effort (FAO, 2005; Hung and Tuan, 2009). Of all the spiny lobster aquaculture candidate, *P. ornatus* is recognized as the prime species due to its short planktonic phyllosoma phase (< 6 months), rapid growth (attaining 1 kg after 18 months post-settlement) and delicate flavor (Johnston et al., 2008; Smith et al., 2009a). It is likely that sustainable production of this species will only be possible through closed-life cycle aquaculture production and the development of commercially robust hatchery technologies (Priyambodo and Sarifin, 2009; Smith et al., 2009a).

The larval cycle of *P. ornatus*, is complex, consisting of eleven distinct morphological pelagic planktonic phyllosoma stages, numerous intermediate instars, and a transitional planktonic post-larval puerulus stage (Smith et al., 2009a). The current bottleneck in the aquaculture production for all Palinurid lobster species is the inability to rear large quantities of larvae from egg through the multiple planktonic phyllosoma stages to puerulus and the benthic juvenile stages. Successful larval production has been achieved for *P. ornatus* in Australia, but only at small scale (Smith et al., 2009a; O'Sullivan, 2010). High mortalities during culture of the phyllosoma stages to puerulus, and the first instar juvenile have been linked to a number of culture inadequacies, including poor larval health, a lack of understanding of phyllosoma

physiological requirements and insufficient larval nutrition (Bourne et al., 2007; Johnston et al., 2008; O'Sullivan, 2010). Larval nutrition, particular fatty acid nutrition, has also been suggested as one of major contributor to incidents of unsuccessful survival and metamorphosis of this species (Wu et al., 2012). Previous research has shown that dietary DHA could promote phyllosoma growth for spiny lobsters *Panulirus cygnus* (Liddy et al., 2005), and *Jasus edwardsii* (Nelson et al., 2004), the benefits of dietary DHA supplementation for *P. ornatus* is unknown.

The previous chapter has showed that DHA is preferentially conserved during starvation of newly hatched *P. ornatus* phyllosoma, indicating the important physiological functions of DHA during the early ontogeny of this species (Chapter 7). However, to date there is no published information on the optimal DHA/EPA ratio for *P. ornatus* phyllosoma. This will potentially hinder the development of hatchery protocols by not optimizing larval condition and stifle the cost-effective formulation of larval feeds for *P. ornatus*. Currently, the primary food source for early-stage phyllosoma rearing is *Artemia* nauplii and instar 2 nauplii, there is no cost effective diet that supports comparative survival at this stage of development (Johnston et al., 2008; Wu et al., 2012). *Artemia* nauplii generally lack HUFAs, however there are a number of enrichment products that can be used to increase the *Artemia* HUFA content, and subsequently the HUFA content of phyllosoma (Ritar et al., 2004; Liddy et al., 2005). This current study was designed and carried out to assess the effects of dietary DHA/EPA ratios on survival, development, growth and fatty acid composition for the early-stage *P. ornatus* phyllosoma.

11.2 Materials and methods

11.2.1 Broodstock source and maintenance

Broodstock source and husbandry were described in Chapter 5 (Section 5.2.1).

11.2.2 Artemia enrichment

Five groups of instar 2 *Artemia* were enriched with different oil emulsions from a range of triacyglycerol-rich (TAG) oil sources to provide a graduated range of DHA/EPA. The fatty acid composition and respective DHA/EPA ratios of the oils are shown in Table 10.1. The preparation of each oil emulsion was conducted using the direct method (Suprayudi et al., 2004a). Briefly, 0.5 g of each oil was emulsified with 0.1 g of raw egg yolk and 100 ml distilled water using an Ultra-turrax T25 homogenizer (IKA Works Inc, Wilmington, North Carolina, USA) operating at 10, 000 rpm for 2 min. They were then stored in bottles and kept in a

refrigerator at 4°C. Specific Artemia cysts (GSL strain), containing very low HUFA (EPA: 0.7% of total fatty acids, DHA: 0%), was provided by the Laboratory of Aquaculture & Artemia Reference Center, Ghent University, Belgium. To obtain newly hatched Artemia nauplii for the experiment, Artemia cysts were hatched daily in a 2 L conical plastic bottle at 28 ± 1 °C in filtered seawater (33-36‰). Under these environmental conditions Artemia hatch after 18-20 h, routine harvesting occurred at 24 h, followed by a disinfection treatment (400mg L⁻¹ formalin bath for 1 h), rinse with freshwater and allocation into 400 mL vessels in seawater at a density of 200-250 Artemia mL⁻¹. Post disinfection sufficient time had passed for Artemia to develop to instar 2; their first exogenous feeding stage. The emulsified oil solution was added once only at the commencement of the enrichment period at a rate of 0.6 g oil emulsion per liter of enrichment medium (Sui et al., 2007). During enrichment, temperature and salinity were maintained at 28 °C and 33‰, respectively. After 24h enrichment the Artemia were then harvested and rinsed with UV treated freshwater to remove all external traces of the emulsion before suspension in 200ml of sterilised seawater and some of enriched Artemia were dispensed to P. ornatus phyllosoma immediately. The remaining enriched Artemia were immediately stored at $4 \, \text{C}$ in a refrigerator to minimize fatty acid catabolism (Merchie, 1996), and were dispensed to the phyllosoma in a second feed 14 hr later. Enriched Artemia (ca.1-2 g/sample) in each treatment were sampled three times during the larval culture period for total lipids and fatty acid analysis. All samples were stored at -70 °C before analysis.

11.2.3 Experimental design and setup

On the day of hatching active photopositive phyllosoma were removed from the surface of the hatch vessel and transferred into a 20 L container. Phyllosoma required for stocking into culture or experimental vessels were treated with 25mg L⁻¹ formalin for 30 min to reduce the transfer of bacterial pathogens, they were rinsed with clean sterilised seawater (ozonated) and individually counted and stocked into the experimental vessels. The experimental culture system was comprised of 20 x 250 ml plankton kriesels, they were stocked at 25 phyllosoma per vessel (quadruplicate). All experimental vessels were supplied with flow-through water equivalent to 300% water exchanges per hour. Water was introduced on the top and against the curved side of the vessel, causing a circumferential water flow in the vessel, this provided minor levels of turbulence that was sufficient to maintain phyllosoma and feed in suspension. Seawater was pumped from an offshore seawater line into two storage dams where it was settled for 1- 4 days followed by sequential passage through bag filters (100, 50 and 10 μ m), foam fractionation, ozonation (700-750 mV), UV (254 nm) and particulate/carbon filtration to 1 μ m. Seawater within this system was delivered to the point of usage within 20 minutes of processing. Salinity and water temperature were maintained at 32‰ and 28°C, respectively, during the

period of the experiment. Light was provided by fluorescent tubes providing 420nm wavelength light with a photoperiod of 14 h light: 10 h dark and light intensity of $0.2 \,\mu\text{E s}^{-1}\text{m}^{-2}$.

The culture experiment was conducted using 5 enrichment treatments designated 1-5 (Treatment 1 to 5, T1-T5), each treatment with four replicates, utilizing 25 phyllosoma per replicate. Prior to stocking the experiment three samples of newly hatched Stage I phyllosoma (50 phyllosoma/sample) were collected, rinsed with 0.5 M ammonium bicarbonate to remove trace of salt before being blotted dry on a filter paper. They were then oven-dried at 60 $^{\circ}$ C for 24 h before being weighed to determine the average dry weight of individual newly hatched Stage I phyllosoma. Phyllosoma stocked in the experiment were individually counted and randomly allocated to each of the treatments. Artemia fed to the phyllosoma were enriched with five different DHA/EPA oils (Table 10.1) that provided a graduated DHA/EPA ratio in the enriched Artemia from 0.19-1.64 (Table 11.1). Artemia were fed to the phyllosoma culture vessels at a rate of 2 ind. mL^{-1} twice daily for all treatments. Each morning, surviving phyllosoma were counted and staged before being transferred to a new culture vessel, while old Artemia were removed. Fresh enriched Artemia were then fed to each vessel. Mortality and ing of larvae in each vessel were checked again 12 h later (i.e. every 12 h). By doing this, the average development time (intermoult period) of larval instars could be estimated more accurately. When any newly moulted Stage III phyllosoma (Smith et al., 2009) were found, it was removed for the later measurement and lipid analysis. The experiment terminated when all larvae either moulted to Stage III phyllosoma or died.

11.2.4 Data collection

Phyllosoma survival, development and specific growth rate (SGR)

Phyllosoma survival was expressed as cumulative survival to a particular larval stage, which was calculated by dividing the total number of phyllosoma that ed successfully to a particular stage with the initial number of phyllosoma stocked into each culture vessel (i.e. 25). Similarly, phyllosoma development was expressed as the mean cumulative development time required to reach a particular stage from newly hatched Stage I animals. The specific growth rate (SGR, % day⁻¹) was calculated for each replicate using the following formulae:

 $SGR = 100 \times (\ln Wt - \ln Wo)/D$

where Wo is the mean dry weight of newly hatched Stage I phyllosoma while Wt is the mean dry weight of newly moulted Stage III instar 1 phyllosoma; D is the cumulative development time (in days) from Stage I to Stage III instar 1 phyllosoma.

Total body length and dry weight of newly moulted stage III phyllosoma

The body length (BL) and dry weight (DW) of each newly moulted Stage III instar 1 phyllosoma were measured. Phyllosoma BL was measured on a Leica MZ16A microscope (precision=0.01mm, Leica Microsystems, Wetzlar, Germany). BL was defined as the distance between from the anterior margin of the cephalic shield to the posterior edge of the pleon (Smith et al., 2009). The phyllosoma was then briefly rinsed with 0.5 M ammonium bicarbonate to remove traces of salts, and blotted dry on a filter paper. A total number of 3-5 individual Stage III instar 1 phyllosoma were randomly sampled from each replicate and then oven dried at 60 \degree for 24 h. The phyllosoma dry weight was subsequently weighed using a Cahn C-33 micro-balance (precision=1µg, Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc, Pittsburgh, PA, USA). Individual mean DW of Stage III instar 1 phyllosoma was calculated by the division of phyllosoma number. The remaining samples were kept in a -70 \degree freezer for the later fatty acid analysis.

11.2.5 Total lipids and fatty acid analysis

See section 4.2.4.

11.2.6 Statistical analysis

Homogeneity of variance of all data was first tested with Levene's test. Where necessary, arcsine-square root or logarithmic transformation was performed prior to analysis. One-way ANOVA was used to determine significant differences for various parameters among treatments. If any significant difference was detected, Tukey's multiple range test was used as the means separation procedure. Pearson-test was used to determine statistically significant relationship between dietary DHA/EPA ratio (or DHA level) and different biological parameters measured. The relationships between dietary DHA/EPA ratio (or DHA level) and different biological parameters measured. The relationships between dietary DHA/EPA ratio (or DHA level) and different biological parameters measured. The relationships between dietary DHA/EPA ratio (ata were subjected to the Kruskal-Wallis H non-parametric test followed by the Games-Howell non-parametric multiple comparison test. *P* <0.05 was regarded as the statistically significant level. All statistics were performed using SPSS package (version 12.0).

11.3 Results

11.3.1 Total lipid and fatty acid profile of enriched Artemia

The total lipid and fatty acid compositions of newly hatched *Artemia* and *Artemia* enriched with five emulsion oils containing different DHA/EPA ratios are presented in Table 11.1. After

24 h enrichment, all groups of enriched *Artemia* contained higher content of total lipids and highly unsaturated fatty acids (HUFAs) compared to newly hatched *Artemia*. *Artemia*

newry i						
	Newly hatched	Artemia	Artemia	Artemia	Artemia	Artemia
	Artemia	with oil 1	oil 2	oil 3	with oil 4	with oil 5
Total lipid	15.82	20.48	20.11	19.91	19.65	20.57
Fatty acid						
C14:0	0.50	1.01	1.09	0.94	0.87	1.11
C15:0	0.67	0.84	0.96	0.74	0.74	0.85
C16:0	9.90	10.98	10.76	11.02	10.99	11.67
C18:0	4.76	5.14	5.08	4.89	6.47	5.63
SFA	16.29	17.97	17.88	17.59	19.07	19.25
C14:1n7	1.06	0.40	0.47	0.42	0.47	0.38
C16:1n7	2.75	3.68	4.08	3.69	3.03	2.93
C16:1n5	0.82	0.99	1.01	0.89	0.97	1.07
C18:1n9	16.48	25.96	25.15	25.01	23.93	23.67
C18:1n7	5.21	7.57	7.46	6.66	6.72	7.76
C20:1n9	0.57	1.00	0.84	0.48	0.53	0.50
C20:1n7	0.55	1.19	1.02	1.03	1.03	1.31
MUFA	27.44	40.80	40.04	38.18	36.67	37.62
C16:2n4	1.25	1.26	1.41	1.22	0.97	1.05
C16:3n4	0.70	0.76	0.78	0.72	0.70	0.80
C18:2n6	6.22	6.79	6.35	6.40	6.37	6.55
C18:3n6	0.84	0.25	0.27	0.25	0.38	0.25
C18:3n3	31.42	12.38	12.35	12.13	12.99	12.00
C18:4n3	7.58	2.50	1.67	2.32	2.76	2.57
C20:4n6	0.16	1.04	0.81	0.98	1.04	0.83
C20:3n3	1.42	0.70	0.42	0.51	0.83	0.54
C20:4n3	1.40	0.69	0.35	0.47	0.77	0.51
C20:5n3	0.71	9.08	7.46	6.17	5.30	4.24
C22:5n3	0.00	0.15	0.34	0.71	0.80	0.89
C22:6n3	0.00	1.74	3.07	4.05	5.59	6.94
∑PUFA (≥18:2n)	49.72	35.31	33.09	33.99	36.83	35.32
∑HUFA (≥20:3n)	3.68	13.39	12.44	12.89	14.34	13.95
∑n-3PUFA	42.52	27.23	25.66	26.36	29.04	27.69
∑n-6PUFA	7.21	8.08	7.42	7.63	7.79	7.63
n-3/n-6	5.90	3.38	3.46	3.46	3.73	3.63
DHA/EPA		0.19	0.41	0.66	1.06	1.64
DHA+EPA	0.71	10.82	10.52	10.22	10.89	11.18

Table 11.1 Total lipid content (% dry weight) and fatty acid composition (% total fatty acids) of newly hatched *Artemia* nauplii enriched with emulsion containing different DHA/EPA ratios.

enrichment increased total lipid contents and percentages of highly unsaturated fatty acids (HUFAs), particularly for EPA (20:5n-3) and DHA (22:6n-3). Total quantitative lipid content of

enriched *Artemia* was similar for all five treatments. While all enriched *Artemia* contained similar levels of saturated fatty acid (SFA), a decreasing trend was found on 18:1n-9 and total monounsaturated fatty acid (MUFA) of *Artemia* enriched from the oil 1 to oil 5 (Table 11.1). For the polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA), all enriched *Artemia* generally had similar contents of 18:2n-6, 18:3n-3 and 20:4n-6 (ARA). As expected, the increasing 22:6n-3 percentage and decreasing 20:5n-3 percentage were found in the *Artemia* enriched from oil 1 to 5, which lead to a significant increase of DHA/EPA ratio in the T5 enriched *Artemia*. Although the five types of enriched *Artemia* differed in DHA/EPA ratios, they contained similar quantitative amounts of total poly-unsaturated fatty acids (PUFA), total HUFA, DHA+EPA. The five experimental emulsions oils with elevated DHA/EPA ratio resulted in increasing DHA/EPA ratio of enriched *Artemia* and a significant positive correlation was detected between DHA/EPA ratios of enriched *Artemia* and DHA/EPA ratio of the emulsion oils (r=0.998, P < 0.01).



Figure 11.1 Cumulative survival (%) of *Panulirus ornatus* phyllosoma from Stage I to II and Stage I to III fed enriched *Artemia* containing different DHA/EPA ratios. Data are presented as mean ±SD (n=4).

11.3.2 Survival, development and growth

For all treatments there were no significant differences in survivals from Stage I to Stage II (>93%) or from Stage I to III instar 1 (low of 81.2% in T2 to high of 92.1% in T4) (P > 0.05, Figure 11.1). Significant differences in larval development time were detected for both Stage I to II and Stage I to III instar 1. In the first development phase (Stage I to II), phyllosoma in treatments T2 to T5 consistently had the shortest development time (P < 0.05) while T1 had the longest development time. When the total development duration was examined (Stage I to III instar 1), phyllosoma from T5 had the shortest development time, however not significantly less than in T2-T4 (P < 0.05, Table 11.2). Among treatments, T5 achieved the highest specific

growth rate (SGR, % day⁻¹) of dry weight (DW) over the period of Stage I to III instar 1, while T1 showed the lowest SGR (Figure 11.2). There was a positive correlation between the dietary DHA/EPA ratio of enriched *Artemia* and SGR, resulting in a significant non-linear regression equation (Figure 11.3, n=20, P < 0.01).

Table 11.2 Development time (days) from Stage I to II and Stage I to III in *Panulirus ornatus* phyllosoma fed enriched *Artemia* containing different DHA/EPA ratios.

Treatments	Stage I to II (days)	Stage I to III instar 1 (days)
T1	8.10±0.10°	15.96±0.58 ^b
T2	7.72±0.09 ^a	15.76±0.71 ^{ab}
T3	7.75±0.13 ^a	15.35±0.26 ^{ab}
T4	7.73 ± 0.06^{a}	15.39 ± 0.07^{ab}
T5	7.91 ± 0.10^{b}	15.16±0.14 ^a

Data are presented as mean \pm SD (n=4). Values within a column having different superscript letter are significantly different (*P* <0.05).



Figure 11.2 The specific growth rates (SGR, % day⁻¹) of *Panulirus ornatus* phyllosoma from Stage I to III fed enriched *Artemia* containing different DHA/EPA ratios. SGRs are calculated based on dry weight of newly moulted Stage III instar 1 phyllosoma. The value in the bracket under the x-axis indicates its dietary DHA/EPA ratio for each treatment. Data are presented as mean \pm SD (n=4). Bars with different letters on the top are significantly different (*P* < 0.05).





Figure 11.3 Regression analysis between dietary DHA/EPA ratio and specific growth rate (SGR) of *Panulirus ornatus* phyllosoma from Stage I to III.

Figure 11.4 Regression analysis between dietary DHA percentage (% total fatty acids) and larval DHA percentage (% total fatty acids) of newly moulted Stage III *Panulirus ornatus* phyllosoma.

Table 11.3 Total body length and body dry weight of newly metamorphosed Stage III *Panulirus ornatus* phyllosoma fed enriched *Artemia* containing different DHA/EPA ratios during the period from Stage I to Stage III.

Treatments	Body length (mm)	Body dry weight (µg.ind. ⁻¹)
T1	2.26±0.05 ^a	102.83 ± 3.53^{a}
T2	2.27 ± 0.06^{a}	109.14 ± 3.30^{b}
T3	2.36±0.01 ^b	$124.33\pm 5.46^{\circ}$
T4	2.36±0.03 ^b	$126.28 \pm 3.84^{\circ}$
T5	2.42 ± 0.02^{b}	134.54 ± 4.34^{d}

Data are presented as mean \pm SD (n=4). Values within a column having different superscript letter are significantly different (*P* <0.05).

11.3.3 Body length and dry weight of newly moulted stage III phyllosoma

There were significant differences in the BL and DW of newly metamorphosed Stage III instar 1 phyllosoma (Table 11.3, P < 0.05). Phyllosoma from T3, T4 and T5 had significantly higher BL than those from T1 and T2, while the DW of T5 was significantly greater than from phyllosoma in T3 and T4, in turn these phyllosoma had significantly greater DW than those from T2, while those from T2 were significantly greater than phyllosoma from T1 (Table 11.3, P < 0.05).

11.3.4 Fatty acid profile of newly moulted stage III phyllosoma

The qualitative fatty acid profile of newly moulted Stage III instar 1 phyllosoma contained 6 fatty acids that contributed more than 5% to the total fatty acid profile, these included 16:0, 18:0, 16:1n7, 18:1n9, 18:3n3 and 20:5n3(EPA). The percentage of dominant fatty acids was generally reflected by the dietary fatty acid composition, particularly the incorporation of 16:0, 18:0 and DHA. The DHA percentage in the phyllosoma larvae increased significantly from T1 (1.58%) to T5 (3.86%). A positive linear correlation was detected between dietary DHA percentage and larval DHA percentage (% total fatty acids) of newly moulted Stage III instar 1 phyllosoma (Figure 11.4, n=5, P <0.01). Although dietary EPA inclusion decreased significantly in Artemia enriched with oil emulsion across the diets from T1 to T5 (9.08-4.24%), there was no concurrent decline noted in the incorporation in phyllosoma in those treatments. Stage III instar 1 phyllosoma contained lower concentrations of 18:1n9, 18:2n6 and 18:3n3, but higher 18:0 and 20:4n6 incorporation compared to their respective feeds. Generally, DHA has decreasing retention ratios with increased dietary incorporation while relative retention ratios of EPA increased significantly. Among the five PUFAs, 18:3n-3 had the lowest relative retention ratio with the values ranged from 0.42 to 0.52, while the highest relative retention ratio was found on ARA with the values of more than 1.30 for all treatments, signifying relative retention

and preservation of EPA at concentrations greater than present in their respective feed sources (Table 11.5).

Fatty acid	T1	Τ2	<u> </u>	Τ4	Т5
C14:0	0.81	0.97	0.69	0.65	0.71
C15:0	0.79	0.99	0.72	0.69	0.52
C16:0	12.19	13 59	11.52	12.06	10.96
C18:0	7 89	10.19	9.85	7 24	8 69
SFA	21.68	25 74	22.78	20.55	20.88
D III	21.00	23.71	22.70	20.35	20.00
C14:1n7	0.69	0.78	0.65	0.47	0.49
C16:1n7	8.63	7.95	6.01	8.60	6.35
C16:1n5	1.68	1.04	1.27	1.12	1.11
C18:1n9	19.24	20.76	19.81	18.79	19.39
C18:1n7	3.79	4.68	4.77	4.23	4.73
C20:1n9	0.40	0.43	0.21	0.46	0.47
C20:1n7	0.66	0.58	0.37	0.98	1.12
MUFA	35.09	36.22	33.09	34.65	33.66
C16:2n4	0.57	0.71	0.62	0.55	0.63
C16:3n4	0.35	0.39	0.39	0.46	0.40
C18:2n6	4.21	4.44	3.93	3.63	3.87
C18:3n6	1.61	0.33	1.15	1.01	1.41
C18:3n3	6.42	6.22	5.53	5.44	5.58
C18:4n3	2.48	1.38	2.27	2.46	2.29
C20:4n6	1.41	1.73	1.62	1.35	1.52
C20:3n3	0.85	0.36	1.27	1.08	1.19
C20:4n3	0.16	0.32	0.23	0.26	0.27
C20:5n3	6.72	5.81	7.05	6.04	5.69
C22:5n3	0.54	0.29	0.31	0.69	0.37
C22:6n3	1.58	2.28	2.76	3.03	3.86
∑PUFA	25.98	23.16	26.12	24 99	26.05
(≥18:2n)	23.70	23.10	20.12	21.99	20.05
∑HUFA (>20:2m)	11.26	10.79	13.24	12.45	12.90
(220:3Π) Ση-3ΡΙ ΙΕΔ	18 75	16.66	10.42	10.00	10.25
$\sum_{n=6}^{n=51} OTA$	7 73	6 50	17.42 6 70	5 00	6.80
$2^{11-01}01^{7}A$ n-3/n-6	7.23	2.50	2 00	3.77	2 83
DHA/FPA	2.30 0 24	2.30 A 30	2.90 0 30	0.17 0.50	2.03 0.68
DHA+EPA	7.60	8.09	9.81	9.07	9.55

Table 11.4 Fatty acid composition (%total fatty acids) of newly moulted Stage III *Panulirus* ornatus phyllosoma fed enriched Artemia containing different DHA/EPA ratios

Table 11.5 The relative retention ratios between Stage III *Panulirus ornatus* phyllosoma phyllosoma body PUFA percentages and their dietary PUFA percentages of newly metamorphosed *Panulirus ornatus* phyllosoma fed enriched *Artemia* containing different DHA/EPA ratios. Relative retention ratio = the % of a specific fatty acid incorporated in the phyllosoma body / the % of the same specific fatty acid incorporated in the diet.

			real real real real real real real real		
	T1	T2	Т3	T4	T5
C18:2n-6	0.62	0.70	0.61	0.57	0.59
C18:3n-3	0.52	0.50	0.46	0.42	0.46
C20:4n-6	1.36	2.14	1.65	1.30	1.83
C20:5n-3	0.74	0.78	1.14	1.14	1.34
C22:6n-3	0.91	0.74	0.68	0.54	0.56

11.4 Discussion

As previously reported for *Artemia* live feeds enrichment, total lipids and HUFA composition were enhanced by the enrichment (Han et al., 2001; Sui et al., 2007). Although both DHA and EPA emulsion oils were readily incorporated to body of enriched *Artemia*, the EPA retention ratio of enriched *Artemia* was higher than the DHA retention ratio. This led to lower DHA/EPA ratio in the enriched *Artemia* than its emulsion oil. The lower DHA/EPA ratio in the enriched *Artemia* than its emulsion oil. The lower DHA/EPA ratio in the enrichment process (Han et al., 2001), similar results have been observed in other studies (Han et al., 2001; Nelson et al., 2004; Sui et al., 2007). Generally the results demonstrated that it was possible to enrich *Artemia* to obtain a graduated range of DHA/EPA ratios that translated into an effect on growth and provided an understanding of early stage phyllosoma lipid metabolism. There were issues noted with low retention of DHA while EPA was retained at high concentrations, thus preventing examination of an equivalent or a doubling of the dietary DHA/EPA ratios on phyllosoma survival, growth and fatty acid composition.

During this study, the range of dietary DHA/EPA ratios studied did not have a significant effect on *P. ornatus* phyllosoma survival up to Stage III. With the retention ratios attained the impact on survival is similar to previous studies on other spiny rock lobsters, including *Jasus edwardsii* (Nelson et al., 2004) and *Panulirus cygnus* (Liddy et al., 2005). However, for mud crab *Scylla serrata* larvae, low dietary EPA, or high EPA and DHA contents in the enriched *Artemia*, had significant effects on survival from zoea I to the first crab stage (Suprayudi et al., 2004a). It is likely that the relatively high initial total HUFA content in the newly hatched Stage I phyllosoma; in spite of the low amount of DHA derived from some treatments (i.e. T1 and T2), was sufficient to sustain high survival for early stage phyllosoma. Furthermore, it is likely that a continuation of low DHA supplementation in mid-late stage phyllosoma may have a greater

impact upon survival (Wu et al., 2012). Survival of Stage III *P. ornatus* phyllosoma was higher than that of previous studies of the spiny rock lobsters *J. edwardsii* (Nelson et al., 2004) and *P. cygnus* (Liddy et al., 2005), which may indicate that the culture condition utilized in our experiment was suitable for the survival and development of early stage of *P. ornatus*. There may also be species specific influences on survival across the different spiny rock lobster species.

Although the dietary DHA/EPA ratio did not significantly affect phyllosoma survival of early stage P. ornatus phyllosoma, significant differences were observed in the development duration, individual body dry weight and specific growth rate. This is similar to the phyllosoma of other spiny lobsters as well as the larvae of brachyuran crabs, where studies have shown nutrition influences development and growth more directly than survival (Anger et al., 1981; Nelson et al., 2004; Liddy et al., 2005). For marine crustacean larvae, dietary DHA can generally accelerate larval development and shorten inter- period (Xu et al., 1993; Xu et al., 1994d; Suprayudi et al., 2004a,b; Sui et al., 2007). Moulting of crustacean is modulated by ecdysteroids (Huberman, 2000; Subramoniam, 2000), which is secreted by Y-organ in the anterior branchial chamber of decapod crustacean and released into the haemolymph (Huberman, 2000). Ecdysteroids circulating in the haemolymph are converted to 20-hydroxyecdysone (20-E) or related compounds by peripheral tissues, such as the hindgut, ganglia, eyestalk and hepatopancreas (Mykles, 2011). In the tick Ornithodoros moubata, ecdysone was metabolized into three different compounds in embryos and larvae, and one of them conjugated with a C-22 fatty acid, which suggests that a C-22 fatty acids like DHA may possibly regulate moulting by the modulation of ecdysteroid metabolism for insects (Dotson et al., 1993). Since both crustacean and insects belong to the arthropod family and ecdysteroid metabolism is involved in their moulting process, similar conjugation mechanisms may exist in the ecdysteroid metabolism of crustacean.

The results demonstrated that an elevated dietary DHA/EPA ratio was associated with a significant increase in body length and individual dry weight of early stage *P. ornatus* phyllosoma larvae, similar to found in other crustacean larvae, such as the swimming crab, *P. trituberculatus*, mud crab *S. serrata* and the Chinese mitten crab, *E. sinensis* (Takeuchi et al., 1999b; Suprayudi et al., 2004b; Sui et al., 2007). Previous studies have demonstrated that DHA has a superior nutritional value when compared to EPA in terms of crustacean larval and juvenile growth (Xu et al., 1993; Merican and Shim, 1996; Sui et al., 2007). In vertebrates DHA is indispensable in the development of neural tissues, such as brain and eye retina (Bell et al., 1995; Innis, 2007), while marine crustacean species generally contain very high DHA levels in

their tissue membranes (Teshima, 1998; Sheen and Wu, 2002) increasing cell membrane permeability, fluidity and resistance to osmotic shock (Palacios et al., 2004; Sui et al., 2007). Hence marine crustaceans generally have higher DHA requirements when compared to brackish or freshwater crustacean species (D'Abramo and Sheen, 1993; Sui et al., 2007). Capture of wild spiny rock lobster phyllosoma, puerulus and juvenile samples combined with results from feed experiments have demonstrated an elevated presence of DHA (Phleger et al., 2001; Nelson et al., 2003; 2004; Liddy et al., 2005). These observations are supported by a recent ship-board feeding trail where wild-caught P. cygnus phyllosoma demonstrated a high preference for chaetognath prey items, this was previously demonstrated in a 2008 plankton collection cruise in the Coral sea by AIMS staff whereby captive reared Stage VI -VIII P. ornatus phyllosoma preferentially consumed wild caught chaetognaths over all other captured planktonic prey items (Smith pers. comm.). The fatty acid profile of chaetognaths is extremely high in DHA (ca 21.9% total fatty acids) (Saunders et al., 2012). Although several previous reports have identified the importance of dietary DHA for phyllosoma larvae of other spiny lobster species (Liddy et al., 2004a; Nelson et al., 2004), there is no published information on the dietary fatty acid requirement for early stage P. ornatus phyllosoma. While the present study demonstrated that dietary DHA has very important role in the development, moulting and growth for early stage P. ornatus phyllosoma, the requirement for EPA is unclear, especially when fed in combination with high concentrations of DHA, due to the sparing of EPA and the potential for retro-conversion of DHA to EPA (Han et al., 2001; Sui et al., 2007). Dietary EPA input into larval crustaceans has had an impact on larval survival and growth for the mud crab S. serrata (Suprayudi et al., 2004a), and influenced larval survival in the swimming crab P. trituberculatus (Takeuchi et al., 1999b).

The qualitative concentrations and ratios of the major fatty acids in Stage III phyllosoma were positively related to the same fatty acid parameter within the enriched *Artemia*, especially for 16:0, 18:0, 18:1n-9 and DHA. This was despite a reduction in the relative retention ratio of DHA from treatment 1 to 5. This suggested early stage *P. ornatus* phyllosoma are able to preferentially assimilate and accumulate DHA from their diets when the dietary DHA content is low and perhaps inadequate. Similar results were found in the spiny rock lobsters *P. cygnus* (Liddy et al., 2005) and *J. edwardsii* (Nelson et al., 2004). Consequently, when dietary DHA level is above the optimal level, the relative retention ratio of DHA decreased with the increasing dietary DHA, however some of this lipid biochemistry may be explained the reduced inclusion of EPA stimulating retro-conversion of DHA to EPA to maintain a baseline concentration, as occurred in this study (Smith et al., 2003; Liddy et al., 2004a). Previous studies also indicated DHA in enriched *Artemia* maybe not completely digested/assimilated by

some spiny rock lobster species, this is likely to be due to DHA being provided in the form of triacylglycerol (TAG) (Phleger et al., 2001; Liddy et al., 2005). Compared to HUFAs, 18:2n6 and 18:3n3 had the lower relative retention ratio, which suggested early stage *P. ornatus* phyllosoma had low C18-PUFAs requirements, and C18-PUFAs had inferior value to the growth and development of early stage *P. ornatus* phyllosoma. This is similar to what is found in other marine crustacean larvae (Levine and Sulkin, 1984; Xu et al., 1993; Suprayudi et al., 2004a).

The fatty acid composition of newly hatched or wild caught larvae can generally provide valuable information on the fatty acid requirements of crustacean larvae (Phleger et al., 2001; Limbourn and Nichols, 2009). However, to date, the changes in fatty acid composition of wild P. ornatus phyllosoma has not been documented. Therefore, laboratory cultured larvae have been used as the alternative to assess the ontogenetic changes of fatty acid composition for *P. ornatus* phyllosoma (Wu et al., 2012). Compared to fatty acid composition of newly hatched phyllosoma (ARA=3.19%, EPA=14.33%, DHA=11.68%), Stage III P. ornatus phyllosoma contained a lower HUFA content and lower DHA/EPA ratio. This difference indicates that Artemia are not the ideal live food for P. ornatus phyllosoma to maintain a high DHA/EPA ratio and HUFA content, and the development of a stable artificial feed would assist in the determination of optimal concentrations of lipid ingredients. The alternative is to utilize live prey that naturally contain high HUFA content with DHA/EPA ratios favoring DHA (Nelson et al., 2003; 2004), species with suitable lipid profiles may include chaetognaths and salps, however, both are difficult to culture using current knowledge and techniques (Takeuchi and Murakami, 2007). At present enriched Artemia are readily available, have established culture protocols and have a low cost to produce, therefore they still must be considered as the most feasible food source for the culture of early stage lobster phyllosoma larvae (Takeuchi and Murakami, 2007; Wu et al., 2012). Future studies to improve the fatty acid composition of emulsions; such as provision in microcapsules, HUFA supplied as phospholipids will assist in the provision of an optimized HUFA profile for early stage spiny rock lobster phyllosoma.

11.5 Conclusion

This study demonstrates that the DHA/EPA ratio in *Artemia* was able to be improved via enrichment with an oil emulsion containing different DHA/EPA ratios, and subsequently there was uptake by early stage *P. ornatus* phyllosoma. Provision of a diet with an elevated DHA/EPA ratio could shorten development time, accelerate growth and increase body length and individual dry weight for the early stage *P. ornatus* phyllosoma larvae. The DHA percentage in Stage III phyllosoma increased significantly with the elevated dietary DHA levels

while its relative retention ratio decreased dramatically with lower EPA and higher DHA inputs, respectively. Further comparison of fatty acid composition revealed the incorporation and transfer of DHA decreased from enrichment oil, to enriched *Artemia*, and finally to phyllosoma. Further research should be focused on the improvement of DHA content in diets and maximizing uptake and retention by early stage *P. ornatus* phyllosoma.

General discussion and conclusion

12.1 Significance of the present study

The blue swimming crab, *Portunus pelagicus* and the ornate rock lobster, *Panulirus ornatus* are two important target aquaculture species in the tropical regions of the Indo-Pacific (Smith et al., 2009a; Wu et al., 2010d). However, mass production of artificial seed is one of the key for the future development of the aquaculture for both species (Soundarapandian et al., 2007; Soundarapandian and Dominic Arul Raja, 2008; O'Sullivan, 2010). Lipid nutrition, particularly fatty acid composition, is one of the important factors to affect larval survival, growth and development time for many crustaceans (Xu et al., 1993; Merican and Shim, 1996b; Nghia et al., 2007; Wu et al., 2007c). Lack of basic information in lipid nutrition is one of the major obstacles for the improvement of hatchery technology for both species (Soundarapandian et al., 2007; Wu et al., 2012). Therefore, the broad objective of this thesis is to expand our understanding of lipid nutrition for early life stage *P. pelagicus* and *P. ornatus*, with emphasis on highly unsaturated fatty acids. The specific aims were to identify which highly unsaturated fatty acids play crucial roles on the embryonic development, larval survival, growth and development during the embryonic development and larval culture of *P. pelagicus* and *P. ornatus*; and then to determine the optimal levels for those important fatty acids in larval diets.

Experiment	Main results and recommendation		
Chapter 2 Changes in volume, biomass and lipid composition during the embryonic development of the blue swimmer crab, <i>Portunus pelagicus</i>	 TAG and PL were two dominant lipid fractions, while PL was the major energy source in the total lipids; Increasing percentage of ARA and EPA suggested they are highly conserved; Decreasing DHA/EPA ratio indicated early stage larvae need low DHA level, but high EPA level in their diets. 		
Chapter 3 Changes of lipid class and fatty acid composition during the embryonic development of the of the ornate rock lobster, <i>Panulirus ornatus</i>	 64% of PL was utilized, which accounted for 76% of total lipid depletion during the embryonic development; The relative conservation of EPA and ARA, but preferential utilization of DHA implicated the excessive of egg DHA were oxidated for energy supply during the embryonic development; Pre-hatching egg of <i>P. ornatus</i> contained higher DHA/EPA ratio and lower ARA level (%total fatty acids) than that of <i>P. pelagicus;</i> Those differences indicated their different HUFA requirements for early stage larvae 		

Table12.1 Schematic overview of the results and implications of this study

Experiment	Main results and recommendation		
Chapter 4 Ontogenetic patterns of growth and lipid composition changes of blue swimmer crab, <i>Portunus pelagicus</i> larvae: insights into larval biology and lipid nutrition	 High mortality accompanied with high percentage increment and SGR of dry weight; The increases of ARA and DHA in megalopae indicated they are important for later larvae. 		
Chapter 5 Ontogenetic patterns of growth and lipid composition deposition during early to mid-Stages of development in <i>Panulirus ornatus</i> phyllosoma	 The lipid class profile was dominated by PL for all early-mid Stage phyllosoma; Early stage phyllosoma preferentially sequestered and accumulated a higher proportion of EPA and DHA compared to that present in their diets, indicating higher DHA and EPA requirements for these stages. 		
Chapter 6 Effects of starvation on survival, biomass and lipid composition of newly hatched larvae of the blue swimmer crab, <i>Portunus</i> <i>pelagicus</i>	 More than 50% of PL was utilized, indicating the oxidation of membrane structural lipids during starvation; Higher reductions were found on DHA and EPA than that of ARA, emphasized the importance of ARA for early stage larvae. 		
Chapter 7 Effects of starvation on survival, biomass and lipid composition of newly hatched phyllosoma of the ornate rock lobster, <i>Panulirus ornatus</i>	 Newly hatched phyllosoma contained higher total lipids, which indicated newly hatched <i>P. ornatus</i> had the higher starvation resistance than the newly hatched <i>P. pelagicus</i>; DHA and ARA were relatively conserved, indicating their importance. 		
Chapter 8 The effects of dietary arachidonic acid levels on larval survival, growth and occurrence of moulting death syndrome in the blue swimmer crab, <i>Portunus pelagicus</i>	 Dietary ARA significantly affected the occurrence of ing death syndrome (MDS), larval survival, development and growth; Optimal dietary ARA level was suggested to be ca. 2.97% of total fatty acids; Significant negative correlation was detected between the chela length/carapace length ratio and the occurrence of MDS. 		
Chapter 9 The effects of dietary arachidonic acid levels on survival, growth and fatty acid composition of early stage phyllosoma of ornate rock lobster, <i>Panulirus ornatus</i>	 Dietary ARA only significantly affected development time and growth for early stage phyllosoma; Optimal dietary ARA level was estimated at 1.90% of total fatty acids. 		
Chapter 10 The effects of dietary DHA/EPA ratios on larval survival, growth and fatty acid composition of blue swimmer crab, <i>Portunus pelagicus</i>	 Dietary DHA/EPA ratios significantly affected survival, development time and growth; Optimal dietary DHA/EPA ratio was estimated at 0.53, with the highest survival, body size, and shortest development time. 		
Chapter 11 The effects of dietary DHA/EPA ratios on survival, growth and fatty acid composition of early stage phyllosoma of ornate rock lobster, <i>Panulirus ornatus</i>	 Dietary DHA/EPA ratios significantly affected development time and growth; Optimal dietary DHA/EPA ratio was estimated more than 1.64, clearly suggesting higher DHA and DHA/EPA ratio requirements of early stage <i>P. ornatus</i> than larval <i>P. pelagicus</i>. 		

Table12.1 Schematic overview of the results and implications of this study (Continued)

On this basis, this comprehensive study on the lipid nutrition of early life stages of *P*. *pelagicus* and *P. ornatus* consisted of a total of 10 experiments (Chapter 2 to Chapter 11), with

emphasis on the importance and requirements of highly unsaturated fatty acids for larval stage of both species. This study fill the gap of lipid nutrition for the early life stage *P. pelagicus* and *P. ornatus*, which would be an important step towards to cost-effective and reliable hatchery production of *P. pelagicus* and *P. ornatus*. The findings provided within this thesis not only have significantly enhanced the understanding of fatty acid nutrition for the larvae of both species, but also have important implications for the further improvement of hatchery technology and formulated diets for the larval culture. The major outcomes are summarized in Table 12.1, while the broader context, major results as well as common issues are discussed in the following.

12.2 Ontogenetic changes of lipid composition

The examination of lipid dynamics during embryonic development not only can provide valuable information on lipid utilization during organogenesis, but also contribute to our understanding of lipid nutrition for both broodstock and early stage of crustacean larvae (Rosa et al., 2003; Rosa et al., 2005; Rosa et al., 2007; Torres et al., 2008). This study is the first one to comprehensively investigate the changes of egg volume, egg biomass, total lipids, lipid class profiles and fatty acid contents during the embryonic development of P. pelagicus and P. ornatus (Chapter 2 and 3). The depletion of lipids during the embryonic development suggested the importance of lipids as energy source to sustain the organogenesis and embryonic metabolism (Kattner et al., 2003; Anger et al., 2004). Declining contents (microgram/egg) and percentage of phospholipids signified the phospholipid is a major lipid class for the energy supply of both species during the embryonic development. The high conservation of EPA and ARA was observed for both species, which suggested their importance for the developing embryos and newly hatched larvae. Moreover, decreasing DHA percentage during embryonic development of *P. ornatus* strongly implicated the excessive of egg DHA were oxidated for energy supply during the egg development. Generally, pre-hatching egg and newly hatched phyllosoma of *P. ornatus* contained higher DHA/EPA ratio and lower ARA level (%total fatty acids) than that of *P. pelagicus*, which indicated their different HUFA requirements for early stage larvae of both species. These differences may suggest early stage P. pelagicus larvae need low DHA level, but high EPA and ARA levels in their diets while newly hatched P. ornatus phyllosoma require high DHA level, but low ARA level in their diets.

Analysis of the ontogenetic changes in lipid composition during larval development has been used as a method to understand the lipid requirements and the relative importance of specific fatty acids during larval development (Phleger et al., 2001; Limbourn and Nichols, 2009). Wild crustacean larvae with different development stages are the ideal choice for these

analyses (Saunders et al., 2012). However, collection and identification of marine larvae from plankton samples are technically difficult, tedious and costly, particularly for species with a number of larval development stages and extended larval duration (Smith et al., 2009a). For example, P. pelagicus undergoes four pelagic zoeal stages and a postlarval megalopal stage before settling as benthic juvenile, which are assumed to disperse and live in different parts of ocean (Josileen and Menon, 2004). Therefore, use of laboratory cultured larvae has become an alternative mean in the understanding of larval nutrition of various crustaceans (Mourente et al., 1995; Roustaian et al., 2001; Holme et al., 2009b; Copeman et al., 2012). Under the laboratory conditions for larval P. pelagicus, high mortality was accompanied with high percentage of body increments and SGR of dry weight, which suggested the high energy demand during the process of moulting and tissue proliferation (Roustaian et al., 2001). Compared to their diets, significant increases of ARA and DHA in megalopae indicated they are very important HUFAs for later stage larvae, particularly in zoea IV larvae. Zoea III onward larvae were fed enriched Artemia, only containing ca. 1% of ARA in total fatty acids, but megalopae had 2.16% of ARA in total fatty acids. This indicated megalopae had higher ARA requirement than early larvae of P. pelagicus.

As for ontogenetic patterns of lipid composition changes during early to mid-Stages of *P. ornatus* phyllosoma, the decreasing trends of SGR was detected from early stage to mid stage. This is consistent with the declined metabolism, ammonia excretion, specific oxygen consumption rates and extended development period between the consecutive stages during larval development of *P. ornatus* (Smith et al., 2009a; Ikeda et al., 2011). Furthermore, early stage phyllosoma could preferentially sequestered and accumulated the higher proportions of EPA and DHA compared to that present in their diets, indicating higher DHA and EPA requirements for these stages. These results suggested larval *P. pelagicus* and *P. ornatus* have an ability to preferentially accumulate and modify their dietary fatty acids to support normal growth and development.

12.3 Effects of starvation on lipid composition

In Chapters 6 and Chapter 7, two separate starvation experiments were conducted to assess the fatty acid utilization patterns and preferential conservation of important fatty acids for the newly hatched larvae of *P. pelagicus* and *P. ornatus* during the starvation. The newly hatched *P. ornatus* phyllosoma had the stronger starvation resistance than the newly hatched *P. pelagicus* larvae, which is linked to the high individual total lipids and dry weight in newly hatched Stage I phyllosoma (Anger, 1995; Abrunhosa and Kittaka, 1997; Smith et al., 2010). During the starvation, more than 50% of phospholipids were utilized for the larvae of both

species, indicating the oxidation of membrane structural lipids (Ritar et al., 2003). The higher retention of ARA was found than that of EPA and DHA during the starvation of *P. pelagicus* larvae while both DHA and ARA were highly conserved for newly hatched *P. ornatus* phyllosoma. These results not only indicated the importance of those HUFAs for larval growth and development of both species, but also suggested HUFA requirement of larval *P. pelagicus* is lower and different to early stage *P. ornatus* phyllosoma. Therefore, the major findings of Chapter 2 - Chapter 7 have provided the important baselines and insights for the design of following feeding experiments.

12.4 Effects of dietary highly unsaturated fatty acids on larval performance

Based on the previous experiments (Chapter 2 - Chapter 7), ARA and DHA/EPA ratios are two important factors for the newly hatched larvae of P. pelagicus and P. ornatus, which suggested the dietary ARA levels and DHA/EPA ratios may have significant effects on the growth and survival of *P. pelagicus* and *P. ornatus* larvae. In addition, many marine crustaceans generally have limited capacity to synthesize HUFAs de novo and therefore require certain amount of HUFAs, such as DHA, EPA and ARA, in their diet (Kanazawa et al., 1979a). Therefore, Chapter 8 - Chapter 11 were designed to identify the optimal dietary ARA levels as well as DHA/EPA ratios for early-stage P. ornatus phyllosoma and P. pelagicus larvae based on enriched Artemia. For the evaluation of larval growth of crustacean feeding experiments, previous studies often used final body weight, carapace size and development time as the criteria (Suprayudi et al., 2004a,b; Holme et al., 2006; Sui et al., 2007). The present study found the specific growth rate (SGR; % day⁻¹) was more sensitive than the measurements of body weight, carapace size of larvae because both body weight increase and duration are taken into the calculation (Wu et al., 2012). SGR is very important parameter to aquaculture practice because in aquaculture, it is not only absolute increases in biomass or size that matters, but the time to achieve such increases is also important (Guillaume, 2001). As carapace growth in crustaceans only occurs immediately following when crustaceans are able to increase their body size while the exoskeleton is still soft (Freeman et al., 1983; Freeman et al., 1987), all experiments were conducted over a duration required for larvae to reach a certain developmental stage rather than culturing for a pre-determined duration. This ensured that data obtained were more reliable and also made comparison among different trials possible.

The current results clearly showed that dietary ARA levels significantly affected development and growth of the larvae for both species. Both the lower and higher dietary ARA appeared to negatively impact on larval performance, often leading to longer development time, lower DW and SGR, which maybe ascribe to the imbalance ratios of different prostaglandins. It

is well known ARA and EPA are the precursors of series-2 (e.g. prostaglandin E2, PGE2) and series-3 prostaglandin (e.g. prostaglandin E₃, PGE₃), respectively (Yang et al., 2002). There exists a competitive inhibition between conversion of ARA to PGE₂ and EPA to PGE₃ (Bell and Sargent, 2003); when dietary ARA is below an optimal level, increased dietary ARA would lead to increased PGE₂ synthesis and concentration, hence enhancing larval development while further increase of dietary ARA level beyond an optimal level may lead to excessive PGE₂ being produced with decreased PGE₃ production, resulting in an imbalanced PGE₂/PGE₃ ratio. Therefore, optimal dietary ARA levels are therefore likely to result in balanced PGE₂/PGE₃ ratio in crustaceans (Reddy et al., 2004; Meunpol et al., 2010), leading to the highest survival, shortest development time, fast growth and the lowest occurrence of moulting death syndrome (MDS) for P. pelagicus larvae. MDS is a common phenomenon found in brachyuran crab larvae during metamorphosis, and mass mortalities due to MDS have been reported for various portunid crabs (Hamasaki et al., 2002a; Arai et al., 2004; Takano et al., 2004; Baylon, 2009). More recent studies have revealed that an imbalance of dietary omega-3 fatty acids is one of the major contributors to MDS in larval mud crabs (Hamasaki et al., 2002b; Suprayudi et al., 2004a). These results demonstrated, for the first time, that dietary ARA level also had a significant effect on the occurrence of MDS for P. pelagicus larvae, resulting in different survival from zoea IV to megalopa.

The present results have shown dietary optimal ARA level of larval P. pelagicus is higher than that of early-stage *P. ornatus* phyllosoma. This may indicate their different feeding habits in wild sea. Natural diets of P. pelagicus larvae, particularly for megalopae stage, may contain relatively higher ARA levels while natural preys of early stage P. ornatus phyllosoma have low ARA levels. Sargent and Whittle (1981) had suggested that ARA, derived from the benthic algae (Sargent and Whittle, 1981) and therefore more accessible to post-larvae and juvenile crustaceans such as megalopae. Therefore, pelagic crustacean larvae may have a lower ARA requirement than post-larval or early juvenile crustacean (Ritar et al., 2003). The dietary DHA/EPA ratios did also significantly affect development time and growth for both species. However, optimal dietary DHA/EPA ratio of early stage P. ornatus is significant higher than that of larval P. pelagicus. This difference indicated early stage P. ornatus have higher DHA/EPA ratio and DHA requirement than larval P. pelagicus. However, dietary DHA/EPA ratios and ARA levels did not significantly affect the survival of early stage P. ornatus phyllosoma. It is likely that the relatively high initial total DHA and ARA levels in the newly hatched Stage I phyllosoma was sufficient to sustain high survival for early stage phyllosoma. Therefore, dietary DHA/EPA ratios and ARA levels only affected growth and development of early stage *P. ornatus* phyllosoma. In conclusion, optimization the fatty acid composition of hatchery food will be an effective means to improve seed quality and quantity for both species.

12.5 Future directions

Although the present study has made significant contributions to the understanding of lipid nutrition for early life stage *P. pelagicus* and *P. ornatus*, providing the valuable information for the further improvement of hatchery technology and formulated diets for the hatchery culture of both species, the intrinsic mechanism of fatty acid requirement and their interaction largely remains unknown for their modulation on larval growth, development and survival for both species. As there are many complexities in the identification of quality and quantity of essential fatty acids (EFAs), investigation of fatty acid interactions and requirements as well as recognition of their metabolism, the scope of future research is quite extensive and task is very tough. However, the following directions seems should be the priority for the fatty acid nutrition of *P. pelagicus* and *P. ornatus* larvae in the future research, which is emerging from my thesis.

Firstly, wild broodstock females with mature ovary, wild larvae of different developmental stages and with similar stage of moulting cycle, and their natural foods should be sampled for the lipid analysis to get the accurate information for their natural conditions of lipid nutrition. Although lipid analysis has been conducted on wild P. pelagicus females with mature ovaries and early stage embryos (Zhou et al., 2011), no available information could be found on the lipid composition of wild P. pelagicus larvae. For both P. pelagicus and P. ornatus, their larval cycles are complicated, consisting of multiple-pelagic planktonic stages, transitional planktonic post-larvae (megalopa for P. pelagicus; puerulus for P. ornatus) and benthic juveniles (Josileen and Menon, 2004a; Smith et al., 2009a). Previous studies have indicated wild Jasus edwardsii phyllosoma undergo several dietary shifts during the pelagic planktonic stages (Jeffs, 2007). The similar phenomena maybe existed in *P. ornatus* phyllosoma. For *P. pelagicus*, generally, adult females leave inshore estuarine areas and move to offshore for spawning and hatching while megalopa immigrate into shallow estuaries for settlement (Meagher, 1971). During the larval phase, the larvae may drift as far as 80 km out to sea before returning to settle in shallow inshore waters (Bryars, 1997). The different habitats and dietary shifts suggested there maybe existing stage differences of fatty acid nutrition, particularly in ARA, DHA and EPA. Therefore, more stages of wild larvae and their natural preys should be sampled and analyzed to provide important cues and insights to fatty acid nutrition of P. pelagicus and P. ornatus larvae. The stage differences should be taken into consideration in future feeding experiments and hatchery practice.
Although this study have demonstrated the importance of ARA, DHA and EPA, unfortunately, up to date, the numbers of essential fatty acids (EFAs) have not been identified for P. pelagicus and P. ornatus larvae. As reviewed in Chapter 1, animals including crustacean lack $\Delta 12 \pmod{0.6}$ and $\Delta 15 \pmod{0.3}$ desaturases and so they can not form 18:2n-6 and 18:3n-3 from 18:1n-9 (D'Abramo, 1997; Merican and Shim, 1997). Then, 18:2n-6 and 18:3n-3 are EFAs in the diets of crustaceans (D'Abramo, 1997). However, some crustaceans, particularly freshwater or estuary species, have a certain ability of conversion from 18:3n3 to 20:5n3 and then to 22:6n3 as well as 18:2n6 to 20:4n6 (Reigh and Stickney, 1989b; Mourente, 1996). Therefore, the quality and quantity of EFAs may vary among different crustacean species. For larval P. *pelagicus* and *P. ornatus*, it is quiet difficult to identify the EFAs because larval culture of both species, particularly early larval stages, largely rely on live foods, such as rotifers and Artemia. However, live foods (rotifers and Artemia) generally contained a certain levels of 18:3n3 and 18:2n6, and they also have strong fatty acid metabolism in their bodies (Han et al., 2001; Sui et al., 2007). The mentioned reasons suggested it is inaccurate to use live foods to investigate the quality and quantity of EFAs for P. pelagicus and P. ornatus. The purified diets, deleted a particular fatty acid but with the other important PUFAs (deletion experiment) or added a particular fatty acid but without other important PUFAs (presence experiment), are necessary and classical method for the identification of EFAs for animals (Xu et al., 1994b; Merican and Shim, 1996). Recent studies have shown formulated diets, such as microbound diets and moisture diet, can totally replace live foods during the megalopal stage of P. pelagicus and later phyllosoma stage of P. ornatus (Castine et al., 2008; Johnston et al., 2008). For the research purpose, the quality and quantity of EFAs should be indentified for the megalopal stage of P. pelagicus and later P. ornatus phyllosoma based on the purified diets using pure fatty acids as fatty acid source. From the practical view, rotifers and Artemia are still considered as the most feasible food source for the culture of early stage P. pelagicus and P. ornatus larvae, and they are unlikely to be replaced in near future (Takeuchi and Murakami, 2007; Holme et al., 2009a; Wu et al., 2012). Therefore, future studies also should be done to improve the fatty acid composition of emulsions and then live foods, such as enrichment methodology, comparison of fatty acid forms in triglyceride, methyl ester and phospholipids, and fatty acids providing in microcapsules to reduce their metabolism.

Last but not least, the current results have shown dietary ARA levels and DHA/EPA ratios significantly affect larval performance of *P. pelagicus* and *P. ornatus*, but the intrinsic mechanism is largely unknown. Ecdysone and different prostaglandins have been suggested to be involved in those regulation processes (Koskela et al., 1992; Suprayudi et al., 2004). Therefore, more concern should be put on the modulation of prostaglandins and ecdysone on

growth and moulting as well as their relationships with dietary and tissue fatty acid composition, particularly for ARA, EPA and DHA. However, due to the small number of larvae reached to megalopal stage of *P. pelagicus* or stage III phyllosoma for *P. ornatus* from the current experiments, together with complicated determination methodology of those hormones, the actual concentration of different prostaglandins and ecdysone were not able to determine for the larvae in this thesis. Clearly, it is ugent and important to investigate the physiological mechanism between dietary HUFA composition and larval performance of *P. pelagicus* and *P. ornatus* in future, which would provide the valuable information for the improvement of hatchery technology of both species.

Bibliography

- Abayasekara, D.R.E., 1999. Effect of altering dietary fatty acid composition on prostaglandin synthesis and fertility. Prostaglandins, leukotrienes and essential fatty acids 61, 275-287.
- Abrunhosa, F.A., Kittaka, J., 1997. Effect of starvation on the first larvae of homarus americanus (decapoda, nephropidae) and phyllosomas of *Jasus verreauxi* and *Jasus edwardsii* (Decapoda, Palinuridae). Bulletin of Marine Science 61, 73-80.
- Agaba, M.K., Tocher, D.R., Zheng, X., Dickson, C.A., Dick, J.R., Teale, A.J., 2005. Cloning and functional characterisation of polyunsaturated fatty acid elongases of marine and freshwater teleost fish. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part B: Biochemistry and Molecular Biology 142, 342-352.
- Amsler, M.O.L., George, R.Y., 1984. Seasonal variation in the biochemical composition of the embryos of *Callinectes sapidus* rathbun. Journal of Crustacean Biology 4, 546-553.
- Andr és, M., Est évez, A., Anger, K., Rotllant, G., 2008. Developmental patterns of larval growth in the edible spider crab, *Maja brachydactyla* (Decapoda: Majidae). Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 357, 35-40.
- Andrés, M., Rotllant, G., Zeng, C., 2010. Survival, development and growth of larvae of the blue swimmer crab, *Portunus pelagicus*, cultured under different photoperiod conditions. Aquaculture 300, 218-222.
- Anger, K., Dawirs, R.R., 1981. Influence of starvation on the larval development of *Hyas* araneus (Decapoda, majidae). Helgolander Meeresunters 36, 67-75.
- Anger, K., Dawirs, R.R., Ange, V., Costlow, J.D., 1981. Effects of early starvation periods on zoeal development of brachyuran crabs. The Biological Bulletin 161, 199-212.
- Anger, K., Dawirs, R.R., 1982. Elemental composition (C, N, H) and energy in growing and starving larvae of *Hyas araneus* (Decapoda, majidae). Fishery Bulletin 80, 419-433.
- Anger, K., 1995. Starvation resistance in larvae of a semiterrestrial crab, Sesarma curacaoense (Decapoda: Grapsidae). Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 187, 161-174.
- Anger, K., Ismael, D., 1997. Growth and elemental composition (c, n, h) in larvae and early juveniles of a south American salt marsh crab, *Chasmagnathus granulata* (Decapoda: Grapsidae). Mangroves Salt Marshes 1, 219-227.
- Anger, K., 1998. Patterns of growth and chemical composition in decapod crustacean larvae. Invertebrate Reproduction & Development 33, 159-176.
- Anger, K., 2001. The biology of decapod crustacean larvae, Crustacean issues 14. A.A. Balkema, The Netherlands.
- Anger, K., Lovrich, G.A., Thatje, S., Calcagno, J.A., 2004. Larval and early juvenile development of *Lithodes santolla* (Molina, 1782) (Decapoda: Anomura: Lithodidae) reared at different temperatures in the laboratory. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 306, 217-230.

- Anger, K., Hayd, L., Knott, J., Nettelmann, U., 2009. Patterns of larval growth and chemical composition in the Amazon river prawn, *Macrobrachium amazonicum*. Aquaculture 287, 341-348.
- AOAC, 1995. Official methods of analysis of the association of official analytical chemists (16th ed.). Association of Official Analytical Chemists, Arlington, VA, USA.
- Arai, D., Hamasaki, K., Maruyama, K., Obata, Y., Tsumura, S., Takano, M., 2004. Relationship between mass mortality of megalops and morphogenesis of zoeas in the seed production of swimming crab *Portunus trituberculatus* (Brachyura: Portunidae). Nippon Suisan Gakkaishi 70, 567-572.
- Arshad, A., Efrizal, K., M.S., Saad, C.R., 2006. Study on fecundity, embryology and larval development of blue swimming crab *Portunus pelagicus* (Linnaeus, 1758) under laboratory conditions. Research Journal of Fisheries and Hydrobiology 1, 35-44.
- Auel, H., Harjes, M., da Rocha, R., Stübing, D., Hagen, W., 2002. Lipid biomarkers indicate different ecological niches and trophic relationships of the Arctic hyperiid amphipods *Themisto abyssorum* and *T. Libellula*. Polar Biology 25, 374-383.
- Baylon, J.C., 2009. Appropriate food type, feeding schedule and *Artemia* density for the zoea larvae of the mud crab, *Scylla tranquebarica* (Crustacea: Decapoda: Portunidae). Aquaculture 288, 190-195.
- Bell, J.G., Tocher, D.R., Sargent, J.R., 1994. Effect of supplementation with 20:3(n-6), 20:4(n -6) and 20:5(n-3) on the production of prostaglandins E and F of the 1-, 2- and 3-series in turbot (*Scophthalmus maximus*) brain astroglial cells in primary culture. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) Lipids and Lipid Metabolism 1211, 335-342.
- Bell, J.G., Sargent, J.R., 2003. Arachidonic acid in aquaculture feeds: Current status and future opportunities. Aquaculture 218, 491-499.
- Bell, M., Batty, R., Dick, J., Fretwell, K., Navarro, J., Sargent, J., 1995. Dietary deficiency of docosahexaenoic acid impairs vision at low light intensities in juvenile herring (*Clupea harengus* 1.). Lipids 30, 443-449.
- Bell, M.V., Henderson, R.J., Sargent, J.R., 1986. The role of polyunsaturated fatty acids in fish. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology 4, 711-719.
- Berry, P.F., 1971. The biology of the spiny lobster *Pauulirus homarus* (Linneus) off the east coast of southern Africa, Oceanographic Research Institute, Investigational Report Number, Durban, South African, pp. 1-75.
- Bourne, D., Høj, L., Webster, N., Payne, M., Skindersø, M., Givskov, M., Hall, M., 2007. Microbiological aspects of phyllosoma rearing of the ornate rock lobster *Panulirus ornatus*. Aquaculture 268, 274-287.
- Bourne, D.G., Young, N., Webster, N., Payne, M., Salmon, M., Demel, S., Hall, M., 2004. Microbial community dynamics in a larval aquaculture system of the tropical rock lobster, *Panulirus ornatus*. Aquaculture 242, 31-51.
- Bransden, M.P., Butterfield, G.M., Walden, J., McEvoy, L.A., Bell, J.G., 2005a. Tank colour and dietary arachidonic acid affects pigmentation, eicosanoid production and tissue fatty acid profile of larval Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*). Aquaculture 250, 328-340.
- Brante, A., Fernandez, M., Eckerle, L., Mark, F., Poertner, H.O., Arntz, W., 2003. Reproductive investment in the crab *Cancer setosus* along a latitudinal cline: Egg production, embryo losses and embryo ventilation. Marine Ecology Progress Series 251, 221-232.
- Brenner, R.R., 1974. The oxidative desaturation of unsaturated fatty acids in animals. Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry 3, 41-52.
- Bryars, S.R., 1997. Larval dispersal of the blue swimmer crab *Portunus pelagicus* Linnaeus (Crustacea: Decapoda: Portunidae) in south Australia. Flinders University, Adelaide, Australia, pp. 256-260.
- Bryars, S.R., Havenhand, J.N., 2004. Temporal and spatial distribution and abundance of blue swimmer crab (*Portunus pelagicus*) larvae in a temperate gulf. Marine and Freshwater Research 55, 809-818.
- Bryars, S.R., Havenhand, J.N., 2006. Effects of constant and varying temperatures on the development of blue swimmer crab (*Portunus pelagicus*) larvae: Laboratory

observations and field predictions for temperate coastal waters. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 329, 218-229.

- Burgoyne, R.D., Cheek, T.R., O'Sullivan, A.J., 1987. Receptor-activation of phospholipase A2 in cellular signalling. Trends in Biochemical Sciences 12, 332-333.
- Cahu, C., Guillaume, J.C., St éphan, G., Chim, L., 1994. Influence of phospholipid and highly unsaturated fatty acids on spawning rate and egg and tissue composition in *Penaeus vannamei* fed semi-purified diets. Aquaculture 126, 159-170. b
- Calado, R., Dionisio, G., Dinis, M.T., 2007. Starvation resistance of early zoeal stages of marine ornamental shrimps *Lysmata spp*. (Decapoda: Flippolytidae) from different habitats. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 351, 226-233.
- Campbell, M.J., Sumpton, W.D., 2009. Ghost fishing in the pot fishery for blue swimmer crabs *Portunus pelagicus* in Queensland, Australia. Fisheries Research 95, 246-253.
- Castille, F.C., Lawrence, A.L., 1989. The relationship between maturation and biochemical composition of the gonads and digestive glands of the shrimps *Penaeus aztecus* ives and *Penaeus setiferus* (L.). Journal of Crustacean Biology 9, 202-211.
- Castine, S., Southgate, P.C., Zeng, C., 2008. Evaluation of four dietary protein sources for use in microbound diets fed to megalopae of the blue swimmer crab, *Portunus pelagicus*. Aquaculture 281, 95-99.
- Cavalli, R.O., Lavens, P., Sorgeloos, P., 1999. Performance of *Macrobrachium rosenbergii* broodstock fed diets with different fatty acid composition. Aquaculture 179, 387-402.
- Ceccaldi, H.J., 1997. Anatomy and physiology of the digestive system of crustaceans. In: Abramo, L.R.D., Conklin, D.E., Arigama, D.M. (Eds.), Advance in world aquaculture: crustacean nutrition. World Aquaculture Society, Baton Rouge, Louisiana, USA, pp. 261-291.
- Ceccaldi, H.J., 1998. A synopsis of the morphology and physiology of the digestive system of some crustacean species studied in France. Reviews in Fisheries Science 6, 13-39.
- Chandumpai, A., Dall, W., Smith, D.M., 1991. Lipid-class composition of organs and tissues of the tiger prawn *Penaeus esculentus* during the ing cycle and during starvation. Marine Biology 108, 235-245.
- Chakraborty, K., Chakraborty, R. D., Radhakrishnan, E.V., Vijayan, K.K., 2010. Fatty acid profiles of spiny lobster (*Panulirus homarus*) phyllosoma fed enriched *Artemia*. Aquaculture Research 41, 393-403.
- Chapelle, S., 1977. Lipid compositon of tissues of marine crustaceans. Biochemical Systematics Ecology 5, 241-248.
- Chapelle, S., 1978. Influence of salinity on the lipid composition and the fatty acid pattern of muscle and hepatopancreas of the Chinese crab *Eriocheir sinensis*. Archives of Insect Biochemistry and Physiology 86, 393-401.
- Chen, S., Wu, X., Cheng, Y., Wang, C., Zhu, D., Zhou, B., Wang, J., Gong, L., 2007. Changes of proximate biochemical composition and energy source during embryonic development of swimming crab, *Portunus trituberculatus*. Journal of Fishery Sciences of China 14, 229-235 (in Chinese with English Abstract).
- Cheng, Y.X., Du, N.S., Lai, W., 1998. Lipid composition variation during the embryonic development in the Chinese crab *Eriocheir sinensis*. Journal of East China Normal University (Natural science) 1998, 32-35 (in Chinese with English Abstract).
- Clarke, A., Brown, J.H., Holmes, L.J., 1990. The biochemical composition of eggs from *Macrobrachium rosenbergii* in relation to embryonic development. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part 96B, 505-511.
- Clarke, A., 1993. Egg size and egg composition in polar shrimps (Caridea, Decapoda). Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 168, 189-203.
- Copeman, L.A., Stoner, A.W., Ottmar, M.L., Daly, B., Parrish, C.C., Eckert, G.L., 2012. Total lipids, lipid classes, and fatty acids of newly settled red king crab (*Paralithodes camtschaticus*): Comparison of hatchery-cultured and wild crabs. Journal of Shellfish Research 31, 153-165.

- Coutteau, P., Geurden, I., Camara, M.R., Bergot, P., Sorgeloos, P., 1997. Review on the dietary effects of phospholipids in fish and crustacean larviculture. Aquaculture 155, 149-164.
- D'Abramo, L.R., Sheen, S.S., 1993. Polyunsaturated fatty acid nutrition in juvenile freshwater prawn *Macrobrachium rosenbergii*. Aquaculture 115, 63-86.
- D'Abramo, L.R., 1997. Triacylglcerides and fatty acids In: Abramo, L.R.D., Conklin, D.E., Arigama, D.M. (Eds.), Advance in world aquaculture: crustacean nutrition. World Aquaculture Society, Baton Rouge, Louisiana, USA, pp. 71-84.
- D'Abramo, L.R., 1998. Nutritional requirements of the freshwater prawn *Macrobrachium rosenbergii*: Comparisons with species of penaeid shrimp. Review in Fisheries Science 6, 153-163.
- Dall, W., 1981. Lipid absorption and utilization in the norwegian lobster, *Nephrops norvegicus* (L). Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 50, 33-45.
- Dall, W., Moriarty, D.J.W., 1983. Functional aspects of nutrition and digestion. In: Mantel, L.H. (Ed.), The biology of crustacea 5: internal anatomy and physiological regulation. Academic Press, New York.
- Dan, S., Hamasaki, K., 2011. Effects of salinity and dietary n-3 highly unsaturated fatty acids on the survival, development, and morphogenesis of the larvae of laboratory-reared mud crab *Scylla serrata* (Decapoda, Portunidae). Aquaculture International 19, 323-338.
- Dan, S., Kaneko, T., Takeshima, S., Ashidate, M., Hamasaki, K., 2013. Variations in larval morphology and their relationships to survival during mass seed production by the swimming crab, *Portunus trituberculatus* (Brachyura, Portunidae). Aquaculture, 414–415, 109-118.
- Danaher, K., 2003. Assessing the diet of wild late stage phyllosoma of the rock lobster Panulirus cygnus, using lipid biomarkers: Implications for larval condition. In: School of Marine Biology & Aquaculture, BSc (Hons) Thesis. James Cook University, Townsville, Australia, pp. 19-52.
- Davis, C.C., 1964. A study of the hatching process in aquatic invertebrates viii. Events of eclosion in the american lobster *Homarus americanus* Milne-edwards (Astacura, Homaridae). The American Midland Naturalist 72, 203-210.
- Dawirs, R.R., 1984. Influence of starvation on larval development of *Carcinus maenas* L. (Decapoda: Portunidae). Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 80, 47-66.
- Dawirs, R.R., 1985. Temperature and larval development of *Carcinus maenas* (Decapoda) in the laboratory predictions of larval dynamics in the sea. Marine Ecology Progress Series 24, 297-302.
- Dineshbabu, A.P., Shridhara, B., Muniyappa, Y., 2008. Biology and exploitation of the blue swimmer crab, *Portunus pelagicus* (Linnaeus, 1758), from south Karnataka coast, India. Indian Journal of Fisheries 55, 215-220.
- Dixon, C.D., Hooper, G.E., 2009. Blue crab (*Portunus pelagicus*) fishery 2007/08. Stock assessment report to PIRSA fisheries. South Australian Research and Development Institute (Aquatic science), Adelaide. F2007/000729-5.
- Djunaidah, I.S., Wille, M., Kontara, E.K., Sorgeloos, P., 2003. Reproductive performance and offspring quality in mud crab (*Scylla paramamosain*) broodstock fed different diets. Aquaculture International 11, 3-15.
- Dorota, P., Krzysztof, F., Agata, K.-O., Aleksander, W., 2010. Hatching process in the signal crayfish, *Pacifastacus leniusculus* (Dana, 1852) (Decapoda, Astacidae). Crustaceana 83, 1167-1180.
- Dotson, E.M., Connat, J.-L., Diehl, P.A., 1993. Metabolism of [³H]-ecdysone in embryos and larvae of the tick *Ornithodoros moubata*. Archives of Insect Biochemistry and Physiology 23, 67-78.
- Est évez, A., Kaneko, T., Seikai, T., Tagawa, M., Tanaka, M., 2001. Acth and msh production in japanese flounder (*Paralichthys olivaceus*) larvae fed arachidonic acid enriched live prey. Aquaculture 192, 309-319.

- Evjemo, J.O., Danielsen, T.L., Olsen, Y., 2001. Losses of lipid, protein and n-3 fatty acids in enriched *Artemia franciscana* starved at different temperatures. Aquaculture 193, 65-80.
- Factor, J.R., 1981. Development and metamorphosis of the digestive system of larval lobsters, *Homarus americanus* (Decapoda, Nephropidae). Journal of Morphology 169, 225-242.
- FAO, 2005. Review of the state of world marine fishery resources. FAO Fisheries Technical Paper No. 457, FAO Rome, Italy, pp. 235.
- FAO, 2012. Species fact sheets of *Portunus pelagicus* (Linneaus, 1758). FAO Fisheries and Aquaculture Department, Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO).
- Farkas, T., Nevenzel, J.C., 1981. Temperature acclimation in the crayfish: Effects on phospholipid fatty acids. Lipids 16, 341-346.
- Figueiredo, J., Narciso, L., 2008. Egg volume, energy content and fatty acid a profile of *Maja* brachydactyla (Crustacea: Brachyura: Majidae) during embryogenesis. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom 88, 1401-1405.
- Figueiredo, J., Penha-Lopes, G., Anto, J., Narciso, L., Lin, J., 2008. Potential fertility and egg development (volume, water, lipid, and fatty acid content) through embryogenesis of *Uca rapax* (Decapoda: Brachyura: Ocypodidae). Journal of Crustacean Biology 28, 528-533.
- Fiore, D.R., Tlusty, M.F., 2005. Use of commercial artemia replacement diets in culturing larval American lobsters (*Homarus americanus*). Aquaculture 243, 291-303.
- Folkvord, A., 2005. Comparison of size-at-age of larval Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*) from different populations based on size- and temperature-dependent growth models. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 62, 1037-1052.
- Fontagn é S., Burtaire, L., Corraze, G., Bergot, P., 2000. Effects of dietary medium-chain triacylglycerols (tricaprylin and tricaproin) and phospholipid supply on survival, growth and lipid metabolism in common carp (*Cyprinus carpio* L.) larvae. Aquaculture 190, 289-303.
- Forman, B.M., Tontonoz, P., Chen, J., Brun, R.P., Spiegelman, B.M., Evans, R.M., 1995. 15-deoxy- $\Delta^{12,14}$ -prostaglandin J₂ is a ligand for the adipocyte determination factor PPAR γ . Cell 83, 803-812.
- Freeman, J.A., West, T.L., Costlow, J.D., 1983. Postlarval growth in juvenile *Rhithropanopeus harrisii*. Biological Bulletin 105, 409-415.
- Freeman, J.A., Kilgus, G., Laurendeau, D., Perry, H.M., 1987. Post and inter cycle stages of *Callinectes sapidus*. Aquaculture 61, 201-209.
- Garcia-Guerrero, M., Villarreal, H., Racotta, I.S., 2003. Effect of temperature on lipids, proteins, and carbohydrates levels during development from egg extrusion to juvenile stage of *Cherax quadricarinatus* (Decapoda: Parastacidae). Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology 135A, 147-154.
- Garcia-Guerrero, M., 2009. Proximate biochemical variations in eggs of the prawn *Macrobrachium americanum* (Bate, 1869) during its embryonic development. Aquaculture Research 40, 575-581.
- Garcia-Guerrero, M., 2010. Effect of temperature on consumption rate of main yolk components during embryo development of the prawn *Macrobrachium americanum* (Crustacea: Decapoda: Palaemonidae). Journal of the World Aquaculture Society 41, 84-92.
- Glencross, B.D., Smith, D.M., 1997. Comparison of triacylglycerols, esterified and free fatty acids as neutral lipid sources in the diet of the prawn *Penaeus monodon*. Aquaculture 159, 67-85.
- Glencross, B.D., Smith, D.M, 1999. The dietary linoleic and linolenic fatty acids requirements of the prawn *Penaeus monodon*. Aquaculture Nutrition 5, 53-64.
- Glencross, B.D., Smith, D.M., 2001. Optimizing the essential fatty acids, eicosapentaenoic and docosahexaenoic acid, in the diet of the prawn, *Penaeus monodon*. Aquaculture Nutrition 7, 101-112.

- Glencross, B.D., Smith, D.M., Curnow, J., Smith, D., Williams, K., 2001. A study of the arachidonic acid and requirements of the giant tiger prawn, *Penaues monodon*. Aquaculture Nutrition 7, 59-69.
- Glencross, B.D., Smith, D.M., Thomas, M.R., Williams, K.C., 2002. Optimising the essential fatty acids in the diet for weight gain of the prawn, *Penaeus monodon*. Aquaculture 204, 85-99.
- Glencross, B.D., 2009. Exploring the nutritional demand for essential fatty acids by aquaculture species. Reviews in Aquaculture 1, 71-124.
- Gonz ález-Bar á M.D.R., Pollero, R.J., 1998. Fatty acid metabolism of *Macrobrachium borellii*: Dietary origin of arachidonic and eicosapentaenoic acids. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology 119A, 747-752.
- Gonz ález-Bar ó, M.D.R., Pollero, R.J., 1993. Palmitic acid metabolism in hepatopancreas of the freshwater shrimp *Macrobrachium borellii*. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology 106B, 71-75.
- Gonz ález-Bar á M.R., Heras, H., Pollero, R.J., 2000. Enzyme activities involved in lipid metabolism during embryonic development of *Macrobrachium borellii*. Journal of Experimental Zoology 286, 231-237.
- Gonz ález-Bar ó, M.R., Irazu, C.E., Pollero, R.J., 1990. Palmitoyl-coa ligase activity in hepatopancreas and gill microsomes of the freshwater shrimp *Macrobrachium borellii*. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology 97B, 129-133.
- Gonz ález-F dix, M.L., Gatlin, D.M.I., Lawrence, A.L., Perez-Velazquez, M., 2002a. Effect of various dietary lipid levels on quantitative essential fatty acid requirements of juvenile pacific white shrimp *Litopenaeus vannamei*. Journal of the World Aquaculture Society 33, 330-340.
- Gonz ález-F dix, M.L., Lawrence, A.L., Gatlin, D.M., Perez-Velazquez, M., 2002b. Growth, survival and fatty acid composition of juvenile *Litopenaeus vannamei* fed different oils in the presence and absence of phospholipids. Aquaculture 205, 325-343.
- Gonz ález-F álix, M.L., Gatlin, D.M., Lawrence, A.L., M.Perez-Velazquez, 2003a. Nutritional evaluation of fatty acids for the open thelycum shrimp, *Litopenaeus vannamei*: II. Effect of dietary n-3 and n-6 polyunsaturated and highly unsaturated fatty acids on juvenile shrimp growth, survival and fatty acid composition. Aquaculture Nutrition 9, 115-122.
- Gonz alez-F dix, M.L., Lawrence, A.L., Gatlin, D.M., Perez-Velazquez, M., 2003b. Nutritional evaluation of fatty acid for the open thelycum shrimp, *Litopenaeus vannamei*: I. Effect of dietary linoleic and linolenic acid at different concentrations and ratios on juvenile shrimp growth, survival and fatty acid composition. Aquaculture Nutrition 9, 105-113.
- Guillaume, J.C., 2001. Terminology and methodology. In: Guillaume, J.C., Kaushik, S., Bergot, P., Metailler, R. (Eds.), Nutrition and feeding of fish and crustaceans. Springger Praxis Publishing, Chichester, UK, pp. 8-14.
- Guo, Z.h., Yang, Z.G., Cheng, Y.X., Ji, L.Y., Que, Y.Q., Liu, Z.W., Zeng, Q.T., 2013. Molecular characterization, tissue expression of acyl-coa Δ9-desaturase-like gene, and effects of dietary lipid levels on its expression in the hepatopancreas of the Chinese mitten crab (*Eriocheir sinensis*). Aquaculture 402–403, 58-65.
- Gurr, M.I., Harwood, J.L., 1991. Lipid biochemistry an introduction fourth edition. Chapman and Hall, London.
- Hall, D., Lee, S.Y., Meziane, T., 2006. Fatty acids as trophic tracers in an experimental estuarine food chain: Tracer transfer. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 336, 42-53.
- Hall, M., Vanheusden, M.C., Soderhall, K., 1995. Identification of the major lipoproteins in crayfish hemolymph as proteins involved in immune recognition and clotting. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 216, 939-946.
- Hamasaki, K., Takeuchi, T., Sekiya, S., 1998. Dietary value for larval swimming crab *Portunus trituberculatus* of marine rotifer *Brachionus rotundiformis* cultured with several feeds. Nippon Suisan Gakkaishi 64, 841-846.

- Hamasaki, K., Suprayudi, M.A., Takeuchi, T., 2002a. Mass mortality during metamorphosis to megalops in the seed production of mud crab *Scylla serrata* (Crustacea, Decapoda, Portunidae). Fisheries Science 68, 1226-1232.
- Hamasaki, K., Suprayudi, M.A., Takeuchi, T., 2002b. Effects of dietary n-3HUFA on larval morphogenesis and metamorphosis to megalopa in the seed production of the mud crab, *Scylla serrata* (Brachyura: Portunidae). Suisan Zoshoku 50, 333-340.
- Hampson, A.J., Rowley, A.F., Barrow, S.E., Steadman, R., 1992. Biosynthesis of eicosanoids by blood-cells of the crab, carcinus-maenas. Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta 1124, 143-150.
- Han, K., Geurden, I., Sorgeloos, P., 2001. Fatty acid changes in enriched and subsequently starved *Artemia franciscana* nauplii enriched with different essential fatty acids. Aquaculture 199, 93-105.
- Harms, J., 1990. Accumulation and loss of biomass in liocarcinus holsatus larvae during growth and exuviation. Marine Biology 104 (2), 183-190.
- Harrison, K.E., 1990. The role of nutrition in maturation, reproduction and embryonic development of decapod crustaceans: A review. Journal of Shellfish Research 9, 1-28.
- Hartnoll, R.G., Mohamedeen, H., 1987. Laboratory growth of the larvae of 6 british crabs. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 107, 155-170.
- Hastings, N., Agaba, M., Tocher, D.R., Leaver, M.J., Dick, J.R., Sargent, J.R., Teale, A.J., 2001. A vertebrate fatty acid desaturase with δ5 and δ6 activities. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 98, 14304-14309.
- Heath, J.R., Barnes, H., 1970. Some changes in biochemical composition with season and during the moulting cycle of the common shore crab, *Carcinus maenas* (L.). Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 5, 199-233.
- Heras, H., Gonzalez-Baro, M.R., Pollero, R.J., 2000. Lipid and fatty acid composition and energy partitioning during embryo development in the shrimp *Macrobrachium borellii*. Lipids 35, 645-651.
- Herring, P.J., 1974. Observations on the embryonic development of some deep-living decapod crustaceans, with particular reference to species of *Acanthephyra*. Marine Biology 25, 25-33.
- Holme, M.H., Southgate, P.C., Zeng, C., 2007a. Survival, development and growth response of mud crab, *Scylla serrata*, megalopae fed semi-purified diets containing various fish oil : Corn oil ratios. Aquaculture 269, 427-435.
- Holme, M.H., Southgate, P.C., Zeng, C., 2007b. Assessment of dietary lecithin and cholesterol requirements of mud crab, *Scylla serrata*, megalopa using semi-purified microbound diets. Aquaculture Nutrition 13, 413-423.
- Holme, M.H., Zeng, C.S., Southgate, P.C., 2009a. A review of recent progress toward development of a formulated microbound diet for mud crab, *Scylla serrata*, larvae and their nutritional requirements. Aquaculture 286, 164-175.
- Holme, M.H., Brock, I., Southgate, P.C., Zeng, C.S., 2009b. Effects of starvation and feeding on lipid class and fatty acid profile of late stage mud crab, *Scylla serrata*, larvae. Journal of the World Aquaculture Society 40, 493-504.
- Holme, M.H., Zeng, C.S., Southgate, P.C., 2006. Use of microbound diets for larval culture of the mud crab, *Scylla serrata*. Aquaculture 257, 482-490.
- Huberman, A., 2000. Shrimp endocrinology. A review. Aquaculture 191, 191-208.
- Hung, L.V., Tuan, L.A., 2009. Lobster seacage culture in viet-nam. In: Williams, K.C. (Ed.), Spiny lobster aquaculture in the Asia-Pacific region: Proceedings of an international symposium held at Nha Trang, Vietnam, 9-10 December 2008. ACIAR Proceedings No. 132. Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research, Canberra, Australia, pp. 10-17.
- Hurlbert, S.T., 1984. Pseudoreplication and the degign of ecological field experiments. Ecologrcal Monographs 54, 187-211.
- Ikeda, T., Smith, G., McKinnon, A.D., Hall, M., 2011. Metabolism and chemical composition of phyllosoma larvae, with special reference to the tropical rock lobster *Panulirus*

ornatus (Decapoda, Palinuridae). Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 405, 80-86.

- Innis, S.M., 2007. Dietary (n-3) fatty acids and brain development. The Journal of Nutrition 137, 855-859.
- Iraz ú, C.E., del R. Gonz ález Bar á M., Pollero, R.J., 1992. Effect of environmental temperature on mitochondrial β-oxidation activity in gills and hepatopancreas of the freshwater shrimp *Macrobrachium borellii*. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology 102B, 721-725.
- Irvin, S.J., Williams, K.C., Barclay, M.C., Tabrett, S.J., 2010. Do formulated feeds for juvenile *Panulirus ornatus* lobsters require dietary cholesterol supplementation? Aquaculture 307, 241-246.
- Jacobs, J.R., Biesiot, P.M., Perry, H.M., Trigg, C., 2003. Biochemical composition of embryonic blue crabs *Callinectes sapidus* Rathbun 1896 (Crustacea: Decapoda) from the gulf of Mexico. Bulletin of Marine Science 72, 311-324.
- Jeckel, W.H., Aizpun de Moreno, J.E., Moreno, V.J., 1990. Changes in biochemical composition and lipids of the digestive gland in females of the shrimp *Pleoticus muelleri* (Bate) during the ing cycle. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology 96B, 521-525.
- Jeffs, A., 2007. Revealing the natural diet of the phyllosoma larvae of spiny lobster. Bulletin of Fisheries Research Agency 20, 9-13.
- Jeffs, A.G., Nichols, P.D., Mooney, B.D., Phillips, K.L., Phleger, C.F., 2004. Identifying potential prey of the pelagic larvae of the spiny lobster *Jasus edwardsii* using signature lipids. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology 137B, 487-507.
- Johnston, M., 2006. Feeding and digestion in the phyllosoma larvae of ornate spiny lobster, *Panulirus ornatus* (Fabricius) and implications for their culture, Department of Zoology. University of Western Australia, Perth, pp. 134.
- Johnston, M., Johnston, D., Jones, C., 2008. Evaluation of partial replacement of live and fresh feeds with a formulated diet and the influence of weaning *Panulirus ornatus* phyllosomata onto a formulated diet during early ontogeny. Aquaculture International 16, 33-47.
- Johnston, M., Johnston, D., Knott, B., 2009. Ontogenetic changes in the structure and function of the mouthparts and foregut of early and late stage *Panulirus ornatus* (Fabricius, 1798) phyllosomata (Decapoda: Palinuridae). Journal of Crustacean Biology 28, 46-56.
- Jones, C., Suastika, M., Sukadi, F., Surahman, A., 2007. Improving lobster grow-out and nutrition in Nusa Tenggara Barat a feasibility study. Final Report Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research, Canberra, pp. 23.
- Jones, D.A., Kurmaly, K., Arshard, A., 1987. Penaeid shrimp hatchery trials using microencapsulated diets. Aquaculture 64, 133-146.
- Jones, D.A., 1998. Crustacean larval microparticulate diets. Reviews in Fisheries Science 6, 41-54.
- Josileen, J., Menon, N.G., 2004. Larval stages of the blue swimmer crab, *Portunus pelagicus* (Linnaeus, 1758) (Decapoda, Brachyura). Crustaceana 77, 785-803.
- Kallapur, V.L., Ramamohan, R.Y., Narasubhai, A.V., 1983a. Oxidation of fatty acids by the mitochondria from hepatopancreas and leg muscle of the field crab, *Paratelphusa hydrodronus*. Proceeding of Indian natural Science of Acadeima B49, 205-209.
- Kallapur, V.L., Ramamohanrao, Y., Narasubhai, A.V., 1983b. Glycolytic enzymes in the pre field crab *Paratelphusa hydrodromus* (Milne-edwards) (Crustacea). Archives Internationales de Physiologie et de Biochimie 91, 127-132.
- Kanazawa, A., Teshima, S., Tokiwa, S., 1977. Nutritional requirements of prawn-VII. Effect of dietary lipids on growth. Bulletin of the Japanese Society of Scientific Fisheries 43, 849-856.
- Kanazawa, A., Teshima, S., Endo, M., Kayama, M., 1978. Effects of eicosapentaenoic acid on growth and fatty acid composition of the prawn, *Penaeus japonicus*. Memoirs of Faculty of Fisheries, Kagoshima University 28, 21-26.

- Kanazawa, A., Teshima, S.I., Ono, K., 1979a. Relationship between essential fatty acid requirements of aquatic animals and the capacity for bioconversion of linolenic acid to highly unsaturated fatty acids. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology 63B, 295-298.
- Kanazawa, A., Teshima, S., Endo, M., 1979b. Requirements of prawn, *Penaeus japonicus*, for essential fatty acids. Memoirs of Faculty of Fisheries, Kagoshima University 28, 27-33.
- Kanazawa, A., Teshima, S., Sakamoto, M., 1985. Effects of dietary lipids, fatty acids, and phospholipids on growth and survival of prawn (*Penaeus japonicus*) larvae. Aquaculture 50, 39-49
- Kanazawa, A., Koshio, S., 1994. Lipid nutrition of the spiny lobster *Panulirus japonicus* (Decapoda, Palinuridae): a review. Crustaceana 67, 226-232.
- Kattner, G., Graeve, M., Calcagno, J.A., Lovrich, G.A., Thatje, S., Anger, K., 2003. Lipid, fatty acid and protein utilization during lecithotrophic larval development of *Lithodes santolla* (Molina) and *Paralomis granulosa* (Jacquinot). Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 292, 61-74.
- Kittaka, J., 1997. Application of ecosystem culture method for complete development of phyllosomas of spiny lobster. Aquaculture 155, 319-331.
- Kittaka, J., Booth, J.D., 2000. Prospectus for aquaculture. In: Phillips, B.F., Kittaka, J. (Eds.), Spiny lobster management (2nd edition). Wiley-Blackwell, Oxford, pp. 465-473.
- Kliewer, S.A., Sundseth, S.S., Jones, S.A., Brown, P.J., Wisely, G.B., Koble, C.S., Devchand, P., Wahli, W., Willson, T.M., Lenhard, J.M., Lehmann, J.M., 1997. Fatty acids and eicosanoids regulate gene expression through direct interactions with peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors α and γ . Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 94, 4318-4323.
- Kondrup, J., Lazarow, P.B., 1985. Flux of palmitate through the peroxisomal and mitochondrial-oxidation systems in isolated rat hepatocytes. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 835, 147-153.
- Kong, X., Wang, G., Li, S., 2007. Antioxidation and atpase activity in the gill of mud crab Scylla serrata under cold stress. Chinese Journal of Oceanology and Limnology 25, 221-226 (in Chinese with English Abstract).
- Kong, X.H., Wang, G.Z., Li, S.J., 2006. Changes of fatty acid composition in muscle and muscle cell membrane of *Scylla serrata* under low temperature adaptation. Journal of fisheries of China 36, 603-610 (in Chinese with English Abstract).
- Kong, X.H., Wang, G.Z., Li, S.J., 2008. Seasonal variations of atpase activity and antioxidant defenses in gills of the mud crab *Scylla serrata* (Crustacea, Decapoda). Marine Biology 154, 269-276.
- Koskela, R.W., Greenwood, J.G., Rothlisberg, P.C., 1992. The influence of prostaglandin E2 and the steroid hormones, 17 alpha-hydroxyprogesterone and 17 beta-estradiol on moulting and ovarian development in the tiger prawn, *Penaeus esculentus* Haswell, 1879 (Crustacea: Decapoda). Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology 101A, 295-299.
- Kucharski, L.C.R., Dasilva, R.S.M., 1991. Effect of diet composition on the carbohydrate and lipid-metabolism in an estuarine crab, *Chasmagnathus granulata* (Dana, 1851). Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology 99A, 215-218.
- Laohabanjong, R., Tantikitti, C., Benjakul, S., Supamattaya, K., Boonyaratpalin, M., 2009. Lipid oxidation in fish meal stored under different conditions on growth, feed efficiency and hepatopancreatic cells of black tiger shrimp (*Penaeus monodon*). Aquaculture 286, 283-289.
- Lavar ás, S., Pollero, R.J., Heras, H., 2006. Activation of lipid catabolism by the water-soluble fraction of petroleum in the crustacean *Macrobrachium borellii*. Aquatic Toxicology 77, 190-196.
- Lavar ás, S., Garcia, F., R.J., P., Heras, H., 2007. Effect of the water-soluble fraction of petroleum on microsomal lipid metabolism of *Macrobrachium borellii* (Arthropoda: Crustacea). Aquatic Toxicology 78, 265-271.

- Lavar ás, S., Heras, H., Pedrini, N., Tournier, H., Ansaldo, M., 2011. Antioxidant response and oxidative stress levels in *Macrobrachium borellii* (Crustacea: Palaemonidae) exposed to the water-soluble fraction of petroleum. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology 153C, 415-421.
- Lazo, O., Contreras, M., Hashmi, M., Stanley, W., Irazu, C., Singh, I., 1988. Peroxisomal lignoceroyl-CoA ligase deficiency in childhood adrenoleukodystrophy and adrenomyeloneuropathy. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 85, 7647-7651.
- Le Roux, A.A., 1971. Etude anatomique et fonctionnelle du proventricule des larves et des juvéniles du premier stade de *Palaemoneste varians* (Leach) (decapoda, natantia). I. Donn és anatomiques. Bulletin de le Soci zoologique de France 96, 127-140.
- Le Vay, L., Rodr guez, A., Kamarudin, M.S., Jones, D.A., 1993. Influence of live and artificial diets on tissue composition and trypsin activity in *Penaeus japonicus* larvae. Aquaculture 118, 287-297.
- Leger, C., 1985. Digestion, absorption and transport of lipids. In: Cowey, C.B., Mackie, A.M., Bell, J.G. (Eds.), Nutrition and feeding in fish. Academic Press Inc., London, pp. 299-331.
- Lemmens, J.W.T.J., Knott, B., 1994. Morphological changes in external and internal feeding structures during the transition phyllosoma-puerulus-juvenile in the western rock lobster (*Panulirus cygnus*, decapoda: Palinuridae). Journal of Morphology 220, 271-280.
- Lestang, S.D., Hall, N.G., Potter, I.C., 2003. Reproductive biology of the blue swimming crab (*Portunus pelagicus*, Decapoda: Portunidae) in five bodies of water on the west coast of Australia. Fish. B-NOAA 101, 745-757.
- Levine, D.M., Sulkin, S.D., 1984. Nutritional significance of long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids to the zoeal development of the brachyuran crab, *Eurypanopeus depressus* (Smith). Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 81, 211-223.
- Li, S., Zeng, C., 2001. Effects of starvation on survival and development of zoea-1 larvae of the mud crab *Scylla serrata*. Journal of Xiamen University (Natural Science) 40, 782-788.
- Li, S., Cheng, Y., Zhou, B., Hines, A.H., 2012. Changes in biochemical composition of newly-spawned egg, pre-hatching embryo and newly-hatched larvae of blue crab callinectes sapidus. Journal of Shellfish Research 31, 941-946.
- Li, W.G., 2005. The effect of the dietary lipid source on the growth, body lipid content and fas of the Chinese mitten crab, *Eriocheir sinensis*, Collgege of Fisheries. Huazhong Agricultural University, Wuhan, China.
- Liddy, G.C., Phillips, B.F., Maguire, G.B., 2003. Survival and growth of instar 1 phyllosoma of the western rock lobster, *Panulirus cygnus*, starved before or after periods of feeding. Aquaculture International 11, 53-67.
- Liddy, G.C., Nelson, M.M., Nichols, P.D., Phillips, B.F., Maguire, G.B., 2004a. The lipid composition of early stage western rock lobster (*Panulirus cygnus*) phyllosoma: Importance of polar lipid and essential fatty acids. Journal of Shellfish Research 23, 265-273.
- Liddy, G.C., Phillips, B.F., Maguire, G.B., 2004b. Effects of temperature and food density on the survival and growth of early stage phyllosoma of the western rock lobster, *Panulirus cygnus*. Aquaculture 242, 207-215.
- Liddy, G.C., Kolkovski, S., Nelson, M., Nichols, P., Phillips, B., Maguire, G., 2005. The effect of pufa enriched artemia on growth, survival and lipid composition of western rock lobster, *Panulirus cygnus*, phyllosoma. Aquaculture Nutrition 11, 375-384.
- Lilly, M., Bottino, N.R., 1981. Identification of arachidonic acid in gulf of mexico shrimp and degree of biosynthesis in *Penaeus setiferus*. Lipids 12, 871-875.
- Lim, B.K., Hirayama, K., 1991. Growth and elemental composition (C, N, P) during larval developmental stages of mass-cultured swimming crab *Portunus trituberculatus*. Marine Ecology Progress Series 78, 131-137.

- Lim, C., Ako, H., Brown, C.L., Hahn, K., 1997. Growth response and fatty acid composition of juvenile *Penaeus vannamei* fed different sources of dietary lipid. Aquaculture 151, 143-153.
- Limbourn, A., Babcock, R., Johnston, D., Nichols, P., Knott, B., 2008. Post-settlement energy reserves in *Panulirus cygnus*: Experimental effects of starvation on survival and nutritional condition. Marine Biology 153, 445-456.
- Limbourn, A.J., Nichols, P.D., 2009. Lipid, fatty acid and protein content of late larval to early juvenile stages of the western rock lobster, *Panulius cygnus*. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology 152B, 292-298.
- Liu, L.H., 2005. Lipid nutrition and regulation of reproduction of Chinese mitten crab. East Normal University, Shanghai, China.
- Madsen, L., Rustan, A.C., Vaagenes, H., Berge, K., Dyroy, E., Berge, R.K., 1999. Eicosapentaenoic and docosahexaenoic acid affect mitochondrial and peroxisomal fatty acid oxidation in relation to substrate preference. Lipids 34, 951-963.
- Maheswarudu, G., Jose, J., Nair, K.R.M., Arputharaj, M.R., Ramakrishna, A., Vairamani, A., Ramamoorthy, N., 2008. Evaluation of the seed production and grow out culture of blue swimming crab *Portunus pelagicus* (Linnaeus, 1758) in india. Indian Journal of Marine Sciences 37, 313-321.
- Mart nez-Lara, E., Toribio, F., López-Barea, J., Bárcena, J.A., 1996. Glutathione-s-transferase isoenzyme patterns in the gilthead seabream (*Sparus aurata*) exposed to environmental contaminants. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology 113C, 215-220.
- Masuda, R., Takeuchi, T., Tsukamoto, T., Ishizaki, Y., Kanematsu, M., Imaizumi, K., 1998. Critical involvement of dietary docosahexaenoic acid in the ontogeny of schooling behavior in the yellowtail. Journal of Fish Biology 53, 471-484.
- Mcandrew, B.J., Majumdar, K.C., 1989. Growth studies on juvenile tilapia using pure species, hormone-treated and nine interspecific hybrids. Aquaculture and Fisheries Management 20, 35-47.
- McKenzie, D.J., Lund, I., Pedersen, P.B., 2008. Essential fatty acids influence metabolic rate and tolerance of hypoxia in dover sole (*Solea solea*) larvae and juveniles. Marine Biology 154, 1041-1051.
- Meagher, T.D., 1971. Ecology of the crab *Portunus pelagicus* (Crustacea, Portunidae) in southwestern Australia. University of Western Australia, Perth, Australia, pp. 232.
- Melville-Smith, R., de Lestang, S., Chatfield, B., Nelson, M.M., Nichols, P.D., 2007. Neither maternal size nor site of spawning influences larval competency in western rock lobster *Panulirus cygnus* George. Journal of Crustacean Biology 27, 445-453.
- Meng, X. H., Jang, I.K., Seo, H.C., Cho, Y.R., 2009. White spot syndrome virus quantification in blue crab *Portunus trituberculatus* hatchery-produced larvae and wild populations by taqman real-time PCR, with an emphasis on the relationship between viral infection and crab health. Aquaculture 291, 18-22.
- Merchie, G., 1996. Use of nauplii and meta-nauplii. In: Lavens, p., Sorgeloos, p. (eds.). FAO Fisheries Technical Paper No. 361. FAO, Rome, pp. 171-199.
- Merican, Z., Shim, K.F., 1994. Lipid and fatty acid utilization in adult *Penaeus monodon* fed diets supplemented with various oils. Aquaculture 123, 335-347.
- Merican, Z., Shim, K.F., 1997. Quantitative requirements of linolenic and docosahexaenoic acid for juvenile *Penaeus monodon*. Aquaculture 157, 277-295.
- Merican, Z.O., Shim, K.F., 1996. Qualitative requirements of essential fatty acid for juvenile *Penaeus monodon*. Aquaculture 147, 275-291.
- Meunpol, O., Duangjai, E., Yoonpun, R., Piyatiratitivorakul, S., 2010. Detection of prostaglandin E-2 in polychaete *Perinereis sp* and its effect on *Penaeus monodon* oocyte development in vitro. Fisheries Science 76, 281-286.
- Mikami, S., Kuballa, A., 2004. Overview of lobster aquaculture research, The second hatchery feeds and technology workshop Sydeny, Australia, pp. 127-130.

- Minagawa, M., Chiu, J.R., Murano, M., 1993. Developmental changes in body weight and elemental composition of laboratory-reared larvae of the red frog crab, *Ranina ranina* (Decapoda: Brachyura). Marine Biology 116, 399-406.
- Monroig, Ó., Tocher, D.R., Hontoria, F., Navarro, J.C., 2013. Functional characterisation of a FADs2 fatty acyl desaturase with $\delta6/\delta8$ activity and an elov15 with C16, C18 and C20 elongase activity in the anadromous teleost meagre (*Argyrosomus regius*). Aquaculture 412–413, 14-22.
- Morais, S., Narciso, L., Calado, R., Nunes, M.L., Rosa, R., 2002. Lipid dynamics during the embryonic development of *Plesionika martia* martia (Decapoda, Pandalidae), *Palaemon serratus* and *P. elegans* (Decapoda, Palaemonidae): Relation to metabolic consumption. Marine Ecology Progress Series 242, 195-204.
- Morley, S., Belchier, M., Dickson, J., Mulvey, T., 2006. Reproductive strategies of sub-Antarctic *Lithodid* crabs vary with habitat depth. Marine Biology 29, 581-584.
- Morrison, W.R., Smith, L.M., 1964. Preparation of fatty acid methyl esters and dimethyl acetals from lipids with boron trifluoride-methanol. Journal of Lipid Research 5, 600-608.
- Mourente, G., Tocher, D.R., 1992. Effects of weaning onto a pelleted diet on docosahexaenoic acid (22:6n-3) levels in brain of developing turbot (*Scophthalmus maximus*) Aquaculture 105, 363-377.
- Mourente, G., Medina, A., Gonzalez, S., Rodriguez, A., 1995. Variations in lipid content and nutritional status during larval development of the marine shrimp *Penaeus kerathurus*. Aquaculture 130, 187-199.
- Mourente, G., 1996. In vitro metabolism of 14C-polyunsaturated fatty acids in midgut gland and ovary cells from *Penaeus kerathurus* at the beginning of sexual maturation. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology 115B, 255-266.
- Mourente, G., Rodr guez, A., 1997. Effects of salinity and dietary DHA (22:6n-3) content on lipid composition and performance of *Penaeus kerathurus* postlarvae. Marine Biology 128, 289-298.
- Mourente, G., Díaz-Salvago, E., Bell, J.G., Tocher, D.R., 2002. Increased activities of hepatic antioxidant defence enzymes in juvenile gilthead sea bream (*Sparus aurata* L.) fed dietary oxidised oil: Attenuation by dietary vitamin E. Aquaculture 214, 343-361.
- Murugan, T.S., Remany, M.C., Leema, T.M., 2005. Growth, repetitive breeding, and aquaculture potential of the spiny lobster, *Panulirus ornatus*. New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research 39, 311-316.
- Muskiet, F.A.J., van Goor, S.A., Kuipers, R.S., Velzing-Aarts, F.V., Smit, E.N., Bouwstra, H., Janneke Dijck-Brouwer, D.A., Rudy Boersma, E., Hadders-Algra, M., 2006. Long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids in maternal and infant nutrition. Prostaglandins, Leukotrienes and Essential Fatty Acids 75, 135-144.
- Mykles, D.L., 2011. Ecdysteroid metabolism in crustaceans. The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology 127, 196-203.
- Nakamura, K., Tsuru, H., 1987. Organogenesis of the midgut gland of the prawn *Penaeus japonicus*, Bate. Memoirs of the Faculty of Fisheries, Kagoshima University 36, 221-225.
- Nakamura, K., 1990. Organogenesis during metamorphosis in the swimming crab *Portunus trituberculatus*. Nippon Suisan Gakkaishi 65, 1561-1564.
- Narciso, L., Morais, S., 2001. Fatty acid profile of *Palaemon serratus* (Palaemonidae) eggs and larvae during embryonic and larval development using different live diets. Journal of Crustacean Biology 21, 566-574.
- Nates, S.F., McKenney, J.C.L., 2000. Ontogenetic changes in biochemical composition during larval and early postlarval development of *Lepidophthalmus louisianensis*, a ghost shrimp with abbreviated development. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology 127B, 459-468.
- Nelson, M.M., Crear, B.J., Nichols, P.D., Ritz, D.A., 2003. Feeding southern rock lobster, *Jasus edwardsii* hutton, 1875, phyllosomata in culture: Recent progress with lipid-enriched *Artemia*. Journal of Shellfish Research 22, 225-233.

- Nelson, M.M., Crear, B.J., Nichols, P.D., Ritz, D.A., 2004. Growth and lipid composition of phyllosomata of the southern rock lobster, *Jasus edwardsii*, fed enriched *Artemia*. Aquaculture Nutrition 10, 237-246.
- Nghia, T.T., Wille, M., Vandendriessche, S., TheVinh, Q., Sorgeloos, P., 2007. Influence of highly unsaturated fatty acids in live food on larviculture of mud crab *Scylla paramamosain* (Estampador 1949). Aquaculture Research 38, 1512-1528.
- O'connor, J.D., Gilbert, L.I., 1968. Aspects of lipid metabolism in crustaceans. American Zoologist 8, 529-539.
- O'Sullivan, D., Savage, J., 2008. Soft shell sand crabs produced in Queensland. Austraia Aquaculture 22(2), 6-9.
- O'Sullivan, D., 2010. Tropical rocklobster breakthroughs lead to commercial hatchery. Australia Aquaculture 24(1), 49-52.
- Oniam, V., Buathee, U., Chuchit, L., Wechakama, T., 2010. Growth and sexual maturity of blue swimming crab (*Portunus pelagicus* linnaeus, 1758) reared in the earthen ponds. Kasetsart University Fisheries Research Bulletin 34, 20-27.
- Palacios, E., Bonilla, A., Perez, A., Racotta, I.S., Civera, R., 2004. Influence of highly unsaturated fatty acids on the responses of white shrimp (*Litopenaeus vannamei*) postlarvae to low salinity. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 299, 201-215.
- Palmer, R.M., 1990. Prostaglandins and the control of muscle protein synthesis and degradation. Prostaglandins, Leukotrienes and Essential Fatty Acids 39, 95-104.
- Pan, L.Q., Wang, K.X., 1997. Studies on digestive enzyme activities and amino acid in the larvae of *Eriocheir sinensis*. Journal of Fishery Sciences of China 4, 13-20.
- Pandian, T.J., 1970a. Ecophysiological studies on the developing eggs and embryos of the European lobster *Homarus gammarus*. Marine Biology 5, 154-167.
- Pandian, T.J., 1970b. Yolk utilization and hatching time in the Canadian lobster *Homarus* americanus. Marine Biology 7, 249-254.
- Perez-Velazquez, M., Gonzalez-Felix, M., Lawrence, A.L., Gatlin III, D.M., 2003. Change in lipid class and fatty acid composition of adult male *Litopenaeus vannamei* (boone) in response to culture temperature and food deprivation. Aquaculture Research 34, 1205-1213.
- Petersen, S., Anger, K., 1997. Chemical and physiological changes during the embryonic development of the spider crab, *Hyas araneus* L (Decapoda: Majidae). Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology 117B, 299-306.
- Phillips, B., Palmer, M., Cruz, R., Trendall, J., 1992. Estimating growth of the spiny lobsters Panulirus cygnus, P. argus and P. ornatus. Marine and Freshwater Research 43, 1177-1188.
- Phillips, B.F., Jeffs, A.G., Melville-Smith, R., Chubb, C.F., Nelson, M.M., Nichols, P.D., 2006. Changes in lipid and fatty acid composition of late larval and puerulus stages of the spiny lobster (*Panulirus cygnus*) across the continental shelf of Western Australia. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology 143B, 219-228.
- Phleger, C.F., Nelson, M.M., Mooney, B.D., Nichols, P.D., Ritar, A.J., Smith, G.G., Hart, P.R., Jeffs, A.G., 2001. Lipids and nutrition of the southern rock lobster, *Jasus edwardsii*, from hatch to puerulus. Marine Freshwater Research 52, 1475-1486.
- Priyambodo, B., Sarifin, 2009. Lobster aquaculture industry in eastern indonesia: Present status and prospects. In: Williams, K.C. (Ed.), Spiny lobster aquaculture in the Asia-Pacific region. Proceedings of an international symposium held at Nha Trang, Vietnam, 9-10 December 2008. ACIAR Proceedings No. 132. Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research, Canberra, Australia, pp. 36-45.
- Querijero, B.V.L., Teshima, S., Koshio, S., Ishikawa, M., 1997. Utilization of monounsaturated fatty acid (18:1n-9, oleic acid) by freshwater prawn *Macrobrachium rosenbergii* (De man) juveniles. Aquaculture Nutrition 3, 127-139.

- Ravid, T., Tietz, A., Khayat, M., Boehm, E., Michelis, R., Lubzens, E., 1999. Lipid accumulation in the ovaries of a marine shrimp *Penaeus semisulcatus* (De haan). Journal of Experimental Biology 202, 1819-1829.
- Read, G.H.L., 1981a. The response of *Penaeus indicus* (Crustacea: Penaeidea) to purified and compounded diets of varying fatty acid composition. Aquaculture 24, 245-256.
- Reddy, P.S., Reddy, P.R., Nagaraju, G.P.C., 2004. The synthesis and effects of prostaglandins on the ovary of the crab *Oziotelphusa senex senex*. General and Comparative Endocrinology 135, 35-41.
- Rees, J.F., Cur, K., Piyatiratitivorakul, S., Sorgeloos, P., Menasveta, P., 1994. Highly unsaturated fatty acid requirements of *Penaeus monodon* postlarvae: An experimental approach based on *Artemia* enrichment. Aquaculture 122, 193-207.
- Reigh, R.C., Stickney, R.R., 1989. Effects of purified fatty acids on the fatty acid composition of freshwater shrimp, *Macrobrachium rosenbergii*. Aquaculture 77, 157-174.
- Reppond, K., Rugolo, L., de Oliveira, A.C.M., 2008. Change in biochemical composition during development of snow crab, *Chionoecetes opilio*, embryos. Journal of Crustacean Biology 28, 519-527.
- Ritar, A.J., Dunstan, G.A., Crear, B.J., Brown, M.R., 2003. Biochemical composition during growth and starvation of early larval stages of cultured spiny lobster (*Jasus edwardsii*) phyllosoma. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology 136A, 353-370.
- Ritar, A.J., Dunstan, G.A., Nelson, M.M., Brown, M.R., Nichols, P.D., Thomas, C.W., Smith, E.G., Crear, B.J., Kolkovski, S., 2004. Nutritional and bacterial profiles of juvenile *Artemia* fed different enrichments and during starvation. Aquaculture 239, 351-373.
- Romano, N., Zeng, C., 2006. The effects of salinity on the survival, growth and haemolymph osmolality of early juvenile blue swimmer crabs, *Portunus pelagicus*. Aquaculture 260, 151-162.
- Romano, N., Zeng, C., 2008. Blue swimmer crabs, emerging species in Asia. Global Aquaculture Advocate 11, 34-36.
- Rosa, R., Morais, S., Calado, R., Narciso, L., Nunes, M.L., 2003. Biochemical changes during the embryonic development of Norway lobster, *Nephrops norvegicus*. Aquaculture 221, 507-522.
- Rosa, R., Calado, R., Andrade, A.M., Narciso, L., Nunes, M.L., 2005. Changes in amino acids and lipids during embryogenesis of European lobster, *Homarus gammarus* (Crustacea: Decapoda). Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology 140B, 241-249.
- Rosa, R., Calado, R., Narciso, L., Nunes, M.L., 2007. Embryogenesis of decapod crustaceans with different life history traits, feeding ecologies and habitats: A fatty acid approach. Marine Biology 151, 935-947.
- Rotllant, G., Moyano, F.J., Andrés, M., Estévez, A., Diza, M., Gisbert, E., 2010. Effect of delayed first feeding on larval performance of the spider crab *Maja brachydactyla* assesssed by digestive enzyme activities and biometric parameters. Marine Biology 157, 2215-2227.
- Roustaian, P., Kamarudin, M.S., Omar, H., Saad, C.R., Ahmad, M.H., 1999. Changes in fatty acid profile during larval development of freshwater prawn *Macrobrachium rosenbergii* (De man). Aquaculture Research 30, 815-824.
- Roustaian, P., Kamarudin, M.S., Bin Omar, H., 2001. Biochemical changes in freshwater prawn *Macrobrachium rosenbergii* during larval development. Journal of the World Aquaculture Society 32, 53-59.
- RuizVerdugo, L.M., GarciaBanuelos, M.L., VargasAlbores, F., HigueraCiapara, I., YepizPlascencia, G.M., 1997. Amino acids and lipids of the plasma HDL from the white shrimp *Penaeus vannamei* Boone. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology 118B, 91-96.
- Sachlikidis, N.G., Jones, C.M., Seymour, J.E., 2010. The effect of temperature on the incubation of eggs of the tropical rock lobster *Panulirus ornatus*. Aquaculture 305, 79-83.

- Sargent, J.R., Whittle, K.J., 1981. Lipids and hydrocarbons in the marine food web. In: Longhurst, A.R. (Ed.), Analysis of marine ecosystems. Academic Press, London, UK, pp. 491-533.
- Sargent, J.R., Tocher, D.R., Bell, J.G., 2002. Chap. 4: The lipids In: Halver, J.E. (Ed.), Fish Nutrition (3rd ed). Academic Press, San Diego, pp. 181–257.
- Saunders, M.I., Thompson, P.A., Jeffs, A.G., Sawstrom, C., Sachlikidis, N., Beckley, L.E., Waite, A.M., 2012. Fussy feeders: Phyllosoma larvae of the Western rocklobster (*Panulirus cygnus*) demonstrate prey preference. PLoS One 7.
- Sekine, S., Shima, Y., Fushimi, H., Nonaka, M., 2000. Larval period and ing in the japanese spiny lobster *Panulirus japonicus* under laboratory conditions. Fisheries Science 66, 19-24.
- Shafir, S., Tom, M., Ovadia, M., Lubzens, E., 1992. Protein, vitellogenin and vitellin levels during ovarian development in *Penaeus semisulcatus* (De haan). Biological Bulletin 183, 394-400.
- Sheen, S.S., Wu, S.W., 2002. Essential fatty acid requirements of juvenile mud crab, *Scylla serrata* (Forskal, 1775) (Decapoda, Scyllaridae). Crustaceana 75, 1387-1401.
- Shinkarenko, L., 1979. Development of the larval stages of the blue swimming crab *Portunus pelagicus*. (Portunidae: Decapoda: Crustacea). Australian Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research 30, 485-503.
- Silberbauer, B.I., 1971. The biology of the south african rock lobster *Jasus lalandii* (h. Milne-edwards). Development, Investigational report 92, Division of Fisheries of South African, pp. 1-70.
- Smith, G., Thompson, P., Ritar, A., Dunstan, G., 2003. Effects of starvation and feeding on the fatty acid profiles of stage I phyllosoma of the spiny lobster, *Jasus edwardsii*. Aquaculture Research 34, 419-426.
- Smith, G.G., Ritar, A.J., Johnston, D., Dunstan, G.A., 2004. Influence of diet on broodstock lipid and fatty acid composition and larval competency in the spiny lobster, *Jasus* edwardsii. Aquaculture 233, 451-475.
- Smith, G.G., Salmon, M., Kenway, M., Hall, M., 2009a. Description of the larval morphology of captive reared *Panulirus ornatus* spiny lobsters, benchmarked against wild-caught specimens. Aquaculture 295, 76-88.
- Smith, G.G., Hall, M.W., Salmon, M., 2009b. Use of microspheres, fresh and microbound diets to ascertain dietary path, component size, and digestive gland functioning in phyllosoma of the spiny lobster *Panulirus ornatus*. New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research 43, 205 - 215.
- Smith, G., Kenway, M., Hall, M., 2010. Starvation and recovery ability of phyllosoma of the the tropical spiny lobsters *Panulirus ornatus* and *Panulirus homarus* in captivity. Journal of the marine Biological Association of the India 52, 249-256.
- Smith, W.L., 1989. The eicosanoids and their biochemical mechanisms of action. Biochemical Journal 259, 315-324.
- Sokal, R.R., Rohlf, F.J., 1995. Biometry: The principles and practice of statistics in biological research. W.H. Freeman company, New York, USA.
- Soundarapandian, P., Thamizhazhagan, E., Samuel, N., 2007. Seed production of commercially important blue swimming crab *Portunus pelagicus* (Linnaeus). Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Science 2, 302-309.
- Soundarapandian, P., Dominic Arul Raja, S., 2008. Fattening of the blue swimming crab *Portunus pelagicus* (Linnaeus). Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Science 3, 97-101.
- Southgate, P.C., Lucas, J.S., 2003. Reproduction, life cycles and growth. In: Lucas, J.S., Southgate, P.C. (Eds.), Aquaculture: Farming aquatic animals and plants. Blackwell Publishing Ltd, Oxford, UK, pp. 111-122.
- Spaziani, E.P., Hinsch, G.W., Edwards, S.C., 1993. Changes in prostaglandin E(2) and F2-alpha during vitellogenesis in the florida crayfish *Procambarus paeninsulanus*. Journal of Comparative Physiology 163B, 541-545.

- Staton, J.L., Sulkin, S.D., 1991. Nutritional-requirements and starvation resistance in larvae of the Brachyuran crabs *Sesarma cinereum* (Bosc) and *Sesarma reticulatum* (Say). Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 152, 271-284.
- Stephenson, W., Campbell, B., 1959. The Australian Portunids (Crustacea: Portunidae). III. The genus Portunus. Australian Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research 10, 84-124.
- Subramoniam, T., 2000. Crustacean ecdysteriods in reproduction and embryogenesis. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology 125C, 135-156.
- Sui, L., Wille, M., Cheng, Y., Sorgeloos, P., 2007. The effect of dietary n-3 HUFA levels and DHA/EPA ratios on growth, survival and osmotic stress tolerance of Chinese mitten crab *Eriocheir sinensis* larvae. Aquaculture 273, 139-150.
- Sui, L., Sun, H., Wu, X., Wille, M., Cheng, Y., Sorgeloos, P., 2011. Effect of dietary HUFA on tissue fatty acid composition and reproductive performance of Chinese mitten crab, *Eriocheir sinensis* (h. Milne-edwards) broodstock. Aquaculture International 19, 269-282.
- Sui, L.Y., Wu, X.G., Wille, M., Cheng, Y.X., Sorgeloos, P., 2009. Effect of dietary soybean lecithin on reproductive performance of Chinese mitten crab *Eriocheir sinensis* (h. Milne-edwards) broodstock. Aquaculture International 17, 45-56.
- Sumpton, W., Gaddes, S., McLennan, M., Campbell, M., Tonks, M., Good, N., Hagedoorn, W., Skilleter, G., 2003. Fisheries biology and assessment of the blue swimmer crab (*Portunus pelagicus*) in Queensland, FRDC Project No.98/117. Queensland Department of Primary Industries, Brisbane, Australia.
- Suprayudi, M.A., Takeuchi, T., Hamasaki, K., Hirokawa, J., 2002. The effect of n-3HUFA content in rotifers on the development and survival of mud crab, *Scylla serrata*, larvae. Suisan Zoshoku 50, 205-212.
- Suprayudi, M.A., Takeuchi, T., Hamasaki, K., 2004a. Effect of *Artemia* enriched with eicosapentaenoic and docosahexaenoic acid on the survival and occurrence of ing failure in megalop larvae of the mud crab *Scylla serrata*. Fisheries Science 70, 650-658.
- Suprayudi, M.A., Takeuchi, T., Hamasaki, K., 2004b. Essential fatty acids for larval mud crab *Scylla serrata*: Implications of lack of the ability to bioconvert C18 unsaturated fatty acids to highly unsaturated fatty acids. Aquaculture 231, 403-416.
- Tahara, D., Yano, I., 2003. Development of hemolymph prostaglandins assay systems and their concentration variations during ovarian maturation in the kuruma prawn, *Penaeus japonicus*. Aquaculture 220, 791-800.
- Takano, M., Arai, D., Obata, Y., Tsumura, S., Ashidate, M., 2004. Effect of microalgal addition to the mass seed production tank on morphogenesis of fifth stage zoea of mud crab *Scylla paramamosain*. Technical Report of National Center for Stock Enhancement 2, 27-30.
- Takeuchi, T., Nakamoto, Y., Hamasaki, K., Sekiya, S., Watanabe, T., 1999a. Requirement of n-3 highly unsaturated fatty acids for larval swimming crab *Portunus trituberculatus*. Nippon Suisan Gakkaishi 65, 797-803.
- Takeuchi, T., Satoh, N., Sekiya, S., Shimizu, T., Watanabe, T., 1999b. The effect of dietary EPA and DHA on the ing rate of larval swimming crab *Portunus trituberculatus*. Nippon Suisan Gakkaishi 65, 998-1004.
- Takeuchi, T., Murakami, K., 2007. Crustacean nutrition and larval feed, with emphasis on Japanese spiny lobster, *Panulirus japonicus*. Bulletin of Fisheries Research Agency 20, 15-23.
- Teshima, S., Kanazawa, A., 1971. Biosynthesis of sterols in the lobster, *Penaeus japonicus*, and the crab, *Portunus trituberculatus*. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology 38B, 597-602.
- Teshima, S., Kanazawa, A., Okamoto, H., 1977. Variation in lipid classes during the ing cycle of the prawn *Penaeus japonicus*. Marine Biology 39, 129-136.
- Teshima, S., Kanazawa, A., 1983. Variation in lipid composition during the ovarian maturation of the prawn. Bulletin of Japanese Society of Fisheries 49, 957-962.

- Teshima, S., Kanazawa, A., Koshio, S., 1993. Recent developments in nutrition and microparticulate diets of larval prawns. Israeli Journal of Aquaculture-Bamidgeh 45, 175-184.
- Teshima, S., 1997. Phospholipids and sterols. In: Abramo, L.R.D., Conklin, D.E., Arigama, D.M. (Eds.), Advance in world aquaculture: Crustacean nutrition. World Aquaculture Society, Baton Rouge, Louisiana, USA, pp. 85-107.
- Teshima, S., 1998. Nutrition of *Penaeus japonicus*. Reviews in Fisheries Science 6, 97–111.
- Thatje, S., Anger, K., JA, C., Lovrich, G., Portner, H.O., Arntz, W., 2005. Challenging the cold: Crabs reconquer the Antarctic. Ecology 86, 619-625.
- Tocher, D.R., Bell, J.G., Farndale, B.M., Sargent, J.R., 1997. Effects of dietary γ -linolenic acid-rich borage oil combined with marine fish oils on tissue phospholipid fatty acid composition and production of prostaglandins E and F of the 1-, 2- and 3-series in a marine fish deficient in δ 5 fatty acyl desaturase. Prostaglandins, Leukotrienes and Essential Fatty Acids 57, 125-134.
- Tocher, D.R., 2003. Metabolism and functions of lipids and fatty acids in teleost fish. Review in Fisheries Science 11, 107-184.
- Tong, L.J., Moss, G.A., Pickering, T.D., Paewai, M.P., 2000. Temperature effects on embryo and early larval development of the spiny lobster *Jasus edwardsii*, and description of a method to predict larval hatch times. Marine and Freshwater Research 51, 243-248.
- Torres, P., Penha-Lopes, G., Narcisoa, L., Macia, A., Paula, J., 2008. Fatty acids dynamics during embryonic development in genus Uca (Brachyura: Ocypodidae), from the mangroves of Inhaca island, mozambique. Estuarine Coastal and Shelf Science 80, 307-313.
- Van Anholt, R.D., Koven, W.M., Lutzky, S., Wendelaar Bonga, S.E., 2004a. Dietary supplementation with arachidonic acid alters the stress response of gilthead seabream (*Sparus aurata*) larvae. Aquaculture 238, 369-383.
- Van Anholt, R.D., Spanings, E.A.T., Koven, W.M., Nixon, O., Bonga, S.E.W., 2004b. Arachidonic acid reduces the stress response of gilthead seabream *Sparus aurata* L. Journal of Experimental Biology 207, 3419-3430.
- Veliça, P., Bunce, C., 2008. Prostaglandins in muscle regeneration. Journal of Muscle Research and Cell Motility 29, 163-167.
- Villalta, M., Est évez, A., Bransden, M.P., 2005. Arachidonic acid enriched live prey induces albinism in Senegal sole (*Solea senegalensis*) larvae. Aquaculture 245, 193-209.
- Vogt, G., 1994. Life-cycle and functional cytology of the hepatopancreatic cells of *Astacus astacus* (Crustacea, Decapoda). Zoomorphology 114, 83-101.
- Walker, A., Ando, S., Smith, G.D., Lee, R.F., 2006. The utilization of lipovitellin during blue crab (*Callinectes sapidus*) embryogenesis. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology 143B, 201-208.
- Wang, G.Z., Tang, H., Li, S.J., 1995a. Biochemical composition for mud crab, *Scylla serrata* during the embryonic development. Journal of Oceanography in Taiwan Strait 14, 280-283.
- Wang, G.Z., Zeng, Z.S., Li, S.J., Lin, Q.W., 1995b. Studies on influence of diet on dry weight and chemical element (C, H, N) content of larval *Scylla serrata*. Acta Oceanologica Sinica. 14, 291-300.
- Watanabe, T., 2002. Strategies for further development of aquatic feeds. Fisheries Science 68, 242-252.
- Wehrtmann, I.S., Graeve, M., 1998. Lipid composition and utilization in developing eggs of two tropical marine caridean shrimps (Decapoda: Caridea: Alpheidae, Palaemonidae). Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology 121B, 457-463.
- Wehrtmann, I.S., Kattner, G., 1998. Changes in volume, biomass, and fatty acids of developing eggs in *Nauticaris magellanica* (Decapoda: Caridea): A latitudinal comparison. Journal of Crustacean Biology 18, 413-422.

- Wen, X.B., Chen, L.Q., Zhou, Z.L., Ai, C.X., Deng, G.Y., 2002. Reproduction response of Chinese mitten-handed crab (*Eriocheir sinensis*) fed different sources of dietary lipid. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology 131A, 675-681.
- Weng, Y.Z., Li, S.J., Wang, G.Z., 2002. Effect of starvation on the biochemical composition of Scylla serrata larvae. Journal of Xiamen University (Natural Science) 41, 84-88.
- Whitney, J.O., 1974. The effect of external salinity upon lipid synthesis in the blue crab callinectes sapidus rathbun and in the spider crab *Libinia emarginata* Leech. Comparative Biochemisty and Physiology 49A, 433-440.
- Wouters, R., Lavens, P., Nieto, J., Sorgeloos, P., 2001. Penaeid shrimp broodstock nutrition: An updated review on research and development. Aquaculture 202, 1-21.
- Wu, R.S.S., Shin, P.K.S., 1998. Food segregation in three species of Portunid crabs. Hydrobiologia 362, 107-113.
- Wu, X.G., Fu, R.B., Cheng, Y.X., Chen, S.L., Luo, H.Z., 2006. Effect of starvation on the survival and main composition of swimming crab, *Portunus trituberculatus*. Chinese Journal of Zoology 41, 19-26 (in Chinese with English abstract).
- Wu, X.G., Cheng, Y.X., Sui, L.Y., Yang, X.Z., Nan, T.Z., Wang, J.Q., 2007a. Biochemical composition of pond-reared and lake-stocked Chinese mitten crab *Eriocheir sinensis* (h. Milne-edwards) broodstock. Aquaculture Research 38, 1459-1467.
- Wu, X.G., Cheng, Y.X., Sui, L.Y., Zeng, C.S., Southgate, P.C., Yang, X.Z., 2007b. Effect of dietary supplementation of phospholipids and highly unsaturated fatty acids on reproductive performance and offspring quality of Chinese mitten crab, *Eriocheir sinensis* (h. Milne-edwards), female broodstock. Aquaculture 273, 602-613.
- Wu, X.G., Yu, Z.Y., Cheng, Y.X., He, S.S., Yang, X.Z., Lu, J.F., Sheng, H., 2007c. Effect of four groups of live feeds on larval development, growth (from zoea IV to megalopa) and fatty acid composition of *Eriocheir sinensis*. Journal of Fishery Science of China 14, 911-918 (in Chinese with English abstract).
- Wu, X.G., Liu, Z.J., Yao, G.G., Cheng, Y.X., Yang, X.Z., Wang, C.L., 2009. Relationship between the organogenesis of hepatopancreas and the yolk utilization during embryonic development of swimming crab, *Portunus trituberculatus*. Zoological Research 30, 449-456 (in Chinese with English abstract).
- Wu, X.G., Chang, G., Cheng, Y., Zeng, C., Southgate, P.C., Lu, J., 2010a. Effects of dietary phospholipid and highly unsaturated fatty acid on the gonadal development, tissue proximate composition, lipid class and fatty acid composition of precocious Chinese mitten crab, *Eriocheir sinensis*. Aquaculture Nutrition 16, 25-36.
- Wu, X.G., Cheng, Y., Zeng, C., Wang, C., Cui, Z., 2010b. Reproductive performance and offspring quality of the first and the second brood of female swimming crab, *Portunus trituberculatus*. Aquaculture 303, 94-100.
- Wu, X. G., Cheng, Y., Zeng, C., Wang, C., Yang, X., 2010c. Reproductive performance and offspring quality of wild-caught and pond-reared swimming crab *Portunus trituberculatus* broodstock. Aquaculture 301, 78-84.
- Wu, X.G., Zhou, B., Cheng, Y.X., Zeng, C.S., Wang, C.L., Feng, L., 2010d. Comparison of gender differences in biochemical composition and nutritional value of various edible parts of the blue swimmer crab. Journal of Food Composition and Analysis 23, 154-159.
- Wu, X., Wang, Z., Cheng, Y.X., Zeng, C., Yang, X., Lu, J., 2011. Effects of dietary phospholipids and highly unsaturated fatty acids on the precocity, survival, growth and hepatic lipid composition of juvenile Chinese mitten crab, *Eriocheir sinensis* (h. Milne-edwards). Aquaculture Research 42, 457-468.
- Wu, X.G., Genadapa, J., Zeng, C., Unpublished data. Lipid dynamics during the embryonic development of mud crab, *Scylla serrata*.
- Wu, X.G., Smith, G., Hall, M., 2012. Patterns of larval growth, lipid composition and fatty acid deposition during early to mid stages of development in *Panulirus ornatus* phyllosoma. Aquaculture 330, 63-73.

- Xu, X.L., Ji, W.J., Castell, J.D., O'Dor, R., 1993. The nutritional value of dietary n-3 and n-6 fatty acids for the Chinese prawn (*Penaeus chinensis*). Aquaculture 118, 277-285.
- Xu, X.L., Ji, W.J., Castell, J.D., O'Dor, R.K., 1994a. Influence of dietary lipid sources on fecundity, egg hatchability and fatty acid composition of Chinese prawn (*Penaeus chinensis*) broodstock. Aquaculture 119, 359-370.
- Xu, X.L., Ji, W.J., Castell, J.D., O'Dor, R.K., 1994b. Essential fatty acid requirement of the Chinese prawn, *Penaeus chinensis*. Aquaculture 127, 29-40.
- Yang, P.Y., Felix, E., Madden, T., Fischer, S.M., Newman, R.A., 2002. Quantitative high-performance liquid chromatography/electrospray ionization tandem mass spectrometric analysis of 2-and 3-series prostaglandins in cultured tumor cells. Analytical Biochemistry 308, 168-177.
- Yang, Z., Guo, Z., Ji, L., Zeng, Q., Wang, Y., Yang, X., Cheng, Y., 2013. Cloning and tissue distribution of a fatty acyl δ6-desaturase-like gene and effects of dietary lipid levels on its expression in the hepatopancreas of Chinese mitten crab (*Eriocheir sinensis*). Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology 165B, 99-105.
- Yao, G.G., Wu, X.G., Yang, X.Z., Cheng, Y.X., Wang, C.L., 2008. The changes of histology and main biochemical composition in the hepatopancreas at the different physiological stages of *Portunus trituberculatus* in east China sea. Acta Oceanologica Sinca 30, 122-131 (in Chinese with English abstract).
- Yao, J., Zhao, Y., Wang, Q., Zhou, Z., Hu, X., Duan, X., An, C., 2006. Biochemical compositions and digestive enzyme activities during the embryonic development of prawn, *Macrobrachium rosenbergii*. Aquaculture 253, 573-582.
- Ye, Y., 2008. Relative abundance survey and assessment of the Torres strait lobster fishery. Australian Fisheries Management Authority Torres Strait Research Program, Final Report (AFMA Project Number: 2007/802), Brinsbane, Australia, pp. 80.
- Ye, Y., Dennis, D., 2009. Assessing the impacts of trawling breeding lobsters (*Panulirus ornatus*) on the catch of the Torres strait lobster fishery shared between Australia and Papua New Guinea. New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research 43, 419 428.
- Yepiz-Plascencia, G., Vargas-Albores, F., Higuera-Ciapara, I., 2000. Penaeid shrimp hemolymph lipoproteins. Aquaculture 191, 177-189.
- Yu, T.C., Sinnhuber, R.O., 1976. Growth response of rainbow trout (*Salmo gairdneri*) to dietary omega-3 and omega-6 fatty acids. Aquaculture 8, 309-317.
- Yu, Z.Y., 2008. Changes in the main biochemical composition of ovary, hepatopancreas and embryo during the second ovarian development of *Eriocheir sinensis*. Master thesis, Shanghai Ocean University, Shanghai China.
- Zeng, C., Li, S., 1999. Effects of density and different combinations of diets on survival, development, dry weight and chemical composition of larvae of the mud crab, *Scylla paramamosain*. In: Keenan, C., Blackshaw, A. (Eds.), Mud crab aquaculture and biology, Canberra, Australia, pp. 159-166.
- Zhang, L.S., Li, J., 2002. Hatchery technology of erincheir sinensis. In: Zhang, L.S. (Ed.), The breeding and culture of Chinese mitten crab. JingDun Press, Beijing, China, pp. 124-196.
- Zhou, B., Wu, X., Feng, L., Cheng, Y., Yang, X., Liu, Z., 2011. A comparative study of lipid class and fatty acid composition of mature ovary and early embryo of *Portunus pelagicus*. Jouranl of Shanghai Ocean University (Natural Science) 20, 853-857 (in Chinese with English abstract).
- Zhu, C.J., Lee, Y.K., 1997. Determination of biomass dry weight of marine microalgae. Journal of Applied Phycology 9, 189-194.
- Zhu, L.Y., Zheng, J.S., Wang, M.L., Jiang, M., Liu, X.Y., Xu, H.S., 2000. Histological and cytological studies on the development of midgut gland of larval *Portunus trituberculatus*. Journal of Ocean University of Qingdao 30, 631-636 (in Chinese with English abstract).

Zmora, O., Findiesen, A., Stubblefield, J., Frenkel, V., Zohar, Y., 2005. Large-scale juvenile production of the blue crab *Callinectes sapidus*. Aquaculture 244, 129-139.